# 

## UNCONSCIOUS INFORMATION PROCESSING IN EXECUTIVE CONTROL

Topic Editor Nicola De Pisapia





#### FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2013 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, as well as all content on this site is the exclusive property of Frontiers. Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices. No financial payment or reward may be given for any such reproduction except to the author(s) of the article concerned.

As author or other contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by lbbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-106-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-106-2

#### **ABOUT FRONTIERS**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **DEDICATION TO QUALITY**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

## UNCONSCIOUS INFORMATION PROCESSING IN EXECUTIVE CONTROL

Topic Editor: Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy



Image by Nicola De Pisapia

The aim of this Frontiers special issue is to review and further explore the topic of unconscious processing in executive control. Executive control refers to the ability of the human brain - mostly associated with prefrontal cortex activity - to regulate the processing involved in the execution of novel or complex goal-directed tasks. Previous studies or models of human cognition have assumed that executive control necessarily requires conscious processing of information. This perspective is in line with common sense and personal introspection, which suggest that our choices are intentional and based on conscious stimuli. Nevertheless, in the last few years several behavioural and cognitive neuroscience studies have put under scrutiny this assumption. Cumulating evidence is now showing that prefrontal

executive control can involve or be triggered by unconscious processing of information, with consequent effects on observed behaviours.

One of the main methods adopted to study such unconscious mechanisms is masked priming, consisting in presenting visually masked stimuli, which nonetheless are shown to affect goaldirected behaviour or influence constructs linked to executive control and prefrontal cortex activity (e.g., task-set representation, response inhibition, conflict monitoring, error detection, reward processing, emotion regulation and task switching).

This area of research is relatively young, and - while scientific evidence is emerging – no general consensus has been reached yet on how to interpret these early findings: some researchers accept that executive control can involve unconscious processing, others momentarily put aside - in first approximation - this issue, others criticize this possibility on

theoretical grounds (e.g., pointing to the need of better definitions of terms such as control, conflict and consciousness) or based on experimental findings.

At this stage, it appears necessary that researchers in the field make a collective effort to deepen the understanding of the unconscious mechanisms involved in executive control. This special issue will focus on neuroscience, but it will welcome contributions on purely behavioural and psychophysiological studies, patient reports, computational investigations, as well as philosophical and historical analyses of the relationship between executive control and consciousness. In particular, we encourage experts in this field to submit contributions in the form of:

- a) reviews, opinions and discussions on existing literature concerning unconscious processing of information in executive control;
- b) original research articles (both behavioural-only and neuroimaging studies) on unconscious processing of information in executive control;
- c) discussions and opinions on new methodologies to investigate this issue (e.g., other than masked priming, which has been the technique of choice in most of the existing studies).

## Table of Contents

- **05** Unconscious Information Processing in Executive Control Nicola De Pisapia
- **07** Inhibition of Return is no Hallmark of Exogenous Capture by Unconscious Cues Isabella Fuchs and Ulrich Ansorge
- 15 The Influence of Articulatory Suppression on the Control of Implicit Sequence Knowledge

Vinciane Gaillard, Arnaud Destrebecqz and Axel Cleeremans

- **24** *Age-Related Deficits in Efficiency of Low-Level Lateral Inhibition* Friederike Schlaghecken, Kulbir S. Birak and Elizabeth A. Maylor
- 33 When Unconscious Rewards Boost Cognitive Task Performance Inefficiently: The Role of Consciousness in Integrating Value and Attainability Information Claire M. Zedelius, Harm Veling and Henk Aarts
- 44 Automatic Motor Activation in the Executive Control of Action Jennifer McBride, Frédéric Boy, Masud Husain and Petroc Sumner
- 58 Is Consciousness Necessary for Conflict Adaptation? A State of the Art Kobe Desender and Eva Van den Bussche
- Executive Control Over Unconscious Cognition: Attentional Sensitization of Unconscious Information Processing Markus Kiefer
- 83 When Planning Results in Loss of Control: Intention-Based Reflexivity and Working-Memory

Nachshon Meiran, Michael W. Cole and Todd S. Braver

- 95 Conscious and Unconscious Processes in Cognitive Control: A Theoretical Perspective and a Novel Empirical Approach
  Guillermo Horga and Tiago V. Maia
- 102 The Pervasive Nature of Unconscious Social Information Processing in Executive Control

Ranjani Prabhakaran and Jeremy R. Gray



### Unconscious information processing in executive control

#### Nicola De Pisapia\*

Department of Cognitive Science and Education, University of Trento, Rovereto, Italy \*Correspondence: nicola.depisapia@unitn.it

#### Edited by:

Hauke R. Heekeren, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany

This Frontiers Research Topic includes original experimental studies and reviews on unconscious processing in executive control. Executive control refers to the ability of the human brain—mostly associated with prefrontal cortex activity—to regulate the execution of novel or complex goal-directed tasks. Previous studies and models of human cognition have assumed that executive control necessarily requires conscious processing of information. This perspective is in line with common sense and personal introspection, which suggest that our choices and action regulations are intentional and based on conscious stimuli.

Nevertheless, in the last few years several behavioral and cognitive neuroscience studies have put under scrutiny this assumption. Cumulating evidence is now showing that executive control can involve or be triggered by unconscious processing of information, with consequent effects on observed behaviors. One of the main methods adopted to study such unconscious mechanisms is masked priming, consisting in presenting visually masked stimuli, which nonetheless are shown to affect goal-directed behavior or influence constructs linked to executive control and prefrontal cortex activity (e.g., task-set representation, response inhibition, conflict monitoring, error detection, reward processing, emotion regulation, and task switching). Other methods have been adopted, such as auditory masking or implicit regularities in stimulus presentations.

This area of research is relatively young, complex, and challenging, but very exciting. While scientific evidence is emerging—no general consensus has been reached yet on how to interpret these early findings. Some researchers accept that executive control can involve unconscious processing, others momentarily put aside—in first approximation—this issue, and others criticize this possibility on theoretical grounds (e.g., pointing to the need of better definitions of terms such as control, conflict, and consciousness) or based on experimental findings.

This Frontiers Research Topic is born from the idea that it is time that researchers in cognition make a collective effort to deepen the understanding of the unconscious mechanisms involved in executive control. The book includes articles from top researchers in the field, and it is organized in a first section with a selection of original research articles, and a second section with review and hypothesis papers.

#### **SECTION I: ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLES**

In the first article of the experimental section, Fuchs and Ansorge (2012) address the question of whether inhibition has the same characteristics in conscious and unconscious executive control. In particular, they focus on the so-called Inhibition of Return (i.e., slower responses to attended than unattended positions), which in previous studies was considered to indicate an automatic

capture of visual attention driven by unconscious cues. In a series of experiments, the authors find that Inhibition of Return can only be obtained with conscious cues, thus suggesting that consciousness might be a necessary condition for inhibition.

In the next research article, Gaillard et al. (2012) investigate the relationship between inner speech and consciousness in executive control, and they find that articulatory suppression specifically impairs exclusion performance by interfering with inner speech.

In the next article, Schlaghecken et al. (2012) use a masked prime task to test the hypothesis that typical aging is associated with a selective deficit in inhibitory function, affecting both low-level motor, and higher-level executive control.

Finally for this section, Zedelius et al. (2012) argue in favor of a unique role of consciousness in efficient allocation of effort during cognitive control processes, and they investigate the delivery of unconscious rewards during task executions. They find that people fail to integrate unconsciously perceived reward value with conscious expectancies concerning the attainability of rewards, which leads them to poor and unsubstantiated choices.

#### **SECTION II: REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS ARTICLES**

Moving on to the next section, McBride et al. (2012) discuss findings concerning object affordances, alien limb syndrome, the visual grasp reflex, subliminal priming, and subliminal triggering of attentional orienting. Their suggestion is that automatic motor activation might form an intrinsic part of all behavior, rather than being categorically different from conscious actions.

Desender and Van den Bussche (2012) critically review the topic of adaptation to response conflict, which is a key component of executive control processes, and they discuss how it can be induced by unconscious information processing.

Kiefer (2012) provides an overview of the latest research on executive control influences on unconscious information processing. He discusses his attentional sensitization model of unconscious information processing, in which unconscious processing is only elicited if the cognitive system is configured accordingly, namely it depends on attentional amplification of task-congruent processing pathways as a function of task-sets.

Meiran et al. (2012) review and discuss the seemingly paradoxical loss of control associated with states of high readiness to execute a plan, termed "intention-based reflexivity." They suggest that the neurocognitive systems involved in the preparation of novel plans are different than those involved in preparation of practiced plans, and discuss the idea that proactive control (acting in advance of the experienced response conflict) tends to be a relatively rigid construct.

Horga and Maia (2012) suggest that conscious and unconscious processes might be implemented by the same neural substrates and largely perform the same neural computations. What characterizes these processes is time, namely more durable neuronal firing for conscious processes, and less durable neuronal firing for unconscious processes, but both of them can cause behavior.

In the final article, Prabhakaran and Gray (2012) expand the idea of unconscious information processing in executive control

#### **REFERENCES**

- Desender, K., and Van den Bussche, E. (2012). Is consciousness necessary for conflict adaptation? A state of the art. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:3. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00003
- Fuchs, I., and Ansorge, U. (2012). Inhibition of return is no hallmark of exogenous capture by unconscious cues. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:30. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2012.00030
- Gaillard, V., Destrebecqz, A., and Cleeremans, A. (2012). The influence of articulatory suppression on the control of implicit sequence knowledge. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:208. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2012.00208
- Horga, G., and Maia, T. V. (2012). Conscious and unconscious

processes in cognitive control: a theoretical perspective and a novel empirical approach. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:199. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00199

- Kiefer, M. (2012). Executive control over unconscious cognition: attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:61. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00061
- McBride, J., Boy, F., Husain, M., and Sumner, P. (2012). Automatic motor activation in the executive control of action. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:82. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012. 00082
- Meiran, N., Cole, M. W., and Braver, T. S. (2012). When planning results in loss of control: intention-based reflexivity and working-memory.

by exploring and reviewing the societal unconscious influences, such as priming of goals, social hierarchies, and interpersonal interactions.

This collection of papers offers an exciting overview of the field of unconscious processing in executive control, and hopefully it will help other researchers of cognition to further explore this young and exciting field.

Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:104. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00104

- Prabhakaran, R., and Gray, J. R. (2012). The pervasive nature of unconscious social information processing in executive control. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:105. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012. 00105
- Schlaghecken, F., Birak, K. S., and Maylor, E. A. (2012). Agerelated deficits in efficiency of low-level lateral inhibition. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:102. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00102
- Zedelius, C. M., Veling, H., and Aarts, H. (2012). When unconscious rewards boost cognitive task performance inefficiently: the role of consciousness in integrating value and attainability information.

*Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:219. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00219

Received: 10 December 2012; accepted: 16 January 2013; published online: 31 January 2013.

Citation: De Pisapia N (2013) Unconscious information processing in executive control. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 7:21. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2013.00021

Copyright © 2013 De Pisapia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any thirdparty graphics etc.



# Inhibition of return is no hallmark of exogenous capture by unconscious cues

#### Isabella Fuchs<sup>1</sup>\* and Ulrich Ansorge<sup>1,2</sup>

Faculty of Psychology, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria
Institute of Cognitive Science, University of Osnabrück, Osnabrück, Germany

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

David Souto, University College London, UK Xiaolin Zhou, Peking University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Isabella Fuchs, Faculty of Psychology, University of Vienna, Liebiggasse 5, A-1010 Wien, Vienna, Austria. e-mail: isabella.fuchs@univie.ac.at Inhibition of irrelevant information and response tendencies is a central characteristic of conscious control and executive functions. However, recent theories in vision considered Inhibition of Return (IOR: slower responses to attended than unattended positions) to be a hallmark of automatic exogenous capture of visual attention by unconscious cues. In the present study, we show that an unconscious cue that exogenously captures attention does not lead to IOR. First of all, subliminal cues with a contrast different from a searched-for target contrast capture attention independently of their match of contrast polarity to the search criteria. This is found with a short cue-target interval (Exp. 1). However, the same cues do not lead to IOR with a long cue-target interval. The lack of IOR is also verified for several intermediate intervals (Exp. 2), for high-contrast cues and low-contrast targets (Exp. 3), and with lower luminance cues presented on a CRT screen (Exp. 4). Finally, no capture effect but IOR is found for consciously perceived anti-predictive cues (Exp. 5). Together the results support the notion of a double dissociation between IOR and exogenous capture and are in line with a decisive role of consciousness for inhibition.

Keywords: vision, attention, subliminal, cueing, inhibition of return, attentional capture, exogenous capture

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Conscious control allows inhibition of irrelevant information (cf. Baars, 2002; Botvinick et al., 2004), but inhibition has also been found with task-relevant unconscious stimuli (Lau and Passingham, 1998). Recently, however, Mulckhuyse and Theeuwes (2010) argued that Inhibition of Return (IOR) could be a hallmark of exogenous capture of visual attention by unconscious cues. In this context, exogenous capture denotes attentional capture by a truly task-irrelevant stimulus, and IOR denotes that participants respond slower to recently attended but now ignored positions than to less attended positions (cf. Taylor and Klein, 1998). For example, presenting a cue with a cue-target Stimulus Onset Asynchrony (SOA) of less than about 300 ms at one of two possible target positions, attentional capture to the cue is reflected in facilitated responses to a target at the same position (SP) as the cue. This facilitation is found relative to the responses to a target at a different position (DP) than the cue. However, with SOAs of more than about 300 ms, this cueing effect reverses into IOR and responses will often be slower in SP than DP conditions.

Mulckhuyse and Theeuwes (2010) argued that exogenous capture and IOR by unconscious cues are flip sides of one shared process of initially activating and subsequently inhibiting one cued location representation within the retinotopic map of the Superior Colliculi, a midbrain structure that is fed by the visual input of the magno-cellular projection from the retinal ganglion cells. Support for this supposition comes from the observations that the Superior Colliculi indeed seem to play an active role (I) in exogenous capture (cf. Rafal et al., 1991) and (II) in unconscious capture (cf. Ansorge, 2003; Fuchs and Ansorge, 2012) as well as (III) in IOR (cf. Dorris et al., 2002).

However, it is also possible that exogenous capture and IOR are brought about by dissociable cortical structures rather than by one shared sub-cortical structure (e.g., Lupiánez, 2010; Hu and Samuel, 2011). For example, exogenous capture (e.g., Itti et al., 1998) and unconscious capture (e.g., Zhaoping, 2008) could also rely on processing of visual input in early visual cortex (e.g., V1) whereas IOR could be brought about by a different cortical area, for example, posterior parietal cortex (e.g., Mayer et al., 2004; Toffanin et al., 2011). According to this line of reasoning, it might well be that exogenous unconscious capture and IOR are less tightly coupled to one another than assumed so that at least in some instances exogenous unconscious capture could be observed without subsequent IOR. This is of some relevance. If it can be shown that unconscious exogenous capture and IOR are not flip sides of one another, one could not rely on one of the effects, for example, IOR, to infer with certainty that the other effect, for example, exogenous capture, has also taken place. This, however, is exactly the conclusion that has been drawn by Mulckhuyse and Theeuwes (2010).

In addition, research with clearly visible cues has shown that IOR is not only a consequence of exogenous attentional capture. To reiterate, exogenous capture can only be demonstrated when the cue is truly irrelevant and does not fit to the top-down control settings of the participants. However, IOR can also be found after top-down contingent capture. For example, having their participants search for either abrupt onset targets or color targets, Gibson and Amelio (2000) demonstrated that abrupt onset cues only captured attention and led to subsequent IOR if the participants searched for abrupt onset targets. Capture and IOR, however, were absent when an abrupt onset cue was used but targets were defined by colors. Gibson and Amelio (2000) concluded that both, capture and IOR depended on a match of the abrupt onset cues to the top-down control settings of their participants which were set up to search for the targets (cf. Folk et al., 1992; see also Pratt et al., 2001; Prinzmetal et al., 2011).

This was the point of departure for the present study. We wanted to test whether IOR is indeed a necessary consequence of exogenous unconscious capture. Exogenous capture would only be demonstrated where two conditions are fulfilled: visual cues would have to (I) not match the participants' top-down search templates for relevant features and (II) be uninformative about target positions (cf. Folk et al., 1992). Because criterion (I) must not be met to find IOR (e.g., Gibson and Amelio, 2000) and because Mulckhuyse et al. (2007) only used cues of a task-relevant contrast polarity, it is possible that unconscious IOR reflected top-down contingent capture based on a fit of the cue's contrast polarity to the search settings rather than (a consequence of) exogenous capture by a truly irrelevant cue. Therefore, it still needs to be tested whether IOR is or is not a hallmark of unconscious exogenous attentional capture.

In five Experiments, our participants reported the presence of targets in unconsciously cued SP and DP conditions. Attentional capture was verified as faster target detection in SP than DP conditions with short SOAs (cf. McCormick, 1997). IOR was tested as slower target detection in SP than DP conditions with long cue-target SOAs. Crucially, we also varied whether or not the cues matched the top-down search sets for contrast polarity. Our cues either had the same contrast polarity as the searched-for targets, or the cues had the opposite contrast polarity to the searchedfor targets. Thus, only the same- but not the opposite-polarity cues matched the participants' top-down search templates for target contrasts. For example, if participants searched for dark targets, dark cues were top-down matching but light cues were non-matching. If it is true that IOR is a hallmark of unconscious exogenous capture, we expected IOR in the non-matching conditions with an opposite-polarity cue because it has been shown that truly exogenous capture does not depend on a match of the contrast polarity sign (Steinman et al., 1997). In the final Experiment 5 we also tested attentional effects of anti-predictive consciously and unconsciously perceived cues (cf. McCormick, 1997). If consciousness has a supportive role for inhibition, we expected to find IOR with conscious cues even if it was lacking with unconscious cues.

#### EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

#### EXPERIMENT 1 Methods

In Experiment 1 (with a TFT monitor) eight participants searched for black (23 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) and another eight for white (122 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) targets against a gray background (72.5 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, Weber contrast for both targets was  $c_w = \pm 0.68$ ). **Figure 1A** depicts sample trials: the cue (a ring of  $3.0^{\circ} \times 3.0^{\circ}$  size and of a strength of  $0.25^{\circ}$ ) was presented left or right on the screen (with an eccentricity of  $6.7^{\circ}$ ) 16 ms before two placeholder rings (of the same size) appeared: one in the middle and the other one on the opposite side of the screen. The target was a disk (of  $1.9^{\circ} \times 1.9^{\circ}$  size) and



**FIGURE 1 | (A)** Depicted are schematic trials. The top row shows a dark target on the right side, cued by a dark cue at the left side (same-polarity and DP condition). The bottom row also depicts a dark target, but preceded by a light cue and again on the different position (opposite-polarity and DP condition). **(B)** Depicted are mean RTs (between 280 and 380 ms) and standard errors of the mean (error bars) of all participants, plotted separately for the shown for SP (left side of each panel) and DP conditions (right side of each panel), and plotted separately for same. (solid lines) and opposite-polarity cues (dashed lines). **(C)** Depicted are mean RTs (between 280 and 380 ms) and standard errors of the mean (error bars) of all participants, plotted separately for the five different SOAs (separate panels, from left to right for SOA = 50, 100, 200, 300, and 700 ms) of Experiment 2.

could appear either centered in the left or right ring. In the short SOA condition, the target appeared along with the placeholders. In the long SOA condition, the target was shown 1s after the onset of the two placeholder rings. The target was shown in 80% of the trials. The cue and the targets were equally likely left or right, and the target was equally often at the cued position (SP condition) or opposite of the cue (DP condition). The cue was, therefore, uninformative with respect to the target position and the cue was also invisible (or hard to see) because of strong flicker fusion with the placeholder onsets during the tiny interval between the cue and the two other placeholder rings. For every participant a same- or an opposite-polarity cue (with luminance values as for the respective targets) equally likely preceded the target. Different conditions were presented in a randomized sequence of 200 trials. To assess capture (in the short SOA) and IOR (in the long SOA), participants reported the target's presence by a button press. After the target-detection task, participants were informed that one of the rings (i.e., the cue) appeared one frame earlier than the others, and instructed to report the cue position. Participants pressed the left button if they saw the cue on the left and the right button if they saw the cue on the right. In this task, the participants' unconsciousness about the cues would

be reflected by a small d' value, with d' = 0 indicating chance performance.

#### Results

Participants performed very well on the target-detection task (mean d' of target detection = 4.3). Only target-present trials were included in the analyses, and trials with incorrect responses (i.e., misses; 1.1%) and outliers [reaction times (RTs) deviating more than two standard deviations from the mean; 4.0%] were excluded. See also Figure 1B for the RT results. A repeatedmeasurements ANOVA of the mean correct RTs with the variables cue position (SP vs. DP), cue contrast polarity (same vs. opposite), and SOA (short vs. long) led to the following results. Responses to targets preceded by an SP cue (327 ms) were generally faster than in DP conditions (336 ms), as indicated by a main effect of cue position, F(1,15) = 13.6, p < 0.01,  $\eta_p^2 =$ 0.48. Participants also responded faster in the long SOA ( $R\dot{T}$  = 310 ms) than the short SOA (RT = 353 ms), as indicated by a significant main effect of SOA:  $F(1,15) = 101.8, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 =$ 0.87, and in opposite- (RT = 328 ms) than same-polarity (RT = 328 ms) than same-pol 334 ms) conditions, reflected in a main effect of contrast polarity,  $F(1,15) = 8.5, p < 0.05, \eta_p^2 = 0.36$ . Significant two-way interactions between cue polarity and SOA, F(1,15) = 5.2, p < 0.05,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.26$ , and between cue position and SOA F(1,15) = 22.7,  $p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.60$ , prompted *post-hoc* Bonferroni-adjusted t-tests of cueing effects (SP vs. DP) split up for each combination of SOA and contrast polarity. Importantly, these tests revealed a significant cueing effect in the short SOA for both, same-polarity (SP: RT = 352 ms, DP: RT = 365 ms, p < 0.01) and oppositepolarity conditions (SP: RT = 337 ms, DP: RT = 358 ms, p <0.01). In the long SOA, no significant effect was found, neither for same-polarity (SP: RT = 308 ms, DP: RT = 312 ms, p = 0.19) nor opposite-polarity conditions (SP: RT = 312 ms, DP: RT = 308 ms, p = 0.50).

After finishing the target-detection task, participants were asked whether they had been aware of the cue (i.e., one of the rings starting earlier) during the target-detection task. All participants reported a subjective unawareness of the cues during the target-detection task. However, as an objective measure of cue awareness, we next ran a cue-discrimination task, and d' for cue detection was calculated from this task. To be precise, in the cue-discrimination task, correct reports of cues on the right counted as hits, and incorrect reports of cues on the right as false alarms, and d' was calculated as the difference between the z-transformed probabilities of the hits minus the z-transformed probabilities of the false alarms. d' will be zero in the case of chance performance (or invisibility of the cues) and can infinitely increase with an ever increasing discrimination performance. On average, cue detection was above chance level [mean d' = 0.24, *t*-test against zero, t(15) = 2.5, p = 0.024]. However, restricting our analysis to only the worst cue discriminators among the participants, the participants remained completely unaware of the cue [mean d' = -0.02, t(7) = -0.55, p = 0.60], and yet the RT effects reported above could be replicated, with significant main effects for cue position and SOA, and a significant interaction between these variables reflecting that there was a cueing effect in the short SOA (p < 0.01) but no IOR in the long SOA (p = 0.27).

#### Discussion

We found cueing effects in the short SOA for both, sameand opposite-polarity conditions. This is evidence for exogenous capture because only in the same- but not in the oppositepolarity conditions, the cues would have matched the top-down search template for target contrasts. In addition, exogenous capture was also found with the participants that remained unaware of the cues. This demonstrated exogenous unconscious capture. Crucially, however, we could not find any evidence of IOR in the long SOAs. This finding is at variance with the claim that IOR is a hallmark of unconscious exogenous capture. Before we could conclude this with certainty, additional possible explanations for the lack of IOR had to be tested. First, the long SOA of 1s could have been an unfortunate choice, if IOR occurred earlier and had vanished after 1s. To test this possibility, we conducted Experiment 2, where we used five intermediate SOAs between 50 and 700 ms. Second, the luminance values of our stimuli and background were different to previous studies that reported IOR (cf. Mulckhuyse et al., 2007). This might be crucial because lower target contrasts can lead to larger IOR compared to higher contrasts (e.g., Hunt and Kingstone, 2003). This was tested in Experiment 3. Third, the current Experiment differed in two further respects from the study by Mulckhuyse et al. (2007): the use of a CRT screen and the cues' luminance values. These changes were addressed in Experiment 4.

#### **EXPERIMENT 2**

#### Methods

With 18 new participants, we used the same experimental set up as in Experiment 1, except for the SOAs that were 50, 100, 200, 300, or 700 ms, presented in a random order.

#### **Results and discussion**

Participants performed very well on the target-detection task (mean d' = 4.2). Again, only target-present trials were analyzed, and trials with incorrect responses (2.1%) and outlying RTs (further 2.3%) were excluded. For the RT results see **Figure 1C**. A repeated-measurements ANOVA of the mean correct RTs with the variables *cue position* (SP vs. DP), *cue contrast polarity* (same vs. opposite), and *SOA* (five steps) led to a significant main effect of SOA, F(4,68) = 11.2, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.40$  (for SOA of 50 ms: RT = 329 ms, SOA of 100 ms: RT = 309 ms, SOA of 200 ms: RT = 304 ms, SOA of 300 ms: RT = 303 ms, and SOA of 700 ms: RT = 333 ms). All other tests failed to reach significance.

All participants reported a subjective unawareness of the cues during the target-detection task, but the cue detection-block revealed above chance accuracy for the shortest and longest SOA (mean d's = 0.35 and 0.44 respectively, p < 0.05), whereas the cue remained below the objective threshold in the other SOAs (all ps > 0.05).

#### Discussion

In Experiment 2 we used the exact same procedure as in Experiment 1 except for the SOAs. Although the cues initially captured attention (at a very short SOA of Exp. 1), the capture effect seems to wear off very rapidly, as indicated by non-significant

effects for all SOAs in Experiment 2. This result also rules out the possibility that IOR occurred at an earlier interval between 50 and 700 ms.

#### **EXPERIMENT 3**

In Experiment 3, we tested whether IOR depended on contrast strength. In past research it was found that lower target contrasts can lead to larger IOR compared to higher target contrasts (e.g., Hunt and Kingstone, 2003). For our tests, we used high-contrast cues preceding low-contrast targets at four different SOAs.

#### Methods

With 14 new participants, we used a similar experimental set up as in Experiment 1. Here, all participants searched for a lowcontrast target (10.5 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, Weber contrast  $c_w = 0.62$ ) preceded by a high-contrast cue (104 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, Weber contrast  $c_w = 15.0$ ) against a black background (6.5 cd/m<sup>2</sup>). The reported luminance values match those used in the study by Hunt and Kingstone (2003). Furthermore, we also varied the SOAs: In half of the trials, the target again appeared simultaneously with the two other placeholders, whereas in the other half of the trials the target followed equally often after an SOA of 800, 1,000, or 1,200 ms. The additional long SOAs of 800 and 1,200 ms were chosen corresponding to the study by Hunt and Kingstone (2003; where the interval between cue and target onset was 1,160 ms, and between cue offset and target onset 860 ms). The target again appeared equally often at the same (SP) or different position (DP) as the cue. Conditions were presented in a randomized sequence of 240 trials including 20% catch trials. Cue visibility was assessed in a second block consisting of 60 trials.

#### Results

Participants performed well in the target-detection task even though the target was difficult to see (mean d' = 2.1). Again, only target-present trials were analyzed, and trials with incorrect responses (20.7%) and outlying RTs (4.4%) were excluded. See **Figure 2A** for the RT results. First, we tested for IOR in



**FIGURE 2 | (A)** Depicted are the results (mean RTs between 350 and 550 ms) of Experiment 3. Mean RT was faster if the cue was at the same position (SP) as the target than if the cue was at a different position (DP) than the target. This was found with a short cue-target stimulus onset asynchrony (SOA; solid line) but not with a long SOA (dashed line). **(B)** Analogous results (mean RTs between 325 and 425 ms) of Experiment 4 are plotted separately for the short (solid line) and long SOAs (dashed line), for three different conditions separately (see figure legend). For further details refer to the Methods sections of Experiments 3 and 4.

only the long SOAs, and calculated a repeated-measurements ANOVA with the variables cue position (SP vs. DP), and SOA (800, 1,000, or 1,200 ms) on RTs. There was neither a significant main effect of SOA nor cue position, nor a significant interaction between these variables (all  $p_s > 0.18$ ). Therefore, we collapsed across different long SOAs for a subsequent ANOVA, with the variables *cue position* (SP vs. DP), and SOA (short vs. long) on RTs. Again we found a significant main effect for SOA,  $F(1,13) = 63.1, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.83$ , indicating faster responses in the long SOAs (RT = 377 ms) than in the short SOA (RT =510 ms). A significant interaction between cue position and SOA, F(1,13) = 7.7, p < 0.05,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.37$ , and *post-hoc* Bonferroniadjusted *t*-tests revealed a significant cueing effect in the short SOA (SP: RT = 504 ms, DP: RT = 516 ms, p < 0.05) and no effect in the long SOAs (SP: RT = 377 ms, DP: RT = 376 ms, p = 0.94).

Importantly, again, all participants reported a subjective unawareness of the cues during the target-detection task. Objectively, participants performed above chance level in the cuedetection task (mean d' = 1.65, p < 0.001), and performance did not differ across SOAs, F(3,39) < 1.

#### Discussion

When presenting a low-contrast target cued by a high-contrast cue, we failed to find IOR in the long SOAs, although we found a cueing effect in the short SOA. This finding rules out that the lack of IOR in the present Experiment 1 could be explained by the high contrast strength of the target relative to the background, which facilitated target perception and undermined the attentional effect of the cues.

The results of Experiment 3 also prompted a question: because target- and cue-detection were both objectively, and almost equally bad, does this mean that the participants were unaware of the low-contrast targets? Not necessarily. During the targetdetection task, participants actively searched for the targets. Although active top-down search for a stimulus does not always lead to stimulus awareness (e.g., Ansorge et al., 2009), a wealth of research suggests that active search for a stimulus has the potential to increase stimulus awareness (cf. Mack and Rock, 1998; Simons, 2000). Therefore, our participants probably saw the targets but failed to subjectively see the cues during target-detection because they actively searched for only the targets. By the same token, the participants probably became increasingly aware of the cues during cue-detection, when they actively searched for the cues. In line with this, participants indeed occasionally reported becoming also subjectively aware of the cues during the cuedetection task. In conclusion, we can understand that during target-detection the participants were aware of the targets and at the same time unaware of the cues, if we take into account the awareness-mediating role of target-directed vs. cue-directed active search.

#### **EXPERIMENT 4**

Experiment 4 was conducted on a CRT screen and participants searched for three different target contrasts in three separate blocks: black targets, white targets, and targets matching the luminance conditions reported in Mulckhuyse et al. (2007).

#### Methods

Experiment 4 used the same procedures as Experiment 1, except for the following changes: A CRT monitor (as in Mulckhuyse et al., 2007) was used instead of a TFT screen. All participants (N = 18) searched for three different target luminances in three separate blocks (with different block orders balanced across participants): one block with black (20 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) targets against a gray background (55 cd/m<sup>2</sup>; Weber contrast  $c_w = -0.8$ ), one with white (90 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) targets against the same gray background ( $c_w =$ +0.8)—in these blocks, a cue of either the same or the opposite contrast polarity preceded the target,-and a third block with targets and backgrounds with the same luminance values as reported in Mulckhuyse et al. [i.e., a target in dark-gray (13 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) against a black background  $(5 \text{ cd/m}^2)$ ,  $c_w = 1.6$ ]. The latter condition will henceforth be referred to as the "Mulckhuyse condition." In this condition, only cues matching the target luminance were used. In all blocks, the target was either presented along with the other placeholders (SOA = 0 ms) or with an SOA of 1 s. Again, participants searched for the targets in a random sequence of all conditions within each block of 200 trials.

#### Results

Participants performed very well on the target-detection task (mean d' = 4.7). Again, only target-present trials were analyzed, and trials with incorrect responses (1.1%) and outlying RTs (2.7%) were excluded. See Figure 2B for the RT results. A repeated measurements ANOVA of the mean correct RTs with the variables cue position (SP vs. DP), cue condition (same-polarity vs. opposite-polarity vs. Mulckhuyse condition), and SOA (short vs. long) led to a significant main effect for SOA, F(1,17) = 54.0, p < 1000.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.76$ , with shorter RTs in the long (RT = 346 ms) than in the short SOA (RT = 381 ms). Furthermore, responses in SP conditions (RT = 357 ms) were generally faster than in DP conditions (RT = 371 ms), as indicated by a significant main effect of cue position, F(1,17) = 185.1, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.92$ . Also, responses in the Mulckhuyse condition were generally slower (RT = 378 ms) compared to the same- (RT = 358 ms, p < 0.001)and opposite-polarity condition (RT = 355 ms, p < 0.001), indicated by a main effect for cue condition, F(2,34) = 46.2, p <0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.73$ . We found significant interactions between cue condition and cue position, F(2,34) = 5.4, p < 0.05,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.24$ , between cue condition and SOA, F(2,34) = 7.1, p < 0.01,  $\eta_p^2 =$ 0.30, and between cue position and SOA, F(1,17) = 82.4, p < 10.300.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.83$ . Post-hoc Bonferroni adjusted t-tests revealed significant cueing effects (i.e., faster responses to SP than DP cued targets) for all cue conditions in the short SOA (RT differences, i.e., RTs to DP cues – SP cues: for same-polarity = 34 ms, for opposite-polarity = 19 ms, and for the Mulckhuyse condition = 28 ms, all ps < 0.001). No significant results were found for the long SOA at all (RT differences, i.e., RTs to SP cues - DP cues: for same-polarity = -6 ms, for opposite-polarity = 1 ms, and for the Mulckhuyse condition = 0 ms, all ps > 0.09), indicating a lack of IOR in all conditions.

Importantly, again, all participants reported a subjective unawareness of the cues during the target-detection task. Also, although objective cue detection was worse in the Mulckhuyse condition (mean d' = 1.32) than in the same-polarity (mean

d' = 1.98; p < 0.05) and the opposite-polarity condition (mean d' = 2.21; p < 0.01), participants performed above chance level in all conditions (all ps > 0.001).

#### Discussion

Experiment 4 showed that capture can be found even with cues that are subjectively not seen but that IOR is not observed under these conditions. These findings rule out that the CRT screen or the different luminance values of the cues and background used in the study by Mulckhuyse et al. (2007) as compared to the present Experiments 1–3 accounted for the absence of IOR in the current study. Experiment 4 is a failure to replicate IOR under the conditions of Mulckhuyse et al. (2007).

#### **EXPERIMENT 5**

In Experiment 5, we tested whether IOR occurs for anti-predictive supraliminal cues. This manipulation allows for a strategic use of the cues (cf. McCormick, 1997; Ansorge, Kiss et al., 2011). Since the target can be found at the position opposite to the cue (i.e., in the DP conditions) in the majority of the trials, we expected faster responses to DP than SP conditions, when the cues were visible, but not for invisible cues. In the Introduction, we argued for a critical role of consciousness during inhibition. Therefore, in two separate blocks the cues were either rendered visible or invisible, and they appeared at the position opposite to the target on the majority of trials. We expected a qualitative difference. Based on the supportive role of consciousness for inhibition IOR was expected in supraliminal cueing conditions. Based on the lack of IOR in the preceding experiments of the present study, however, no IOR was expected in the subliminal cueing conditions.

#### Methods

With 16 new participants, we used a similar experimental set up as in Experiment 1, except for the following changes. First, in two separate blocks, the cues were either invisible (as in the preceding experiments) or visible. Cue visibility was achieved in one block by omitting the two additional placeholder rings (see **Figure 3A**). Block sequence was balanced across participants. Second, targets were preceded by DP cues in 75% and by SP cues in only 25% of the target-present trials. In this manner, IOR was encouraged.



**FIGURE 3 | (A)** Depicted are schematic trials of Experiment 5. The top row shows a visibly cued dark target (same-polarity and SP condition). The bottom row depicts an invisibly cued light target (opposite-polarity and DP condition). **(B)** Results (mean RTs between 330 and 430 ms) of Experiment 5 are plotted separately for the short (left panel) and long SOA (right panel), and for visibly (solid line) and invisibly cued targets (dashed line).

Different conditions were presented in a randomized sequence of 240 trials including 20% catch trials. Cue awareness was assessed in a final block consisting of 80 trials.

#### Results

Participants performed very well on the target-discrimination task (mean d' = 4.1). Again, only target-present trials were analyzed, and trials with incorrect responses (1.9%) and outlying RTs (2.8%) were excluded. See Figure 3B for the RT results. A repeated-measurements ANOVA with the variables cue position (SP vs. DP), cue contrast polarity (same vs. different), cue visibility (visible vs. invisible), and SOA (short vs. long) on mean correct RTs led to the following results. Responses in SP conditions (RT = 385 ms) were generally slower than in DP conditions (RT = 364 ms), as indicated by a significant main effect of cue position, F(1,15) = 41.7, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.74$ . Furthermore, participants generally responded faster in the long SOA (RT = 362 ms) compared to the short SOA (RT = 387 ms), as indicated by a significant main effect for SOA, F(1,15) = 15.5, p < 15.50.01,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.51$ . We found four significant two-way interactions: between cue position and contrast polarity, F(1,15) = 5.9, p <0.05,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.28$ , between cue position and awareness, F(1,5) =46.1, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.76$ , between cue position and SOA,  $F(1,15) = 22.2, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.60, \text{ and between awareness}$ and SOA, F(1,15) = 49.9, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.77$ . Importantly, post-hoc Bonferroni-adjusted t-tests revealed a cueing effect (SP: RT = 392 ms, DP: RT = 408 ms, p < 0.05) in the invisible condition for the short SOA, whereas participants responded slower to SP (RT = 389 ms) compared to DP cues (RT = 360 ms, p < 0.01) when the cue was visible. In the long SOA, we again found no significant effect for invisible cues (SP: RT = 349 ms, DP: RT =343 ms, p = 0.36), and IOR for visible cues (SP: RT = 411 ms, DP: RT = 345 ms, p < 0.001).

Cue detection was worse for invisible cues (mean d' = 1.92) than for visible cues (mean d' = 3.51; p < 0.01), but participants performed above chance level in both conditions (both ps > 0.001).

#### Discussion

The results of Experiment 5 show a double dissociation between cueing effects and IOR: for anti-predictive visible cues IOR but no capture was found, whereas for unconscious or invisible cues a capture effect but no IOR was obtained (cf. McCormick, 1997). This emphasizes that IOR and exogenous capture are based on two separate mechanisms, mediated by conscious control or being more independent of control, respectively. With the visible cues, IOR was even found with the short SOA, which is in line with prior findings (cf. Tassinari and Berlucchi, 1993). One caveat of the present experiment is that the visual stimulation in the visible and invisible condition cannot be directly compared. For instance, the placeholders could have undermined capture and IOR only in the unconscious cueing conditions. Evidently, this was not the case regarding capture because capture was only found in the invisible conditions with the additional placeholders. However, future research should be devoted to understand the confounded roles of invisibility and placeholders on the lack of IOR, too.

A second important aspect of the results of Experiment 5 is that the subliminal cues used throughout this study were truly subliminal because if participants would have been aware of the cues, their strategic use for inhibition would have led to faster responses in DP than SP conditions in the subliminal condition, too.

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

We found attentional capture by unconscious cues. This was reflected in faster target detection in SP than DP conditions in the short cue-target interval for both, same- and opposite-polarity conditions (Exp. 1), and these effects did not differ for very lowcontrast targets (Exp. 3) or varying luminance values of cues or targets (Exp. 4). In contrast to some previous research (cf. Ansorge et al., 2010), we observed subliminal attentional capture that was independent of the match of the cue to the searched-for target features (here: target contrast polarities). Thus, exogenous capture by the cues was ensured at least in the opposite-polarity conditions. In the current study we found an independence of the cueing effect from the match between the contrast polarity of the unconscious cue and the participants' search set.

Crucially, however, and in line with our opinion that IOR is not a hallmark of unconscious exogenous capture, we did not find IOR with longer cue-target SOAs (see also McCormick, 1997; Scharlau et al., 2006). This was found even when different intermediate SOAs were used (Exp. 2). Therefore, the lack of IOR was very likely not due to an unfortunate choice of SOAs. In addition, because we found exogenous capture with the same cues under short SOA conditions (in Exp. 1), the lack of IOR cannot be ascribed to an absence of attentional capture. Finally, whether or not the cues were relevant did not change this major result. Crucially, IOR but no capture was found in a control condition with consciously perceived cues (Exp. 5). Together, these results support the conclusion that capture and IOR do not necessarily rely on the same mechanism (cf. Prinzmetal et al., 2011), and must not be brought about by one shared two-phase process in the Superior Colliculi (cf. Mulckhuyse and Theeuwes, 2010). Instead, the fact that capture could be observed without subsequent IOR would be equally well in line with different origins of capture and IOR, for instance, an origin of capture in the early visual cortex (cf. Zhaoping, 2008) and an origin of IOR in posterior parietal cortex (cf. Toffanin et al., 2011).

Unexpectedly and in contrast to Mulckhuyse et al. (2007), our participants were able to objectively discriminate between the cues as indicated by significant d' values. This was the case even in conditions that were very similar in all important respects to the protocol of Mulckhuyse et al. (2007; present Exp. 4). Maybe some characteristic such as the exact shape of the cues (which were rings in our study but disks in Mulckhuyse et al., 2007) has led to a lower visibility in Mulckhuyse et al. (2007) study but our results are well in accordance with the known sensitivity of the visual system for temporal asynchronies between unconsciously cued and uncued stimuli (cf. Scharlau and Ansorge, 2003).

Note also that the currently found average ability of the participants to objectively discriminate between the cues does not cast doubts on our conclusion that we measured an unconscious capture effect. This is so because first, in Experiment 1, we showed very similar capture effects in objectively unconscious and conscious cueing conditions, that is, for participants that performed on chance level when discriminating the cues, a capture effect in the short SOA and no IOR in the long SOA was found, too. In addition, due to flicker fusion all of our participants failed to see the cues and therefore claimed to at least subjectively have remained unaware of the cues. All participants, therefore, passed a subjective criterion of unconscious cueing during target detection and this alone allows the conclusion that cueing was brought about unconsciously (Merikle et al., 2001). Crucially, the participants' inability of a strategic use of the anti-predictive unconscious cues clearly showed that the subliminal cues used in the present study were not consciously perceived (Exp. 5).

#### CONCLUSION

IOR can be found with visible and top-down matching cues (cf. Gibson and Amelio, 2000) and IOR is unreliable with unconscious exogenous capture (see our experiments above). Together, these observations are in line with a double dissociation between IOR on the one hand and unconscious exogenous capture on the other. The results are also suggestive of a decisive role of task sets

#### REFERENCES

- Ansorge, U. (2003). Asymmetric influences of temporally vs. nasally presented masked visual information: evidence for collicular contributions to nonconscious priming effects. *Brain Cogn.* 51, 317–325.
- Ansorge, U., Fuchs, I., Khalid, S., and Kunde, W. (2011). No conflict control in the absence of awareness. *Psychol. Res.* 75, 351–365.
- Ansorge, U., Horstmann, G., and Worschech, F. (2010). Attentional capture by masked color singletons. *Vision Res.* 50, 2015–2027.
- Ansorge, U., Kiss, M., and Eimer, M. (2009). Goal-driven attentional capture by invisible colors: evidence from event-related potentials. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 16, 648–653.
- Ansorge, U., Kiss, M., Worschech, F., and Eimer, M. (2011). The initial stage of visual selection is controlled by top-down task set: new ERP evidence. *Atten. Percept. Psychophys.* 73, 113–122.
- Baars, B. J. (2002). The conscious access hypothesis: origins and recent evidence. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 6, 47–52.
- Botvinick, M. M., Cohen, J. D., and Carter, C. S. (2004). Conflict monitoring and anterior cingulate cortex: an update. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 539–546.
- Dorris, M. C., Klein, R. M., Everling, S., and Munoz, D. P. (2002). Contribution of the primate Superior Colliculus to inhibition of return. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 14, 1256–1263.

- Folk, C. L., Remington, R. W., and Johnston, J. C. (1992). Involuntary covert orienting is contingent on attentional control settings. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 18, 1030–1044.
- Fuchs, I., and Ansorge, U. (2012). Unconscious cueing via the superior colliculi: evidence from searching for onset and color targets. *Brain Sci.* 2, 33–60.
- Gibson, B. S., and Amelio, J. (2000). Inhibition of return and attentional control settings. *Percept. Psychophys.* 62, 496–504.
- Hu, F. K., and Samuel, A. G. (2011). Facilitation vs. inhibition in nonspatial attribute discrimination tasks. *Atten. Percept. Psychophys.* 73, 784–796.
- Hunt, A. R., and Kingstone, A. (2003). Inhibition of return: dissociating attentional and oculomotor components. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 29, 1068–1074.
- Itti, L., Koch, C., and Niebur, E. (1998). A model of saliency-based visual attention for rapid scene analysis. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* 20, 1254–1259.
- Ivanoff, J., and Klein, R. M. (2003). Orienting of attention without awareness is affected by measurement-induced attentional control settings. J. Vis. 3, 32–40.
- Kunde, W. (2003). Sequential modulations of stimulus-response correspondence effects depend on awareness of response conflict. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 10, 198–205.

and consciousness for inhibition in general and, thus, in good agreement with major theories of inhibitory executive functions (cf. Kunde, 2003; Botvinick et al., 2004; Ansorge, Fuchs et al., 2011). For instance, using conscious and unconscious cueing, IOR was stronger with conscious cues and sometimes selectively found with conscious cues (cf. Ivanoff and Klein, 2003). It is our opinion that the unreliable IOR effects of unconscious cues that have sometimes been reported in the literature (Mulckhuyse et al., 2007) could well be due to side factors unrelated to (I) the invisibility of the cues and (II) the nature of capture (i.e., whether capture was exogenous or not), such as the exact way in which the cue visibility has been reduced (cf. Ivanoff and Klein, 2003) or even the exact sample of participants (cf. Mulckhuyse et al., 2007). The absence of IOR after unconscious exogenous cueing in the present study certainly refutes Mulckhuyse and Theeuwe's (2010) assumption that IOR would be a hallmark of unconscious exogenous capture.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Alexander Kudrna, Isabell Möckel, Mira Seitzer, and Käthe Siuda for their valuable help with the data collection.

- Lau, H. C., and Passingham, R. E. (2007). Unconscious activation of the cognitive control system in the human prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 27, 5805–5811.
- Lupiánez, J. (2010). "Inhibition of return," in Attention and Time, eds A. C. Nobre and J. T. Coull, (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 17–34.
- Mack, A., and Rock, I. (1998). *Inattentional Blindness*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Mayer, A. R., Seidenberg, M., Dorflinger, J. M., and Rao, S. M. (2004). An event-related fMRI study of exogenous orienting: supporting evidence for the cortical basis of inhibition of return? J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 1262–1271.
- McCormick, P. A. (1997). Orienting attention without awareness. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 23, 168–180.
- Merikle, P. M., Smilek, D., and Eastwood, J. D. (2001). Perception without awareness: perspectives from cognitive psychology. *Cognition* 79, 115–134.
- Mulckhuyse, M., Talsma, D., and Theeuwes, J. (2007). Grabbing attention without knowing: automatic capture of attention by subliminal spatial cues. *Vis. Cogn.* 15, 779–788.
- Mulckhuyse, M., and Theeuwes, J. (2010). Unconscious attentional orienting to exogenous cues: a review of the literature. Acta Psychol. (Amst) 143, 199–209.

- Pratt, J., Sekuler, A., and McAuliffe, J. (2001). The role of attentional set on attentional cueing and inhibition of return. *Vis. Cogn.* 8, 33–46.
- Prinzmetal, W., Taylor, J. A., Myers, L. B., and Nguyen-Espino, J. (2011). Contingent capture and inhibition of return: a comparison of mechanisms. *Exp. Brain Res.* 214, 47–60.
- Rafal, R., Henik, R., and Smith, J. (1991). Extrageniculate contributions to reflex visual orienting in normal humans – a temporal hemifield advantage. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 3, 322–328.
- Scharlau, I., and Ansorge, U. (2003). Direct parameter specification of an attention shift: evidence from perceptual latency priming. *Vision Res.* 43, 1351–1363.
- Scharlau, I., Ansorge, U., and Horstmann, G. (2006). Latency facilitation in temporal-order judgments: time course of facilitation as a function of judgment type. Acta Psychol. (Amst) 122, 129–159.
- Simons, D. J. (2000). Attentional capture and inattentional blindness. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 4, 147–155.
- Steinman, B. A., Steinman, S. B., and Lehmkuhle, S. (1997). Transient visual attention is dominated by the magnocellular stream. *Vision Res.* 37, 17–23.
- Tassinari, G., and Berlucchi, G. (1993). Sensory and attentional components of slowing of manual reaction time to non-fixated visual targets by ipsilateral primes. *Vision Res.* 33, 1525–1534.

- Taylor, T. L., and Klein, R. M. (1998). On the cause and effects of inhibition of return. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 5, 625–643.
- Toffanin, P., De Jong, R., and Johnson, A. (2011). The P4pc: an electrophysiological marker of attentional disengagement? Int. J. Psychophysiol. 81, 72–81.
- Zhaoping, L. (2008). Attention capture by eye of origin singletons even without awareness - A hallmark of a bottom-up saliency map in the primary visual cortex. *J. Vis.* 8, 1–18.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 September 2011; accepted: 09 February 2012; published online: 24 February 2012.

Citation: Fuchs I and Ansorge U (2012) Inhibition of return is no hallmark of exogenous capture by unconscious cues. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:30. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00030

Copyright © 2012 Fuchs and Ansorge. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# The influence of articulatory suppression on the control of implicit sequence knowledge

#### Vinciane Gaillard\*, Arnaud Destrebecqz and Axel Cleeremans

Consciousness, Cognition and Computation Group, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Julia Karbach, Saarland University, Germany Alexander Heinemann, Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzbura, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Vinciane Gaillard, Consciousness, Cognition and Computation Group, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Avenue Franklin Roosevelt 50, CP 191, 1050 Bruxelles, Belgium. e-mail: vgaillar@ulb.ac.be

The present study investigated the consciousness-control relationship by suppressing the possibility to exert executive control on incidentally acquired knowledge. Participants first learned a sequence of locations through a serial reaction time (SRT) task. Next, to assess the extent to which the incidentally acquired knowledge was available to executive control, they were asked both to generate the learned sequence under inclusion instructions, and then to avoid the generation of the learned sequence under exclusion instructions. We manipulated the possibility for participants to recruit control processes in the generation task in three different conditions. In addition to a control condition, participants generated sequences under inclusion and exclusion concurrently with either articulatory suppression or foot tapping. In a final recognition task, participants reacted to old vs. new short sequences (triplets), and judged, for each sequence, whether it had been presented before or not. Results suggest that articulatory suppression specifically impairs exclusion performance by interfering with inner speech. Because participants were nevertheless able to successfully recognize fragments of the training sequence in the recognition task, this is indicative of a dissociation between control and recognition memory. In other words, this study suggests that executive control and consciousness might not be associated in all circumstances.

Keywords: inner speech, articulatory suppression, sequence learning, control

Executive control and consciousness are typically assumed to be associated (see Moors and De Houwer, 2006; Hommel, 2007 for reviews): one can only control the knowledge that one is aware of. Dehaene and colleagues "neural workspace" hypothesis, for instance, explicitly rules out the possibility that an unconscious process can modulate high-level, conscious processes (Dehaene and Changeux, 2004). However, evidence that executive control is possible in the absence of awareness has recently been obtained with masked priming (Heinemann et al., 2009; van Gaal et al., 2009; Kiefer and Martens, 2010; Capa et al., 2011).

Using a different method, the present study aimed at assessing whether knowledge that one cannot control nevertheless remains available to awareness. Participants first learned a sequence of locations through a serial reaction time (SRT) task (Nissen and Bullemer, 1987). Next, to assess the extent to which the incidentally acquired knowledge was available to executive control, they were asked both to generate the learned sequence under inclusion instructions, and then to avoid the generation of the learned sequence under exclusion instructions. Comparing the knowledge produced when people are directly instructed to recall it and when they are directly instructed to avoid its recall makes it possible to assess the extent to which people are able to control the influence of the acquired knowledge (Destrebecqz and Cleeremans, 2001; Wilkinson and Shanks, 2004). Finally a direct recognition task assessed awareness of the material. Crucially, people's ability to control the expression of the learned knowledge was manipulated by asking participants to perform a secondary

task during generation. Thus, in addition to a control condition, participants generated sequences under inclusion and exclusion instructions concurrently with either articulatory suppression or foot tapping. The rationale behind this manipulation stems from the well-established relationship between language, inner speech, and cognitive control. Cragg and Nation (2010) recently surveyed the studies showing a parallel development of language abilities and cognitive control. Indeed, after the seminal "Thought and language" book by Vygotsky (1962), there is no doubt that language plays a role in guiding children's own thinking and behavior. However, the exact implication of inner speech in cognitive control continues to be debated. Cragg and Nation (2010) suggest that language may be implicated in selecting and activating the relevant task set, in keeping track of the task (or item) order, and in retrieving the relevant task goal, especially when conflicting information is present. In the following, we briefly review evidence that suppressing inner speech is indeed detrimental to controlled processes.

## SUPPRESSING INNER SPEECH AS A MEANS OF INTERFERING WITH EXECUTIVE CONTROL

One of the foremost methods to study the role of inner speech in higher-level cognition consists of "relatively simple articulatory interference procedures" (de Guerrero, 2005, p. 108). For example, in seeking to induce perseverative errors in healthy participants and compare their performance with frontal patients, Dunbar and Sussman (1995) administered the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) concurrently with either an articulatory suppression or a tone detection secondary task. They observed more perseverative errors when a category is changed for the first time, in the articulatory suppression condition only. In other words, perseverative errors can be induced in the WCST by blocking inner speech, because participants loose track of the task rules.

Concurrent articulatory suppression has also been extensively used to hinder task preparation in the task-switching paradigm. In such studies, participants complete or verify lists of addition and subtraction problems, or perform parity, magnitude, letter, color, or shape judgments in blocked vs. alternating form (Baddeley et al., 2001; Emerson and Miyake, 2003; Miyake et al., 2004; Saeki and Saito, 2004, 2009; Bryck and Mayr, 2005; Saeki et al., 2006). Concurrently, they have to perform an articulatory suppression task, which may consist in reciting the days of the week or the months of the year (Baddeley et al., 2001), in saying "the" or "da" repeatedly (Baddeley et al., 2001; Saeki and Saito, 2004, 2009; Bryck and Mayr, 2005; Saeki et al., 2006), in saying the sequence "a-b-c" repeatedly (Emerson and Miyake, 2003) or in repeating "Tuesday" or "Thursday" (Miyake et al., 2004). Articulatory suppression is typically contrasted with a non-verbal secondary task, such as foot tapping, and with a control condition without any secondary task at all. Overall, data indicate that disrupting inner speech via articulatory suppression specifically impairs task-switching performance, above and beyond the detrimental effects imposed by the requirement to perform a dual task.

Articulatory suppression also makes it difficult to override prepotent responses. For instance, blocking inner speech ("inner voice") increases impulsive responding in a Go/No-Go task (Tullett and Inzlicht, 2010). Participants make more "Go" responses when they say the word "computer" repeatedly than when they continuously draw circles with their non-dominant hand. This is even more so in a switching version of the Go/No-Go task, which requires more self-control. As a consequence, Tullett and Inzlicht (2010) insist on the specific role that verbal resources play in self-control.

It is worth noting that research related to the interplay between language development and the development of action control also points in the same direction. More specifically, Karbach et al. (2011) demonstrated the positive influence of verbal relevant self-instructions for action-effect learning in 4-year-old children. In the same vein, Kray et al. (2008) provided evidence that the deficits in task-switching ability usually observed in younger children and older adults can be counteracted by verbal labelling. The action control benefits associated with verbalization appear to follow a U-shaped developmental trend across the lifespan.

Importantly, regardless of the apparent procedural differences and the specific goals of each study, the general conclusion arising from all these data is that disturbing inner speech has detrimental effects on executive control processes. In this light, inner speech thus serves as an internal self-cuing device that is particularly helpful when endogenous control is required. In other words, inner speech helps drive action in complex situations where information from the immediate past is needed. Building on this conclusion, the present study addresses the question of the relationship between consciousness and control by suppressing the

possibility of exerting executive control on knowledge in implicit sequence learning.

Implicit sequence learning is the ability to learn sequential regularities without intending to learn (see Perruchet, 2008; Shanks, 2010). In a typical SRT task (Nissen and Bullemer, 1987), a visual target moves from location to location following a fixed sequence. The task is presented as a speed test in which participants have to track the target by pressing the corresponding keys as fast as possible. The absence of instructions regarding the existence of an underlying sequence makes it unlikely that participants develop any intention to learn its regularities. Nonetheless, they typically show increasing sensitivity to the sequential regularities contained in the sequence as training progresses, as demonstrated by gradually faster responses to predictable locations vs. novel locations (as when the training sequence is suddenly replaced by another). Under these circumstances, participants typically exhibit limited awareness of the sequential regularities (Cleeremans et al., 1998), and sequence learning therefore constitutes an excellent example of implicit learning. Here, at the end of the SRT task, people performed two forced-choice tasks, as in Destrebecgz and Cleeremans (2001). Participants first performed a generation task in which they had to freely generate a sequence under inclusion and exclusion instructions. In a final recognition task, participants were asked to react to old vs. new short sequences (triplets), and to decide, for each sequence, whether it had been presented before or not.

#### **AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS OF THE PRESENT STUDY**

The generation task is of particular interest here because it requires executive control. The specific version of the generation task we used here is based on Destrebecgz and Cleeremans (2001) and includes two phases. Participants first perform the generation task under inclusion instructions. They are asked to generate a sequence that resembles the training sequence as much as possible. Next, they perform the generation task under exclusion instructions, that is, they are asked to avoid reproducing the training sequence (that is, to generate a sequence that is as different as possible from the trained sequence). According to the Process Dissociation Procedure (Jacoby, 1991), generation under inclusion instructions constitute a facilitation task because both explicit and implicit knowledge may help participants generate the training sequence. In contrast, generation under exclusion instructions is an interference task because explicit and implicit knowledge of the repetitive pattern act in opposition: Only conscious, controlled knowledge can help participants avoid producing the training pattern. Thus, observing that fragments of the trained sequence are generated under exclusion instructions can only reflect lack of control.

Based on existing evidence that inner speech supports executive control processes, we assumed that it plays a specific selfcuing role in the generation task. Specifically, we assumed (based on informal interviews) that most participants verbally recode the material and use such verbal codes to organize their memory of the sequence and drive their generation responses, particularly under the difficult exclusion instructions. Thus, if this assumption is correct and that inner speech is indeed involved during generation, then blocking inner speech (through a concurrent articulatory suppression task) should make it particularly difficult for participants to override the tendency to generate training triplets under exclusion instructions. Articulatory suppression should not have such a strong influence under inclusion instructions, however, because generating the trained sequence can also be supported by implicit, automatic processes that do not depend so much on inner speech.

To sum up, the present study aims at disrupting executive control processes in the generation phase of an incidental sequence learning task. All participants were exposed in the same manner to the training sequence during the SRT task, and should thus all have learned the sequential regularities of the material to the same extent. They then performed the generation task (under both inclusion and exclusion instructions) in three different conditions: with concurrent articulatory suppression, with foot tapping, or without any secondary task. We predicted that articulatory suppression would specifically impair exclusion performance, in that participants should generate more elements from the training sequence in this condition, as compared to the control and foot tapping conditions. Finally, since all participants underwent the same recognition task as the final test of the study, we expected them to perform similarly in being able to differentiate between old and new sequential fragments. Observing a dissociation between generation and recognition performance in the articulatory suppression group would suggest that participants had acquired at least some conscious sequential knowledge but that they were nevertheless unable to exert control on it under exclusion instructions.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### PARTICIPANTS

Fifty-seven students aged 18–26 years from the Université Libre de Bruxelles received course-credits for taking part in the experiment. They were all unfamiliar with the SRT task. Nineteen of them were randomly assigned to each of three different conditions: articulatory suppression, foot tapping, and control. All participants had normal or corrected sight.

#### **PROCEDURE AND MATERIAL**

The experiment consisted in an SRT task, followed by the generation and recognition tasks. The SRT and recognition tasks were identical in all conditions, whereas the generation task differed according to the experimental conditions (articulatory suppression, foot tapping, and control). The display consisted of four dots arranged horizontally on the computer screen and separated by intervals of 3 cm. The stimulus was a small black circle 0.4 cm in diameter that appeared on a white background, centered 0.4 cm below one of the four dots. Each screen position corresponded to a key on the computer keyboard. The spatial configuration of the keys was fully compatible with the screen positions.

Participants performed a serial four-choice reaction time task during 15 training blocks of 96 trials, for a total of 1440 trials. On each trial, a stimulus appeared at one of the four possible screen locations. Participants were instructed to respond as fast and as accurately as possible by pressing on the corresponding key with the index and middle finger of each hand. Each block of trials began at a different point in the sequence. The target was removed as soon as a key had been pressed, and the next stimulus appeared after a 250 ms interval (i.e., RSI = 250 ms). Erroneous responses were signaled by means of a tone. Short rest breaks occurred between any two experimental blocks. Two second order conditional sequences (SOC1 = 342312143241 and SOC2 = 341243142132) were used in the SRT task. In each group, half of the subjects were trained on SOC1 during the first 13 blocks and during block 15; and on SOC2 during block 14 (that is, the transfer block). In this case, we will consider SOC1 as "own" sequence and SOC2 as "other" sequence. This design was reversed for the other half of the subjects. At the end of the SRT task, participants were informed that the dots had followed a repeating pattern. The two direct tests were then administered.

First, participants performed a generation task under inclusion and exclusion instructions (Destrebecgz and Cleeremans, 2001). A single stimulus appeared in a random location. Participants under inclusion instructions were required to generate a sequence that resembled the training sequence as much as possible. Subsequently, participants under exclusion instructions were required to generate another sequence (i.e., to try to avoid reproducing the sequential regularities of the training sequences). In both generation tasks, participants were also told not to repeat responses. The stimulus moved whenever participants had pressed one of the keys, and appeared at the corresponding location after a 250 ms RSI. In all conditions, a metronome was set to beat at the rate of 80 beats per min (i.e., one beat every 750 ms). Groups differed during the generation task: two groups of participants performed the task with a concurrent articulatory suppression or foot tapping secondary task, whereas the control group performed the generation task alone. The experimenter first described the secondary task and demonstrated how to perform it. Participants were instructed to say "ba-ba-ba" repeatedly once per metronome beat in the articulatory suppression condition, or to tap their dominant foot once per beat in the foot tapping condition. After receiving these instructions and watching the demonstration, participants practiced the secondary task to ensure that the task requirements were clear and that they could perform the task correctly. Then they performed the generation task (both under inclusion and exclusion instructions) in combination with the appropriate secondary task. Performance in the foot tapping and articulatory suppression tasks was closely monitored by the experimenter, who reminded the participants to keep up with the metronome when necessary. The procedure for the control condition was the same as that used for the two secondary task conditions, except that there was no secondary task to perform concurrently with the generation task. The metronome was nevertheless operating in this condition so as to equate the level of external noise to that in the two dualtask conditions. Generation scores were computed as the number of "own", "other," and "neither" triplets generated under inclusion and exclusion instructions separately. An "own" triplet is a triplet that was part of the training sequence; an "other" triplet is a triplet that was part of the transfer sequence; a "neither" triplet is a triplet that was neither "own" nor "other". The maximum number of "own" or "other" triplets was 96.

Finally, participants performed a triplets recognition task, as in Shanks and Johnstone (1999). Participants reacted to

24 fragments of three trials. Twelve were part of SOC1 and 12 were part of SOC2. Participants were asked to respond to stimuli as in the SRT task, and then to provide a rating of how confident they were that the fragment was part of the training sequence. Ratings involved a six points scale where 1 = "I am certain that this fragment was part of the training sequence" and 6 = "I am certain that this fragment was not part of the training sequence. It was emphasized to participants that they had to respond as fast as possible to the stimuli. Both ratings and reaction times were recorded.

#### RESULTS

Prior to each analysis of variance (ANOVA), data were tested with Mauchly's test of sphericity. Where sphericity was of concern, the degrees of freedom were modified with the Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon and effects are reported significant according to the adjusted alpha level. The data from one participant in the articulatory suppression condition was discarded because he did not follow the instructions in the generation task.

#### SERIAL REACTION TIME TASK

Participants trained with SOC1 and SOC2 were combined in all analyses. RT analyses were conducted for correct responses across 15 blocks. RTs associated with the first two stimuli of each block were excluded, because their locations could not be predicted. Mean error rate was very low (less than 5% of the trials) and did not vary between conditions (F < 1, p > 0.5). Errors are not discussed further.

Figure 1 shows the average RTs obtained over the entire experiment, plotted separately for the three generation conditions (as a reminder, all participants performed the SRT task under the exact same conditions). A first ANOVA with blocks 1-13 as a within-subjects variable and condition (articulatory suppression, foot tapping, and control) as a between-subjects variable only revealed a significant effect of block,  $[F_{(4,83, 256,22)} =$ 15.99, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.23$ ]. There was no effect of condition, and no blocks  $\times$  condition interaction (*Fs* < 1, *ps* > 0.5). As can be seen on Figure 1, this suggests that the overall RTs decrease with practice—from 461.25 ms (SD = 88.67) in the first six blocks down to 432.99 ms (SD = 78.61) in the last seven blocks. As expected, this decrease does not differ between groups. More importantly, the transfer effect, as induced by the presentation of a different sequence on block 14, gives an indirect index of sequence learning. An ANOVA with transfer (block 14 vs. the mean of blocks 13 and 15) as within-subjects variable and condition (articulatory suppression, foot tapping, and control) as between-subjects variable yielded a significant effect of transfer,  $[F_{(1, 53)} = 151.97, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.74]$ . Overall, reaction times increased by 65.86 ms (SD = 5.29) when the training (own) sequence was changed to another sequence in block 14. As in the previous analysis and as expected, there was no effect of condition, and no transfer × condition interaction (Fs < 1, ps > 0.4).

This suggests (1) that RTs increased significantly in the three conditions when the sequence was modified and (2) that this RTs increase was of same extent in all three conditions, suggesting equivalent levels of sequence learning. Taken together,



SRT task results show that sequence learning was observed in the three groups of participants. Indeed, the RTs decreased with practice when the same sequence is presented to the participants, increased when the sequence was modified and decreased again when the training sequence was put anew. We now examine whether participants differ in their ability to project their knowledge of the sequence in generation and recognition tasks.

#### **GENERATION TASK**

**Figures 2A,B** show the mean number of "own," "other," and "neither" triplets generated under inclusion and exclusion instructions, respectively. "Neither" triplets will not be considered since the focus of interest lies in the comparison between "own" and "other" triplets.

We first compared the number of "own" triplets (from the training sequence) generated under inclusion and exclusion instructions in the three conditions. An ANOVA with instructions (inclusion vs. exclusion) as a within-subjects variable and conditions (articulatory suppression, foot tapping, and control) as a between-subjects variable revealed a significant instruction effect,  $[F_{(1, 53)} = 11.67, p = 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.18]$ , indicating that overall participants generated more "own" triplets in inclusion than in exclusion (M = 43.05, SD = 11.58 and M = 33.55, SD = 13.39, respectively). The main effect of condition was marginally significant,  $[F_{(2, 53)} = 3.08, p = 0.054, \eta_p^2 = 0.10]$ , suggesting that the overall number of triplets generated varied across conditions (M = 38.66, SD = 6.41 in the control condition, M = 35.72, SD = 8.23 in the foot tapping condition, and M = 42.22, SD = 9.15 in the articulatory suppression condition). The instruction  $\times$ 

condition interaction failed to reach significance,  $[F_{(2, 53)} = 1.93,$ p = 0.16,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$ ]. However, the pattern of results indicates that more "own" triplets were generated under exclusion instructions in the articulatory suppression group only. Considering that we had a strong a priori hypothesis regarding the effect of articulatory suppression on exclusion performance, and that the F-value of the interaction was above 1 (see Wilcox, 1987 for details), we carried out planned contrasts on the mean number of "own" triplets generated under inclusion and exclusion instructions separately. As expected, inclusion performance in the articulatory suppression group did not differ from the other groups, t(53) = 0.61, p > 0.50. In contrast, and crucially for the purpose of the present study, participants in the articulatory suppression condition generated significantly more "own" triplets in exclusion than participants in the control and foot tapping conditions (M = 40.01, SD = 3.20 for articulatory suppression condition vs. M = 31.95, SD = 2.05 for control and foot tapping conditions taken together), t(53) = 2.17, p < 0.05.

Additional paired-samples *t*-tests compared the number of "own" and "other" triplets generated under inclusion and exclusion instructions for each of the three groups, hence providing an appropriate chance level<sup>1</sup>. Participants generated significantly more "own" than "other" triplets under inclusion instructions in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The appropriate baseline level of performance in the generation task consists in the comparison between "own" and "other" triplets. Indeed, the alternative "other" sequence is structurally identical to the training "own" sequence, except that the former was trained and the latter was not (Wilkinson and Shanks, 2004).





**FIGURE 2 | (A)** Mean number of triplets generated in inclusion under articulatory suppression (AS), foot tapping (FT), and control (CTL) conditions. "Own", number of SOC triplets generated from the training sequence; "other", number of triplets from the alternate, untrained sequence; neither, number of triplets from neither the training nor the untrained sequence. Error bars represent standard errors. **(B)** Mean number of triplets generated in exclusion under articulatory suppression (AS), foot tapping (FT), and control (CTL) conditions. "Own," number of SOC triplets generated from the training sequence; "other," number of triplets from the alternate, untrained sequence; neither, number of triplets from neither the training nor the untrained sequence. Error bars represent standard errors.

all groups, t(18) = 2.95, p < 0.01, t(18) = 2.97, p < 0.01, and t(17) = 2.92, p = 0.01 in the control, foot tapping, and articulatory suppression, respectively. Thus, participants demonstrated above-baseline sequence knowledge in the inclusion task, irrespective of whether they had to perform a concurrent secondary task or not, and irrespective of the nature of the secondary task. A different pattern of results emerges under exclusion instructions. While a similar number of "own" and "other" triplet was generated both in the control and foot tapping conditions, all ts < |1|, ps > 0.70, participants generated significantly more "own" than "other" triplets (M = 40.01, SD = 3.20 vs. M = 27.72, SD = 2.77) in the articulatory suppression condition, t(17) = 2.33, p < 0.05. This suggests that participants were specifically unable to withhold their responses during the exclusion task when an articulatory suppression task had to be performed concurrently.

Taken together, our data suggest that the acquired sequential knowledge was available in a direct generation test. Above-chance inclusion scores in all conditions indicate that participants were able to recruit this knowledge when necessary. In exclusion, participants demonstrated some level of control over the expression of their knowledge, not only when they performed the task alone in the control condition, but also when a concurrent foot-tapping task was added. Conversely, and as predicted, a detrimental effect of articulatory suppression was observed, above and beyond the costs associated with the requirement of performing two tasks at the same time.

#### **RECOGNITION TASK**

Participants were required to react to sequences of three elements (triplets) by pressing the key corresponding to the location of the stimulus (as in the SRT task) and to rate from 1 to 6 the extent

to which they felt these sequences were old or new (i.e., "own" vs. "other"). Sequences with erroneous responses were excluded. Mean recognition ratings for both types of sequence ("own" vs. "other") are plotted separately for the three conditions. High ratings correspond to judgments of novelty and are expected for "other" triplets, whereas low ratings correspond to judgements of oldness and are expected for "own" triplets.

As can be seen in **Figure 3**, "own" and "other" triplets are overall correctly discriminated. An ANOVA with type of sequence ("own" vs. "other") as within-subjects variable and condition (articulatory suppression, foot tapping, and control) as betweensubjects variables yielded a significant main effect of type only,  $[F_{(1, 53)} = 26.36, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.33]$ . Neither the main effect of condition, nor the type × condition interaction reached significance, F < 1 and  $[F_{(2, 53)} = 1.23, p = 0.28, \eta_p^2 = 0.05,$ respectively]. Overall this indicates that participants were able to differentiate between "own" and "other" triplets (M = 2.95, SD = 0.51 and M = 3.36, SD = 0.57). More importantly, this ability to recognize parts of the training sequence did not differ across conditions.

#### DISCUSSION

Consider the familiar "Neither yes nor no" game, in which one is repeatedly asked "Yes/No" questions under the constraint that his/her answers should be neither "yes" nor "no". Winning the game requires tight executive control as one has to continuously refrain from the strong, prepotent tendency to respond to the questions in the familiar manner, that is, by saying either "yes" or "no". Inevitably, as attention wanes, one comes to the point where one answers "without thinking about it" by producing precisely the answer that had to be avoided. Should we therefore



consider this automatic, uncontrolled responding as inherently unconscious? We do not think so. Most people indeed realize that they failed the game immediately after having uttered the taboo words "yes" or "no" or even while uttering them: they blush, chuckle, say "oops," and so on. This indicates that they were perfectly aware of the inadequacy of their response, but just could not help it.

The "neither yes nor no" game is a good illustration of the phenomenon we sought to explore with this study. Participants were first incidentally trained to become sensitive to sequential regularities in a SRT task. In a subsequent generation task, they were then asked to generate these sequential regularities under inclusion instructions, that is, under conditions where both automatic and controlled processes contribute to increasing performance. Next, participants had to carry out the same generation task, but this time under exclusion instructions, that is, under instructions to specifically avoid producing the learned sequential regularities. In other words, the prepotent tendency to reproduce what they had been trained on now had to be suppressed, just as a "yes" or "no" response has to be withheld in the game. Under such exclusion instructions, automatic and controlled processes thus act in opposition, for expressing automatic knowledge cannot be refrained. In the final recognition task participants had to discriminate between fragments that were part of the training sequence or not. They were required to express their knowledge of the sequence through a continuous scale, with build-in confidence judgements.

Thus, the generation task under exclusion instructions and the recognition task can be conceived as reflecting different aspects of our ability to use knowledge: Exclusion task performance provides an index of the extent to which such knowledge can be controlled, while recognition task performance provides and index of the extent to which this knowledge is consciously accessible (see Gaillard et al., 2009 for a similar reasoning in aging, but see Rünger and Frensch, 2010 for a critique of the use of direct tests to measure consciousness). Any dissociation between performance in the exclusion subtask and in the recognition task would therefore demonstrate the absence of a systematic association between control and consciousness. Such a dissociation is exactly what we observed when participants performed the generation task without the possibility to rely on inner speech to help inhibiting sequential fragments in the exclusion subtask.

Blocking inner speech thus increased impulsive responding as in the Go/No-Go task (Tullett and Inzlicht, 2010). That is, participants in the articulatory suppression group were not able to withhold the tendency to reproduce the training sequence under exclusion instructions, whereas participants in the control and foot tapping groups demonstrated that ability. One might argue that those between-group differences may be due to pre-existing differences in a number of basic cognitive abilities, such as fluid intelligence or working memory. However, such differences have little bearing on implicit learning (Feldman et al., 1995; Unsworth and Engle, 2005; Kaufman et al., 2010). The influence of processing speed is less clear. On the one hand, Kaufman and colleagues (2010) observed a link between processing speed and implicit learning but they reckon that the nature of this link remains unclear. On the other hand, small to non-existent correlations have been shown between incidental learning measures and processing speed (Feldman et al., 1995). Thus we are rather confident that the specific difficulties observed in the exclusion performance with concurrent articulation suppression do not stem from any baseline group differences. Moreover and most crucially, this impaired performance cannot be explained either by insufficient knowledge of the sequence or by lack of conscious knowledge of the sequence. Indeed, participants in the articulatory suppression group did not differ from the other groups in the incidental learning phase. Under inclusion instructions, they also retrieved the appropriate sequential knowledge and produced sequential ("own") fragments similarly to control and foot tapping participants. In addition, they were able to make conscious (correct) decisions about the extent to which sequential fragments were familiar or not, just as other participants, in the recognition task. It is important to keep in mind that the recognition scores in our experiment did not only consist in judging whether a given triplet was part of the training sequence, as in Yes/No binary responses, but also required participants to indicate how confident they were in their judgment. Thus our data suggest that conscious access and executive control might not be always associated after all. This conclusion is very much in line with Tzelgov's (1997) theory of automaticity, in which automaticity is characterized not by the fact that it involves unconscious knowledge, but rather by the fact that behavior guided by automatic knowledge has a ballistic character, that is, that once initiated, it unfolds of its own until the learned effect is obtained. Thus, according to Tzelgov, we are (at least potentially) aware of most automatic behavior-it is just that such behavior can no longer be the object of executive control.

Our results are also consistent with Cleeremans' theory of automaticity (Cleeremans, 2008), according to which both executive control and availability to consciousness depend on representation quality, where quality involves graded dimensions such as strength, stability in time, and distinctiveness, all driven by learning mechanisms the computational objective of which is to increase overall adaptation. Weak representations, typical of implicit cognition (e.g., subliminal perception) are of poor quality and hence are only weakly available to conscious awareness. Such representations also do not require conscious control for they only exert weak effects on behavior. Very strong representations, on the other hand, are characteristic of automaticity, and likewise do not require cognitive control in virtue of the fact that they are adapted. The strength of such representations makes them available to conscious awareness in a manner that the weak representations characteristic of implicit cognition cannot achieve. Thus, with automatic behavior, consciousness has become optional: The knowledge is available to conscious inspection, but such conscious monitoring is not necessary for the knowledge to drive behavior in an adapted manner. Note, however, that such adaptation can fail. For instance, it is almost impossible for a continental pedestrian not to turn his head leftwards when crossing a street in London, for the learned behavior is so automatic that it can only be prevented from being triggered by environmental cues with considerable effort. Likewise, the ironic instruction "Do not think of a white bear" (Wegner et al., 1987) is almost impossible to follow. It should be clear that these examples of maladaptive automated behavior are the

exception rather than the rule, however. It is also striking to note that in all such cases, one is acutely aware of the existence of a conflict and of our inability to overcome it.

Congruently, our data suggests that knowledge that cannot be controlled is available to awareness. It is interesting to reflect upon other possible patterns of dissociation between executive control and conscious awareness. In particular, one may wonder whether full control is possible in the absence of awareness. Intuitively, this should be possible, since after all, it is precisely what happens when we are behaving automatically. This pattern of dissociation is what Dienes and Perner (2007) described as involving "COLD control", that is, as involving executive control without higherorder thought (HOT, Rosenthal, 1997). In the cold control theory of hypnosis, Dienes and Perner argue that hypnosis offers promising ways to study executive control without conscious awareness. For instance, they report an experiment in which participants counted six fingers on their hand, after they received the hypnotic suggestion to forget the number "4". Overriding the tendency to count "1, 2, 3, 4, 5" fingers on a hand requires executive control and yet, participants deny awareness of why they counted six fingers on their hand.

What distinguishes our approach of the consciousness-control problem from the cold control perspective is that our participants were all fully aware during the experiment, (i.e., they were not in any modified state of consciousness). Moreover, all our stimuli were supraliminal, as opposed to studies exploring the relationship between consciousness and control with subliminal stimuli (Heinemann et al., 2009; van Gaal et al., 2009; Kiefer and Martens, 2010; Capa et al., 2011). However, some of them could not recruit inner speech as self-cuing aid during the generation task. This resulted in a specific detrimental effect of articulatory suppression, (i.e., concurrent foot tapping did not result in less

#### REFERENCES

- Baddeley, A. D., Chincotta, D., and Adlam, A. (2001). Working memory and the control of action: evidence from task switching. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 30, 641–657.
- Bryck, R. L., and Mayr, U. (2005). On the role of verbalization during task set selection: switching or serial order control? *Mem. Cognit.* 33, 611–623.
- Capa, R. L., Bustin, G. M., Cleeremans, A., and Hansenne, M. (2011). Conscious and unconscious reward cues can affect a critical component of executive control: (Un)conscious updating? *Exp. Psychol.* 58, 370–375.
- Cleeremans, A. (2008). "Consciousness: the radical plasticity thesis," in Models of Brain and Mind: Physical, Computational and Psychological Approaches. Progress in Brain Research, Vol. 168, eds R. Banerjee and B. K. Chakrabarti (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 19–33.
- Cleeremans, A., Destrebecqz, A., and Boyer, M. (1998). Implicit learning:

news from the front. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 2, 406–411.

- Cragg, L., and Nation, K. (2010). Language and the development of cognitive control. *Top. Cogn. Sci.* 2, 631–642.
- de Guerrero, M. C. M. (2005). Inner Speech-L2, Thinking Words in a Second Language. Educational Linguistics Vol. 6, New York, NY: Springer.
- Dehane, S., and Changeux, J.-P. (2004). "Neural mechanisms for access to consciousness," in *The Cognitive Neurosciences III*, ed M. S. Gazzaniga (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 1145–1158.
- Destrebecqz, A., and Cleeremans, A. (2001). Can sequence learning be implicit? New evidence with the process dissociation procedure. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 8, 343–350.
- Dienes, Z., and Perner, J. (2007). "The cold control theory of hypnosis," in *Hypnosis and Conscious States: The Cognitive Neuroscience Perspective*, ed G. Jamieson (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 293–314.

control over the sequence under exclusion instructions). This is reminiscent of previous data obtained with the task-switching paradigm (Emerson and Miyake, 2003; Miyake et al., 2004; Saeki and Saito, 2004, 2009; Bryck and Mayr, 2005; Saeki et al., 2006). The involvement of inner speech in cognitive control is further suggested by the relationship between inner speech production and increased activity in the left inferior frontal gyrus (LIFG), which is similarly recruited during working memory tasks (see Morin, 2009).

Thus our results clearly suggest that inner speech plays an important role in the recall and control of implicitly acquired sequence knowledge. To the best of our knowledge, only one study investigated the role of inner speech in sequence learning (Farley et al., 2007, Exp. 3–4). However, Farley and colleagues intended to disrupt sequence learning itself (and not the product of learning, i.e., sequential representations) with irrelevant speech, on the ground that irrelevant speech is detrimental to serial order processing. Irrelevant speech lengthened reaction times in the SRT task, but did not prevent learning of the sequence. This is further evidence that the role inner speech plays is a specific one. Blocking inner speech is not detrimental to automatic tasks such as sequence learning but it impairs performance in tasks requiring endogenous control, as the generation-exclusion subtask.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This study was part of Vinciane Gaillard's doctoral thesis, when she was Aspirante FNRS. She is currently supported by a "Brains (Back) to Brussels" postdoctoral grant from Innoviris. Axel Cleeremans is a Research Director at FRS-FNRS. The authors would like to thank the reviewers for their help in improving the manuscript.

- Dunbar, K., and Sussman, D. (1995). Toward a cognitive account of frontal lobe function: simulating frontal lobe deficits in normal subjects. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 769, 289–304.
- Emerson, M. J., and Miyake, A. (2003). The role of inner speech in task switching: a dual-task investigation. *J. Mem. Lang.* 48, 148–168.
- Farley, L. A., Neath, I., Allbritton, D. W., and Surprenant, A. M. (2007). Irrelevant speech effects and sequence learning. *Mem. Cognit.* 35, 156–165.
- Feldman, J., Kerr, B., and Streissguth, A. P. (1995). Correlation analyses of procedural and declarative learning performance. *Intelligence* 20, 87–114.
- Gaillard, V., Destrebecqz, A., Michiels, S., and Cleeremans, A. (2009). Effects of age and practice in sequence learning: a graded account of ageing. *Eur. J. Cog. Psychol.* 21, 255–282.
- Heinemann, A., Kunde, W., and Kiesel, A. (2009). Context-specific prime

congruency effects: on the role of conscious stimulus representations for cognitive control. *Conscious. Cogn.* 18, 966–976.

- Hommel, B. (2007). Consciousness and control not identical twins. J. Conscious. Stud. 14, 155–176.
- Jacoby, L. L. (1991). A process dissociation framework: separating automatic from intentional uses of memory. J. Mem. Lang. 30, 513–541.
- Karbach, J., Kray, J., and Hommel, B. (2011). Action–effect learning in early childhood: does language matter? *Psychol. Res.* 75, 334–340.
- Kaufman, S. B., DeYoung, C. G., Gray, J. R., Jiménez, L., Brown, J., and Mackintosh, N. (2010). Implicit learning as an ability. *Cognition* 116, 312–340.
- Kiefer, M., and Martens, U. (2010). Attentional sensitization of unconscious cognition: task sets modulate subsequent masked semantic priming. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 139, 464–489.
- Kray, J., Eber, J., and Karbach, J. (2008). Verbal self-instructions in

task switching: a compensatory tool for action-control deficits in child-hood and old age? *Dev. Sci.* 11, 223–236.

- Miyake, A., Emerson, M. J., Padilla, F., and Ahn, J. C. (2004). Inner speech as a retrieval aid for task goals: the effects of cue type and articulatory suppression in the random task cuing paradigm. *Acta Psychol.* (*Amst.*) 115, 123–142.
- Moors, A., and De Houwer, J. (2006). Automaticity: a theoretical and conceptual analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 132, 297–326.
- Morin, A. (2009). "Inner speech and consciousness," in *Encyclopedia of Consciousness*, Vol. 1, ed W. P. Banks (Oxford: Elsevier), 389–402.
- Nissen, M. J., and Bullemer, P. (1987). Attentional requirements of learning: evidence from performance measures. *Cognit. Psychol.* 19, 1–32.
- Perruchet, P. (2008). "Implicit learning," in Learning and Memory: A Comprehensive Reference, Vol. 2, ed J. Byrne, Cognitive Psychology of Memory (Oxford: Elsevier), 597–621.
- Rosenthal, D. (1997). "A theory of consciousness," in *The Nature* of *Consciousness: Philosophical Debates*, eds N. Block, O. Flanagan,

and G. Güzeldere (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 729–753.

- Rünger, D., and Frensch, P. A. (2010). Defining consciousness in the context of incidental sequence learning: theoretical considerations and empirical implications. *Psychol. Res.* 74, 121–137.
- Saeki, E., and Saito, S. (2004). Effect of articulatory suppression on task-switching performance: implications for models of working memory. *Memory* 12, 257–271.
- Saeki, E., and Saito, S. (2009). Verbal representation in task order control: an examination with transition and task cues in random task switching. *Mem. Cognit.* 37, 1040–1050.
- Saeki, E., Saito, S., and Kawaguchi, J. (2006). Effects of response-stimulus interval manipulation and articulatory suppression on task switching. *Memory* 14, 965–976.
- Shanks, D. R. (2010). Learning: from association to cognition. Ann. Rev. Psychol. 61, 273–301.
- Shanks, D. R., and Johnstone, T. (1999). Evaluating the relationship between explicit and implicit knowledge in a serial reaction time task. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 26, 1435–1451.

- Tullett, A. M., and Inzlicht, M. (2010). The voice of self-control: blocking the inner voice increases impulsive responding. *Acta Psychol. (Amst.)* 135, 252–256.
- Tzelgov, J. (1997). Specifying the relations between automaticity and consciousness: a theoretical note. *Conscious. Cogn.* 6, 441–451.
- Unsworth, N., and Engle, R. W. (2005). Individual differences in working memory capacity and learning: evidence from the serial reaction time task. *Mem. Cognit.* 33, 213–220.
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, R. K., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., and Lamme, V. (2009). Frontal cortex mediates unconsciously triggered inhibitory control. *J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform.* 35, 1129–1139.
- Vygotsky, L. (1962). Thought and Language, eds E. Hanfmann and G. Vakar, Trans. (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 168.
- Wegner, D. M., Schneider, D. J., Carter, S., and White, T. (1987). Paradoxical effects of thought suppression. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 53, 5–13.
- Wilcox, R. R. (1987). New Statistical Procedures for the Social Sciences.

*Modern Solutions for Basic Problems.* Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Wilkinson, L., and Shanks, D. R. (2004). Intentional control and implicit sequence learning. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 30, 354–369.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 February 2012; accepted: 25 June 2012; published online: 13 July 2012.

Citation: Gaillard V, Destrebecqz A and Cleeremans A (2012) The influence of articulatory suppression on the control of implicit sequence knowledge. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:208. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2012.00208

Copyright © 2012 Gaillard, Destrebecqz and Cleeremans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# Age-related deficits in efficiency of low-level lateral inhibition

#### Friederike Schlaghecken \*, Kulbir S. Birak and Elizabeth A. Maylor

Department of Psychology, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

**Reviewed by:** Petroc Sumner, Cardiff University, UK Kristen M. Kennedy, University of Texas at Dallas, USA

\*Correspondence: Friederike Schlaghecken, Department of Psychology, University of Warwick, Coventry, CV4 7AL, UK. e-mail: f.schlaghecken@ warwick.ac.uk Background: In a masked prime task using a 0ms prime-target inter-stimulus-interval, responses on trials where prime and target match (compatible trials) are usually faster and more accurate than responses where prime and target mismatch (incompatible trials). This positive compatibility effect (PCE) comprises both behavioral benefits on compatible relative to neutral trials, and behavioral costs on incompatible relative to neutral trials. Comparing performance in 2- vs. 4-alternative-response versions of the task indicates that benefits are due to direct priming (i.e., pre-activation) of a motor response, whereas costs reflect an inhibition of the alternative response tendency. The present study employs this paradigm to test the hypothesis that normal aging is associated with a selective deficit in inhibitory function, affecting both low-level motor and higher-level executive control. Experiment and Results: Testing 20 young and 20 older healthy adults, we found that (1) overall, prime-induced benefits were of similar magnitude across age groups, but inhibition-based costs were smaller in older compared to young adults; (2) increasing the number of response alternatives caused the same pattern of unaltered benefits and reduced costs in both age groups; and (3) costs, but not benefits, in the 2-alternative condition were significantly predicted by scores on the digit symbol substitution task (DSST), independently of age and other background variables. **Interpretation:** Results demonstrate the possibility of isolating an inhibitory component in low-level perceptuo-motor control. Importantly, this component shows an age-related decline in the absence of a corresponding decline of visuo-motor excitability, and appears to be linked to performance on a higher-level processing speed task. We hypothesize that aging might affect the brain's ability to establish precise short-term lateral inhibitory links, and that even in young adults, the efficiency of such links is a significant contributing factor in higher-level cognitive performance.

Keywords: aging, inhibition, motor control, positive compatibility effect, masked priming

Normal aging is typically accompanied by a decline in many cognitive and motor functions. An increasing body of evidence suggests that both a general slowing of processing speed and dysregulation in specific brain regions-particularly the frontal lobes-contribute to this decline (e.g., Bugg et al., 2006). In line with this, an influential model of cognitive aging proposes that reduced inhibitory control, resulting in increased distractibility, is one of the main factors of age-related cognitive decline (Hasher et al., 1999). However, "inhibition" refers not to a specific phenomenon, but to a variety of cognitive functions and processes, each of which might be differently affected by aging (e.g., Kramer et al., 1994; Nigg, 2000; Andres et al., 2008; Collette et al., 2009; Verhaeghen, 2011). Correspondingly, evidence for age-related inhibitory deficits have been observed in some studies, but not in others, depending on the type of inhibition under investigation (see Maylor et al., 2005, for examples). Furthermore, even a seemingly unitary inhibitory process like the suppression of a motor response might show divergent patterns of results, depending on the tasks employed to test it. For instance, investigating response suppression in a Simon and in a priming task, Burle et al. (2005) obtained positively correlated results, suggesting a common underlying mechanism. In contrast, Swick et al. (2011) found that response suppression in a go/nogo and in a stop-signal task relied on only partially overlapping cortical and subcortical structures, suggesting distinct underlying mechanisms.

If even an apparently specific instantiation of inhibition like response suppression might potentially involve various (sub-) processes, each of which might or might not be affected by aging, then it seems advisable to investigate age-related inhibitory deficits using a narrowly defined, highly specific type of inhibition. The present study used the inhibitory component of masked prime-induced motor activation for this purpose.

## MOTOR ACTIVATION AND INHIBITION IN THE MASKED PRIME PARADIGM

The masked prime paradigm is an experimental procedure aimed at investigating low-level, automatic visuo-motor control processes (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998). In this task, participants give a speeded motor response to a simple visual target (e.g., a left-hand key-press to an arrow pointing to the left). Each target is preceded by a prime stimulus, which is associated with either the same response as the subsequent target (compatible trial), with a different response (incompatible trial), or is without response assignment (neutral trial). Primes are presented very briefly (e.g., 33 ms) and are followed by a patterned backward mask. This makes them unlikely to be perceived consciously (near-threshold or subthreshold presentation), as evidenced by participants' informal verbal reports and by their inability to identify primes with more than chance accuracy (Schlaghecken and Eimer, 1997; Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998, 2002). Yet these primes can be shown to trigger their corresponding motor activation, thereby influencing responses to the subsequently presented, clearly visible targets.

The priming effects typically present a biphasic pattern (e.g., Aron et al., 2003; Seiss and Praamstra, 2004; Schlaghecken and Maylor, 2005; Sumner and Brandwood, 2008): when prime and target are presented in immediate succession, responses are faster and more accurate on compatible than on incompatible trials (positive compatibility effect, PCE); if target presentation is slightly delayed (by about 100-250 ms), the priming effect reverses (negative compatibility effect, NCE), a pattern indicative of an activation-followed-by-inhibition sequence. Interestingly, it has been found that in healthy older participants, the initial PCE is of approximately the same magnitude as in young participants, whereas the subsequent NCE is much reduced or even absent (e.g., Seiss and Praamstra, 2004; Schlaghecken and Maylor, 2005; Schlaghecken et al., 2011), suggesting that motor inhibition, but not prime-induced motor activation, deteriorates with old age. In contrast to these results, however, Sumner et al. (2007) observed robust NCEs in older participants, suggesting intact motor inhibition. In fact, an analysis of the priming effects of 80 older adults revealed large individual differences in the NCE latency range, with some participants producing "normal" NCEs, but others showing PCEs (Schlaghecken et al., 2011). In that study, no predictor for these differences could be identified. However, it seems likely that the NCE reflects the combined activity of more than one inhibitory process (see, e.g., McBride et al., 2012, for a review), complicating the pattern of deteriorating and spared functions. Thus, it might be interesting to employ a simpler measure of low-level motor inhibition to investigate age-related and individual differences in motor control.

In the typical 2-alternative choice reaction time (RT) task, the PCE comprises behavioral benefits (improved performance on compatible relative to neutral trials) and costs (impaired performance on incompatible relative to neutral trials) of approximately equal magnitude (Aron et al., 2003; Schlaghecken et al., 2006). These effects are generally assumed to reflect activation and inhibition processes in the visuo-motor system (rather than, for instance, processes of perceptual or attentional modulation, e.g., Schlaghecken and Eimer, 2001; Boy and Sumner, 2010). That is, the masked prime is assumed to directly activate its corresponding motor response (e.g., Neumann and Klotz, 1994; Kiesel et al., 2007), resulting in performance benefits when the target requires execution of this same response (compatible trial). Importantly, it is further assumed that the activity level of one visuo-motor channel systematically affects activity in competing channels via reciprocal inhibitory links. Thus, once the prime has activated its corresponding motor response, this increased activity in one channel will cause a corresponding decrease of activity in the alternative response channel, resulting in behavioral costs when the target requires execution of this inhibited response (incompatible trial).

The feasibility of separating direct prime activation and indirect competitor inhibition has been demonstrated in a masked prime experiment where responses had to be given by moving a finger from a central "home" location to one of two or four target locations (Schlaghecken et al., 2006). The logic behind this manipulation was as follows: (1) if masked priming effects are located at the level of motor response codes (rather than either at abstract "left" or "right" codes or at specific muscle commands; see Eimer et al., 2002; Schlaghecken et al., 2009), then they should be unaffected by the type or number of effectors, that is, a single-effector choice RT paradigm should yield the same effects as a two-effector choice RT paradigm; (2) if behavioral benefits on compatible relative to neutral trials reflect a direct ("local") activational effect of the prime, then benefits should remain unaffected by the number of response alternatives; and (3) if behavioral costs on incompatible relative to neutral trials reflect indirect ("global") inhibition of alternative response channels via reciprocal inhibitory links, then costs should decrease with increasing numbers of channels participating in this inhibitory network. Schlaghecken et al. (2006) obtained results exactly in line with these predictions: whereas benefits were virtually identical in the 2- and the 4-alternative condition (9.4 and 9.3 ms), costs were substantially reduced (from 14.2 to 4.6 ms) with the increased number of response alternatives, confirming that direct activation and reciprocal competitor inhibition processes can be successfully dissociated in the masked prime task, even when different responses are given with the same effector.

#### **RECIPROCAL INHIBITION AND AGING**

Reciprocal inhibitory links appear to be an inherent feature of the perceptuo-motor system, such that activation of one response channel causes a corresponding inhibition of its competing response channel(s) (e.g., Duque et al., 2010; Tandonnet et al., 2011; for a review, see, e.g., Burle et al., 2004). This competitor inhibition is established in a task-dependent manner, not merely through reciprocal inhibition of homologous cortical structures (e.g., Meynier et al., 2009), and might critically depend on pre-supplementary motor area (pre-SMA) circuits (for a review, see Mostofsky and Simmonds, 2008)<sup>1</sup>. Note that this type of inhibition differs from top-down, frontally mediated inhibitory control: it is not the (voluntary) suppression of an incorrect response tendency, but the automatic, feed-forward fine-tuning of the desired response through the suppression of any competing motor activity.

Of particular interest in the present context is the finding that reciprocal inhibition appears to deteriorate with age. This has been demonstrated for both intra-hemispheric (Hortobágyi et al., 2006) and inter-hemispheric (Talelli et al., 2008) task-specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It might be interesting to note that Sumner et al. (2007) found evidence that pre-SMA also plays a role in generating the second, NCE phase of masked prime effects.

inhibition during single responses. Furthermore, van de Laar et al. (2012) have suggested that the same might be true for choice (between-hand) reactions. However, inhibitory links and their age-related changes in the intermediate condition—a choice RT task employing a single-effector—have, to the best of our knowledge, not as yet been investigated. Finding age-related changes in motor inhibition in such a paradigm would demonstrate that aging does indeed affect *ad-hoc*, task-related perceptuo-motor links, not just anatomical links between antagonistic muscle pairs or homologous motor cortex areas.

The present study, therefore, employed the paradigm used in Schlaghecken et al. (2006), where single finger movements were mapped onto different targets under 2- and 4-alternative response conditions. We compared performance of young and older participants in this paradigm, aiming to replicate and extend the earlier findings by separating the effects of aging on direct motor activation and on reciprocal motor inhibition.

#### AGING, INHIBITION, AND PROCESSING SPEED

It is generally agreed that the speed of information processing decreases with increasing age (e.g., Salthouse, 1996, 2004). This is likely due to a combination of reduced nerve conduction velocity (e.g., Stetson et al., 1992) and age-related loss of synaptic connections (e.g., Fjell and Walhovd, 2010), resulting in an overall deterioration of functional neural networks (e.g., Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007; Damoiseaux et al., 2008) and a corresponding deficiency in the formation of neural representations (e.g., Rousselet et al., 2009).

A typical measure of processing speed in many aging studies is the digit symbol substitution task (DSST; see Hoyer et al., 2004). As a subtest of Wechsler intelligence scales, the DSST correlates highly with intelligence and is generally acknowledged to involve higher levels of cognition than simply perceptual speed (e.g., Laux and Lane, 1985; Piccinin and Rabbitt, 1999; Gilmore et al., 2006), possibly including inhibitory processes. Lustig et al. (2006), comparing young and older adults' performance under low- and high-distraction conditions, found that the ability to ignore distracting information is an important factor in DSST and DSST-like measures of processing speed. However, as the authors point out, being able to ignore distractors is not entirely determined by inhibitory control: factors such as visual acuity and gaze control might also play a role. To the best of our knowledge, there has as yet been no study to directly relate processing speed to low-level inhibitory control. Because the present study has been designed to obtain a relatively pure measure of low-level inhibition (behavioral costs on incompatible relative to neutral trials in the 2-alternative version of the masked prime task), it is suitable to address this issue.

#### **METHODS**

#### PARTICIPANTS

Twenty young (seven male) and 20 older (nine male) healthy participants completed the experiment (see **Table 1** for details). Young participants (aged 18–33) were mostly students at the University of Warwick who took part either for course credit or for payment of £6. Older participants (aged 63–81) were members of a volunteer panel who had been recruited through

local newspapers and advertisements to join the Warwick Age Study and were paid £10 as a contribution toward their travel expenses. All but one young and two older participants were right handed.

#### **BACKGROUND MEASURES**

Crystallized intelligence was assessed by the multiple choice section of the Mill Hill vocabulary test (Raven et al., 1988), in which participants have to select the best synonym for a target word from a set of six alternatives. Speed of information processing was assessed by the DSST from the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised (Wechsler, 1981). Visual acuity was assessed (with glasses if worn) at the beginning of the experiment using the Near Vision Test Card (Schneider, 2002). All participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision according to self-report. The data in Table 1 show the typical pattern reported in the aging literature (e.g., Baltes and Lindenberger, 1997; Schneider and Pichora-Fuller, 2000) of higher processing speed and visual acuity, but lower crystallized intelligence, in young compared with older adults. Moreover, the DSST means correspond almost exactly with those reported for 20- vs. 70-year-olds (70 vs. 49, respectively) in a meta-analysis of 141 studies by Hoyer et al. (2004), again suggesting that the present samples are representative of their age group.

#### **STIMULI AND APPARATUS**

Double arrows pointing left, right, up, or down served as primes and targets, and a double plus sign served as an additional neutral prime (see **Figure 1**). Stimuli subtended a visual angle of  $1.2^{\circ} \times 0.6^{\circ}$  at a viewing distance of approximately 1 m. Masks were constructed from a virtual  $8 \times 6$  grid  $(2.3^{\circ} \times 1.4^{\circ})$ , randomly filled with overlapping horizontal, vertical, and oblique

Table 1 | Background details (means and standard deviations) of young and older participants, and results of comparisons between age groups.

Variable	Young	Older	
	M (SD)	M (SD)	Comparison
Age (years)	22.3 (4.3)	70.3 (5.3)	-
Health <sup>a</sup>	4.7 (0.5)	4.1 (0.6)	$t_{(34)} = 3.23,  p < 0.01$
Vocabulary <sup>b</sup>	18.5 (4.0)	23.2 (2.8)	$t_{(36)} = -4.23,  p < 0.001$
Speed <sup>c</sup>	70.1 (14.9)	50.8 (10.4)	$t_{(36)} = 4.67,  p < 0.001$
Visual acuity <sup>d</sup>	7.0 (1.1)	5.1 (1.3)	$t_{(38)} = 5.06,  p < 0.001$

<sup>a</sup>Self-rated health on a 5-point scale (very poor; poor; fair; good; very good); data missing for two young and two older participants.

<sup>b</sup>Vocabulary from the multiple choice section of the Mill Hill vocabulary test (Raven et al., 1988); maximum score = 33; data missing for two young participants.

<sup>c</sup> Processing speed based on the Digit Symbol Substitution task (Wechsler, 1981); data missing for two young participants.

<sup>d</sup> Visual acuity as measured by the number of lines read correctly from the Near Vision Test Card (Schneider, 2002) viewed at a distance of 16 inches whilst wearing corrective glasses, with scores ranging from 1 (16/160—lowest acuity) to 9 (16/16—highest acuity).



lines of different lengths  $(0.1^{\circ} - 1.0^{\circ}; \text{ width } 0.2^{\circ})$ . A new mask was constructed on each trial to avoid perceptual learning of the mask and correspondingly increased prime identification (see Schubö et al., 2001; Schlaghecken et al., 2008). Stimuli were presented in black on a white background on a 17" computer screen. A fixation dot  $(0.1^{\circ} \times 0.1^{\circ} \text{ visual angle})$ , primes and masks appeared in the center of the screen, whereas targets appeared 2.0° above, below, to the left and to the right of the center (i.e., just beyond the area occupied by the mask—see **Figure 1A**). Participants were seated in a comfortable chair in a dimly lit, sound attenuated chamber approximately 1 m in front of a computer screen. They pressed the "2," "4," "6," or "8" key on the number pad of a standard keyboard in response to the corresponding target direction (down, left, right, and up, respectively).

#### PROCEDURE

In experimental sessions lasting up to 1 h, participants first carried out eight blocks of the 2-alternative choice RT task (2-alt), then eight blocks of the 4-alternative choice RT task (4-alt). Immediately after the experiment, background cognitive measures were collected from young participants (this information was already available for older participants from an earlier experiment).

A typical trial sequence is depicted in **Figure 1A**. Trials started with a fixation cross presented for 250 ms, followed by a 650 ms blank screen. A prime was then presented for 33 ms, replaced immediately by a 100 ms mask surrounded by four identical targets. The inter-trial interval between target offset and the next fixation dot was 1300 ms. On compatible trials, prime and target arrows pointed in the same direction, on incompatible trials,

they pointed in opposite directions (e.g., left-pointing prime, right-pointing target), and on neutral trials, the prime was a double-plus sign not associated with any response. Trials where prime direction was orthogonal to target direction (e.g., left-pointing prime, upward-pointing target) were considered as filler trials, and were not part of the main analysis.

Participants were instructed to maintain central eye fixation, and to respond as quickly and accurately as possible to the direction of the target arrows by moving the index finger of the right hand from its resting position on the central "5" key in order to press the key indicated by the target arrow direction (down to "2," left to "4," etc.). Participants initially practiced this under the supervision of the experimenter.

The two parts of the experiment differed only regarding the number of different targets presented within a given block (two vs. four), and were identical in all other respects of stimulus presentation (see **Figure 1B**). Specifically, all five different primes—left, right, up, down, neutral—were presented in each block. However, in a 2-alt block, all targets came from only one spatial dimension (i.e., either all horizontal [left/right], or all vertical [up/down]), whereas in a 4-alt block, targets from both spatial dimensions were mixed. Thus, in effect, each 4-alt block was the combination of one 2-alt horizontal and one 2-alt vertical block.

Responses were expected to be substantially slower in the 4-alt than in the 2-alt task (Hick, 1952; Hyman, 1953). In order to minimize these RT differences, the eight 2-alt blocks (60 trials each) were presented first. Half of the participants started with a series of four 2-alt horizontal blocks followed by a series of four 2-alt vertical blocks (see Figure 1B); for the other half, this sequence was reversed. Forty practice trials were given at the beginning of each series. At the end of the first part, participants were encouraged to leave the experimental room for a short rest period. The second part (again starting with a 40-trial practice phase) consisted of eight 4-alt blocks (60 trials each). An overview of all 20 possible prime-target combinations (5 prime × 4 targets) and their distribution across conditions is provided in Figure 1B. Within each block, all prime-target combinations were presented randomly and with equal probability, resulting in 20% compatible, 20% neutral, and 20% incompatible trials, plus 40% filler trials<sup>2</sup>.

#### DATA ANALYSES

Repeated measures analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were performed on mean correct RTs, with the between-subject factor of age (young vs. older), and the within-subject factors of task (2-alt vs. 4-alt) and trial type (compatible vs. neutral vs. incompatible). In all analyses, Greenhouse-Geisser correction to the

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ The large number of filler trials is an unfortunate side effect of two constraints: (a) primes had to be non-predictive of the upcoming target, because even with subliminal presentation, priming effects are modulated by the primes' predictiveness (see Klapp, 2007). This means that in the 4-alt blocks, a left-pointing prime, for instance, had to be followed with equal probability by a left-, a right-, an up-, and a down-pointing target; and (b) the relevant manipulation in this experiment was the number of possible targets within a block (two vs. four), so consequently, all other factors—particularly the relative frequency of different prime-target combinations—were kept identical between conditions.

degrees of freedom was applied where appropriate, and corrected *p*-values are reported. Because of the large RT difference between age groups (see below), priming effects were calculated not as RT differences, but as RT ratios (benefits = neutral RTs : compatible RTs; costs = incompatible RTs : neutral RTs). ANOVAs were performed on priming effects with the between-subject factor of age group, and the within-subject factors of task and type (benefit vs. cost). Follow-up analyses were conducted in the form of *t*-tests.

Additionally, RTs on filler trials relative to compatible and incompatible RTs were analyzed. Note that in the 2-alt task, primes orthogonally oriented relative to the target have the same general stimulus characteristics as compatible and incompatible primes, but have no explicit response assignment. Therefore, they can be expected to produce RTs intermediate between compatible and incompatible RTs (Wilson et al., 2010). In the 4-alt task, in contrast, these filler primes do have a response assignment, and therefore should affect the visuo-motor system in the same ways as any other incompatible prime. Analyses were conducted using paired *t*-tests, separately for the 2-alt and the 4-alt task and for both age groups. Overall error rates were extremely low (1-3%on average) and thus were not further analyzed.

#### RESULTS

As can be seen from **Figure 2**, older adults were around 250 ms slower than young adults,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 68.18, p < 0.001]$ . Although RTs were numerically longer with four than with two response alternatives, this difference was not significant, nor did it interact with age, both Fs < 1.7, both ps > 0.20. There was a highly significant effect of trial type, as RTs increased from compatible to neutral to incompatible trials,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 136.67, p < 0.001]$ . This priming effect interacted with task (larger priming effects in the 2-alt than in the 4-alt task,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 18.76, p < 0.001]$ ), and with age (young adults showing larger priming effects than older adults,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 3.85, p = 0.026]$ ), but there was no three-way interaction between these factors, F < 1.

#### FILLER-TRIAL ANALYSES

These confirmed our predictions about the impact of a response assignment on priming effects: in the 2-alt task, filler-trial RTs were significantly longer than compatible RTs, and significantly shorter than incompatible RTs, for both young and older adults, all  $ts_{(19)} > 3.76$ , all ps < 0.002. Furthermore, the two RT differences (filler RT minus compatible RT, and incompatible RT minus filler RT) were of approximately the same magnitude in both age groups, both ts < 1.16, both ps > 0.25. Filler RTs in the 4-alt task were also significantly longer than compatible RTs for both young and older adults, both ts > 6.90, both ps < 0.001, but in contrast to the 2-alt task, they did not differ significantly from incompatible RTs, both ts < 1.3, both ps > 0.22.

#### **BEHAVIORAL BENEFITS AND COSTS**

These are depicted in **Figure 3**, expressed as ratios of compatible (benefits) and incompatible (costs) to neutral trials (rescaled such that 0 rather than 1 indicates equality of antecedent and consequent). Both types of effects were smaller in older than in young adults,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 17.17, p < 0.001]$ . However, this age difference was far more pronounced for costs than for benefits,



as indicated by a significant Age  $\times$  Type interaction,  $[F_{(1,38)} =$ 10.38, p < 0.001]. Follow-up *t*-tests confirmed that whereas benefits did not differ significantly between young and older adults, both ts < 1.7, both ps > 0.11, costs did, both ts > 3.66, both ps < 0.001. Furthermore, overall costs were larger than overall benefits,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 23.86, p < 0.01]$ , and priming effects were overall larger in the 2-alt than in the 4-alt task,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 5.49,$ p = 0.024]. These two effects interacted significantly, as the costbenefit difference was much larger in the 2-alt than in the 4-alt task,  $[F_{(1, 38)} = 20.74, p < 0.001]$ . Specifically, whereas benefits remained largely unaffected by the number of response alternatives (2-alt vs. 4-alt:  $t_{(19)} < 1.6$ , p > .13, for both young and older adults), costs were substantially reduced with larger numbers of response alternatives in both young and older adults, both ts > 3.7, both  $ps < 0.001^3$ . Neither the main effect of task, nor the Type  $\times$  Task interaction, interacted with age, both Fs < 1.9, both ps > 0.18.

Next, we conducted multiple regression analyses to examine whether the four priming effects (behavioral benefits and costs in the 2-alt and 4-alt tasks) were independently predicted by any of the background measures (age, visual acuity, vocabulary, and DSST score). The overall regression models were not significant for either 2-alt benefits, adjusted  $R^2 = -0.041$ ; F < 1, or 4-alt benefits, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.057$ ;  $[F_{(4, 33)} = 1.56, p > 0.2]$ . However, for 2-alt costs, the overall model was highly significant, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.573$ ;  $[F_{(4, 33)} = 13.44, p < 0.001]$ , with DSST alone making an independent contribution to the variance, t = 4.59, p < 0.001, such that faster processing speed (higher DSST

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A block-wise analysis of costs showed no gradual decrease in costs over time: costs remained constant throughout the first half of the experiment (2-alt task), then dropped sharply and stayed at the new lower level throughout the second half (4-alt task), thus confirming that the difference in cost magnitude between 2- and 4-alt tasks was not simply due to fatigue.



score) was associated with greater reciprocal inhibition (larger behavioral costs; see **Figure 4**). The overall model for 4-alt costs was also significant, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.288$ ;  $[F_{(4, 33)} = 4.74, p < 0.005]$ , but no measure made a significant independent contribution to the variance (DSST being closest at t = 1.61, p = 0.12). In other words, with age, visual acuity, and vocabulary already taken into account, DSST significantly predicted behavioral costs in the 2-alt task.

#### DISCUSSION

Comparing performance in a masked prime task with two and four response alternatives (2-alt vs. 4-alt), the present experiment aimed to confirm that prime-induced motor activation and inhibition processes can be dissociated, and to examine the effect of aging on these separate components. Results replicated the findings of Schlaghecken et al. (2006; Exp. 1): (1) relative to neutral trials, masked primes triggered behavioral benefits on compatible and costs on incompatible trials (PCE); (2) in the 2-alt task, costs were noticeably larger than benefits, possibly because with the stimuli employed in the present experiment, unspecific motor activation triggered by neutral primes (plus signs) is stronger than unspecific activation triggered by arrow primes, leading to a shortening of RTs on neutral-prime trials relative to arrow-prime trials (e.g., Hasbroucg et al., 1999); (3) overall, the PCE was smaller in the 4-alt than in the 2-alt task; and (4) this effect was entirely driven by a reduction of costs with increasing number of response alternatives, whereas the magnitude of benefits was unaffected by this manipulation. The results thus confirm the notion that whereas (compatible-trial) priming benefits measure direct prime activation, (incompatible-trial) priming costs measure the separate and dissociable process of indirect reciprocal competitor inhibition. Importantly, these patterns were observed for both young and older adults, despite the overall differences in response speed (RTs) and competitor inhibition (behavioral costs).



Reciprocal competitor inhibition is assumed to differ from top-down inhibitory control in that it is low-level, automatic, and feed-forward, aimed at fine-tuning the ongoing response execution through the prevention of incorrect response activations (rather than through the suppression of an already activated incorrect response; e.g., Burle et al., 2004; Duque et al., 2010; Tandonnet et al., 2011). Yet as demonstrated by Meynier et al. (2009), this type of inhibition is not hard-wired, but is established in a flexible, task-dependent way. The aim of the present study was to investigate (a) the effect of aging on this type of inhibition, and (b) its possible relationship to speed of processing. Results clearly demonstrated that in the masked prime task, aging selectively affects reciprocal competitor inhibition, not prime-induced motor activation: behavioral costs were much smaller in older than in young adults, whereas behavioral benefits were of similar magnitude. This pattern is in line with the notion that unlike top-down, cue-related activation (e.g., Sterr and Dean, 2008), low-level, prime-induced motor activation remains stable across the adult lifespan (e.g., Schlaghecken and Maylor, 2005), whereas reciprocal inhibitory links in the motor response system deteriorate with advanced age (e.g., Hortobágyi et al., 2006).

It is probably worth noting that in the present experiment, age-related reductions in inhibitory efficiency are reflected in *smaller* interference effects in older compared to young adults, whereas typically, they are reflected in *larger* effects. For instance, in classical response conflict paradigms like the Simon or the Eriksen flanker task, where on incompatible trials an automatically activated incorrect motor response interferes with the execution of the correct response, older participants typically show larger interference effects than young participants, suggesting that their inhibitory control mechanisms are less efficient in overcoming the incorrect response tendency (e.g., van der Lubbe and Verleger, 2002). Those tasks, however, differ from the present one in a crucial aspect: they measure reactive or top-down inhibition of a response that has already been activated. Thus, the less effective the inhibition, the stronger the interference from this inappropriate response. The present task, in contrast, measures the reciprocal inhibition of a response that has not yet been activated. Consequently, the less effective this inhibition, the less this response channel will be deactivated below baseline levels, and the less the execution of this response will be delayed. One might argue, of course, that reactive inhibition of an incorrectly activated response does play a role in the present task as well. However, one needs to keep in mind that because primes were masked, and therefore only of limited accessibility to conscious or high-level control processes, it is likely that frontally mediated top-down inhibition of the incorrect (incompatible) motor activation will have played only a relatively minor role in the current task (e.g., Dehaene et al., 2003; Schlaghecken et al., 2011).

This is not to say that frontal areas are not involved in non-consciously triggered control processes at all. Specifically, the supplementary motor areas (SMA/pre-SMA) have been shown to be directly related to priming effects in the masked prime task (Sumner et al., 2007; van Gaal et al., 2011), and even the anterior cingulate cortex-one of the central structures in high-level cognitive control-has been shown to respond to stimulus irregularities (Ursu et al., 2009) and response errors (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2001) of which participants are not consciously aware. It seems tempting to speculate whether these apparent separate forms of inhibitory control are merely increasingly complex or wide-spread instantiations of the same underlying basic process of reciprocal inhibition. Future research will undoubtedly explore this issue in more detail, specifically with regard to inhibitory dysregulation in psychological and neurological disorders and in normal aging.

The present study provides one step in this direction, as it demonstrated that the strengths of reciprocal inhibitory links might be related to the general speed of information processing. Independent of age, visual acuity, and crystallized intelligence, processing speed (as measured by DSST scores) positively predicted competitor inhibition (as measured by the magnitude of behavioral costs in the 2-alt masked prime task). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that direct evidence has been provided that performance in the DSST is associated with low-level inhibitory control. Performance in processing speed tasks has previously been linked to the ability to ignore distracting information (Lustig et al., 2006), an ability strongly associated with prefrontal lobe functions (e.g., Everling et al., 2002). However, the present results—while generally supporting the notion of a relationship between DSST performance and inhibition-suggest that this relationship might be mediated by more basic processes than top-down inhibitory control. One possible interpretation is that more efficient reciprocal inhibition of competing response alternatives allows for generally faster response execution (recall that mean RTs in the priming task were approximately 250 ms shorter in young than in older participants), resulting in the ability to produce more responses within a given amount of time. This interpretation, however, seems somewhat simplistic, and does not fit well with the present data: if faster response execution due to reciprocal inhibition accounts for improved DSST performance, then DSST scores should have been negatively correlated with RTs, particularly on compatible trials, where the "foregrounded" response has to be executed. This was not the case (all rs < 0.40, all ps > 0.08), suggesting that DSST scores are not merely a function of efficient motor execution. Alternatively, one might assume that the same neural mechanism that instantiates reciprocal inhibition in the motor system produces the attentional focus needed in the DSST and similar processing speed tasks. Again, future research will have to investigate this issue more directly.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This research was supported by a grant to Elizabeth A. Maylor and Friederike Schlaghecken from the Economic and Social Research Council of Great Britain (RES-000-22-2687).

#### REFERENCES

- Andres, P., Guerrini, C., Phillips, L. H., and Perfect, T. J. (2008). Differential effects of aging on executive and automatic inhibition. *Dev. Neuropsychol.* 33, 101–123.
- Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Lustig, C., Head, D., Raichle, M. E., and Buckner, R. L. (2007). Disruption of large-scale brain systems in advanced aging. *Neuron* 56, 924–935.
- Aron, A., Schlaghecken, F., Fletcher, P., Bullmore, E., Eimer, M., Barker, R., Sahakian, B., and Robbins, T. (2003). Inhibition of subliminally primed responses is mediated by the caudate and thalamus: evidence from fMRI and Huntington's disease. *Brain* 126, 713–723.
- Baltes, P. B., and Lindenberger, U. (1997). Emergence of a powerful connection between sensory and cognitive functions across the adult life span: a new window to the study of cognitive aging? *Psychol. Aging* 12, 12–21.
- Boy, F., and Sumner, P. (2010). Tight coupling between positive and reversed priming in the masked prime paradigm. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 36, 892–905.
- Bugg, J. M., Zook, N. A., DeLosh, E. L., Davalos, D. B., and Davis, H. P. (2006). Age differences in fluid intelligence: contributions of general slowing and frontal decline. *Brain Cogn.* 62, 9–12.
- Burle, B., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2005).

Dynamics of facilitation and interference in cue-priming and Simon tasks. *Eur. J. Cogn. Psychol.* 17, 619–641.

- Burle, B., Vidal, F., Tandonnet, C., and Hasbroucq, T. (2004). Physiological evidence for response inhibition in choice reaction time tasks. *Brain Cogn.* 56, 153–164.
- Collette, F., Germain, S., Hogge, M., and van der Linden, M. (2009). Inhibitory control of memory in normal ageing: dissociation between impaired intentional and preserved unintentional processes. *Memory* 17, 104–122.
- Damoiseaux, J. S., Beckmann, C. F., Arigita, E. J., Barkhof, F., Scheltens, P., Stam, C. J., Smith, S. M., and Rombouts, S. A. (2008). Reduced resting-state brain activity in the

"default network" in normal aging. *Cereb. Cortex* 18, 1856–1864.

- Dehaene, S., Artiges, E., Naccache, L., Martelli, C., Viard, A., Schurhoff, F., Recasens, C., Martinot, M. L. P., Leboyer, M., and Martinot, J. L. (2003). Conscious and subliminal conflicts in normal subjects and patients with schizophrenia: the role of the anterior cingulate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 13722–13727.
- Duque, J., Lew, D., Mazzocchio, R., Olivier, E., and Ivry, R. B. (2010). Evidence for two concurrent inhibitory mechanisms during response preparation. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 3793–3802.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (1998). Effects of masked stimuli on motor activation: behavioral and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp.

Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 1737–1747.

- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (2002). Links between conscious awareness and response inhibition: evidence from masked priming. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 9, 514–520.
- Eimer, M., Schubö, A., and Schlaghecken, F. (2002). The locus of inhibition in the masked priming of response alternatives. *J. Mot. Behav.* 34, 3–10.
- Everling, S., Tinsley, C. J., Gaffan, D., and Duncan, J. (2002). Filtering of neural signals by focused attention in the monkey prefrontal cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 671–676.
- Fjell, A. M., and Walhovd, K. B. (2010). Structural brain changes in aging: courses, causes, and cognitive consequences. *Rev. Neurosci.* 21, 187–221.
- Gilmore, G. C., Spinks, R. A., and Thomas, C. W. (2006). Age effects in coding tasks: componential analysis and test of the sensory deficit hypothesis. *Psychol. Aging* 21, 7–18.
- Hasbroucq, T., Osman, A., Possamar, C.-A., Burle, B., Carron, S., Dépy, D., Latour, S., and Mouret, I. (1999). Cortico-spinal inhibition reflects time but not event preparation: neural mechanisms of preparation dissociated by transcranial magnetic stimulation. Acta Psychol. 101, 243–266.
- Hasher, L., Zacks, R. T., and May, C. P. (1999). "Inhibitory control, circadian arousal, and age," in Attention and Performance XVII, eds D. Gopher, and A. Koriat (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 653–675.
- Hick, W. E. (1952). On the rate of gain of information. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 4, 11–26.
- Hortobágyi, T., del Olmo, M. F., and Rothwell, J. C. (2006). Age reduces cortical reciprocal inhibition in humans. *Exp. Brain Res.* 171, 322–329.
- Hoyer, W. J., Stawski, R. S., Wasylyshyn, C., and Verhaeghen, P. (2004). Adult age and digit symbol substitution performance: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Aging* 19, 211–214.
- Hyman, R. (1953). Stimulus information as a determinant of reaction time. J. Exp. Psychol. 45, 188–196.
- Kiesel, A., Kunde, W., and Hoffmann, J. (2007). Mechanisms of subliminal response priming. Adv. Cogn. Psychol. 3, 307–315.
- Klapp, S. T. (2007). Nonconscious control mimics a purposeful strategy: strength of Stroop-like interference is automatically modulated by proportion of compatible trials. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 33, 1366–1376.

- Kramer, A. F., Humphrey, D. G., Larish, J. F., Logan, G. D., and Strayer, D. L. (1994). Aging and inhibition: beyond a unitary view of inhibitory processing in attention. *Psychol. Aging* 9, 491–512.
- Laux, L. F., and Lane, D. M. (1985). Information processing components of substitution test performance. *Intelligence* 9, 111–136.
- Lustig, C., Hasher, L., and Tonev, S. T. (2006). Distraction as a determinant of processing speed. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 13, 619–625.
- Maylor, E. A., Schlaghecken, F., and Watson, D. G. (2005). "Aging and inhibitory processes in memory, attentional, and motor tasks," in *Cognitive limitations in Aging* and Psychopathology, eds R. W. Engle, G. Sedek, U. von Hecker, and D. N. McIntosh (New York, NY: Cambridge, University Press), 313–345.
- McBride, J., Boy, F., Husain, M., and Sumner, P. (2012). Automatic motor activation in the executive control of action. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:82. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2012.00082
- Meynier, C., Burle, B., Possamai, C.-A., Vidal, F., and Hasbroucq, T. (2009). Neural inhibition and interhemispheric connections in two-choice reaction time: a Laplacian ERP study. *Psychophysiology* 46, 726–730.
- Mostofsky, S. H., and Simmonds, D. J. (2008). Response inhibition and response selection: two sides of the same coin. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 20, 751–761.
- Neumann, O., and Klotz, W. (1994). Motor responses to nonreportable, masked stimuli - where is the limit of direct parameter specification? *Atten. Perform.* 15, 123–150.
- Nieuwenhuis, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Blom, J., Band, G. P. H., and Kok, A. (2001). Error-related brain potentials are differentially related to awareness of response errors: evidence from an antisaccade task. *Psychophysiology* 38, 752–760.
- Nigg, J. T. (2000). On inhibition/disinhibition in developmental psychopathology: views from cognitive and personality psychology and a working inhibition taxonomy. *Psychol. Bull.* 126, 220–246.
- Piccinin, A. M., and Rabbitt, P. M. A. (1999). Contribution of cognitive abilities to performance and improvement on a substitution coding task. *Psychol. Aging* 14, 539–551.
- Raven, J. C., Raven, J., and Court, J. H. (1988). *The Mill Hill Vocabulary Scale*. London: H. K. Lewis Co. Ltd.

- Rousselet, G. A., Husk, J. S., Pernet, C. R., Gaspar, C. M., Bennett, P. J., and Sekuler, A. B. (2009). Agerelated delay in information accrual for faces: evidence from a parametric, single-trial EEG approach. BMC Neurosci. 10, 114.
- Salthouse, T. A. (1996). The processingspeed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychol. Rev.* 103, 403–428.
- Salthouse, T. A. (2004). What and when of cognitive aging. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 13, 140–144.
- Schlaghecken, F., Birak, K. S., and Maylor, E. A. (2011). Age-related deficits in low-level inhibitory motor control. *Psychol. Aging* 26, 905–918.
- Schlaghecken, F., Blagrove, E., and Maylor, E. A. (2008). No difference between conscious and nonconscious visuomotor control: evidence from perceptual learning in the masked prime task. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 84–93.
- Schlaghecken, F., Bowman, H., and Eimer, M. (2006). Dissociating local and global levels of perceptuomotor control in masked priming. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 32, 618–632.
- Schlaghecken, F., and Eimer, M. (1997). The influence of subliminally presented primes on response preparation. Spr. Kogn. 16, 166–175.
- Schlaghecken, F., and Eimer, M. (2001). Partial response activation to masked primes is not dependent on response readiness. *Percept. Mot. Skills* 92, 208–222.
- Schlaghecken, F., Klapp, S. T., and Maylor, E. A. (2009). Either or neither, but not both: locating the effects of masked primes. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 276, 515–521.
- Schlaghecken, F., and Maylor, E. A. (2005). Motor control in old age: evidence of impaired low-level inhibition. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 60, P158–P161.
- Schlaghecken, F., Refaat, M., and Maylor, E. A. (2011). Multiple systems for cognitive control: evidence from a hybrid prime-Simon task. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 37, 1542–1553.
- Schneider, B. A., and Pichora-Fuller, M. K. (2000). "Implications of perceptual deterioration for cognitive aging research," in *The Handbook* of Aging and Cognition, 2nd edn. eds F. I. M. Craik and T. A. Salthouse (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum), 155–219.
- Schneider, J. (2002). Near Vision Test Card. Retrieved November 16, 2007, from http://www.isee.org/block\_letter\_eye\_chart.pdf

- Schubö, A., Schlaghecken, F., and Meinecke, C. (2001). Learning to ignore the mask in texture segmentation tasks. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 27, 919–931.
- Seiss, E., and Praamstra, P. (2004). The basal ganglia and inhibitory mechanisms in response selection: evidence from subliminal priming of motor responses in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 127, 330–339.
- Sterr, A., and Dean, P. (2008). Neural correlates of movement preparation in healthy ageing. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 254–260.
- Stetson, D. S., Albers, J. W., Silverstein, B. A., and Wolfe, R. A. (1992). Effects of age, sex, and anthropometric factors on nerve conduction measures. *Muscle Nerve* 15, 1095–1104.
- Sumner, P., and Brandwood, T. (2008). Oscillations in motor priming: positive rebound follows the inhibitory phase in the masked prime paradigm. J. Mot. Behav. 40, 484–489.
- Sumner, P., Nachev, P., Morris, P., Peters, A. M., Jackson, S. R., Kennard, C., and Husain, M. (2007). Human medial frontal cortex mediates unconscious inhibition of voluntary action. *Neuron* 54, 697–711.
- Swick, D., Ashley, V., and Turken, U. (2011). Are the neural correlates of stopping and not going identical? Quantitative meta-analysis of two response inhibition tasks. *Neuroimage* 56, 1655–1665.
- Talelli, P., Waddingham, W., Ewas, A., Rothwell, J. C., and Ward, N. S. (2008). The effect of age on taskrelated modulation of interhemispheric balance. *Exp. Brain Res.* 186, 59–66.
- Tandonnet, C., Garry, M. I., and Summers, J. J. (2011). Selective suppression of the incorrect response implementation in choice behavior assessed by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Psychophysiology* 48, 462–469.
- Ursu, S., Clark, K. A., Aizenstein, H. J., Stenger, V. A., and Carter, C. (2009). Conflict-related activity in the caudal anterior cingulate cortex in the absence of awareness. *Biol. Psychol.* 80, 279–286.
- van de Laar, M., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., van Boxtel, G. J. M., Huizenga, H. M., and van der Molen, M. W. (2012). Lifespan changes in motor activation and inhibition during choice reactions:

a Laplacian ERP study. *Biol. Psychol.* 89, 323–334.

- van der Lubbe, R. H. J., and Verleger, R. (2002). Aging and the Simon task. *Psychophysiology* 39, 100–110.
- van Gaal, S., Scholte, H. S., Lamme, V. A. F., Fahrenfort, J. J., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2011). Pre-SMA gray-matter density predicts individual differences in action selection in the face of conscious and unconscious response

conflict. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23, 382–390.

- Verhaeghen, P. (2011). Aging and executive control: reports of a demise greatly exaggerated. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 20, 174–180.
- Wechsler, D. (1981). Manual for the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised. New York, NY: Psychological Corporation.
- Wilson, A. D., Tresilian, J. R., and Schlaghecken, F. (2010). Continuous priming effects on discrete

response choices. Brain Cogn. 74, 152–159.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 21 February 2012; accepted: 07 April 2012; published online: 27 April 2012. Citation: Schlaghecken F, Birak KS and Maylor EA (2012) Age-related deficits in efficiency of low-level lateral inhibition. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:102. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00102

Copyright © 2012 Schlaghecken, Birak and Maylor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



#### Claire M. Zedelius\*, Harm Veling and Henk Aarts

Department of Psychology, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Oliver C. Schultheiss, Friedrich Alexander University, Germany Adam C. Savine, Washington University in St. Louis, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Claire M. Zedelius, Department of Psychology, Utrecht University, PO Box 80140, 3508 TC Utrecht, Netherlands. e-mail: c.m.zedelius@uu.nl

Research has shown that high vs. low value rewards improve cognitive task performance independent of whether they are perceived consciously or unconsciously. However, efficient performance in response to high value rewards also depends on whether or not rewards are attainable. This raises the question of whether unconscious reward processing enables people to take into account such attainability information. Building on a theoretical framework according to which conscious reward processing is required to enable higher level cognitive processing, the present research tested the hypothesis that conscious but not unconscious reward processing enables integration of reward value with attainability information. In two behavioral experiments, participants were exposed to mask high and low value coins serving as rewards on a working memory (WM) task. The likelihood for conscious processing was manipulated by presenting the coins relatively briefly (17 ms) or long and clearly visible (300 ms). Crucially, rewards were expected to be attainable or unattainable. Requirements to integrate reward value with attainability information varied across experiments. Results showed that when integration of value and attainability was required (Experiment 1), long reward presentation led to efficient performance, i.e., selectively improved performance for high value attainable rewards. In contrast, in the short presentation condition, performance was increased for high value rewards even when these were unattainable. This difference between the effects of long and short presentation time disappeared when integration of value and attainability information was not required (Experiment 2). Together these findings suggest that unconsciously processed reward information is not integrated with attainability expectancies, causing inefficient effort investment. These findings are discussed in terms of a unique role of consciousness in efficient allocation of effort to cognitive control processes.

Keywords: rewards, conscious and unconscious processing, attainability, motivation, cognitive control, performance

Motivation is an essential determinant of cognitive control and performance (Watanabe, 2007). Accordingly, a vast body of research has studied how rewards affect cognition and behavior (Wood et al., 1999). Whereas the neuro-cognitive processes underlying the effects of rewards on human cognition and behavior are not yet entirely understood (Chiew and Braver, 2011), it has become clear that the anticipation of rewards can cause people to increase their effort and performance on various cognitive and behavioral tasks (Brehm and Self, 1989; Camerer and Hogarth, 1999; Bonner and Sprinkle, 2002).

Most research on the effects of rewards on the control of cognition and behavior has focused on consciously communicated rewards. In these studies people are fully aware of the specific reward that can be gained through optimal performance on a task. However, research on unconscious processes in the motivation and control of goal-directed behavior challenges the assumption that conscious awareness of rewards is necessary to boost performance of cognitive control or working memory (WM) processes (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2001; Hassin et al., 2009; Bargh et al., 2010; Custers and Aarts, 2010; van Gaal et al., 2010). For instance, studies have shown that high compared to low rewards boost performance on WM tasks even when they are presented unconsciously (for a review see Bijleveld et al., 2012). This intriguing finding offers a new direction to understanding how rewards affect the control of human cognition and behavior, raising the question of whether conscious reward processing plays a unique role in modulating cognitive performance. In the present study, we aim to explore this issue by investigating how people deal with attainable and unattainable monetary rewards when such rewards are consciously or unconsciously processed.

It has long been recognized that presenting valuable rewards does not necessarily improve task performance (e.g., Hull, 1943; Brehm and Self, 1989). An important factor in determining whether a reward will boost performance is whether the reward is perceived as attainable. Studies addressing the expected value analysis of human decision making have found that when

attainability information is provided, people no longer base their decisions to invest effort on the reward value alone, but on the combination of value and attainability (von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1947; Atkinson, 1957, 1964; Vroom, 1964; Brehm and Self, 1989; Camerer and Hogarth, 1999; Bonner and Sprinkle, 2002). Performance increases when a reward is both valuable and attainable, but is reduced whenever a reward is of low value or unattainable. This finding is consistent with the general notion that people are conservative in spending their valuable mental resources (Kool et al., 2010; Gendolla et al., 2012). Thus, from the above studies, it appears that people readily integrate the value of a reward with attainability information in order to avoid wasting effort. However, participants in these studies were always aware of the value of a reward at stake and the potential influence of this reward on their performance. In light of work suggesting that reward pursuit can occur outside of awareness (for a review see Custers and Aarts, 2010), we investigated the question of how cognitive performance is affected by the value of an unconsciously perceived reward in a context where the reward is unattainable.

Recently, researchers have developed an experimental paradigm that allows the examination of this question. In this paradigm, participants are presented with coins of high and low value which can be attained as rewards for successful performance on a task. Importantly, on half of the experimental trials the reward is presented unconsciously (i.e., subliminally), whereas the rewards are consciously visible (i.e., supraliminally presented) on the other trials. This procedure enables the direct comparison of the effects of conscious and unconscious reward processing on task performance. Using this paradigm, studies have shown parallel effects of conscious and unconscious reward presentation. For instance, in the first study employing this paradigm (Pessiglione et al., 2007) participants could gain rewards by squeezing a handgrip. Not surprisingly, high vs. low value rewards resulted in harder squeezing. Remarkably, people still squeezed harder for more valuable rewards when these were presented subliminally. Other studies have found enhanced mental effort and performance through consciously and unconsciously-presented high rewards on executive control and WM tasks, such as active maintenance and updating of ordered information (Bijleveld et al., 2009; Capa et al., 2011; Zedelius et al., 2011b; Bustin et al, 2012). However, there have also been studies showing that conscious and unconscious rewards in some task contexts can lead to different effects (e.g., Bijleveld et al., 2010, 2011; Zedelius et al., 2011b).

Recently, a theoretical framework has recently been proposed to account for both identical and divergent effects of conscious and unconscious rewards on performance. This framework distinguishes initial (or unconscious) reward processing from full (or conscious) reward processing (Bijleveld et al., 2012). According to this framework, people initially process rewards in rudimentary brain structures that respond to the value of rewards and boost task performance directly by causing increased recruitment of effort. This process is thought to operate without requiring conscious awareness, which explains why unconsciously perceived rewards can enhance performance. After initial reward processing, when rewards are consciously perceived (e.g., by prolonging presentation time from subliminal to supraliminal) rewards may be processed more fully, involving higher-level cognitive processing. In line with previous research on conscious and unconscious perception (Dehaene et al., 1989), this higher-level cognitive processing is thought to enable more complex cognitive processes and strategic behavioral responses, which could explain why conscious reward processing in some task contexts leads to unique effects.

In experiments, initial (or unconscious) and full (or conscious) reward processing is commonly manipulated by presenting masked reward stimuli (e.g., 1 cent vs. 50 cents coins) either for relatively short (i.e., 17 ms) or relatively long durations (i.e., 300 ms). Subsequent subliminality tests are usually administered to provide evidence that the short presentation of masked reward stimuli renders participants unable to identify the reward value of the stimuli. However, it is questionable whether such tests provide conclusive evidence that short stimulus presentation time prevents conscious perception throughout an experimental task. In fact, there is an ongoing debate about what kinds of subliminality tests are capable of providing sufficient proof for unconscious processing (e.g., see Seth et al., 2008; Sandberg et al., 2010). In the present research, we took a different approach aimed at distinguishing conscious from unconscious reward processing by investigating a situation in which the two types of reward processing are predicted to produce different behavioral effects. Specifically, we test the hypothesis that conscious and unconscious reward value processing differ with regard to taking into account attainability information.

As explained above, when consciously processed rewards vary in attainability, people base their decisions to invest effort on the combination of reward value and attainability. Integration of these two types of information prevents wasting resources on valuable yet unattainable rewards or attainable yet low value rewards (von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1947; Atkinson, 1957, 1964; Vroom, 1964; Brehm and Self, 1989; Camerer and Hogarth, 1999; Bonner and Sprinkle, 2002; Rushworth and Behrens, 2008). Research suggests that the value of a reward and the likelihood that a reward can be attained are initially encoded by distinct subcortical brain networks (Rogers et al., 1999; Dreher et al., 2006; O'Neill and Schultz, 2010), and that the integration of these different signals involves higher cortical processing (Knutson et al., 2005; Tobler et al., 2007; Rushworth and Behrens, 2008; Haber and Knutson, 2009). Therefore, based on the framework outlined above, we predicted that the integration of reward value and attainability requires conscious reward processing. Consequently, when the likelihood of conscious processing is reduced (i.e., by short presentation of rewards), people should fail to integrate reward value and attainability information, resulting in inefficient investment of effort and performance.

The notion that conscious information processing allows for greater integration and more flexible behavioral control is central to several information processing approaches to consciousness (Dehaene and Naccache, 2001; Baars, 2002; Dijksterhuis and Aarts, 2010; Morsella and Bargh, 2010). However, empirical studies have thus far found both support for (e.g., Kunde, 2003; Ansorge et al., 2011) and evidence against (e.g., Lau and Passingham, 2007; Hassin et al., 2009; van Gaal et al., 2010) the hypothesis that conscious information processing plays a unique

role in modulating cognitive performance. For instance, studies have shown that subliminally presented stop cues can slow down, but rarely fully inhibit behavioral responses (van Gaal et al., 2008, 2009). Moreover, unconscious stop cues failed to elicit the same globally-distributed and sustained pattern of brain activation observed in response to consciously perceived cues. This work suggests that although unconsciously perceived cues can trigger basic cognitive control processes, conscious perception may enable more efficient and flexible control of behavior (Dehaene and Naccache, 2001).

The present study aims to shed more light on possible advantages of conscious over unconscious reward processing by focusing not only on the initial triggering of cognitive performance by consciously and unconsciously perceived rewards, but on how integration of rewards with attainability information affects performance. Because reward value and attainability information are two distinct aspects of rewards (Brehm and Self, 1989; Liu et al., 2007; Tobler et al., 2007; O'Neill and Schultz, 2010), we expect that full or conscious processing of reward information is necessary to integrate these two types of information and arrive at efficient performance. To test this novel hypothesis, we report behavioral data from two experiments in which we presented participants with high and low-value rewards (coins of 50 or 1 eurocents, respectively) that were instructed to be either attainable or unattainable by successfully performing an active maintenance task. To manipulate the likelihood of conscious vs. unconscious processing, the coins were masked and presented either for relatively long (300 ms) or short (17 ms) durations. We manipulated conscious processing of the reward value rather than attainability information in order to connect our research with previous work on conscious vs. unconscious reward processing (Pessiglione et al., 2007; for an overview see Bijleveld et al., 2012).

Importantly, in order to provide evidence that differences between the effects of long vs. briefly presented rewards are not merely caused by the presentation of attainability information, but are due specifically to differences in the ability to integrate the reward value with attainability information, we manipulated the need for information integration across two experiments. As explained below, Experiment 1 was designed to make integration a requirement for efficient performance, whereas Experiment 2 was designed to eliminate the necessity of integration for efficient performance. Based on the theory that conscious and unconscious reward processing differ in the ability to integrate value and attainability, we expected that conscious and unconscious reward processing would lead to different effects in Experiment 1 but not in Experiment 2. We outline the concrete predictions for the two experiments in more detail below.

Experiment 1 was designed to establish different behavioral effects of quick vs. slowly presented rewards when integrating reward value and attainability was required for efficient responses. This was accomplished by testing performance in response to attainable and unattainable high vs. low value rewards in a full within-subject design. Value and attainability are two distinct sources of performance motivation, and hence performance may be increased by higher reward value, or by the fact that a reward is attainable (e.g., Atkinson, 1957, 1964; Vroom, 1964; Brehm and Self, 1989; Bonner and Sprinkle, 2002). However, when both

reward value and attainability vary on a trial-by-trial basis, it is essential to integrate on each trial the two sources of motivation to derive an optimal decision to invest effort (e.g., Anderson, 1971; Brehmer and Joyce, 1988). In this context, we expected that when rewards were presented for a relatively long duration, enabling conscious processing, performance should be enhanced selectively for high value attainable rewards. This result would constitute a conceptual replication of previous work (Atkinson, 1957, 1964; Vroom, 1964; Brehm and Self, 1989; Camerer and Hogarth, 1999; Bonner and Sprinkle, 2002). Examining effects of consciously processed rewards also serves as a control condition to verify that attainability information was clearly and unambiguously processed and that participants were able and motivated to take this information into account.

When rewards are presented for a shorter duration, reducing the likelihood of conscious processing, we predicted a different pattern of results. Without the ability to integrate value and attainability information, participants were expected to invest their effort based either on the high (vs. low) value of a reward, or on the fact that rewards could be gained (vs. not), but not on a combination of both sources of performance motivation. This led to the following predictions: First, the instruction that a reward is attainable vs. unattainable should boost performance. Second, the perception of high vs. low value rewards should likewise boost performance. Most importantly, without the ability to integrate value with attainability information, perception of high value rewards should boost performance, even when it is clear that the reward is unattainable. In summary, we expected that performance would be boosted independently by the fact that a reward can be earned and the presentation of a high value coin. This should result in main effects of reward value and attainability.

Experiment 2 was designed to provide attainability information without requiring trial-by-trial integration with reward value. To do so, we manipulated the attainability of rewards between participants. The idea behind this was that when attainability information constitutes a stable dimension for an individual (cf. Waltz et al., 1999), participants can employ a general response strategy that is valid on every trial without requiring integration of incoming information. More specifically, when rewards are always attainable, participants can respond efficiently based on reward value alone. Likewise, when rewards are always unattainable, the decision to invest effort can be based on this information alone, neglecting the reward value. Hence, in Experiment 2 participants were expected to perform better for high vs. low attainable rewards regardless of whether rewards were presented for long or short duration (e.g., Pessiglione et al., 2007; Zedelius et al., 2011b). Moreover, we expected participants to perform equally well for unattainable rewards, regardless of whether rewards were presented for long or short duration.

#### EXPERIMENT 1 METHOD Participants and design

Participants were 41 undergraduate students (28 female). A 2 (presentation duration: long vs. short)  $\times$  2 (value: low vs. high)  $\times$  2 (attainability: attainable vs. unattainable) within-participants design was employed.
# Procedure

Participants performed a verbal active maintenance task in which they were asked to actively maintain word spans of five onesyllable nouns in WM while inhibiting mild distraction during a short delay interval (see Conway et al., 2005; Zedelius et al., 2011b). For an overview of the procedure including pictures of the reward- and masking stimuli, see **Figure 1**. Participants were told that on every trial of the maintenance task, coins were presented that served as rewards for correct responses. Participants were further told that the coins would sometimes be "difficult to perceive" (referring to the short presentation condition). Furthermore, participants learned that the money would not always be attainable, and that they would be paid the amount of rewards earned on attainable reward trials at the end of the experiment.

Each trial started with the message, "Reward can be attained" or "Reward cannot be attained", presented for 2000 ms. Following a previously developed procedure, a fixation cross was then shown on the screen for 1000 ms, followed by a mask (a scrambled picture of both 1 and 50 cents coins) for 1000 ms, followed by the presentation of a 1 cent or 50 cents coin. The coin was presented for either 300 ms (long presentation condition) or 17 ms (short presentation condition) and followed by a post-mask presented for 600 ms, minus the duration of the coin. Subliminality of the stimuli was tested in a separate detection task with 25 different participants. On each trial, participants saw a coin (1 cent vs. 50 cent), presented in the same way as in the experiment (17 ms in between masks). After each coin, participants indicated the value of the coin. A *t*-test indicated identification of the coins was no better than chance (M = 0.51, SD = 0.11), t(24) = 0.43, *n.s.* (see Bijleveld et al., 2009 for another subliminality check of this procedure)<sup>1</sup>.

After the coin presentation, the target words were presented for 400 ms per word, with an inter-word interval of 200 ms. The presentation of the target words was followed by a delay period during which mildly distracting letter strings were shown for 800 ms each intermitted by intervals of 500 ms. After this delay period, participants were asked to verbally report the target words. Performance was considered correct when all five words were correctly reported. The order in which the words were reported could be arbitrary (see Zedelius et al., 2011a, for the validity of this measure). Finally, accuracy feedback and, for attainable reward trials, the amount obtained was shown.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The fact that coin identification was at chance level calls for an objective assessment that the coins were indeed presented. For this purpose, we ran the experiment again on one of the computers used for data collection, and recorded 18 trials of the 17 ms coin presentation using a camera with a slow motion feature (a Sony NX4), enabling recording of the coin presentation at the rate of 240 frames per second. Inspection of the recordings showed that the coin was visible in each recording.



The task consisted of 56 randomly presented trials (seven repetitions per condition). After the experiment, participants were paid the amount of money they had earned throughout the task. The experiment was conducted according to institutional guidelines and approved by the local ethics committee.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

To test our hypothesis that the duration of reward presentation affects the integration of reward value and attainability information, the proportion of correct trials<sup>2</sup> was subjected

to repeated-measures ANOVA according to the experimental design. The analysis revealed a main effect of attainability,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 4.63, p = 0.04, \eta_p^2 = 0.10]$ , qualified by the predicted three-way interaction of presentation duration × value × attainability,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 6.20, p = 0.02, \eta_p^2 = 0.13]$  (see **Figure 2**). To test the hypothesis that in the long presentation condition effort is selectively increased when rewards are both high and attainable, we performed a specific contrast comparing performance on the long presented high value attainable reward trials with performance on the other trials within the long presentation condition. This contrast was significant,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 8.07$ , p = 0.007,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.17$ , indicating that performance was indeed selectively increased for high value attainable rewards. This result is in line with classic theories of motivation that predict enhanced effort and performance only when rewards are both valuable and attainable (e.g., Hull, 1943; Brehm and Self, 1989).

In the short presentation condition we expected that reward value and attainability information would boost performance independently, resulting in main effects of reward value and attainability. However, contrary to this prediction, we found no main effect of reward value,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 1.25$ , *n.s.*, and no main effect of attainability,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 2.52$ , *n.s.* Instead, we found a marginally significant interaction of reward value and attainability,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 3.50, p = 0.07, \eta_p^2 = 0.06]$ . Further inspection of this interaction with simple effects analyses indicated

 $<sup>\</sup>eta_p^2 = 0.14$ , indicating performance was not influenced by the reward value in the unattainable reward condition (high reward value: M = 4.16, SD = 0.50; low reward value: M = 4.20, SD = 0.44),  $F_{(1, 31)} = 0.38$ , n.s., but performance was increased for high (M = 4.32, SD = 0.40) vs. low value rewards (M = 4.13, SD = 0.58) in the attainable reward condition,  $F_{(1, 31)} = 6.33$ ,  $p = 0.02, \eta_p^2 = 0.17$ , and this effect did not differ for the long and short presentation conditions,  $F_{(1, 31)} = 0.21$ , n.s.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Because earning rewards (on attainable reward trials) was contingent on recalling all words correctly, accuracy was operationalized as the correct recall of all five words. Because this demand was clear from the instructions, we reasoned that the total number of words recalled per trial would be a suboptimal performance measure in the present experiment. (For a more detailed discussion of this argument, see Zedelius et al., 2011a). However, for both studies, the pattern of results for the total number of words recalled resembled that of the accuracy data. Specifically, in Experiment 1, analysis of the total number of correctly recalled words yielded a marginally significant main effect of attainability,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 3.56$ , p = 0.07,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$ , which was qualified by a marginally significant three-way interaction of attainability × reward value × exposure,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 3.00$ , p = 0.09,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$ . When rewards were attainable, performance was higher for high (M = 4.32, SD = 0.59) compared to low value rewards (M = 4.08, SD = 0.72) in the long presentation condition,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 5.18, p = 0.03, \eta_p^2 = 0.11$ , but performance was equally high for high (M = 4.33, SD = 0.52) and low (M = 4.31, SD = 0.46) value rewards in the short presentation condition,  $F_{(1, 40)} = 0.12$ , *n.s.* When rewards were unattainable, performance did not differ for high (M = 4.16, SD = 0.69) and low value rewards (M = 4.16, SD = 0.61) in the long presentation condition,  $F_{(1, 40)} < 0.001$ , *n.s.* Performance appeared to be somewhat higher for high (M = 4.19, SD = 0.72) compared to low (M = 4.12, SD = 0.60) value rewards in the short presentation condition, although this latter increase was not statistically significant ( $F_{(1, 40)} = 0, 71, n.s.$ ). In Exp. 2, we found a significant interaction of attainability x reward value,  $F_{(1, 31)} = 5.18$ , p = 0.03,

that performance increased in response to high vs. low value rewards when these were unattainable,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 4.52, p = 0.04,$  $\eta_p^2 = 0.10$ ]. Thus, consistent with the prediction outlined in the introduction, high reward value of briefly presented coins boosted performance even when the reward was unattainable (note that the clarity of the attainability information can be inferred from the conscious reward condition). Moreover, and consistent with the prediction that the opportunity to obtain a reward would boost performance in the short presentation condition, we found that performance was increased in response to attainable compared to unattainable low value presented rewards,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 6.31, p = 0.02, \eta_p^2 = 0.14]$ . However, and contrary to our expectation, we found that performance on attainable reward trials was equally high for both high and low value coins, F < 1. The absence of a boosting effect of high value in this latter comparison likely explains why we did not obtain the expected two main effects.

How can we explain the unexpected finding that performance in the briefly presented attainable reward condition was unaffected by the value of the rewards? First, we can rule out that the value of the rewards was not encoded in the short presentation condition. This is attested by the effect of reward value in the briefly presented unattainable reward condition. We can also rule out that the absence of an effect of value in the attainable reward condition was merely due to a lack of statistical power. That is, previous research testing the effects of attainable rewards on performance using the same experimental task and procedure (Zedelius et al., 2011b; low distraction condition) indicates that the effect of briefly presented rewards is of small to medium size ( $d_z = 0.41$ ; Cohen, 1988). According to a power analysis using the statistical software G\*Power 3.1 (Faul et al., 2009), the chance of detecting an effect of this size with a desired statistical power of minimally 0.80 at an alpha level of 0.05 requires a sample of at least 39 participants, which we exceeded in the present experiment.

Accordingly, we think that there may be a theoretical explanation for why performance in the briefly presented attainable reward condition was unaffected by reward value. As argued above, without the ability to integrate reward value and attainability information, the mere fact that a reward is attainable should cause participants to recruit effort to perform well. This hypothesis was confirmed by the fact that performance was boosted in response to low value attainable rewards within the short presentation condition. The question is whether performance can be increased even further by the presentation of an attainable high value reward. The absence of a main effect of value suggests that this may not be possible. One straightforward explanation for the absence of a value effect in this condition is that the mere opportunity to gain a reward already promoted maximal investment of effort, leaving no room for an additive effect of high reward value on performance. This explanation is consistent with other research showing that factors that independently increase motivation for action (e.g., testosterone and reward cues) do not produce additive effects, probably because motivation is already boosted to its limits by one factor alone, minimizing the contribution of a second source of motivation (see Aarts and van Honk, 2009). This argument implies that we should obtain an effect of value

when variation in attainability is not a source of performance enhancement. This issue is addressed in Experiment 2.

Because this experiment is the first examination of conscious and unconscious reward effects under varying attainability conditions within the same task, one question that comes to mind is whether performance in response to attainable and unattainable rewards was influenced by reward attainability on the previous trial. Although we did not predict this, it is an interesting possibility that should be taken into account in light of evidence for performance adjustments instigated by specific trial sequences (e.g., Kunde, 2003; Boy et al., 2010; Ansorge et al., 2011). Therefore, we explored whether attainability sequence (i.e., whether attainability on trial n was the same vs. different from trial n-1) affected the results reported above. Specifically, we performed an additional repeated-measures ANOVA with the factors reward value, presentation duration, attainability, and attainability sequence. The results showed no main effect of attainability sequence, and no interaction effects of attainability sequence with any of the above reported factors (all Fs < 1.14). These findings indicate that the differential effects of attainable and unattainable rewards were not affected by the presence or absence of the chance to attain a reward on the previous trial.

Another question that may be raised is whether different effects of long vs. short presentation of attainable and unattainable rewards may be driven by feedback learning. Although participants received accuracy feedback on all trails, feedback about the amount of reward obtained could only be given on attainable reward trials. Could differences in feedback between the attainable and unattainable conditions account for the effects reported above? We do not expect this for a number of reasons: first, we used reward stimuli that were familiar to participants from everyday life so that the reward value likely did not require learning. Second, on attainable reward trials, the coins presented at the beginning of a trial were 100% indicative of the amount of reward to be earned given optimal performance. Thus, and unlike in some other studies (e.g., Knutson et al., 2005; Dreher et al., 2006; Bjork and Hommer, 2007; Tobler et al., 2007), there was no ambiguity about the amount that could be earned on each trial. Moreover, an explanation in terms of added learning on attainable reward trials would be inconsistent with the finding that the briefly presented high vs. low rewards selectively increased performance in the unattainable reward condition, where no feedback was given about the reward value. However, to statistically rule out that learning played a role in driving the above effects, we performed an additional analysis including factors of the experimental design and the additional factor block (i.e., first vs. second half of the trials). The results showed that block did not interact significantly with any of the reported effects, and, most importantly, it did not qualify the above mentioned three way interaction of reward value, presentation duration, and attainability,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 1.57, ns]$ . Consequently, differences in feedback learning from attainable and unattainable reward trials do not seem to account for different effects of long vs. briefly presented attainable and unattainable rewards.

If our predictions outlined in the introduction are correct and conscious compared to unconscious reward processing enables greater integration of value and attainability information, differences between the effects of conscious and unconscious rewards should vanish when people do not need to integrate this information. To test this hypothesis in Experiment 2, we varied attainability information between, rather than within, participants such that the rewards were either always attainable or always unattainable. When rewards are always attainable, only the value dimension is important to boost performance, and no information integration is required. Therefore, we predicted performance to be enhanced by both long and short presentation of high compared to low value rewards. In contrast, when rewards are always unattainable, and thus never worth the effort, incoming information about the reward value becomes irrelevant. In this case, neither kind of reward should affect performance.

#### **EXPERIMENT 2**

#### METHOD

#### Participants and design

Participants were 33 undergraduates (24 female). The design was a 2 (presentation duration: long vs. short)  $\times$  2 (value: low vs. high)  $\times$  2 (attainability: attainable vs. unattainable) mixed design with duration and value as within-participants factors and attainability as between-participants factor.

#### Procedure

The same WM task was used as in Experiment 1, with the only difference that reward attainability instructions varied between participants. In the attainable reward condition, participants were told that the coins displayed throughout the task were rewards that could be attained for accurate performance. In the unattainable reward condition, participants were told that the coins had functioned as rewards for performance in a previous experiment, but that in this Experiment the rewards were unattainable. In this condition, participants received a flat rate of 5 euros for their participation in the experiment. The experiment was conducted in accordance with institutional guidelines and approved by the local ethics committee.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

The proportion of correct trials was subjected to an ANOVA according to the design. There were no main effects of presentation duration,  $F_{(1, 31)} = 1.15$ , p = 0.29, reward value,  $F_{(1, 31)} =$ 2.16, p = 0.15, or attainability, F < 1. However, we did find the predicted interaction between value and attainability,  $[F_{(1, 31)} =$ 5.62, p = 0.02,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$ ]. This interaction was not qualified by a three-way interaction with presentation duration, F < 1. Simple effects analyses showed, first that when rewards were attainable, both long and short presentation of high compared to low value rewards increased performance,  $[F_{(1, 31)} = 6.75, p = 0.01, \eta_p^2 =$ 0.18] (see Figure 3). This finding is a direct replication of previous studies (e.g., Pessiglione et al., 2007; Bijleveld et al., 2010; Capa et al., 2011; Zedelius et al., 2011b). This replication is particularly important in light of the unexpected finding from Experiment 1 that performance for briefly presented attainable rewards was unaffected by the reward value. As argued above, in a context of varying opportunity to attain rewards (Experiment 1), the instruction that a reward was attainable caused participants to invest maximal effort in response to briefly presented low value rewards, leaving no room for further improved by high reward value. The present findings from the second experiment show that the performance boost for briefly presented low value attainable rewards does not occur when attainability is a fixed factor within participants.

The results further showed that, when rewards were unattainable, performance for both long and briefly presented rewards was unaffected by the reward value, F < 1. This finding confirms our prediction that short presentation of unattainable high value



rewards does not lead to enhanced performance when integration of reward value and attainability information is unnecessary for efficient responding. When it is clear that rewards are never attainable, and hence high value rewards are never worth investing extra effort, people can employ the same general and predefined response strategy throughout the task. That is, they can prepare to ignore the value of rewards even before the rewards are presented. Such a strategy might alter their perception of the rewards such that high value rewards are no longer perceived as valuable or rewarding (Delgado et al., 2008; Staudinger et al., 2009). As such, results of Experiment 2 converge well with work showing that when rewards are irrelevant for behavioral responses, initial reward processing in the subcortical reward system is unaffected by the reward value (Bjork and Hommer, 2007).

In summary, the results from Experiment 2 suggest that both conscious and unconscious reward processing can boost performance efficiently when there is no requirement to integrate value and attainability information. In light of Experiment 1, Experiment 2 provides further evidence that conscious compared to unconscious reward processing promotes the integration of incoming reward value and attainability information.

# **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

The aim of the present study was to test whether conscious compared to unconscious processing of rewards leads to more efficient cognitive task performance based on the successful integration of reward value and attainability information. To examine this question, we first examined the situation in which the need for integration was relatively high by varying value and attainability information on a trial-by-trial basis (Experiment 1). In line with traditional theories of motivation and decision making (e.g., Hull, 1943; von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1947; Atkinson, 1957, 1964; Vroom, 1964; Brehm and Self, 1989), we found that when coins were presented for a relatively long duration, and could thus be consciously perceived, performance increased selectively for valuable and attainable rewards. In contrast, brief presentation of the coins led to rather inefficient effort investment and performance. First, and most stunning, participants worked harder for high compared to low rewards despite their conscious knowledge that the rewards were unattainable. Second, when participants were instructed that rewards were attainable, performance was increased regardless of the reward value. These findings suggest that brief presentation of rewards, which reduces the likelihood of conscious processing, causes failure to integrate reward value and attainability information. Moreover, our data suggest that in the absence of integration, high reward value and information that a reward is attainable do not improve performance in an additive way. Instead, people invest maximal effort in response to either source of motivation.

The fact that performance was more efficient when reward information was presented for a relatively long duration speaks to the hypothesis that conscious awareness enables processes that lead to more strategic behavior. This finding converges well with the framework outlined in the introduction, according to which initial or unconscious reward processing can directly facilitate task performance, but full or conscious reward processing is

needed to modulate performance strategically (Bijleveld et al., 2012). Support for the direct facilitation of performance through rewards comes from neuroscience research showing that the value of rewards is first encoded in a subcortical reward network, including most prominently the ventral striatum (VS) (Phillips et al., 2007; Salamone et al., 2009). The VS is also responsible for translating the reward value into effort by projecting to frontal cortical areas, such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, which modulate executive control processes (Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005; Liljeholm and O'Doherty, 2012; Schmidt et al., 2012). This may explain why unconsciously perceived rewards can facilitate effortful cognitive performance. However, according to the framework (Bijleveld et al., 2012), conscious awareness of rewards allows for more complex, higher-level cognitive processing (see also Dehaene et al., 1989). Such higher level processing likely includes activation of the medial and orbital prefrontal cortex, regions that are involved in evaluating the likelihood that a reward can be attained (Rogers et al., 1999; Knutson et al., 2005; O'Neill and Schultz, 2010). This may explain why consciously processed rewards lead to more efficient effort investment based on the combination of reward value and attainability information.

Further evidence for the crucial role of consciousness in integrating value and attainability information stems from Experiment 2, where we show that long and short presentation of rewards lead to parallel effects on performance when integration of value and attainability was irrelevant. That is, irrespective of presentation duration of the reward information, participants performed better for relatively high attainable rewards, but performance was similar for high and low rewards when these were unattainable. An interesting question raised by this latter finding is whether the coins were still perceived as rewarding when they are always unattainable. Although money is generally desirable (Lea and Webley, 2006), it is possible that the perception of money as a performance reward depends on the potential of attaining it (cf. Biner and Hannon, 1988; Richter and Gendolla, 2006). Further research is therefore needed to determine whether cognitive task performance is boosted by unconscious reward cues as a function of the actual or perceived rewarding property of the cues.

It is important to note that a few recent studies have shown that conscious and unconscious rewards can sometimes have different effects on cognitive control task performance. For instance, it has been shown that conscious, but not unconscious high rewards impair performance when they are presented during the execution of an active maintenance task, probably due to distraction (Zedelius et al., 2011b). Furthermore, while unconsciously presented monetary rewards were shown to reduce the attentional blink effect (assessed by the rapid serial visual presentation task; Raymond et al., 1992), conscious rewards augmented the attentional blink effect resulting from the (normatively learned) tendency to concentrate too much on task stimuli when one knows that rewards are relatively high (Bijleveld et al., 2011). These previous studies point to an advantage of unconscious reward processing in boosting cognitive control performance. The present study contributes to this research by demonstrating that the advantageous or disadvantageous effects of conscious vs.

unconscious rewards depend on the ability to combine relevant information to arrive at efficient cognitive task performance.

The results of the present study have important implications for current debates about the role of consciousness in motivation and decision making (Dijksterhuis and Aarts, 2010; Baumeister et al., 2011). That is, even though information integration is sometimes proposed to be dependent on conscious processing (e.g., Dehaene and Naccache, 2001; Baars, 2002; Dijksterhuis and Aarts, 2010; Morsella and Bargh, 2010; however, see Mudrik et al., 2011), conscious and unconscious processing are rarely compared directly to test differences in integration. Employing a paradigm where conscious and unconscious reward processing can directly be compared, the present study suggests that conscious awareness plays a crucial role in the integration of reward value and attainability information to arrive at an optimal decision about whether it is worthwhile to invest effort. This ability to integrate different types of reward related information may not be constrained to value and attainability information. Even when valuable rewards are attainable, people may judge them not worth the effort, for instance because they are very hard to get or because they are attainable only after a considerable delay (e.g., Kivetz, 2003; Raynolds, 2006). Such judgments imply the combination of reward value with information about effort and time requirements (Ballard and Knutson, 2009). Although the exact mechanisms behind these judgments go beyond the current research, our findings suggest that they may benefit from conscious awareness of rewards.

#### **DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH**

The present findings raise interesting questions for future research. First, given that (attainable and unattainable) unconsciously perceived rewards can motivate people to work, this leads to the question of how people might experience this motivation. Although the framework outlined above makes a qualitative distinction between conscious and unconscious reward processing, this framework does not imply that rewards perceived outside of conscious awareness can never gain access to consciousness, or affect conscious experience in any way. For instance, when people become motivated by unconscious rewards, they may become aware of this motivation, either indirectly, by observing their own behavior, or more directly, by noticing potential changes in their mood or arousal which may be related to their motivated behavior (e.g., Carver and Scheier, 1990; Knutson et al., 2005; Chartrand et al., 2010). Although this topic goes beyond the scope

#### REFERENCES

- Aarts, H., and van Honk, J. (2009). Testosterone and unconscious positive priming increase human motivation separately. *Neuroreport* 20, 1300–1303.
- Anderson, N. H. (1971). Integration theory and attitude change. *Psychol. Rev.* 78, 171–206.
- Ansorge, U., Fuchs, I., Khalid, S., and Kunde, W. (2011). No conflict control in the absence of awareness. *Psychol. Res.* 75, 351–365.
- Aston-Jones, G., and Cohen, J. D. (2005). An integrative theory of locus coeruleus-norepinephrine function: adaptive gain and optimal performance. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 28, 403–450.
- Atkinson, J. N. (1957). Motivational determinants of risk taking behavior. *Psychol. Rev.* 64, 359–372.
- Atkinson, J. N. (1964). An Introduction to Motivation. Princeton, NJ: Van Nostrand.

of the current investigation, it remains an interesting direction for future research. Within the present research, however, there is no evidence that potential downstream effects of unconscious rewards on conscious experience could help the strategic control of efficient effortful performance.

Another interesting topic for future research is how conscious expectations with regard to the value of unconsciously processed rewards affect performance and motivation. For instance, would a person work harder for an unconsciously perceived low value attainable reward when he or she consciously expects it to be of high, rather than low value? In the light of the present studies, we can only speculate about this issue. In the present study, when attainability varied throughout the task, participants based their decisions to invest effort either on high value of a reward, or the fact that the reward was attainable. This suggests that people are most strongly influenced by information that triggers motivational behavior. Information that should reduce motivated behavior (i.e., the fact that a high value reward was not attainable, or that an attainable reward was of low value) appeared to have less impact. Therefore, we would predict that conscious expectancies related to reward value could overrule the effects of unconsciously perceived rewards when people expect a high value reward, but unconsciously perceived high value should drive behavior when people expect to work for a low value reward. It would be interesting to test these predictions in future work, for instance by manipulating the (perceived) ratio of high to low value rewards.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The present study extended recent research on conscious and unconscious reward pursuit by addressing the issue of how people deal with unattainable rewards. The findings from two experiments with different experimental designs suggest that conscious perception of rewards enables people to integrate the value of monetary rewards with fluctuating attainability information. Thus, while consciousness of rewards is certainly not necessary to boost cognitive task performance, it appears to be crucial to arrive at efficient effort investment when confronted with attainable and unattainable rewards.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The work in this paper was supported by VICI-grant 453-06-002 from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research. We thank Daniel Fitzgerald for his thorough proofreading of the manuscript.

- Baars, B. J. (2002). The conscious access hypothesis: origins and recent evidence. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 6, 47–52.
- Ballard, K., and Knutson, B. (2009). Dissociable neural representations of future reward magnitude and delay during temporal discounting. *Neuroimage* 45, 143–150.
- Bargh, J. A., Gollwitzer, P. M., and Oettingen, G. (2010). "Motivation," in *Handbook of Social Psychology*,

5th Edn. eds S. Fiske, D. Gilbert, and G. Lindzey (New York, NY: Wiley), 268–316.

- Baumeister, R. F., Masicampo, E. J., and Vohs, K. D. (2011). Do conscious thoughts cause behavior? *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 62, 331–361.
- Bijleveld, E., Custers, R., and Aarts, H. (2009). The unconscious eyeopener: pupil size reveals strategic recruitment of resources upon subliminal reward cues. *Psychol. Sci.* 20, 1313–1315.

- Bijleveld, E., Custers, R., and Aarts, H. (2010). Unconscious reward cues increase invested effort, but do not change speed-accuracy tradeoffs. *Cognition* 115, 330–335.
- Bijleveld, E., Custers, R., and Aarts, H. (2011). Once the money is in sight: distinctive effects of conscious and unconscious rewards on task performance. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 47, 865–869.
- Bijleveld, E., Custers, R., and Aarts, H. (2012). Human reward pursuit: from rudimentary to higher-level functions. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 21, 194–199.
- Biner, P. M., and Hannon, S. (1988). Effects of task difficulty and interruption on goal valence. *J. Res. Pers.* 22, 496–512.
- Bjork, J. M., and Hommer, D. W. (2007). Anticipating instrumentally obtained and passively-received rewards: a factorial fMRI investigation. *Behav. Brain Res.* 177, 165–170.
- Bonner, S., and Sprinkle, G. (2002). The effects of monetary incentives on effort and task performance: theories, evidence, and a framework for research. *Account. Organ. Soc.* 27, 303–345.
- Boy, F., Husian, M., and Sumner, P. (2010). Unconscious inhibition separates two forms of cognitive control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 11134–11139.
- Brehm, J. W., and Self, E. (1989). The intensity of motivation. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 40, 109–131.
- Brehmer, B., and Joyce, C. R. B. (1988). *Human Judgment: The SJT View.* New York, NY: Elsevier.
- Bustin, G. M., Quoidbach, J., Hansenne, M., and Capa, R. (2012). Personality modulation of (un)conscious processing: novelty seeking and performance following supraliminal and subliminal reward cues. *Conscious. Cogn.* 21, 947–952.
- Camerer, C. F., and Hogarth, R. (1999). The effects of financial incentives in experiments: a review and capitallabor-production framework. *J. Risk Uncertain.* 19, 7–42.
- Capa, R. L., Bustin, G. M., Cleeremans, A., and Hansenne, M. (2011). Conscious and unconscious reward cues can affect a critical component of executive control: (un)conscious updating? *Exp. Psychol.* 58, 370–375.
- Carver, C. S., and Scheier, M. F. (1990). Origins and functions of positive and negative affect: a control-process view. *Psychol. Rev. 97*, 19–35.
- Chartrand, T. L., Cheng, C. M., Dalton, A. N., and Tesser, A. (2010).

Nonconscious goal pursuit: isolated incidents or adaptive self-regulatory tool? *Soc. Cogn.* 28, 569–588.

- Chiew, K. S., and Braver, T. S. (2011). Positive affect versus reward: emotional and motivational influences on cognitive control. *Front. Psychol.* 2:279. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2011. 00279
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 2nd Edn. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Conway, A. A., Kane, M., Bunting, M. F., Hambrick, D. Z., Wilhelm, O., and Engle, R. W. (2005). Working memory span tasks: a methodological review and user's guide. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 12, 769–786.
- Custers, R., and Aarts, H. (2010). The unconscious will: how the pursuit of goals operates outside of conscious awareness. *Science* 329, 47–50.
- Dehaene, S., Kerszberg, M., and Changeux, J. P. (1989). A neuronal model of a global workspace in effortful cognitive tasks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 14529–14534.
- Dehaene, S., and Naccache, L. (2001). Towards a cognitive neuroscience of consciousness: Basic evidence and a workspace framework. *Cognition* 79, 1–37.
- Delgado, M. R., Gillis, M. M., and Phelps, E. A. (2008). Regulating the expectation of reward via cognitive strategies. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 880–881.
- Dijksterhuis, A., and Aarts, H. (2010). Goals, attention, and (un)consciousness. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 61, 467–490.
- Dreher, J. C., Kohn, P., and Berman, K. F. (2006). Neural coding of distinct statistical properties of reward information in humans. *Cereb. Cortex* 16, 561–573.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., and Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1, Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav. Res. Methods* 41, 1149–1160.
- Gendolla, G. H. E., Wright, R. A., and Richter, M. (2012). "Effort intensity: some insights from the cardiovascular system," in *The Oxford Handbook of Motivation*, ed R. Ryan (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).
- Haber, S. H., and Knutson, B. (2009). The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 4–26.
- Hassin, R. R., Bargh, J. A., Engell, A. D., and McCulloch, K. C. (2009). Implicit working memory. *Conscious. Cogn.* 18, 665–678.

- Hull, C. L. (1943). *Principles* of *Behavior*. New York, NY: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Kool, W., McGuire, J. T., Rosen, Z. B., and Botvinick, M. W. (2010). Decision making and the avoidance of cognitive demand. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 139, 665–682.
- Kivetz, R. (2003). The effects of effort and intrinsic motivation on risky choice. *Mark. Sci.* 22, 477–502.
- Knutson, B., Taylor, J., Kaufman, M., Peterson, R., and Glover, G. (2005). Distributed neural representation of expected value. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 4806–4812.
- Kunde, W. (2003). Sequential modulations of stimulus-response correspondence effects depend on awareness of response conflict. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 10, 198–205.
- Lau, H. C., and Passingham, R. E. (2007). Unconscious activation of the cognitive control system in the human prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 23, 5805–5811.
- Lea, S. E. G., and Webley, P. (2006). Money as tool, money as drug: the biological psychology of a strong incentive. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 29, 161–209.
- Liljeholm, M., and O'Doherty, J. P. (2012). Anything you can do, you can do better: neural substrates of incentive-based performance enhancement. *PLoS Biol.* 20:e1001272. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001272
- Liu, X., Powell, D. K., Wang, H., Gold, B. T., Corby, C. R., and Joseph, J. E. (2007). Functional dissociation in frontal and striatal areas for processing of positive and negative reward information. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 4587–4597.
- Morsella, E., and Bargh, J. A. (2010). What is an output? *Psychol. Inq.* 21, 354–370.
- Mudrik, L., Breska, A., Lamy, D., and Deouell, L. Y. (2011). Integration without awareness: expanding the limits of unconscious processing. *Psychol. Sci.* 22, 764–770.
- Nieuwenhuis, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Blow, J., Band, G. P. H., and Kok, A. (2001). Error-related brain potentials are differentially related to awareness of response errors: evidence from an antisaccade task. *Psychophysiology* 38, 752–760.
- O'Neill, M., and Schultz, W. (2010). Coding of reward risk by orbitofrontal neurons is mostly distinct from coding of reward value. *Neuron* 68, 789–800.
- Pessiglione, M., Schmidt, L., Draganski, B., Kalisch, R., Lau, H., Dolan, R. J., and Frith, C. D. (2007). How the

brain translates money into force: a neuroimaging study of subliminal motivation. *Science* 316, 904–906.

- Phillips, P. E., Walton, M. E., and Jhou, T. C. (2007). Calculating utility: preclinical evidence for cost-benefit analysis by mesolimbic dopamine. *Psychopharmacology* 191, 483–495.
- Raymond, J. E., Shapiro, K. L., and Arnell, K. M. (1992). Temporary suppression of visual processing in an RSVP task: an attentional blink? *J. Exp. Psychol.* 18, 849–860.
- Raynolds, B. (2006). A review of delay-discounting research with humans: relations to drug use and gambling. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 17, 651–667.
- Richter, M., and Gendolla, G. H. E. (2006). Incentive effects on cardiovascular reactivity in active coping with unclear task difficulty. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 61, 216–225.
- Rogers, R. D., Owen, A. M., Middleton, H. C., Williams, E. J., Pickard, J. D., Sahakian, B. J., and Robbins, T. W. (1999). Choosing between small, likely rewards and large, unlikely rewards activates inferior and orbital prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 15, 9029–9038.
- Rushworth, M. F. S., and Behrens, T. E. J. (2008). Choice, uncertainty, and value in prefrontal and cingulate cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 389–397.
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Farrar, A. M., Nunes, E. J., and Pardo, M. (2009). Dopamine, behavioral economics, and effort. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 3:13. doi: 10.3389/neuro.08.013.2009
- Sandberg, K., Timmermans, B., Overgaard, M., and Cleeremans, A. (2010). Measuring consciousness: is one measure better than the other? *Conscious. Cogn.* 19, 1069–1078.
- Schmidt, L., Lebreton, M., Cléry-Melin, M. L., Daunizeau, J., and Pessiglione, M. (2012). Neural mechanisms underlying motivation of mental versus physical effort. *PLoS Biol.* 10:e1001266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001266
- Seth, A. K., Dienes, Z., Cleeremans, A., Overgaard, M., and Pessoa, L. (2008). Measuring consciousness: relating behavioural and neurophysiological approaches. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 314–321.
- Staudinger, M. R., Erk, S., Abler, B., and Walter, H. (2009). Cognitive reappraisal modulates expected value and prediction error encoding in the ventral striatum. *Neuroimage* 47, 713–721.

- Tobler, P. N., O'Doherty, J. P., Dolan, R. J., and Schultz, W. (2007). Reward value coding distinct from risk attitude-related uncertainty coding in human reward systems. J. Neurophysiol. 97, 1621–1632.
- van Gaal, S., Lamme, A. F., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010). Unconsciously triggered conflict adaptation. *PLoS ONE* 5:e11508. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011508
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Fahrenfort, J. J., Scholte, H. S., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2008). Frontal cortex mediates unconsciously triggered inhibitory control. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 8053–8062.
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2009). Dissociating consciousness from inhibitory control: Evidence for

unconsciously triggered response inhibition in the stop-signal task. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 35, 1129–1139.

- von Neumann, J., and Morgenstern, O. (1947). The Theory of Games and Economic Behavior, 2nd Edn. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and Motivation. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Waltz, J. A., Knowlton, B. J., Holyoak, K. J., Boone, K. B., Mishkin, F. S., de Menezes Santons, M., Thomas, C. R., and Miller, B. L. (1999). A system for relational reasoning in human prefrontal cortex. *Psychol. Sci.* 10, 119–125.
- Watanabe, M. (2007). Role of anticipated reward in cognitive behavioral control. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 17, 213–219.

- Wood, R. E., Atkins, P. W. B., and Bright, J. E. H. (1999). Bonus, goals, and instrumentality effects. J. Appl. Psychol. 84, 703–720.
- Zedelius, C. M., Veling, H., and Aarts, H. (2011a). Beware the reward – How conscious processing of rewards impairs active maintenance performance. *Conscious. Cogn.* 20, 366–367.
- Zedelius, C. M., Veling, H., and Aarts, H. (2011b). Boosting or choking -How conscious and unconscious reward processing modulate the active maintenance of goal-relevant information. *Conscious. Cogn.* 20, 355–362.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 27 February 2012; accepted: 11 July 2012; published online: 25 July 2012.

Citation: Zedelius CM, Veling H and Aarts H (2012) When unconscious rewards boost cognitive task performance inefficiently: the role of consciousness in integrating value and attainability information. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:219. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00219 Copyright © 2012 Zedelius, Veling and Aarts. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

# Automatic motor activation in the executive control of action

# Jennifer McBride<sup>1</sup>\*, Frédéric Boy<sup>2</sup>, Masud Husain<sup>1</sup> and Petroc Sumner<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience and Institute of Neurology, University College London, London, UK
<sup>2</sup> School of Psychology, Cardiff University, Cardiff, UK

#### Edited by:

Nicola de Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

William C. Gaetz, The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, USA Friederike Schlaghecken, University of Warwick, UK

#### \*Correspondence:

Jennifer McBride, Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience and Institute of Neurology, University College London, Alexandra House, 17 Queen Square, London, WC1N 3AR, UK. e-mail: j.mcbride@ucl.ac.uk Although executive control and automatic behavior have often been considered separate and distinct processes, there is strong emerging and convergent evidence that they may in fact be intricately interlinked. In this review, we draw together evidence showing that visual stimuli cause automatic and unconscious motor activation, and how this in turn has implications for executive control. We discuss object affordances, alien limb syndrome, the visual grasp reflex, subliminal priming, and subliminal triggering of attentional orienting. Consideration of these findings suggests automatic motor activation might form an intrinsic part of all behavior, rather than being categorically different from voluntary actions.

Keywords: action, cognitive control, response inhibition, unconscious, volition

It is widely believed that human cognition and behavior is governed by both voluntary and automatic processes. Voluntary "executive control" mechanisms are assumed to direct behavior in goal-directed ways through use of explicit knowledge and expectations. On the other hand, accumulating research has revealed that perceptual processing of visual stimuli can automatically and unconsciously modulate motor responses (see e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 2003; Sumner, 2007). Traditionally, the processes underpinning automatic and unconscious triggering of actions have been considered separate from the processes underpinning voluntary action planning and control. Embedded in this concept of separate functional pathways is the idea that automatic processes are unconscious, fast, and rigid whereas voluntary action planning and control were considered to be conscious, and flexible (see e.g., Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977; Shiffrin and Schneider, 1977, 1984). However, several lines of evidence, briefly reviewed previously by Sumner and Husain (2008), challenge this traditional distinction.

In this review we consider recent empirical findings and discuss how they provide evidence that voluntary and automatic control of action might not in fact be so distinct. We suggest that many "automatic" mechanisms can in fact be surprisingly flexible, quite unlike the traditional, inflexible view of these processes. We begin by reviewing evidence that even simple, flashed visual stimuli can automatically modulate on-going motor responses. Then we discuss how automatically primed responses might affect interactions with real objects in the world around us, focusing on the subject of object affordance. Finally we turn to the issue of how such primed activity might be controlled, and to what extent such control could be automatic. Throughout the review, we draw on evidence from three converging approaches: using subliminal priming paradigms to show that unconscious motor activation can also be reversed unconsciously; using traditional "conscious inhibition" paradigms to show that such inhibition can also be triggered automatically; using the two types of paradigm together to see if they interact. The demonstration of flexible control over automatic processes suggests an intricate link between these historically distinct processes.

# EVIDENCE FOR AUTOMATIC ACTIVATION OF MOTOR RESPONSES

Perceptual processing of a visual stimulus can result in motor responses even when the observer does not intend to act. One of the most well-studied of these phenomena is the "visual grasp reflex", where an observer makes a fast, reflexive eye movement (saccade) toward a suddenly appearing-and irrelevant-visual stimulus, despite their intention to look elsewhere (e.g., Theeuwes et al., 1998; Irwin et al., 2000). Even when irrelevant distractors do not fully succeed in capturing gaze they may nevertheless have a remarkable influence on on-going motor activity. For example, saccades can curve whilst in flight toward an irrelevant distractor on the way to correctly landing on the target (e.g., McPeek and Keller, 2001; Godijn and Theeuwes, 2002; McPeek et al., 2000, 2003). But as response latencies increase, saccades are more likely to curve away from a distractor (e.g., Walker et al., 2006), revealing an inhibitory mechanism acting to suppress unwanted motor activity toward the irrelevant stimulus (e.g., Sheliga et al., 1995).

Saccades toward targets can also be slowed when an irrelevant distractor is presented simultaneously—or nearly simultaneously—with the target (the saccade distractor effect; e.g., Walker et al., 1995, 2000). Furthermore, transient changes to the scene during saccade planning in simple tasks, reading, or visual search produce a characteristic "dip" in the frequency of saccades made around 90–100 ms after the change (saccadic

inhibition effect; e.g., Reingold and Stampe, 1999, 2000, 2002, 2003; Buonocore and McIntosh, 2008; Edelman and Xu, 2009; Bompas and Sumner, 2011). These dips provide highly robust evidence for rapid modulation of on-going motor commands by visual information. Manual reaching responses too are affected by irrelevant non-target stimuli. Like saccades, reaches can be slowed (e.g., Tipper et al., 1997), curve toward (e.g., Tipper et al., 1997) or away from (e.g., Howard and Tipper, 1997) non-target stimuli in flight. These findings suggest that both manual and oculomotor responses can be automatically modulated by irrelevant visual inputs.

Although not often considered in this context, such effects of irrelevant stimuli might in fact be related to a long-established view that simply visually processing an object can automatically evoke action plans appropriate for interacting with it. Gibson (1979) described "affordances" as properties of the environment that automatically prime the observer to act in such a way. According to this view, seeing a coffee cup with its handle to the right affords-or facilitates-a reaching movement with the right hand to grasp the cup. Recently there has been renewed interest in affordances, and their effects have been examined using functional imaging as well as behavioral methods. For example, motor regions of the brain-such as those within the dorsal medial frontal cortex-are activated when observers merely look at a graspable object (e.g., Grèzes and Decety, 2002), even when they do not intend to act. In other tasks that require arbitrary responses to pictures of graspable objects (such as squeezing a trigger to indicate whether the object is man-made), the response is facilitated when it is congruent with the action afforded by the object (e.g., Tucker and Ellis, 1998; see Figures 1A and B for examples of typical affordance stimuli and their effects on response times). Findings such as these suggest that the brain has learnt to associate objects with actions appropriate to "capture" them, and these actions can be (partially) activated by visual processing of the object.

However, there has been some debate about whether object affordance effects genuinely arise from visual objects automatically eliciting motor plans. Anderson et al. (2002) observed that the most visually salient part of the objects used in many affordance studies were also often the graspable part of the object. They demonstrated that response times were faster whenever the side of the response corresponded with whichever side of the object was most visually salient, even when the object was not graspable (e.g., left hand responses to a picture of an analog clock showing a time of quarter to nine). Therefore, affordance-like behavioral effects do not necessarily arise from possibilities for action *per se*, but instead can stem from congruence between the required response and this shift of attention.

But this is not to say all affordance effects are perceptual. Object orientation was irrelevant in most other affordance experiments (e.g., Tucker and Ellis, 1998), but by contrast it was the response-defining property of the object in Anderson and colleagues' task. They also used line-drawings of common objects which may have evoked qualitatively different responses than those evoked by the photographs or images of 3D models used elsewhere (e.g., Tucker and Ellis, 1998; Phillips and Ward, 2002; McBride et al., 2012). Furthermore, perceptually lateralized stimuli that do not afford actions do not necessarily produce affordance effects (e.g., Buccino et al., 2009). Finally, object affordance effects have recently been shown with stimuli and responses that are not lateralized, and instead rely on compatibility between object size and response (pinch or power grasp) to produce affordance effects (e.g., Ellis and Tucker, 2000; Tucker and Ellis, 2001; Derbyshire et al., 2006; Ellis et al., 2007). These considerations suggest that there are good reasons to believe perceptual processing of graspable objects can automatically evoke motor responses associated with them.

### ALIEN HAND SYNDROME AND UTILIZATION BEHAVIOR

Some of the most striking evidence that visual objects can indeed automatically generate responses comes from studies of some unusual neurological cases. Patients with alien hand syndrome spontaneously and involuntarily grasp objects—even other people—in their environment as if magnetically drawn to them (for a review see Scepkowski and Cronin-Golumb, 2003). These individuals are aware of their hand making these movements, but report that they are not controlling them, and instead feel the movements are being controlled by an external agent. In a related syndrome, patients who display *utilization behavior* automatically grasp and use objects placed within their reach, even when the objects are not needed. For example, they may grasp and begin to peel an apple placed within their reach, even though they are not hungry, do not want to eat the apple, and know that it doesn't belong to them (e.g., Boccardi et al., 2002).

Alien limb and utilization behavior are rare neurological syndromes, and so case reports and experimental studies on patients with them have been correspondingly few. Some of the most detailed investigation comes from Riddoch and her colleagues (Riddoch et al., 1998; Humphreys and Riddoch, 2000). They showed that patients with an alien right hand can correctly pick up a cup with the left hand as long as the cup's handle is also on the left. However, when the handle is on the right the patients are more likely to grasp the cup with the right hand, despite instructions to the contrary. These "interference" errors were reduced when the task was to point to the object, rather than grasp, and also when the objects were inverted. Therefore, it seems that these patients responded according to well-learnt affordanceaction associations rather than according to the instructions they were given. The action afforded by the object was disrupted when the object was inverted, or when the action required was not the one usually made to the object (pointing instead of grasping), so fewer interference errors were reported under these conditions.

Alien limb and utilization syndromes are most often associated with focal lesions to the medial frontal lobes (particularly the supplementary motor area; SMA e.g., Lhermitte, 1983; Boccardi et al., 2002), but have also been associated with damage to the corpus callosum (e.g., Biran and Chatterjee, 2004), as well as patients with parietal lesions following posterior cerebral artery stroke (e.g., Coulthard et al., 2007; Bartolo et al., 2011). Increasingly, they are recognized in patients with corticobasal degeneration (CBD), a slowly progressive neurodegenerative condition which affects cortical regions as well as the basal ganglia (e.g., Murray et al., 2007; Tiwari and Amar, 2008).



In a recent functional imaging study, Schaefer et al. (2010) examined the neural correlates of unwanted movements in a patient with alien limb syndrome with CBD. They reported that voluntary and alien movements activated similar brain regions, including motor and parietal cortices. However, the right inferior frontal gyrus (rIFG), which has been associated with inhibitory control of motor responses (e.g., Swann et al., 2009, 2012; Hampshire et al., 2010; Verbruggen et al., 2010; see also Aron, 2007), was activated only during alien movements. Such activation may reflect unsuccessful attempts to inhibit alien movements. Taken together, these studies highlight the impact

of automatically afforded actions, and suggest that alien limb patients might find them particularly difficult to inhibit.

# EVIDENCE FOR AUTOMATIC MOTOR ACTIVATION FROM "PARTIAL" ERRORS

Another line of evidence that potentially reveals the automatic effects of visual stimuli on actions comes from investigation of erroneous responses. Typically, most evidence for automatic motor priming by visual objects has been gleaned indirectly by measuring the eventual outcome of this process on reaction times, usually for manual button presses. Such responses are an all-or-nothing, binary measure: either the response made is of sufficient magnitude to trigger a button press, or it isn't. However, it is possible that small amounts of force applied (erroneously) to a button might be insufficient to trigger a measurable response and thereby escape detection.

With this in mind, there has recently been revived interest in employing continuous and sensitive measures of motor response to more directly investigate processes of automatic motor activation on a trial-by-trial basis. McBride et al. (2012) employed such a measure to investigate object affordances. They asked participants to classify object stimuli by squeezing one of two devices placed in their left and right hands (see Figure 1A) while measuring the force applied by either hand. Consistent with object affordance effects, responses were faster on trials where the object afforded an action with the same hand that was required to make the response (congruent trials), compared to the opposite hand (incongruent trials). But continuous, simultaneous force recordings also revealed that participants made small erroneous responses when there was conflict between the response afforded by the object and the response required by the task, i.e., when the stimulus afforded a response that was incongruent to the response required by the task. Such errors were later corrected (Figure 1C). These partial erroneous responses provide compelling evidence that viewing an object activates motor plans appropriate for interacting with that object, sometimes going far enough to produce a partial response.

Electromyography (EMG) has also been used to demonstrate "sub-threshold" erroneous responses on incompatible compared to compatible trials in a variety of paradigms including Eriksen flanker (e.g., Coles et al., 1985; Eriksen et al., 1985), and Simon (e.g., Burle et al., 2002) tasks. For example, continuous measurement of EMG from both arms of participants performing a flanker task has demonstrated that correct button-press responses on incompatible trials are frequently accompanied by some muscle activity in the opposite hand, i.e., for the response associated with the irrelevant flanker stimuli (Eriksen et al., 1985). Thus, response-related muscle activity measured by EMG could be measured in the absence of a "full" button-press response.

Such increased erroneous response activity on incongruent trials provides strong evidence that an irrelevant stimulus-or part of a stimulus-can automatically activate responses associated with it. These responses are not merely partially activated somewhere in the brain; the response can be measured in the muscles or in small hand movements with force transducers. These "partial" responses are not captured by current the models of decision-making, which instead assume that actions are either executed wholly once the threshold for accumulated evidence is reached, or not executed at all (see Smith and Ratcliff, 2004 for a review of commonly used models and their characteristics). These models assume that evidence in favor of particular action possibilities is accumulated until a certain threshold of evidence is reached. Models differ in how evidence accumulates. Some (e.g., random-walk) assume that evidence is accumulated as a single total so that evidence in favor of one response is necessarily evidence counter to alternative responses (e.g., Link and Heath, 1975), whereas others (e.g. accumulator models e.g., Usher and McClelland, 2001) assume that evidence in favor of competing

responses is accumulated separately, often with mutual inhibition between the separate accumulators.

Importantly, all these decision models share the assumption that once the accumulated evidence reaches a "threshold," the response is executed. This all-or-nothing property of decision models does not allow any gradation of the response. Either the evidence accumulating for a particular response reaches the decision threshold and the response is made, or it does not reach threshold and no response is made. We anticipate that investigations of partial responses evoked by automatic activation of motor responses will provide interesting constraints for future work in decision-making.

## **INVISIBLE INFLUENCES**

Thus far, in the evidence we have reviewed, the automatic nature of motor priming has been inferred from interference effects: if the participant or patient is engaged in a particular task and stimuli interfere with that task, we infer that responses to the task-irrelevant stimulus (or part of a stimulus) were not volitional. Another way to study automatic influences is to investigate the effects that *invisible* stimuli have on motor behavior. If an observer is unaware of a stimulus, then traditionally it is concluded that any response made to it cannot have been evoked voluntarily and must, therefore, have been made automatically.

One way to present a stimulus subliminally is to use the backwards masking technique (e.g., Ögmen and Breitmeyer, 2006). Using this technique, participants are usually required to make a manual button press as quickly as possible to a target stimulus (often a left or right pointing arrow). This target is preceded by a "prime" stimulus for a very short duration (say, 20 ms) which is followed by an overlapping (or surrounding in the case of metacontrast masking) stimulus-or "mask." This technique renders the prime stimulus imperceptible to the observer. Even when the participants cannot discriminate the identity of the prime under forced choice, responses are generally faster and more accurate when the prime stimulus was associated with the same response as the target stimulus (compatible trial) compared to when the prime was associated with the opposite response (incompatible trial; e.g., Leuthold and Kopp, 1998). Thus, manual responses can be partially activated automatically by visual stimuli even when they cannot be consciously discriminated.

Subliminal stimuli can also prime a shift of attention (e.g., McCormick, 1997; Ivanoff and Klein, 2003; for a review see Mulckhuyse and Theeuwes, 2010) so that observers respond more quickly and accurately to stimuli presented at the cued location relative to an un-cued location. For instance, McCormick (1997) manipulated the luminance of cues so that some were visible and others were not. The cues were mostly invalid so the target was most likely to appear at the opposite location to the cue. When participants perceived the cue they were faster to respond to a target presented at the location opposite the cue, suggesting that they had volitionally moved their attention to the most appropriate (i.e., statistically predicted) location. However, when participants were not aware of the cue they were faster to respond to targets at the cued, relative to un-cued, location. This provides evidence that the invisible cue produced an automatic and involuntary shift of attention to the cued location.

Cues do not have to be based on low-level differences in visual salience in order to produce reliable effects. Socially relevant eyegaze can also direct attention exogenously. Responses are faster to target stimuli that have been preceded by a non-predictive face (or schematic drawing of a face) with the eyes gazing in the direction of the target (e.g., Friesen and Kingstone, 1998, 2003; Driver et al., 1999; but see Tipples, 2002). These so-called "gaze cueing effects" have been shown following cues that have been backwards-masked to render them invisible to the participant (Sato et al., 2007). In summary, shifts of attention and motor responses can be automatically and unconsciously triggered by visual stimuli. Effects of non-perceived stimuli such as these have provided key evidence that visual stimuli can automatically prime the observer to act.

#### **INHIBITION OF PRIMED ACTIONS**

In the above section, we have reviewed evidence from parallel domains that visual stimuli can automatically generate actions. These automatically generated actions can interfere with the intended or task-relevant response, and can be triggered by stimuli that are not consciously perceived, potentially facilitating responses to them. But an important question that arises is how such automatically primed responses might be controlled to allow flexible, goal-directed, behavior. For it would not be useful to respond to every object that we see. Thus, it is necessary to consider how brain systems inhibit or override responses that have been triggered automatically by the environment and are not relevant to our current goals.

"Cognitive control" over simultaneously activated competing motor plans has been extensively studied using "conflict" tasks such as such as the Eriksen flanker task described above (see Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974), the Stroop color-word naming task (e.g., Stroop, 1935) and the Simon task (for a review see Lu and Proctor, 1995). In these tasks, multiple responses can be simultaneously activated and in conflict: one response according to the task instruction and one evoked automatically by the irrelevant stimulus (or irrelevant property of the target stimulus). Typical theoretical frameworks for the congruency effects shown in conflict tasks suggest that stimuli are simultaneously processed by two routes which converge at the level of response programming (e.g., dual route model by Kornblum et al., 1990; activation suppression model by Ridderinkhof, 2002; see **Figure 2A**).

Processing by the fast, *direct processing route* is automatic, and occurs irrespective of task instructions. For example, the spatial location of a target stimulus in a Simon task would be processed quickly and automatically via the direct processing route. At the same time, processing of the task-relevant target attribute (e.g., target color in a Simon task) proceeds via a slower *indirect processing route*. On congruent trials, the same response is activated by both the direct and the indirect processing routes, producing fast, correct responses. On incongruent trials, however, the direct processing route and the indirect processing route activate different responses which results in increased error rates, and slower response times as the conflict between competing responses is resolved.

Importantly, models of information processing in conflict tasks often include an active inhibition mechanism which acts to selectively suppress inappropriate response activation resulting from the direct processing route. Evidence for such control over automatically activated responses can be gleaned by studying the temporal dynamics of interference effects—for example, by plotting the accuracy of responses as a function of response speed as a *Conditional Accuracy Function* (CAF, see van den Wildenberg et al., 2010 for a review; see **Figure 2B**).



FIGURE 2 | (A) Information processing during a Simon task as modelled by the Activation-Suppression model [e.g., Ridderinkhof (2002)]. The relevant stimulus dimension (color in the Simon task) is processed via the slow, indirect, processing route. Simultaneously, irrelevant stimulus location is processed via the fast, direct, processing route. Activation of the location-based response activation is inhibited by selective suppression (shown here in red), which facilitates execution of the correct, color-based, action. The selective suppression takes time to develop, which results in a relatively high proportion of fast erroneous (location-based) responses on incongruent trials, with near-perfect response accuracy when responses are slower as the inappropriate responses have been suppressed. These effects seen by plotting response accuracy as a function of response time in a Conditional Accuracy Function (CAF) as shown in (**B**). Furthermore, the interference on incongruent trials would be expected to reduce as unwanted responses are suppressed as RTs increase. This effect can be seen in the negative slope of a delta plot, as shown in (**C**). Delta plots can reveal individual and group differences in motor activation and suppression that cannot be seen in average measures of RT. Panels (**B**) and (**C**) were originally published in van den Wildenberg et al. (2010). *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 4:222. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00222. Panel (**B**) was modified after Wylie et al. (2009), with permission from Elsevier. Panel (**C**) was modified after Wylie et al. (2010). In conflict tasks, accuracy for compatible trials is near-perfect, while fast responses on incompatible trials are often near (e.g., Wylie et al., 2009) or below (e.g., Stins et al., 2007) chance level. This pattern of erroneous responses is unlikely to be purely a result of fast-guessing, which would be expected to result in similar accuracy levels for both incompatible and compatible trials. Instead, these findings are consistent with the suggestion that erroneous responses are activated quickly via the direct processing route, before being selectively suppressed by an inhibitory control mechanism.

How response activation and suppression change as a function of response speed can also be seen in a *delta plot* (e.g., Burle et al., 2002; Ridderinkhof, 2002; Ridderinkhof et al., 2005; Wylie et al., 2010). This shows the size of the compatibility effect (RT on compatible trials subtracted from the RT on incompatible trials) as a function of RT (see Figure 2C). The plots make use of the whole RT distribution, rather than relying on a single measure of the central tendency, and therefore, they can reveal differences in the dynamics of response activation and suppression across individuals or groups even when mean RTs are not reliably different. Delta plots in traditional conflict tasks typically show initial positive effects that level off, or even become negative, as response times increase (e.g., de Jong et al., 1994; see also van den Wildenberg et al., 2010 for a review). This leveling-off is consistent with suppression of the unwanted stimulus-triggered response activation. As this suppression takes time to develop, a pattern of facilitation followed by inhibition is shown in the RT delta plot. Note however, that it is not necessary to postulate the existence of an active inhibitory mechanism which acts to selectively suppress inappropriately activated responses to explain the temporal dynamics of interference effects: the patterns shown in CAFs and delta plots may instead be produced by early activation of the inappropriate response which spontaneously decays over time (but see Burle et al., 2002 for evidence against this suggestion).

#### PRE-STIMULUS VS. POST-STIMULUS COGNITIVE CONTROL

Control mechanisms that can override inappropriate response plans which have been automatically evoked by the environment not only act to inhibit responses *after* they have been evoked by the stimulus. *Pre-stimulus* control mechanisms also seem to play a role. Thus, task set and previous experience can modulate conflicting response tendencies in a *preparatory* manner. Indeed, there is good evidence that pre-stimulus inhibitory mechanisms play a role in controlling responses in many contexts, including stop-signal (e.g., Verbruggen and Logan, 2009b), the anti-saccade (e.g., Everling and Munoz, 2000; Munoz and Everling, 2004), and reaction time tasks incorporating warning signals (e.g., Boulinguez et al., 2008).

The effects of pre-stimulus control have also been reported in traditional "conflict" tasks. Thus, the size of the congruency effect on the current trial in a conflict task can be modulated by (1) a pre-cue indicating whether the upcoming trial will be congruent or incongruent (e.g., Logan and Zbrodoff, 1982); (2) the ratio of congruent and incongruent trials in a block or experiment (e.g., Logan and Zbrodoff, 1979); and (3) whether the immediately preceding trial was congruent or incongruent (the so-called "Gratton effect" e.g., Gratton et al., 1988, 1992).

The Gratton effect has in particular been subject to much investigation. While some have suggested that it arises from repetition priming of exactly the same stimulus-response links from previous trials (e.g., Mayr et al., 2003), others have reported that it can occur without exact stimulus-response repetitions (e.g., Kerns et al., 2004; Akçay and Hazeltine, 2007). An influential *conflict monitoring hypothesis* proposed that following the response conflict experienced on an incongruent trial, cognitive control mechanisms which resolve this conflict are boosted for the next trial, in turn leading to reduced interference if the subsequent trial is also incongruent (e.g., Botvinick et al., 2001). This suggestions is supported by several observations that performance on incongruent trials is improved if they are preceded by another incongruent trial relative to a congruent trial (e.g., by Gratton et al., 1992 using Eriksen flankers; McBride et al., 2012 using object affordance; and by Stürmer et al., 2002 using the Simon task). However, this pattern has not consistently been reported and several researchers have documented selective benefits for compatible trials when the previous trial was also compatible (e.g., Kunde and Wühr, 2006; Akçay and Hazeltine, 2007; van Gaal et al., 2010a; Schlaghecken and Martini, 2011).

Schlaghecken and Martini (2011) recently accounted for these discrepant findings by suggesting that the effects of trial history on cognitive control were driven by a mechanism which responds to the previous experience of *both* the presence and the absence of conflict, arguing that the mechanism is one of *context* adaptation, rather than *conflict* adaptation. Whatever the mechanisms are that produce pre-stimulus control effects, it is clear that task set, instruction, and previous experience can modulate the apparently automatic priming of motor responses by visual objects.

# **UNCONSCIOUS CONTROL OVER UNWANTED RESPONSES**

Traditionally, cognitive control mechanisms resulting in response inhibition have been considered as tightly coupled to consciousness (e.g., Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977; Shiffrin and Schneider, 1977, 1984), just as for voluntary control over actions. The logic behind this view is that observers need to be aware of the interfering, control-evoking, stimulus in order for control mechanisms to be implemented and for unwanted motor responses to be suppressed. Such a suggestion is supported by evidence from studies showing that inhibition of primed responses only operates when stimuli are presented above—and not below—the threshold required for conscious awareness (e.g., Merikle et al., 1995 using the Stroop task).

However, there is now increasing evidence that some forms of cognitive control can be executed entirely automatically, without conscious awareness—or volition. Some of the most compelling evidence for the automatic inhibition of unconsciously triggered motor priming comes from several experiments by Eimer and Schlaghecken (for reviews, see Eimer and Schlaghecken, 2003; Sumner, 2007). In their paradigm, participants typically made a speeded button-press response according to the direction of a target arrow, which was preceded by a masked (subliminal) prime. When the interval between mask and target was short (e.g., 20–40 ms), participants showed the expected speeding of responses when prime and target were compatible relative to when they were incompatible (positive compatibility effect,

PCE). However, when the interval between prime and mask was extended beyond around 100–150 ms, incompatible trials produced faster responses than compatible trials. In other words, the usual priming effect had *reversed*.

This *negative compatibility effect* (NCE) has now been widely reported with button-press responses, foot responses, and eye movements (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998, 2002, 2003; Schlaghecken and Eimer, 2000, 2002; Eimer et al., 2002; Aron et al., 2003; Schlaghecken et al., 2003; Seiss and Praamstra, 2004; Sumner et al., 2007; Boy et al., 2008; Hermens et al., 2010), as well as in electroencephalogram recordings (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998, 2003; Praamstra and Seiss, 2005). They can also bias free-choice responses (e.g., Klapp and Hinkley, 2002; Schlaghecken and Eimer, 2004; Klapp and Haas, 2005), and have been shown both with familiar stimulus response mappings such as arrows—and also when stimuli have been arbitrarily mapped to responses (e.g., Boy et al., 2008; Sumner, 2008).

Many researchers have suggested that this reversed priming results from an inhibitory mechanism in the motor system which acts to suppress sub-threshold motor activation evoked by the prime (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998; Klapp and Hinkley, 2002; Schlaghecken and Eimer, 2002; Schlaghecken et al., 2006). The most recent evidence suggests that such inhibition is triggered by the arrival of new stimuli—that the appearance of a second stimulus after the prime (normally the mask) automatically elicits an "emergency brake" that cancels any motor activation initiated by the prime (Jaśkowski and Przekoracka-Krawczyk, 2005; Lleras and Enns, 2006; Jaśkowski, 2007, 2008; Boy et al., 2008).

However, there has been considerable debate over whether the NCE genuinely reflects an inhibitory mechanism rather than arising from a purely perceptual process, or alternatively, from positive priming (PCE) of a motor response associated with elements of the mask stimulus. Perceptual accounts suggest that the NCE occurs because perceptual processing of the target stimulus is slower following a compatible prime, due to habituation-like processes such as "repetition blindness" or an attentional refractory period (Bavelier et al., 2000; Huber, 2008; Sohrabi and West, 2008; see also van Leeuwen and Lachmann, 2004, also discussed in Lleras and Enns, 2005 alongside the object updating theory; Hochhaus and Johnston, 1996; Huber et al., 2001, 2002; Johnston et al., 2002; Sohrabi and West, 2009). Such perceptual processes may play a role in producing some reversed priming effects, but they cannot account for more recent findings. For example, Boy and Sumner (2010) found that when participants learned novel sensorimotor associations in a masked priming task, and those response mappings were suddenly switched, both positive and negative priming effects temporarily reversed (see Figure 3)—indicating that the old response mappings continue to be primed until the participants learn the new mappings sufficiently well. Perceptual accounts of inverse priming cannot explain this finding.

Alternatively, perceptual interactions between the prime and the mask could end up causing motor priming in the opposite direction to that expected from the prime. This idea has been variously termed "object-updating," "active mask," or "maskinduced priming" (Lleras and Enns, 2004; Verleger et al., 2004; see Sumner, 2007 for review). Many early experiments used masks that were constructed by superimposing features in the alternative primes. In this case the most visually salient features of the mask could be those that were new onsets in the stimulus sequence—i.e., those that were not in the prime. Thus, the prime-mask sequence could actually prime the response opposite the one associated with the prime. Object updating may play a strong role in producing the NCE when masks are constructed from prime features, but they cannot account for the NCE in other cases where masks do not contain elements of possible primes (e.g., Sumner, 2008).

Overall, therefore, reversed priming effects can be caused in several ways. For the purposes of this review, the most interesting one is a form of automatic motor inhibition, which can be revealed with appropriate stimuli. Finding the NCE with subliminally presented primes provides evidence that the mechanisms at its origin are deployed automatically. If the observer is not aware of the prime, then presumably they cannot volitionally suppress any motor response associated with it. However, note that the prime does not necessarily need to be subliminal for the NCE to occur (e.g., Klapp and Hinkley, 2002; Klapp, 2005; Lleras and Enns, 2005; Mattler, 2005; Sumner et al., 2006; Schlaghecken et al., 2008).

#### AUTOMATIC INHIBITION IN THE AFFORDANCE PARADIGM

If the NCE shown in masked priming genuinely reflects an automatic control mechanism to suppress sub-threshold activation of an unwanted motor response (see above), one might expect to see evidence of an NCE in other paradigms where visual stimuli automatically evoke motor responses. Vainio and colleagues have recently reported that the positive stimulus-response compatibility effects usually shown in object affordance tasks can become *negative* if the object stimulus is presented briefly and then removed (e.g., Vainio, 2009; Vainio et al., 2011; see also Vainio and Mustonen, 2011).

This NCE-like effect was reported even when the prime stimulus (e.g., a cup) was not relevant to the on-going task (respond to direction of a subsequently presented target arrow), quite unlike the masked prime paradigm where primes typically need to contain elements relevant to the task for NCEs to be observed (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998). To account for this discrepancy, Vainio and colleagues suggested that even though the cup primes in their experiments were irrelevant to the participants' task, a small degree of motor activation occurred due to the relatively long stimulus duration (compared to the primes in previous NCE studies), and the fact that the response association is highly over-learnt (compared to the semi-arbitrary correspondence between simple arrows or lines and a response). However, the associated motor activation was still sub-threshold, and thus able to be reversed by inhibition when perceptual support for that response was interrupted (producing the observed NCE). Overall, these studies suggest that actions which have been automatically primed by object affordances may also be subject to automatic control.

#### AUTOMATIC TRIGGERING OF "ENDOGENOUS" CONTROL

In the masked prime paradigm, the participants are not actually instructed to employ response inhibition—it just appears to occur



automatically following the prime and mask. In other paradigms, participants are specifically asked to *endogenously* inhibit their planned motor responses when cued to do so, for example in the go/no-go task and stop signal task (e.g., Logan, 1994). In both tasks, participants are instructed to respond as quickly as possible to go-signals, but to withhold their response when other ("stop") stimuli occur.

Traditionally, such endogenous response inhibition has been thought to depend on the conscious detection of stop signals (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 2003). However, recent work suggests that endogenous suppression of pre-potent responses can also be primed or evoked unconsciously and automatically (e.g., Verbruggen and Logan, 2009a; van Gaal et al., 2008, 2009, 2010a,b). For example, van Gaal et al. (2009, 2010b) examined whether inhibition of a response could be triggered unconsciously by a masked stop-signal. They reported that although participants did not completely withhold their responses on unconscious (strongly masked) stop trials, they were significantly slowed relative to go trials, indicating there was some (incomplete) suppression of responses triggered by the imperceptible stop signal. Thus, the control processes involved in suppressing responses can be-at least partially-evoked by signals that are not consciously perceived.

# **AUTOMATIC PRE-STIMULUS CONTROL**

In the case of both the NCE and the "endogenous inhibition" paradigms discussed above, inhibitory control processes appear to be evoked to deal with motor activation after it has been elicited. Is it also possible that pre-stimulus preparatory types of control can be elicited automatically? Many researchers have suggested that observers must consciously experience conflict in order for the pre-stimulus control mechanisms to be deployed (e.g., Kunde, 2003; Mayr, 2004; Ansorge et al., 2011). However, recent evidence from van Gaal et al. (2010a) suggests that some pre-stimulus control can be evoked automatically, without conscious awareness (see Figure 4). They used a meta-contrast masking paradigm to manipulate awareness of conflict-inducing stimuli. Conflict between co-activated responses was either conscious (weakly masked primes) or unconscious (strongly masked primes). The largest conflict adaptation effects occurred when both the current and the previous trial were weakly masked (visible). Importantly, a small but statistically significant conflict adaptation effect was evident when primes on trial n and trial n-1 were both presented below the threshold required for conscious awareness (strongly masked condition). This is consistent with the suggestion that unconsciously presented stimuli can automatically evoke these pre-stimulus conflict adaptation mechanisms,



and can modulate the effects of subsequent conflicting stimuli. However, this result should be interpreted cautiously because responses are typically faster following fast responses (congruent trials), and slower following slow responses (incongruent trials; see e.g., Laming, 1979). If this effect were more apparent on fast (congruent) trials than on slow (incongruent) trials then it might entirely account for the small Gratton effect observed with non-conscious stimuli.

# OVERLAP BETWEEN BRAIN AREAS RESPONSIBLE FOR AUTOMATIC AND VOLUNTARY CONTROL

The traditional distinction drawn between automatic and voluntary cognitive control is not only being challenged by behavioral studies. Lesion and imaging studies have also revealed substantial overlap between brain regions traditionally associated with "voluntary" control and those active during automatic control. Brain areas in medial frontal cortex such as the SMA and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) have traditionally been considered to be important for voluntary control (for a review, see Nachev et al., 2008). However, they also seem to be involved in mediating automatic motor activation and suppression of unwanted action plans (e.g., D'Ostilio and Garraux, 2011, 2012). For example, Sumner et al. (2007) used a masked prime paradigm to reveal that two extremely rare patients with microlesions of the SMA and/or the adjacent supplementary eye field (SEF) showed normal PCEs but failed to show NCEs, unlike healthy matched controls. These data are consistent with the view that the SMA and SEF may play causal roles in producing the automatic motor inhibition indexed behaviorally by the NCE. Thus, areas involved in the voluntary control of action might play a crucial role in automatic inhibition of unwanted actions (in this case, evoked by the subliminal prime).

There is also evidence from healthy observers that the SMA and nearby pre-SMA are involved in producing the unconscious NCE in healthy observers. Recent research from van Gaal et al. (2011b), found that individual differences in pre-SMA gray matter density were correlated with participants' ability to correctly respond to a target that had been preceded by a strongly masked (invisible) incompatible prime. Furthermore, Boy et al. (2010a) found that the fMRI signal was modulated by (invisible) prime compatibility in the SMA. Moreover, by studying normal participants' *in vivo* neurochemistry through magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), Boy et al. (2010a) found that for a region including the SMA, the measured concentration of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)—the main neurotransmitter responsible for neuronal inhibition—was correlated with the magnitude of the NCE.

There is also overlap between "voluntary" and "automatic" neural mechanisms involved in more conventional inhibition tasks such as go/no-go, and stop signal paradigms. van Gaal et al. (2010b) found that the amplitude of a fronto-central N2 eventrelated potential (ERP) component was reliably correlated with successful stopping on weakly masked (conscious) stop trials, and with the amount of slowing on strongly masked (unconscious) stop trials (as measured by the stop signal reaction time; SSRT). Thus, the size of this N2 component correlated with behavioral measures of both conscious and unconscious suppression of response. In addition, functional imaging has shown that strongly masked no-go signals activate much of the same brain areas that are activated by weakly masked no-go signals, particularly the pre-SMA and inferior frontal cortex (van Gaal et al., 2010b). The strength of activation in these areas was positively correlated with the amount of slow-down on strongly masked no-go trialswhich supports the suggestion that this activity may be functional and have a direct effect on stopping behavior.

Taken together, these findings challenge the traditional assumption that voluntary control and involuntary mechanisms occur through distinct pathways in the brain. Rather, there is considerable overlap between the brain regions which are active during consciously and unconsciously triggered action control.

# **DISSOCIATIONS IN AUTOMATIC AND VOLUNTARY CONTROL**

Recent work from Boy et al. (2010b) suggests that the important distinction is not between control that is automatic compared



**FIGURE 5 | (A)** Schematic illustration of the task in Boy et al. (2010b), which combines subliminal priming and flanker interference. If the stimulus onset asynchrony (SOA) between prime and target (response) cue is short (70 ms), a PCE in response times is found (green arrows in **B**). If the SOA is longer (180 ms), an NCE is found (red arrows in **B**). Compatibility refers to whether the direction of prime arrow and target (response) arrow is the same (compatible) or different (incompatible). Targets are flanked by arrows. If the

to control that is voluntary, but rather between *pre-* and *post-stimulus* control (see discussion above on pre- vs. post-stimulus control). These investigators used a hybrid task which integrated masked priming into an Eriksen flanker paradigm (see **Figure 5A**). They showed an interaction between the *post-stimulus* inhibitory influences caused by prime-mask sequence (the NCE) and the post-stimulus control of flanker interference. Thus, these processes presumably share some common mechanisms (see **Figure 5B**). However, when examining the influence of the previous trials' flankers on performance in the current trial (the Gratton effect, see section on pre-stimulus control), no such interaction was found with the NCE. This suggests that pre-stimulus control mechanisms did not share processes with the NCE, and thus are distinct from post-stimulus mechanisms.

# FLEXIBLE AUTOMATICTY

Automatic and unconscious processes are traditionally regarded as inflexible (e.g., Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977; Shiffrin and Schneider, 1977, 1984), quite distinct in quality from the flexible nature of "voluntary" processes. However, there is increasing evidence that automatic and subliminal processes can in fact be modulated by "top-down" processes of attention, intention ("task set" or current goals) and expectation. For example, Kentridge and colleagues (e.g., Kentridge et al., 1999, 2004, 2008)



the effect of flanker interference. For the NCE, which measures subliminal inhibition, there was an interaction with flanker interference. This interaction did not occur for pre-stimulus control [data not shown here, see Boy et al. (2010b)].

have reported a series of studies in which attention modulates apparently subconscious processing, both in a "blindsight" patient, GY, and in normal participants. Focussing attention in time (e.g., Naccache et al., 2002) and in space (Lachter et al., 2004; Sumner et al., 2006; Marzouki et al., 2007) can also modulate the effects of masked primes on motor responses. For example, positive and negative compatibility effects in a masked prime task can be enhanced by exogenously pre-cueing prime location (Sumner et al., 2006), and in such a way that was not simply explained by an attentional boost to the perceptual strength of the prime. This suggests that attention does not only enhance perceptual processing, but can also modulate sensori-motor linkages.

Task set-up and instruction can also modulate many of the effects of visual stimuli on motor responses and control. As noted above, prime stimuli in masked priming tasks generally only affect responses when they share task-relevant elements with the target stimuli (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998; see also Huang et al., 2011). For example, Eimer and Schlaghecken (1998) found no NCE when participants responded to letter targets that had been preceded by masked arrow primes, even though arrow primes reliably prime responses when targets are also arrows. Moreover, recent evidence shows that object affordance effects are also dependent on the goals of the observer. Bub and Masson (2010) demonstrated that the handle of a mug only produced

reliable affordance effects on reach and grasp responses, not when the response was made via a speeded button press.

Unconscious "endogenous" control over responses also depends on task instruction. Wokke et al. (2011) tested participants with a go/no-go task in which a masked (unconscious) prime stimulus preceded an unmasked (conscious) target. One of two possible targets was presented on each trial, but unlike other studies, stimuli were not consistently paired with either a "go" or a "no-go" response across a testing session. Instead, which of the possible targets required a "go" or a "no-go" response was cued on a trial-by-trial basis. Response inhibition rates were improved when a "no-go" target was preceded by an invisible "no-go" cue. As the instruction cue manipulation eliminated any long-term associations being built up between stimulus and response, it seems that control processes evoked by unconsciously presented stimuli can be triggered in a flexible manner according to task instruction.

Finally, pre-stimulus, conflict adaptation effects such as the Gratton effect can also be modulated, seemingly by reward (van Steenbergen et al., 2009). For example, van Steenbergen and colleagues (2009) showed that the conflict adaptation effect in a flanker task can be reduced by reward, even though rewards were given arbitrarily and were unrelated to the task. In fact Botvinick (2007) has recently suggested that conflict might be experienced as a negatively reinforcing event. As such, it is possible for the effects of conflict (a negative stimulus) to be counteracted by a positive stimulus (reward)—an example of possible flexible control over an automatic response.

Taken together, these findings indicate that seemingly "automatic" response activation and control can be implemented flexibly—quite unlike the traditionally inflexible view of automatic processes.

#### REFERENCES

- Akçay, C., and Hazeltine, E. (2007). Conflict monitoring and feature overlap: two sources of sequential modulations. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 14, 724–748.
- Anderson, S. J., Yamagishi, N., and Karavia, V. (2002). Attentional processes link perception and action. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 269, 1225–1232.
- Ansorge, U., Fuchs, I., Khalid, S., and Kunde, W. (2011). No conflict control in the absence of awareness. *Psychol. Res. Psychol. Forsch.* 75, 351–365.
- Aron, A. R. (2007). The neural basis of inhibition in cognitive control. *Neuroscientist* 13, 214–228.
- Aron, A. R., Schlaghecken, F., Fletcher, P. C., Bullmore, E. T., Eimer, M., Barker, R., Sahakian, B. J., and Robbins, T. W. (2003). Inhibition of subliminally primed responses is mediated by the caudate and thalamus: evidence from functional MRI and Huntington's disease. *Brain* 126, 713–723.
- Bartolo, M., Zucchella, C., Pichiecchio, A., Pucci, E., Sandrini, G., and

Sinforiani, E. (2011). Alien hand syndrome in left posterior stroke. *Neurol. Sci.* 32, 483–486.

- Bavelier, D., Deruelle, C., and Proksch, J. (2000). Positive and negative compatibility effects. *Percept. Psychophys.* 62, 100–112.
- Biran, I., and Chatterjee, A. (2004). Alien hand syndrome. Arch. Neurol. 61, 292–294.
- Boccardi, E., Della Sala, S., Motto, C., and Spinnler, H. (2002). Utilisation behaviour consequent to bilateral SMA softening. *Cortex* 38, 239–308.
- Bompas, A., and Sumner, P. (2011). Saccadic inhibition reveals the timing of automatic and voluntary signals in the human brain. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 12501–12512.
- Botvinick, M. M. (2007). Conflict monitoring and decision making: reconciling two perspectives on anterior cingulate function. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 356–366.
- Botvinick, M. M., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carter, C. S., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). Conflict monitoring and

# **CONCLUSION**

The evidence described in this review demonstrates that stimuli can automatically prime specific, purposeful actions. Simple stimuli can capture eye movements, produce activity in motorrelated brain areas, and can trigger the actions afforded by an object. Because observers are constantly bombarded by a complex set of visual stimulations, such automatic activation of potential responses is likely to be important, either in facilitating responses or requiring inhibition so other responses can be made. While their effects might not be obvious in healthy adults, the effects of such automatic activation of motor programs can be dramatically revealed following brain damage (e.g., in alien limb syndrome or utilization behavior).

A necessary pre-requisite for flexible, goal-directed action is the ability to inhibit inappropriate, competing, responses even when those competing responses have been activated automatically. Cognitive control has traditionally been seen as tightly coupled to awareness, it has been suggested that an observer must be aware of a stimulus in order to inhibit motor activation evoked by that stimulus. Many of the findings reviewed here challenge this assumption and instead suggest there is substantial overlap between the mechanisms supporting conscious and unconscious control of responses. Thus, we suggest that while there may be differences between automatic and voluntary control, they may not be entirely distinct in the brain, that automatic processes may play a role in all behavior, and that we must revise traditional views that couple cognitive control to consciousness and automaticity to inflexibility.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This research was supported by The Wellcome Trust and NIHR BRC at UCL/UCLH.

cognitive control. Psychol. Rev. 108, 624–652.

- Boulinguez, P., Jaffard, M., Granjon, L., and Benraiss, A. (2008). Warning signals induce automatic EMG activations and proactive volitional inhibition: evidence from analysis of error distribution in simple RT. J. Neurophysiol. 99, 1572–1578.
- Boy, F., Clarke, K., and Sumner, P. (2008). Mask stimulus triggers inhibition in subliminal visuomotor priming. *Exp. Brain Res.* 190, 111–116.
- Boy, F., Evans, C. J., Edden, R. A. E., Singh, K. D., Husain, M., and Sumner, P. (2010a). Individual differences in subconscious motor control predicted by GABA concentration in SMA. *Curr. Biol.* 20, 1779–1785.
- Boy, F., Husain, M., and Sumner, P. (2010b). Unconscious inhibition separates two forms of cognitive control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 11134–11139.
- Boy, F., and Sumner, P. (2010). Tight coupling between positive

and reversed priming in the Masked Prime paradigm. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 36, 892–905.

- Bub, D. N., and Masson, M. E. J. (2010). Grasping beer mugs: on the dynamics of alignment effects induced by handled objects. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 36, 341–358.
- Buccino, G., Sato, M., Cattaneo, L., Rodà, F., and Riggio, L. (2009). Broken affordances, broken objects: a TMS study. *Neuropsychologia* 47, 3074–3078.
- Buonocore, A., and McIntosh, R. D. (2008). Saccadic inhibition underlies the remote distractor effect. *Exp. Brain Res.* 191, 117–122.
- Burle, B., Possamaï, C.-A., Vidal, F., Bonnet, M., and Hasbroucq, T. (2002). Executive control in the Simon effect: an electromyographic and distributional analysis. *Psychol. Res.* 66, 324–336.
- Coles, M. G. H., Gratton, G., Bashore, T. R., Eriksen, C. W., and Donchin, E. (1985). A psychophysical investigation of the continuous flow model

of human information processing. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 11, 529–553.

- Coulthard, E., Rudd, A., Playford, E. D., and Husain, M. (2007). Alien Limb following posterior cerebral artery stroke: failure to recognize internally generated movements? *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1498–1502.
- de Jong, R., Liang, C.-C., and Lauber, E. (1994). Conditional and unconditional automaticity: a dual-process model of effects of spatial stimulusresponse correspondence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 20, 731–750.
- Derbyshire, N., Ellis, R., and Tucker, M. (2006). The potentiation of two components of the reach-to-grasp action during object categorisation in visual memory. *Acta Psychol.* 122, 74–98.
- D'Ostilio, K., and Garraux, G. (2011). Automatic stimulus-induced medial premotor cortex activation without perception or action. *PLoS One* 6:e16613. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0016613
- D'Ostilio, K., and Garraux, G. (2012). Dissociation between unconscious motor response facilitation and conflict in medial frontal areas. *Eur. J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 35, 332–340.
- Driver, J., Davis, G., Picciardelli, P., Kidd, P., Maxwell, E., and Baron-Cohen, S. (1999). Gaze perception triggers reflexive visuospatial orienting. *Vis. Cogn.* 6, 509–540.
- Edelman, J. A., and Xu, K. Z. (2009). Inhibition of voluntary saccadic eye movement commands by abrupt visual onsets. *J. Neurophysiol.* 101, 1222–1234.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (1998). Effects of masked stimuli on motor activation: behavioural and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 1737–1747.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (2002). Links between conscious awareness and response inhibition: evidence from masked priming. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 9, 514–520.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (2003). Response facilitation and inhibition in subliminal priming. *Biol. Psychol.* 64, 7–26.
- Eimer, M., Schubö, A., and Schlaghecken, F. (2002). Locus of inhibition in the masked priming of response alternatives. *J. Mot. Behav.* 34, 3–10.
- Ellis, R., and Tucker, M. (2000). Microaffordance: the potentiation of components of action by seen objects. *Br. J. Psychol.* 91, 451–471.

- Ellis, R., Tucker, M., Symes, E., and Vainio, L. (2007). Does selecting one visual object from several require inhibition of actions associated with nonselected objects? J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 33, 670–691.
- Eriksen, B. A., and Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 16, 143–149.
- Eriksen, C. W., Coles, M. G. H., Morris, L. R., and O'Hara, W. P. (1985). An electromyographic examination of response competition. *Bull. Psychon. Soc.* 23, 165–168.
- Everling, S., and Munoz, D. P. (2000). Neuronal correlates for preparatory set associated with pro-saccades and anti-saccades in the primate frontal eye field. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 387–400.
- Friesen, C. K., and Kingstone, A. (1998). The eyes have it! reflexive orienting is triggered by nonpredictive gaze. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 5, 490–495.
- Friesen, C. K., and Kingstone, A. (2003). Abrupt onsets and gaze direction cues trigger independent reflexive attentional effects. *Cognition* 87, B1–B10.
- Gibson, J. J. (1979). The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Godijn, R., and Theeuwes, J. (2002). Programming of endogenous and exogenous saccades: evidence for a competitive integration model. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 28, 1039–1054.
- Gratton, G., Coles, M. G. H., and Donchin, E. (1992). Optimizing the use of information: strategic control of activation of responses. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 121, 480–506.
- Gratton, G., Coles, M. G. H., Sirevaag, E. J., Eriksen, C. W., and Donchin, E. (1988). Pre- and poststimulus activation of response channels: a psychophysiological analysis. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 14, 331–344.
- Grèzes, J., and Decety, J. (2002). Does visual perception of object afford action? Evidence from a neuroimaging study. *Neuropsychologia* 40, 212–220.
- Hampshire, A., Chamberlin, S. R., Monti, M. M., Duncan, J., and Owen, A. M. (2010). The role of the right inferior frontal gyrus: inhibition and attentional control. *Neuroimage* 50, 1313–1319.
- Hermens, F., Sumner, P., and Walker, R. (2010). Inhibition of masked primes as revealed by saccade curvature. *Vision Res.* 50, 46–56.

- Hochhaus, L., and Johnston, J. C. (1996). Pereceptual repetition blindness effects. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 22, 355–366.
- Howard, L. A., and Tipper, S. P. (1997). Hand deviations away from visual cues: indirect evidence for inhibition. *Exp. Brain Res.* 113, 144–152.
- Huang, Y., Zhou, T., and Chen, L. (2011). The precedence of topological change over top-down attention in masked priming. *J. Vis.* 11, 1–10.
- Huber, D. E. (2008). Immediate priming and cognitive effects. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 137, 324–347.
- Huber, D. E., Shiffrin, R. M., Lyle, K. B., and Ruys, K. I. (2001). Perception and preference in short-term word priming. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 149–182.
- Huber, D. E., Shiffrin, R. M., Quach, R., and Lyle, K. B. (2002). Mechanisms of source confusion and discounting in short-term priming: 1. Effects of prime duration and prime recognition. *Mem. Cogn.* 30, 745–757.
- Humphreys, G. W., and Riddoch, M. J. (2000). One more cup of coffee for the road: object-action assemblies, response blocking and response capture after frontal lobe damage. *Exp. Brain Res.* 133, 81–93.
- Irwin, D. E., Colcombe, A. M., Kramber, A. F., and Hahn, S. (2000). Attentional and oculomotor capture by onset, luminance and color singletons. *Vision Res.* 40, 1143–1458.
- Ivanoff, J., and Klein, R. M. (2003). Orienting of attention without awareness is affected by measurement-induced attentional control settings. J. Vis. 3, 32–40.
- Jaśkowski, P. (2007). The effect of nonmasking distractors in the priming of motor responses. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 32, 465–468.
- Jaśkowski, P. (2008). Conscious contrributions to subliminal priming. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 72–83.
- Jaśkowski, P., and Przekoracka-Krawczyk, A. (2005). On the role of mask structure in subliminal priming. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp.* 65, 409–417.
- Johnston, J. C., Hochhaus, L., and Ruthruff, E. (2002). Repetition blindness has a perceptual locus: evidence from online processing of targets in RSVP streams. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 28, 477–489.
- Kentridge, R. W., Heywood, C. A., and Weiskrantz, L. (1999). Attention without awareness in blindsight. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 266, 1805–1811.
- Kentridge, R. W., Heywood, C. A., and Weiskrantz, L. (2004). Spatial

attention speeds discrimination without awareness in blindsight. *Neuropsychologia* 42, 831–835.

- Kentridge, R. W., Nijboer, T. C., and Heywood, C. A. (2008). Attended but unseen: visual attention is not sufficient for visual awareness. *Neuropsychologia* 46, 864–869.
- Kerns, J. G., Cohen, J. D., MacDonald, A. W., Cho, R. Y., Stenger, V. A., and Carter, C. S. (2004). Anterior cingulate conflict monitoring and adjustments control. *Science* 303, 1023–1026.
- Klapp, S. (2005). Two versions of the negative compatibility effect: comment on Lleras and Enns (2004). J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 134, 431–435.
- Klapp, S. T., and Haas, B. W. (2005). Nonconscious influence of masked stimuli on response selection is limited to concrete stimulus– response associations. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 31, 193–209.
- Klapp, S. T., and Hinkley, L. B. (2002). The negative compatibility effect: unconscious inhibition influences reaction time and response selection. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 131, 255–269.
- Kornblum, S., Hasbroucq, T., and Osman, A. (1990). Dimensional overlap: cognitive basis for stimulus-response compatibility – a model and taxonomy. *Psychol. Rev.* 97, 253–270.
- Kunde, W. (2003). Sequential modulations of stimulus-response correspondence effects depend on awareness of response conflict. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 10, 198–205.
- Kunde, W., and Wühr, P. (2006). Sequential modulations of correspondence effects across spatial dimensions and tasks. *Mem. Cogn.* 34, 356–367.
- Lachter, J., Forster, K. I., and Ruthruff, E. (2004). Forty-five years after Broadbent (1958): still no identification without attention. *Psychol. Rev.* 111, 880–913.
- Laming, D. (1979). Autocorrelation of choice-reaction times. *Acta Psychol.* 43, 381–412.
- Leuthold, H., and Kopp, B. (1998). Mechanisms of priming by masked stimuli: Inferences from eventrelated brain potentials. *Psychol. Sci.* 9, 263–269.
- Lhermitte, F. (1983). "Utilization behaviour" and its relation to lesions of the frontal lobes. *Brain* 106, 237–255.
- Link, S. W., and Heath, R. A. (1975). A sequential theory of psychological discrimination. *Psychometrika* 40, 77–105.

- Lleras, A., and Enns, J. T. (2004). Negative compatibility of object updating? A cautionary tale of mask-dependent priming. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 133, 475–493.
- Lleras, A., and Enns, J. T. (2005). Updating a cautionary tale of masked priming: a reply to Klapp (2005). J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 134, 436–440.
- Lleras, A., and Enns, J. T. (2006). How much like a target can a mask be? Geometric, spatial and temporal similarity in priming: a reply to Schlaghecken and Eimer (2006). *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 135, 495–500.
- Logan, G. D. (1994). "On the ability to inhibit through and action. A users' guide to the stop signal paradigm," in *Inhibitory Processes in Attention, Memory and Language*, eds D. Dagenbach and T. H. Carr (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 189–236.
- Logan, G. D., and Zbrodoff, N. J. (1979). When it helps to be misled: facilitative effects of increasing the frequency of conflicting stimuli in a Stroop-like task. *Mem. Cogn.* 7, 166–174.
- Logan, G. D., and Zbrodoff, N. J. (1982). Constraints on strategy construction in a speeded discrimination task. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 8, 502–520.
- Lu, C-H., and Proctor, R. W. (1995). The influence of irrelevant location information on performance: a review of the Simon and spatial Stroop effects. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 2, 174–207.
- Marzouki, Y., Grainger, J., and Theeuwes, J. (2007). Exogenous spatial cueing modulates subliminal masked priming. *Acta Psychol.* 126, 34–45.
- Mattler, U. (2005). Inhibition and decay of motor and nonmotor priming. *Percept. Psychophys.* 67, 285–300.
- Mayr, U. (2004). Conflict, consciousness, and control. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 145–148.
- Mayr, U., Awh, E., and Laurey, P. (2003). Conflict adaptation effects in the absence of executive control. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 450–452.
- McBride, J., Sumner, P., and Husain, M. (2012). Conflict in object affordance revealed by grip force. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 65, 13–24.
- McCormick, P. A. (1997). Orienting attention without awareness. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 23, 168–180.
- McPeek, R. M., Han, J. H., and Keller, E. L. (2003). Competition between saccade goals in the superior colliculus produces saccade curvature. *J. Neurophysiol.* 89, 2577–2590.

- McPeek, R. M., and Keller, E. L. (2001). Short-term priming, concurrent processing, and saccade curvature during a target selection task in the monkey. *Vision Res.* 41, 785–800.
- McPeek, R. M., Skavenski, A. A., and Nakayama, K. (2000). Concurrent processing of saccades in visual search. *Vision Res.* 40, 2499–2516.
- Merikle, P. M., Joordens, S., and Stolz, J. A. (1995). Measuring the relative magnitude of unconscious influences. *Conscious. Cogn.* 4, 422–439.
- Mulckhuyse, M., and Theeuwes, J. (2010). Unconscious attentional orienting to exogenous cues: a review of the literature. Acta Psychol. 134, 299–309.
- Munoz, D. P., and Everling, S. (2004). Look away: the anti-saccade task and the voluntary control of eye movement. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 218–228.
- Murray, R., Neumann, M., Forman, M. S., Farmer, J., Massimo, L., Rice, A., Miller, B. L., Johnson, J. K., Clark, C. M., Hurtig, H. I., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Lee, V. M.-Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Grossman, M. (2007). Cognitive and motor assessment in autopsy-proven corticobasal degeneration. *Neurology* 68, 1274–1283.
- Naccache, L., Blandin, L., and Dehaene, S. (2002). Unconscious masked priming depends on temporal attention. *Psychol. Sci.* 13, 416–424.
- Nachev, P., Kennard, C., and Husain, M. (2008). Functional role of the supplementary and presupplementary motor areas. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 856–869.
- Ögmen, H., and Breitmeyer, B. G. (2006). The First Half Second: Temporal Dynamics of Conscious and Unconscious Visual Processing. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Phillips, J. C., and Ward, R. (2002). S-R correspondence effects of irrelevant visual affordance: time course and specificity of response activation. *Vis. Cogn.* 9, 540–558.
- Praamstra, P., and Seiss, E. (2005). The neurophysiology of response competition: motor cortex activation and inhibition following subliminal response priming. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 17, 483–493.
- Reingold, E. M., and Stampe, D. M. (1999). "Saccadic inhibition in complex visual tasks," in *Current Oculomotor Research: Physiological* and Psychological Aspects, eds W. Becker, H. Deubel, and T. Mergner (New York, NY: Plenum), 249–255.
- Reingold, E. M., and Stampe, D. M. (2000). "Saccadic inhibition and gaze contingent research

paradigms," in *Reading as A Perceptual Process*, eds A. Kennedy, R. Radach, D. Heller, and J. Pynte (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 119–145.

- Reingold, E. M., and Stampe, D. M. (2002). Saccadic inhibition in voluntary and reflexive saccades. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 14, 371–388.
- Reingold, E. M., and Stampe, D. M. (2003). "Using the saccadic inhibition paradigm to investigate saccadic control in reading," in *Mind's Eye: Cognitive and Applied Aspects of Eye Movement Research*, eds R. Radach, J. Hyona, and H., Deubel (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science), 347–360.
- Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2002). "Activation and suppression in conflict tasks: empirical clarification through distributional analyses," in *Common Mechanisms in Perception and Action. Attention and Performance*, Vol. XIX, eds W. Prinz and B. Hommel (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 494–519.
- Ridderinkhof, K. R., Scheres, A., Oosterlaan, J., and Sergent, J. A. (2005). Delta plots in the study of individual differences: new tools reveal response inhibition deficits in AD/Hd that are eliminated by methylphenidate treatment. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 114, 197–215.
- Riddoch, M. J., Edwards, M. G., Humphreys, G. W., West, R., and Heafield, T. (1998). Visual affordances direct action: neuropsychological evidence from manual interference. *Cogn. Neuropsychol.* 15, 645–683.
- Sato, W., Okada, T., and Toichi, M. (2007). Attentional shift by gaze is triggered without awareness. *Exp. Brain Res.* 183, 87–94.
- Scepkowski, L. A., and Cronin-Golumb, A. (2003). The alien hand: cases, categorizations and anatomical correlates. *Behav. Cogn. Neurosci. Rev.* 2, 261–277.
- Schaefer, M., Heinze, H. J., and Galazky, I. (2010). Alien hand syndrome: neural correlates of movements without conscious will. *PloS One* 5:15010. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0015010
- Schlaghecken, F., Blagrove, E., and Maylor, E. A. (2008). No difference between conscious and nonconscious visoumotor control: evidence from perceptual learning in the masked prime task. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 84–93.
- Schlaghecken, F., Bowman, H., and Eimer, M. (2006). Dissociating local and global levels of perceputomotor control in masked priming. J.

*Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform.* 32, 618–632.

- Schlaghecken, F., and Eimer, M. (2000). A central-peripheral asymmetry in masked priming. *Percept. Psychophys.* 62, 1367–1382.
- Schlaghecken, F., and Eimer, M. (2002). Motor activation with and without inhibition: evidence for a threshold mechanism in motor control. *Percept. Psychophys.* 64, 148–162.
- Schlaghecken, F., and Eimer, M. (2004). Masked prime stimuli can bias "free" choices between response alternatives. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 11, 463–468.
- Schlaghecken, F., and Martini, P. (2011). Context, not conflict, drives cognitive control. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. doi: 10.1037/a0025791. [Epub ahead of print]
- Schlaghecken, F., Münchau, A., Bloem, B. R., Rothwell, J., and Eimer, M. (2003). Slow frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation affects reaction times, but not priming effects, in a masked prime task. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 114, 1272–1277.
- Schneider, W., and Shiffrin, R. M. (1977). Controlled and automatic human information processing: i. detection, search, and attention. *Psychol. Rev.* 84, 1–66.
- Seiss, E., and Praamstra, P. (2004). The basal ganglia and inhibitory mechanisms in response selection: evidence from subliminal priming of motor responses in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 127, 330–339.
- Sheliga, B. M., Riggio, L., and Rizzolatti, G. (1995). Spatial attention and eye movements. *Exp. Brain Res.* 105, 261–275.
- Shiffrin, R. M., and Schneider, W. (1977). Controlled and automatic human information processing: I. Perceptual learning, automatic attending, and a general theory. *Psychol. Rev.* 84, 127–190.
- Shiffrin, R. M., and Schneider, W. (1984). Automatic and controlled processing revisited. *Psychol. Rev.* 91, 269–276.
- Smith, P. L., and Ratcliff, R. (2004). Psychology and neurobiology of simple decisions. *Trends Neurosci.* 27, 161–168.
- Sohrabi, A., and West, R. L. (2008). "A biologically-plausible cognitive model (BPCM) of positive and negative congruency effects in masked priming," in *Poster Session Presented at the Annual Meeting* of the Cognitive Science Society, Washington, DC.
- Sohrabi, A., and West, R. L. (2009). Positive and negative congruency

effects in masked priming: a neurocomputational model based on representation, attention, and conflict. *Brain Res.* 15, 126–132.

- Stins, J. F., Polderman, J. C. T., Boomsma, D. I., and de Geus, E. J. C. (2007). Conditional accuracy in response interference tasks: evidence from the Eriksen flanker task and the spatial conflict task. Adv. Cogn. Psychol. 3, 389–396.
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18, 643–662.
- Stürmer, B., Leuthold, H., Soetens, E., Schröter, H., and Sommwe, W. (2002). Control over locationbased response activation in the Simon task: behavioral and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 28, 1345–1363.
- Sumner, P. (2007). Negative and positive masked-priming - implications for motor inhibition. *Adv. Cogn. Psychol.* 3, 317–326.
- Sumner, P. (2008). Mask-induced priming and the negative compatibility effect. *Exp. Psychol.* 55, 133–141.
- Sumner, P., and Husain, M. (2008). At the edge of consciousness: automatic motor activation and voluntary control. *Neuroscientist* 14, 474–486.
- Sumner, P., Nachev, P., Morris, P., Peters, A. M., Jackson, S., Kennard, C., and Husain, M. (2007). Human median frontal cortex mediates unconscious inhibition of voluntary action. *Neuron* 54, 697–711.
- Sumner, P., Tsai, P.-C., Yu, K., and Nachev, P. (2006). Attentional modulation of sensorimotor processes in the absence of perceptual awareness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 10520–10525.
- Swann, N. C., Cai, W., Conner, C. R., Pieters, T. A., Claffey, M. P., George, J. S., Aron, A. R., and Tandon, N. (2012). Roles for the pre-supplementary motor area and the right inferior frontal gyrus in stopping action: electrophysiological responses and functional and structural connectivity. *Neuroimage* 59, 2860–2870.
- Swann, N. C., Tandon, N., Canolty, R., Ellmore, T. M., McEvoy, L. K., Dreyer, S., DiSano, M., Aron, A. (2009). Intracranial EEG reveals a time- and frequency-specific role for the right inferior frontal gyrus and primary motor cortex in stopping initiated responses. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 12675–12685.

- Theeuwes, J., Kramer, A. F., Hahn, S., and Irwin, D. E. (1998). Our eyes do not always go where we want them to go: capture of the eyes by new objects. *Psychol. Sci.* 9, 379–385.
- Tipper, S. P., Howard, L. A., and Jackson, S. R. (1997). Selective reaching to grasp: evidence for distractor interference effects. *Vis. Cogn.* 4, 1–38.
- Tipples, J. (2002). Eye gaze is not unique: automatic orienting in response to uninformative arrows. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 9, 214–318.
- Tiwari, D., and Amar, K. (2008). A case of corticobasal degeneration presenting with alien limb syndrome. *Age Ageing* 37, 600–601.
- Tucker, M., and Ellis, R. (1998). On the relations between seen objects and components of potential actions. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 830–846.
- Tucker, M., and Ellis, R. (2001). The potentiation of grasp types during visual object categorization. *Vis. Cogn.* 8, 769–800.
- Usher, M., and McClelland, J. (2001). The time course of perceptual choice: the leaky, competing accumulator model. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 550–592.
- Vainio, L. (2009). Interrupted objectbased updating of reach program leads to a negative compatibility effect. *J. Mot. Behav.* 41, 305–315.
- Vainio, L., Hammarèn, L., Hausen, M., Rekolainen, E., and Riskilä, S. (2011). Motor inhibition associated with the affordance of briefly displayed objects. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 64, 1094–1110.
- Vainio, L., and Mustonen, T. (2011). Mapping the Identity of a viewed hand in the motor system: evidence from stimulus-response compatibility. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 37, 207–221.
- van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., Wylie, S. A., Forstmann, B. U., Burle, B., Hasbroucq, T., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010). To head or to heed? Beyond the surface of selective action inhibition: a review. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 4:222. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00222
- van Gaal, S., Lamme, V. A. F., Fahrenfort, J. J., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2011a). Dissociable brain mechanisms underlying the conscious and unconscious control of behavior. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 23, 91–105.
- van Gaal, S., Scholte, H. S., Lamme, V. A. F., Fahrenfort, J. J., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2011b). Pre-SMA gray matter density predicts

individual differences in action selection in the face of conscious and unconscious response conflict. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 23, 382–390.

- van Gaal, S., Lamme, V. A. F., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010a). Unconsciously triggered conflict adaptation. *PloS One* 5:222. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011508
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Fahrenfort, J. J., Scholte, H. S., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2008). Frontal cortex mediates unconsciously triggered inhibitory control. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 8053–8062.
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Scholte, H. S., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2010b). Unconscious activation of the prefrontal no-go network. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 4143–4150.
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2009). Dissociating consciousness from inhibitory control: evidence for unconsciously triggered response inhibition in the Stop-Signal task. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 35, 1129–1139.
- van Leeuwen, C., and Lachmann, T. (2004). Negative and positive congruence effects in letters and shapes. *Percept. Psychophys.* 66, 908–925.
- van Steenbergen, H., Band, G. P. H., and Hommel, B. (2009). Reward counteracts conflict adaptation: evidence for a role of affect in executive control. *Psychol. Sci.* 20, 1473–1477.
- Verbruggen, F., Aron, A. R., Stevens, M. A., and Chambers, C. D. (2010). Theta burst stimulation dissociates attention and action updating in human inferior frontal cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 13966–13971.
- Verbruggen, F., and Logan, G. D. (2009a). Automaticity of cognitive control: goal priming in response inhibition paradigms. *J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn.* 35, 1381–1388.
- Verbruggen, F., and Logan, G. D. (2009b). Proactive adjustments of response strategies in the stopsignal paradigm. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 35, 835–854.
- Verleger, R., Jaśkowski, P., Aydemir, A., van der Lubbe, R. H., and Groen, M. (2004). Qualitative differences between conscious and nonconscious processing? On inverse priming induced by masked arrows. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 133, 494–515.
- Walker, R., Kentridge, R. W., and Findlay, J. M. (1995). Independent

contributions of the orienting of attention, fixation offset and bilateral stimulation on human saccadic latencies. *Exp. Brain Res.* 103, 294–310.

- Walker, R., Mannan, S., Maurer, D., Pambakian, A. L. M., and Kennard, C. (2000). The oculomotor distractor effect in normal and hemianopic vision. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 267, 431–438.
- Walker, R., McSorley, E., and Haggard, P. (2006). The control of saccade trajectories: direction of curvature depends on prior knowledge of target location and saccade latency. *Percept. Psychophys.* 68, 129–138.
- Wokke, M. E., van Gaal, S., Scholte, H. S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., and Victor, A. F. Lamme. (2011). The flexible nature of unconscious cognition. *PLoS One* 6:e25729. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0025729
- Wylie, S. A., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Bashore, T. R., and van den Wildenberg, W. P. M. (2010). The effect of Parkinson's disease on the dynamics of online and proactive cognitive control during action selection. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 2058–2073.
- Wylie, S. A., van den Wildenberg, W. P. M., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Bashore, T. R., Powell, V. D., Manning, C. A., and Wooten, G. F. (2009). The effect of speedaccuracy strategy on response interference control in Parkinson's disease. *Neuropsychologia* 47, 1844–1853.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 January 2012; paper pending published: 25 February 2012; accepted: 22 March 2012; published online: 24 April 2012.

Citation: McBride J, Boy F, Husain M and Sumner P (2012) Automatic motor activation in the executive control of action. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:82. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00082

Copyright © 2012 McBride, Boy, Husain and Sumner. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# Is consciousness necessary for conflict adaptation? A state of the art

# Kobe Desender<sup>1</sup> and Eva Van den Bussche<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Department of Experimental Psychology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

<sup>2</sup> Department of Psychology, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Simon Van Gaal, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands Sachiko Kinoshita, Macquarie University, Australia

#### \*Correspondence:

Eva Van den Bussche, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Pleinlaan 2, 1050 Brussels, Belgium. e-mail: eva.van.den.bussche@ vub.ac.be Facing response conflict, subjects try to improve their responses by reducing the influence of the detrimental information which caused the conflict. It was speculated that this adaptation to conflict can only occur when the conflicting information is consciously perceived. In this review we give an overview of the research looking at the possibility of unconscious stimuli to provoke this conflict adaptation. In a first part we discuss adaptation to conflict on a trial-by-trial basis. When the previous trial contained conflicting information, subjects will adapt to this by reducing the influence of the conflicting information on the current trial. However, the interesting question is whether this is also possible when the conflicting information remains unconscious. In a second part we will discuss blockwise adaptation to conflict was never experienced consciously. In a third part we will discuss the neural basis of conscious and unconscious conflict adaptation. We will critically discuss the research on these topics and highlight strengths and weaknesses of the used paradigms. Finally, we will give some suggestions how future research can be more conclusive in this respect.

Keywords: unconscious perception, conflict adaptation, cognitive control

# **INTRODUCTION**

A hot topic in cognitive psychology nowadays is the question whether cognitive control can be exerted unconsciously. One typical expression of cognitive control is adaptation to response conflict. It has been convincingly shown that subjects adapt to conflicting information, by reducing the influence of this irrelevant information. The interesting question here is whether this is also possible when the conflict itself remains unconscious. Since much cognitive processing seems to be possible without any intervention of consciousness, this is an intriguing question. In this review we will give a clear overview of studies addressing this issue, and elaborate on contradictory findings in the field.

#### THE POWER OF UNCONSCIOUS PROCESSING

One of the most challenging questions in cognitive psychology is what defines the role of consciousness. As Lau (2009) points out, humans feel that without consciousness we would only be able to perform simple, reflexive behavior. Intuitively, we claim that we need consciousness to execute complex behavior based on our conscious intentions. Most people would agree that consciousness has an important function in life, although it is difficult to spell out what it is precisely. However, the answers from science are not unequivocal. An overwhelming body of research has shown that many cognitive processes can occur without consciousness meddling in. Yet this consensus is a very recent one. It has long been a spirited topic of debate whether stimuli which do not pass the consciousness threshold can be processed at all. Skeptics claimed that almost all research failed to assure that stimuli were truly unconscious (e.g., Eriksen, 1960; Holender, 1986) and false claims about subliminal advertising did more harm than good (Pratkanis, 1992). But with methodological improvements, such as better masking paradigms (Evett and Humphreys, 1981; Forster and Davis, 1984) and objective prime awareness tests (Greenwald et al., 1996) to ensure the unconscious nature of the stimuli, the consensus grew that stimuli which never enter our consciousness are nevertheless capable of influencing on going behavior (Kouider and Dehaene, 2007). Not only is the existence of unconscious perception no longer questioned, accumulating evidence has highlighted the potentially far-reaching power of unconscious processing.

# Unconscious semantic activation

Much research on unconscious processing made use of the priming paradigm. In this paradigm subjects have to respond to a target which is preceded by an irrelevant prime. Responses to this target are faster when it is preceded by a prime which triggers the same response as the target (i.e., a congruent prime) compared to a prime which triggers a different response (i.e., an incongruent prime). This congruency effect is a robust phenomenon both when the prime is clearly visible and when it is masked (e.g., Vorberg et al., 2003). Initially, it was assumed that masked, invisible stimuli could only trigger automatic response priming. For example, Eimer and Schlaghecken (1998) showed that a prime arrow, which is displayed for only 16 ms, is capable of activating motor responses. Dehaene et al. (1998) went one step further and found that a subliminally presented prime number facilitated responses to a target number when they shared a semantic relation, suggesting that unconscious stimuli can be processed up to a semantic level.

Although this semantic interpretation was not generally accepted at first (Damian, 2001; Kunde et al., 2003), there have been convincing studies which showed that a subliminal prime is indeed capable of influencing the reaction to a target via their semantic relation (Van den Bussche et al., 2009a; Van Opstal et al., 2010). A meta-analysis on masked priming studies (Van den Bussche et al., 2009b) confirmed that even when all non-semantic influences are excluded, subliminal primes can still evoke priming effects. So, unconscious primes can reach a high semantic processing level. Following the explanation by Dehaene et al. (1998) we assume that these masked priming effects are the consequence of conflict at the response level. On congruent trials, the prime activates the same response as the target, whereas on incongruent trials both sources active a different response, and this response conflict slows down responding (for a different view see Kinoshita and Hunt, 2008).

#### Top-down influences on unconscious processing

Next to being able to reach semantic processing levels, the effect of subliminal stimuli is not restricted to purely bottom-up processing. Although the influence of unconscious primes has often been thought a static, uncontrollable process, recently research pointed out that it can be influenced by top-down aspects such as task demands (Norris and Kinoshita, 2008; Martens et al., 2011), attentional focusing (Van den Bussche et al., 2010), and temporal attention (Naccache et al., 2002). Martens et al. (2011) used an induction task to activate one of two task sets. Subjects had to decide whether pictures of objects where living or non-living (i.e., a semantic induction task) or whether they were round or elongated (i.e., a perceptual induction task). This induction task had an influence on a subsequent priming task. After the semantic induction task priming was only observed when prime and target shared a semantic relationship, but not when they only shared a perceptual relationship. After the perceptual induction task the opposite was true. Likewise, Norris and Kinoshita (2008) showed in a masked priming task that the priming effect for non-words was dependent on the task. In a standard lexical decision task, no unconscious priming for non-words was observed. However, when exactly the same prime-target pairs were used, but now the task was to decide whether the target was the same as a probe, unconscious priming was also observed for non-words. Van den Bussche et al. (2010) showed that spatial attention is a prerequisite for subliminal stimuli to be processed. When attention was allocated to another location, primes had no influence on the processing of the target. In a similar vein, Naccache et al. (2002) demonstrated that subliminal primes only influenced responses to targets when temporal attention was allocated to the time window in which the prime appeared. When this was not the case, no priming effects emerged.

These studies illustrate that subliminal priming is not an inflexible process which operates in a purely automatic, bottom-up fashion. Our conscious preparation can have large modulating effects on the processing of unconscious primes (e.g., Kunde et al., 2003).

#### THE LIMITS OF UNCONSCIOUS PROCESSING

As described above, accumulating evidence shows that unconscious stimuli can be processed upto a high semantic level, and that it is susceptible to several conscious top-down modulations. Over the years the consensus grew that many mental activities can be performed without awareness, and the intriguing question arose which processes require consciousness. Does unconscious processing have limits and does consciousness have a special function at all? A controversial position on this topic was taken by Libet (1985) who speculated that consciousness and free will are illusory (see also Wegner, 2002). He showed that the brain activation of an action is present in the electroencephalogram (EEG) waveform, several hundreds of milliseconds before the subject has the conscious experience of initiating the action. Recently this finding was extended by Soon et al. (2008) who showed that the decision to perform an action was measurable in prefrontal and parietal cortex, up to 7 s before subjects consciously decided to act. So it seems that consciousness has nothing to do with initiating actions, but subjects only post hoc create the illusion that they deliberately produced the action.

Contrary to this extreme position, Dehaene and Naccache (2001) argued that there are borders which determine the potential role of unconscious processing. They proposed a framework in which specialized modular systems can process stimuli without conscious amplification, as long as this is merely a bottom-up process which requires no strategic adaptation. This bottom-up processing of unconscious stimuli can be altered by the processing state of our cognitive system, such as the focus of attention or the currently activated task set, as long as this is initiated consciously. What should, however, not be possible, is for an unconscious stimulus itself to change these top-down strategies of participants. Unconscious processing can only use these purely bottom-up modular systems in the brain. According to Dehaene and Naccache (2001), without global ignition (which is the determinant of consciousness) these stimuli cannot initiate top-down cognitive control, because they remain within a modular system. According to this proposal, consciousness should be exclusively associated with strategic operations such as planning a new strategy, evaluating it, controlling its execution and correcting possible errors. All these operations can be grouped under the term cognitive control.

If we want to test whether consciousness is more than just an epiphenomenon without any purpose, it is necessary to capture those behaviors which cannot be initiated by unconscious stimuli. Focusing on cognitive control operations might offer a fruitful approach to explore this debated issue, since they have been specifically associated with consciousness (Dehaene and Naccache, 2001). This is of course not an easy task to accomplish, because we are looking for the *absence* of an effect, and this can almost always be explained by alternative interpretations. Thus we need convincing research which is completely free from methodological flaws, to be able to answer this question.

#### **COGNITIVE CONTROL AND CONFLICT ADAPTATION**

Because cognitive control is not a well-defined area of human actions, it is important to specify the behavior under investigation.

Many different behaviors are categorized under the term cognitive control, and most definitions are very broad. For example, Botvinick et al. (2001) defined cognitive control as the human cognitive system's "ability to configure itself for the performance of specific tasks through appropriate adjustments in perceptual selection, response biasing, and the on-line maintenance of contextual information" (p. 624). Although exhaustive, we risk that with such a general definition, in the end, almost all behavior is an instance of cognitive control. Therefore in this review we will focus on one commonly investigated expression of cognitive control, namely the ability to detect response conflict and adjust our behavior accordingly. It should be stressed that research on unconscious processing was also carried out in other domains of cognitive control. Typically, it is found that instances of cognitive control can be influenced unconsciously, if subjects are familiarized with the conscious variant of the task before. For example, if subjects have learned to withhold a response when a visible stop-signal is presented, responses will also slow down when this stop-signal is presented unconsciously (e.g., van Gaal et al., 2010a,c). Likewise, if subjects have learned which task to perform dependent on a task cue, the task can be primed by presenting the corresponding cue unconsciously (Lau and Passingham, 2007; De Pisapia et al., in press; Reuss et al., 2011). Finally, post-error slowing can occur, even when subjects are completely unaware of making an error (Hester et al., 2005; Cohen et al., 2009). Thus, although detecting response conflict and adjusting our behavior accordingly is a commonly investigated expression of cognitive control, others also exist.

A typical example of *conflict adaptation* can be found in the Stroop task, where subjects are confronted with color words (e.g., green) which are printed in a color that can either match the word meaning (e.g., green; a congruent situation) or not match the word meaning (e.g., red; an incongruent situation). Subjects are asked to name the ink color (i.e., the relevant information) as fast as possible, while ignoring the word meaning (i.e., the irrelevant information). In an incongruent situation both sources of information trigger differential responses, and thus create response conflict, which slows down responding. Consequently, responses are usually much faster in the congruent condition than in the incongruent condition (i.e., the congruency effect). This response conflict can occur in all tasks in which relevant and irrelevant information can potentially activate differential responses. To prevent this irrelevant information to exert the same detrimental influence later on, our cognitive system will adapt to this conflict so that in a subsequent conflict situation we are better in dealing with the conflict, and thus in reducing its detrimental influence. It was proposed that the cognitive system adapts to this response conflict by inhibiting the irrelevant information (Stürmer et al., 2002) or by narrowing attention to the relevant information (Egner and Hirsch, 2005). Wühr and Frings (2008) showed in a within-trial paradigm that target amplification and distractor suppression presumably interact in selecting the correct answer. Because the precise mechanism of conflict adaptation remains debated, we prefer to remain theoretically neutral when using this term. Throughout this review, we will use the term conflict adaptation to refer to the behavioral effects following response conflict. Likewise, although other kinds of conflict exist, our focus lies on response conflict. Thus, when using the term conflict we are referring to response conflict.

We can dissociate two strategies to cope with this kind of response conflict. We can handle the conflict on a trial-by-trial basis and adjust our response strategy according to the conflict in the current trial (i.e., micro-adjustments; Ridderinkhof, 2002). Alternatively we can pick up regularities over a longer period of time and adjust our strategy blockwise, based on this accumulated information (i.e., macro-adjustments; Ridderinkhof, 2002).

The next section is divided into two parts in which we will discuss these trial-by-trial and blockwise strategies separately. After a brief overview of the literature we will elaborate on experiments investigating the (im)possibility of unconscious conflict to cause these kinds of conflict adaptation.

# AN AREA EXCLUSIVELY RESERVED FOR CONSCIOUSNESS? CONFLICT ADAPTATION ON A TRIAL-BY-TRIAL BASIS

The strategy to cope with response conflict on a trial-by-trial basis was explored by Gratton et al. (1992) with the Eriksen flanker task (Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974). In this task subjects have to respond to a central target letter (A or H). This target letter is flanked by irrelevant distractor letters. These distractors can trigger the same response as the target letter (i.e., a congruent situation; AAAAA) or they can trigger the opposite response (i.e., an incongruent situation; HHAHH). Although the distractor letters are completely irrelevant for the task, they nevertheless exert a great influence; large congruency effects are observed under these conditions. Interestingly, the authors observed that the congruency effect was modulated by the congruency on the previous trial. If there was conflict (i.e., an incongruent trial) on the previous trial, they observed a smaller congruency effect on the current trial, compared to when the previous trial was congruent. This implies that subjects, facing conflict, adapt to this conflict by reducing the source of the conflict (the irrelevant information) on the following trial. Thus although subjects are not able to simply ignore the irrelevant information throughout the whole task, they nevertheless adapt their behavior on a trial-by-trial basis based on this irrelevant information.

These sequential modulations have also been shown in other paradigms such as the Stroop task (Kerns et al., 2004; Notebaert et al., 2006; Lamers and Roelofs, 2011), the Simon task (Stürmer et al., 2002; Akçay and Hazeltine, 2008; Verguts et al., 2011), and the priming paradigm (Kunde, 2003; Kunde and Wühr, 2006). Apparently it does not matter whether conflict is conveyed by an irrelevant flanker, an irrelevant word meaning, an irrelevant position, or an irrelevant arrow (for a different view, see Egner, 2008). Whenever the cognitive system detects conflict it will adapt to it and reduce the influence of the irrelevant information on the next trial.

#### **UNCONSCIOUS CONFLICT ADAPTATION ON A TRIAL-BY-TRIAL BASIS**

The previous part made it clear that subjects cope with conflict on a trial-by-trial basis by reducing the influence of the irrelevant information on the following trial. The interesting question now is whether this adaptation also occurs when the conflict itself remains unconscious (see **Table 1** for an overview of studies addressing this

	Condition	Prime	Blank	Backward mask	Blank	Target	Adaptation to conflict
Greenwald et al. (1996)	Conscious	SARAH		17	83		+
	Unconscious			PDGFYBYLG		MIKE	_
Kunde (2003)	Conscious	128				•	+
	Unconscious		28			126	_
Frings and Wentura (2008)	Conscious	Holiday					+
	Unconscious	Holiday 40		GJKLVWCP		HAPPY	_
van Gaal et al. (2010b)	Conscious	129				•	+
	Unconscious	14	28			129	_
Ansorge et al. (2011)	Conscious	above		34		BELOW	+
	Unconscious	34		GYCHGLTAD 17		200	-

#### Table 1 | Schematic overview of studies looking at adaptation to conflict on a trial-by-trial basis.

Gray boxes indicate the absence of the particular feature in a study, empty boxes indicate a blank. The numbers in the right corners indicate the duration in milliseconds.

issue). To answer this question, Kunde (2003) used a meta-contrast masking paradigm. In this paradigm a prime arrow fits perfectly in the target contour, so that this first arrow is rendered invisible if both are presented in short succession. To create conscious and unconscious conditions, the prime duration was randomly varied between 14 and 126 ms, followed by a blank of 28 ms. Independent of the prime duration on the current trial, Kunde found a reduction of the congruency effect only when a 126 ms prime was presented on the previous trial (similar results were presented by Greenwald et al., 1996). Based on this observation, he concluded that we can only adapt to conflict on a trial-by-trial basis when this conflict is consciously experienced. An important problem with this study is that the prime duration differed between the conscious and unconscious conditions. This changed the time between the onset of the prime and the onset of the target stimulus onset asynchrony (SOA) which is sufficient to influence priming effects (Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998).

In an affective priming experiment Frings and Wentura (2008) held the SOA fixed at 60 ms. On every trial they presented a prime word with a positive or negative valence, followed by a target word which could be either congruent (i.e., the same valence) or incongruent (i.e., the other valence) with the prime. In the conscious condition the prime was presented 60 ms, without a mask. In the unconscious condition the prime was only presented 40 ms followed by a 20 ms post-mask. Replicating Kunde (2003) they found a sequential modulation of the congruency effect on the current trial only when an unmasked prime was presented on the previous trial.

Contrary to the these studies, which indicate the impossibility of unconscious conflict to alter the processing of the next trial, van Gaal et al. (2010b) challenged the hypothesis that conflict which remains unconscious can never recruit top-down cognitive control. They used the same experiment as Kunde (2003), but omitted a brief auditory warning signal at the beginning of each trial and shortened the inter-trial interval. Contrary to Kunde (2003) they observed conflict adaptation on the current trial, independent of the visibility of either the current or the previous trial. According to the authors, the auditory signal in the study of Kunde (2003) disturbed subjects' attention and thereby wiped out any unconscious traces. Two recent studies also claimed to have found adaptation to unconscious conflict. In a priming study, Francken et al. (2011) obtained conflict adaptation on the current trial, independent of the visibility of the previous trial. However, this was only the case in the error rates, not in reaction times. Moreover, the visibility of their low-visibility condition was too high to be considered unconscious. Bodner and Mulji (2010) presented only masked primes, and manipulated conflict frequency. For half of the participants 80% of the trials were congruent, for the other half 80% of the trials were incongruent. A larger priming effect for the group receiving 80% congruent trials was only apparent when the previous trial was incongruent or neutral. When the previous trial was positive, no different priming effects were observed. Although this shows that congruency effects are dependent on the congruency of the previous trial, these results are qualitatively different from those presented by van Gaal et al. In the group receiving 80% incongruent trials, Bodner and Mulji (2010) observed numerically smaller congruency effects following incongruent trials. However, in the group receiving 80% congruent trials, the congruency effect was numerically larger following an incongruent, compared to a congruent trial. This observation is unexpected, and it is currently unclear how this can be reconciled with the findings of van Gaal et al.

#### **ALTERNATIVE EXPLANATIONS**

Based on the studies of van Gaal et al. (2010b) and Francken et al. (2011) one could conclude that unconscious conflict can trigger adaptation behavior. An important question is whether these results are truly the consequence of unconscious conflict, or alternatively the consequence of information which reached consciousness (e.g., Ansorge et al., 2011). For example it is possible that van Gaal et al. (2010b) found unconscious conflict adaptation, not because the conflict exerted an influence on behavior unconsciously, but because participants became somehow aware of the conflict on a meta-cognitive level (e.g., Van den Bussche et al., 2008). For example, responses are typically slower on incongruent trials, and perhaps subjects became consciously aware of this reaction time slowing. It has been shown that subjects can reliably "read out" their own reaction times in a conscious manner (Corallo et al., 2008; Marti et al., 2010). Perhaps adaptation on the current trial can be triggered by the conscious experience that we somehow responded slower on the previous trial. Another way in which we can consciously experience differences on the previous trial is because of different senses of control. Recently, in a masked priming study it was shown that our sense of control over action effects (i.e., a stimulus presented after responding) is larger when the effects are produced by congruent compared to incongruent trials (Wenke et al., 2010). Thus, although subjects are never consciously aware of any prime, they nevertheless feel more in control over the effects of congruent compared to incongruent trials. A similar possibility is that subjects consciously experienced that responding was somehow easier on congruent than on incongruent trials, although the reason for this experience remained unconscious. In this case, subjects adapted their behavior on the current trial, based on the consciously experienced *difficulty* of the previous trial, rather than the unconscious *conflict* of the previous trial (e.g., Kinoshita et al., 2011).

This last point was also noted by Ansorge et al. (2011). In their priming experiment, all primes were followed by a 34 ms blank or a 34 ms mask, to create conscious and unconscious conditions. To control for meta-cognitive explanations of sequential modulations, they collected visibility data on a trial-by-trial basis. After every trial, participants were asked whether they had just encountered a congruent or an incongruent trial. When the authors analyzed only those trials on which subjects wrongly judged the congruency of the previous trial, no sequential modulations were found at all. This suggests that even in the unmasked condition conflict awareness plays a major role. When they analyzed only trials in which subjects correctly identified the congruency of the previous trial, they observed sequential modulations dependent on the congruency of the previous trial, only when the conflicting information on the previous trial was unmasked. This suggests that unconscious trial-by-trial adaptations cannot be caused by subjects becoming aware of the conflict on some level. However, also this conclusion is premature. The main advantage of this trialby-trial assessment is that we can determine whether unconscious trial-by-trial adaptations can be caused by responses on those trials where subjects, despite the masking, were consciously aware of the prime or the prime-target congruency on the previous trial. Importantly, these trials should be distinguished from trials on which subjects really had no idea about the congruency at all, because in the latter case an unconscious sequential modulation effect cannot be explained by meta-cognitive processes. Unfortunately Ansorge et al. (2011) gave participants only two response options in the visibility question ("was the trial you just saw congruent or incongruent?"). In this way, a confound exists between genuine judgments and instances in which subjects really had no idea and just guessed. This can conceal a possible unconscious conflict adaptation effect.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, although van Gaal et al. (2010b) and Francken et al. (2011) recently observed adaptation to conflict on a trial-by-trial basis, even when the conflicting information on the previous trial

was masked, it would be premature to conclude that sequential modulations can be initiated by unconscious conflict. Research on sequential modulations has repeatedly shown that subjects only adapt to conflict on the previous trial, when this conflict was experienced consciously. Furthermore, an alternative metacognitive explanation can be readily offered for the findings of van Gaal et al. In the Section "General Discussion" we will discuss the conditions required to investigate this unresolved issue further.

# AN AREA EXCLUSIVELY RESERVED FOR CONSCIOUSNESS? BLOCKWISE ADAPTATION TO RESPONSE CONFLICT

The second strategy described by Ridderinkhof (2002; macroadjustments) to adapt to conflict is based on detecting blockwise regularities of conflict trials. This is a useful strategy when, for example, congruency proportions are manipulated. If in a block the proportion of incongruent trials is much larger than the proportion of congruent trials, the level of conflict is generally elevated. Since in this situation most trials contain conflict, the most economical strategy is probably to simply reduce the detrimental influence of the irrelevant information continuously. This strategy is adequate for most trials and thus seems an acceptable way to deal with the conflict. Adapting our behavior on a trial-bytrial basis according to the conflict on the previous trial is also a potential strategy here, but this would be much more cognitively demanding because the majority of trials contain response conflict and the cognitive system would have to reduce the influence of the irrelevant information repeatedly. Instead, it would be much easier for the cognitive system to simply reduce the influence of the irrelevant information sustainably. There is much evidence that subjects effectively deal with these blockwise statistical regularities. For example Logan and Zbrodoff (1979) used a Simon task and varied the congruency proportions. When 90% of the trials were congruent, subjects showed a large congruency effect, with faster reactions on congruent compared to incongruent trials. On the other hand when 90% of the trials were incongruent, this pattern was reversed. Subjects now showed an inversed congruency effect, with faster reactions on incongruent compared to congruent trials. This seems to imply that subjects somehow kept track of the ratio of incongruent vs. congruent trials, and used this information to improve their responses. This blockwise adaptation to response conflict is also observed in other paradigms such as the Stroop task (Tzelgov et al., 1992; Merikle and Joordens, 1997), the Eriksen flanker task (Gratton et al., 1992; Purman et al., 2011), and the priming paradigm (Klapp, 2007; Jaskowski, 2008). So as with trial-by-trial adaptation, it does not seem to matter how conflict is conveyed. As long as there are regularities in a block, subjects will adapt to this manipulation by changing the impact of the irrelevant information on responding.

#### **BLOCKWISE ADAPTATION TO UNCONSCIOUS RESPONSE CONFLICT**

Based on the previous part we know that subjects strategically adapt blockwise to the frequency of conflict trials in the experiment. Are we also able to do this, when the conflicting information remains unconscious (see **Table 2** for an overview of studies addressing this issue)? Merikle and Joordens (1997) addressed this issue in an adjusted Stroop paradigm. Their subjects had to name the ink color of an array of colored ampersands. These were

	Condition	Prime	Blank	Backward mask	Target	Manipulation	Adaptation to proportion congruency
Merikle and Joordens (1997)	Conscious	00551	133	&&&&&&& 133	&&&&&&	75% incongruent	+
	Unconscious	GREEN		&&&&&&&			-
Ortells et al. (2003)	Conscious	6014/	234	&&&&&&&& 133			+
	Unconscious	COW 33		&&&&&&& 367	EYE	80% incongruent	_
Bodner and Masson (2001)	Unconscious	Chair 60			CHAIR	80 vs. 20% repetition	+
Jaskowski et al. (2003)	Unconscious				$\Box$	80 vs. 20% congruent	+
		35		35	35		

#### Table 2 | Schematic overview of studies looking at blockwise adaptation to response conflict.

Gray boxes indicate the absence of the particular feature in a study, empty boxes indicate a blank. The numbers in the right corners indicate the duration in milliseconds.

preceded by a color word presented in gray which was incongruent in 75% of the cases with the response to the ampersands. Only in 25% of the trials the color word triggered the same response as the ampersands. Under these conditions subjects were able to strategically predict the color of the ampersands based on the color word, leading toan inversed congruency effect. The interesting observation was that subjects were only able to strategically use this conflict frequency information, when the color word was presented visibly. When this was masked, a normal Stroop effect occurred (see also Daza et al., 2002).

Similar results were presented by Ortells et al. (2003). They used a semantic priming task in which participants had to classify target words as denoting animals or body parts. In 80% of the trials the targets were preceded by a prime word of a different category (e.g., HAND–dog) and only in 20% by a semantically related prime (e.g., HAND–finger). When the primes were presented visibly, subjects were able to make use of this information leading to an inversed congruency effect. But again, if the primes were masked, subjects showed a normal congruency effect. This effect appeared to be very robust, emerging when masked and unmasked trials were randomly mixed within the same experiment (Ortells et al., 2006) and when a different task had to be performed on the targets (Daza et al., 2007).

Although these experiments highlight a qualitative difference between conscious and unconscious conditions, it cannot be assured that there was completely no blockwise adaptation to the unconscious frequency manipulation. Since these studies did not provide a baseline measure of the congruency effect, we cannot ascertain whether the congruency effect in the masked condition was, although not reversed, nevertheless diminished. Other authors, who did include a baseline condition, found blockwise adaptation to unconscious response conflict with comparable paradigms. For example, Bodner and Masson (2001) used a lexical decision task in which participants had to decide as quickly as possible whether a target string printed in uppercase (e.g., CHAIR) was a word or a nonsense letter string. Unknown to the participants the target was preceded by a 60 ms prime word in lower case. This could be a repetition of the target (e.g., chair) or an unrelated word. The authors compared groups receiving blocks where 80% of the primes were repetitions of the target and groups where only 20% of the primes were repetitions, and thus 80% of the primes were neutral. They found that participants adapted to these regularities, and the priming effect was magnified in blocks containing 80% repetition primes. This finding was repeatedly replicated and extended (see for example Bodner and Masson, 2004; Bodner and Dypvik, 2005; Bodner et al., 2006; Klapp, 2007; Bodner and Mulji, 2010).

A major problem with the previously cited studies is the prime visibility. If primes in these studies were not truly unconscious, we cannot exclude the possibility that these effects are driven by conscious influences. For example in Bodner and Masson (2001), although 77% of the subjects did not notice the primes, we cannot simply assume based on this information that their primes were truly unconscious. Additional measures need to be gathered to ensure that the results are not caused by subtle conscious influences. Unfortunately, all mentioned studies fail to satisfy this criterion. Often no objective prime awareness data is available (Bodner and Masson, 2001, 2004; Bodner et al., 2006), or subjects classify primes above chance (Klapp, 2007) and authors fail to report necessary statistics such as a significant intercept, showing priming at visibility zero (Bodner and Dypvik, 2005).

Interestingly, Jaskowski et al. (2003) showed blockwise adaptation to unconscious frequency manipulations, with a perfectly masked prime. In a priming experiment participants were presented with two target squares side by side, and had to decide as quickly as possible which of the two contained a gap. Unknown to participants, each target square was preceded by four other squares, which were shortly flashed in short succession. One or more of the first four squares also had a gap and served as primes for the target square. Each square fitted perfectly in the following, so that gaps in the prime were rendered invisible. The gaps could appear in a prime flashing before the target with a gap (i.e., congruent) or before the target without a gap (i.e., incongruent). They observed a strategic adaptation dependent on the ratio of congruent vs. incongruent trials. When 80% of the trials where congruent they observed a strong congruency effect (130 ms). When, on the contrary, only 20% of the trials were congruent they observed a reduction of the congruency effect (55 ms).

#### **ALTERNATIVE EXPLANATIONS**

Although the study of Jaskowski et al. (2003) seems to provide evidence that subjects adapted their behavior based on unconscious conflict, the authors instead explained their results by assuming a meta-cognitive process. They proposed that subjects are not aware of the conflict per se, but they became aware of a consequence of unconscious conflict, namely error tendencies. Because in blocks with 80% incongruent trials the prime mostly signals the erroneous response, errors are much more likely in this situation. Subjects might become aware of a higher tendency to commit errors in blocks containing mainly incongruent trials, and thereby strategically adjust their behavior to a more conservative response approach. This interpretation of their results fits nicely with the hypothesis that an unconscious stimulus itself is not able to recruit cognitive control to change on going behavior, but the conscious experience of a result of this unconscious stimulus is (Dehaene and Naccache, 2001). A similar argument was made by Van den Bussche et al. (2008). In a priming study they found a larger congruency effect for the target notation (e.g., Arabic number vs. number word) which was also presented as prime in 75% of the cases. They explained this unexpected result by suggesting that subjects may become aware of the facilitation of the target format which is also presented in 75% of the primes, without being aware of the prime or the relation between prime and target. Because of the awareness that these targets are somehow easier to respond to, subjects focus more on them, which results in stronger priming effects. These observations suggest that the effects of unconscious manipulations can be very subtle and indirect, while at first glance they seem to provide evidence for unconscious information being used to adapt subsequent behavior.

Kinoshita et al. (2008) proposed an explanation along similar lines in their Adaptation to Statistics of the Environment (ASE) model. They assume that subjects' response strategy, according to a speed accuracy dimension, is based on the difficulty of the task at hand. If an experiment contains mainly congruent primes, the task is very easy, because the prime always facilitates responding to the target. Therefore subjects can try to respond very fast without the risk of making too many errors. This will shorten reaction times to these easy targets and thus prolong reactions on the infrequent difficult (incongruent) trials. If an experiment contains mainly incongruent trials, the task at hand is now much harder. Because the prime always signals the wrong response, subjects will adopt a more cautious response deadline, in order to prevent making too many errors. If the proportion of congruent and incongruent trials is equal, a response deadline in between these two extremes will be appropriate. This will slow down responses to congruent trials and speed up responses to incongruent trials. Kinoshita et al. (2011) argued that this response deadline is mainly influenced by the difficulty of the previous trial. If the previous trial was difficult we will adopt a more cautious response strategy compared to when the previous trial was easy. Moreover, these effects are asymmetric. That is, the response to an easy trial is more sensitive to the difficulty of the previous trial than the response to a difficult trial. In their experiment 3, the authors showed that the blockwise adaptation to unconscious frequency manipulations can in fact be explained by previous trial difficulty. According to Kinoshita et al. (2011), the ASE-model can explain all studies claiming to have found blockwise adaptation to unconscious response conflict. It can be argued that the ASE-account can be seen as a more general extension of the proposal by Jaskowski et al. (2003). In the ASE-model not only the conscious error rate, but task difficulty in general can influence responses. In order for task difficulty to influence response strategies, subjects must on some level become aware of this difficulty, probably without knowing the specific origin (Van den Bussche and Reynvoet, 2008). A possible explanation for this awareness is the conscious "read out" of reaction times (Corallo et al., 2008; Marti et al., 2010). Subjects may become aware of the difficulty of the previous trial, because they consciously notice that responses on difficult (i.e., incongruent) trials are slower than on easy trials.

To summarize, the meta-cognitive accounts discussed here provide a viable alternative explanation for observed results, and point to an important methodological drawback in current research. According to the ASE-model, the most important problem when manipulating conflict frequency blockwise is that task difficulty and congruency proportion are always confounded. As a consequence, an alternative explanation can always be that subjects somehow consciously experience the task difficulty (Van den Bussche and Reynvoet, 2008) or the error tendency (Jaskowski et al., 2003). Therefore alternative ways should be addressed to investigate this question. The most important problem which has to be dealt with is the possibility that statistical regularities can somehow reach consciousness.

#### **CONTEXT EFFECTS**

A possible solution to disentangle congruency and task difficulty is to create one context with mainly congruent trials and one with mainly in congruent trials, and randomly switch between them within the same block. Thus, on each trial the probability of each context is perfectly equal. However, the probability to encounter a congruent trial is highly dependent on the context. Because every trial is randomly of either the mainly congruent or the mainly incongruent type, the various difficulties of both contexts (Kinoshita et al., 2008) cancel each other out (see Table 3 for an overview of studies addressing this issue). Because participants need to be able to dissociate between both contexts, they need to have a way to know which of both is at hand. This is exactly what Heinemann et al. (2009) did. In a priming study, subjects had to decide whether a target digit was larger or smaller than five. Every trial started with a fixation cross, followed by a prime digit lasting 26 ms, a blank (60 ms), a mask (10 ms), and the target digit. Along with the fixation cross the authors presented a context cue in the form of a colored rectangle, whose color indicated with 80% certainty whether the upcoming trial would be congruent or incongruent. As expected, they observed that the congruency effect was larger in the context with 80% congruent trials compared to the context with 80% incongruent trials. This context-specific prime-congruency effect (i.e., CSPC) was shown before (e.g., Crump et al., 2006; Crump and Milliken, 2009), but Heinemann et al. found that it only occurred when the prime was

	Condition	Context cue	Prime	Blank	Backward mask	Target	Context effect
Heinemann et al. (2009)	Conscious	->80% congruent	9		%&\$ 70		+
	Unconscious	->80% incongruent	26	60	%&\$ 10	1	_
Van Opstal et al. (2011)	Unconscious: high similarity		A a vs. a a		##	4 4	+
	Unconscious: low similarity		A a vs. a D 33		67		

Table 3 | Schematic overview of studies looking at the possibility of unconscious context effects.

Gray boxes indicate the absence of the particular feature in a study, empty boxes indicate a blank. The numbers in the right corners indicate the duration in milliseconds.

truly visible. When they filled the 60 ms blank with a mask, which rendered the prime unconscious, the congruency effect did no longer differ between the two contexts. Although the context cue was still clearly visible, its moderating effect completely vanished. Apparently, subjects in the masked condition never acquired the contingency between the cue and the congruency of the upcoming trial. A possible explanation is that an arbitrarily chosen cue is not significant enough for participants to be automatically linked to statistical regularities which remain unconscious (Van Opstal et al., 2011). To examine this possibility, future studies need to create more task-relevant, self-evident contexts, compared to presenting an arbitrary cue before every trial.

Van Opstal et al. (2011) took a first step in this direction by showing that the influence of primes on targets can be reversed by an unconscious context. In their experiment subjects had to decide whether two target digits (e.g., 4 4) were the same or different. Unknown to participants, the targets where preceded by two prime letters, which also could be equal or not. The authors compared the priming effect of moderate similar primes (e.g., a A), dependent on the context in which they were presented. Half of the subjects received these unconscious primes in a context of completely dissimilar primes (e.g., a D). In this situation these moderate similar primes were relatively equal and as a consequence facilitated "same" responses. Conversely, the other half of the subjects received these unconscious primes in a context of completely similar primes (e.g., a a). In this situation these moderate similar primes were relatively different, and as a consequence facilitated "different" responses. This nicely illustrates that an unconscious context can affect our behavior.

#### CONCLUSION

Summarizing research on blockwise adaptation to unconscious response conflict, the emerging picture is complicated. In an attempt to disentangle conscious and unconscious processes, some studies showed inversed congruency effects, as an adaptation to blockwise manipulation of conflict frequency, for conscious conditions only (e.g., Merikle and Joordens, 1997; Daza et al., 2002). They interpret these qualitative differences as evidence that cognitive control is exclusively reserved for consciousness. Studies showing blockwise adaptation to conflict frequency, even in unconscious conditions, challenge this conclusion (e.g., Bodner and Masson, 2001, 2004; Klapp, 2007). Nevertheless, no study to date has shown reversed congruency effects when the conflict itself remained unconscious. So a tempting conclusion would be that there are graded differences between adaptation to conscious

and unconscious conflict, but adaptation can occur in both situations. Unfortunately, this conclusion is premature, since alternative meta-cognitive accounts have challenged the notion of blockwise adaptation to unconscious response conflict (e.g., Jaskowski et al., 2003; Kinoshita et al., 2008, 2011). Currently, there is just a single study to counter these criticisms (Van Opstal et al., 2011), so it would be worthwhile to test its robustness and generality in future research.

## **CONFLICT ADAPTATION: THE NEURAL BASIS**

Behavioral studies on conflict adaptation showed a large discrepancy in the literature. Many studies find robust effects of adaptation to response conflict, when the conflict is consciously perceived. When conflict remains unconscious, the evidence is far from clear-cut. A possible tool to answer this question is to broaden the scope of research methods, and look at the neural basis of conflict adaptation. Using functional MRI (fMRI) and EEG, we can study whether certain brain areas are differentially activated by conscious and unconscious conflicting information.

#### **CONFLICT ADAPTATION IN THE BRAIN**

An interesting question is how the brain knows when to reduce the influence of conflicting information. In their conflict monitoring theory, Botvinick et al. (2001) proposed that the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) constantly monitors for response conflict. They presume that when differential responses are suggested by stimuli, this activates the ACC which detects this response conflict. Subsequently it will in turn activate the prefrontal cortex (PFC), which then takes remedial actions to reduce this conflict. A critical discussion of this proposal lies beyond the scope of this review, so we will confine us to a clear overview of brain studies addressing response conflict. In the Stroop paradigm, there is much evidence that the ACC is indeed activated when the word meaning and the ink color trigger a different response (MacLeod and MacDonald, 2000). Also in the flanker and the Simon task, the ACC proved to be activated when there was conflict between the relevant and the irrelevant stimulus dimension (Botvinick et al., 2004; Botvinick, 2007). There is also evidence for the hypothesis that, when facing conflict, the ACC activates the PFC to cope with this conflict. In an fMRI study using the Stroop task, Kerns et al. (2004) observed that the congruency effect on the current trial was reduced, when the preceding trial was an incongruent trial which caused strong ACC activation. As expected, after incongruent trials, the dorsolateral PFC was highly activated, thus confirming its role in conflict adaptation.

Beside these effects of reactive control, other studies looked at the impact of cues which were predictive of the upcoming conflict (e.g., Sohn et al., 2007; Correa et al., 2008; Aarts and Roelofs, 2010). Sohn et al. (2007) presented input values in the form of two letters (e.g., BI) on which Boolean arithmetic tasks, according to different rules, had to be performed. All rules specified a relation between the input values (e.g., both I, one I, both not I, one not I) and an output value (e.g., I or B). Half of these rules implied low-conflict because they formed a positive relation between input and output (e.g., "if both input values are I, then the output is I"). The other half of the rules were high-conflicting because there was a negative relation between input and output (e.g., "if both input values are I, then the output is B"). Along with the input, an operator was presented which indicated which rule had to be performed on the input. On half of the trials, the authors cued the upcoming rule, by presenting the operator 9s before the input. When no cue was presented, the ACC and lateral PFC were hardly activated. When a cue was presented, both areas were significantly more activated. Interestingly, the activation of the ACC and the lateral PFC was much higher when the cue predicted an upcoming high conflict trial, compared to an upcoming low-conflict trial. Although this seems to suggest that the ACC is not only involved in detecting response conflict, but also proactively signals that conflict is to be expected, a recent study observed no different ACC activity when comparing cues signaling upcoming congruent or incongruent trials with 75% certainty (Aarts and Roelofs, 2010). Thus, although the ACC has been shown to be activated on conflict trials, its role in anticipatory behavior is currently under debate.

Although fMRI has a good spatial resolution, its temporal resolution is very limited. To circumvent this problem, EEG can be used to look at the time course of conflict situations. In EEG studies, activation of the ACC is believed to be expressed in the N2 (Ridderinkhof et al., 2004), a negative deflection in the EEG waveform with a fronto-central scalp distribution that peaks approximately 250-350 after stimulus presentation (Yeung and Cohen, 2006). Consistent with the role of the ACC in the conflict monitoring theory, the amplitude of this component is more negative on incompatible compared to compatible trials (Wendt and Luna-Rodriguez, 2009; Clayson and Larson, 2011; Purman et al., 2011). Another component typically associated with response conflict is the P3, a positive deflection in the EEG waveform with a central-parietal distribution occurring 350-500 ms after stimulus presentation (Clayson and Larson, 2011; Frühholz et al., 2011). The latency of this component is found to be prolonged for incongruent compared to congruent trials (Purman et al., 2011). Some suggest that this is because the P3 is an index of the stimulus evaluation (Kopp et al., 1996; Purman et al., 2011), and incongruent trials take more time to be evaluated. Others have suggested that the P3 represents response inhibition (Frühholz et al., 2011), since it is more positive on incongruent compared to congruent trials (Clayson and Larson, 2011; Frühholz et al., 2011). Evidence for this latter interpretation comes from a study which points to the inferior frontal cortex, an area associated with response inhibition, as the neural generator of the P3 (Nee et al., 2007). Clayson and Larson (2011) measured both the N2 and the P3 in an Eriksen flanker task and found evidence for conflict adaptation on these components. Mirroring the sequential modulation effect in the behavioral data, the difference in amplitude between an incongruent and a congruent trial was reduced when the previous trial was incongruent, compared to congruent. This was true for both the N2 and the P3.

In summary, a large body of fMRI data confirmed the role of the ACC in detecting response conflict, and the PFC in coping with this conflict. Also EEG studies support the notion that specific brain mechanisms respond to response conflict. To get more insights into the possibility of unconscious conflict to trigger control processes, these brain measures can also be used. If unconscious conflicting information is unable to activate the ACC and the PFC, this would suggest that conflict adaptation is a preserved area for consciousness.

#### UNCONSCIOUS CONFLICT ADAPTATION IN THE BRAIN

In a classical brain imaging study, Dehaene et al. (1998) found that even masked primes could activate the motor cortex. In the light of this observation, it should be a fruitful approach to look whether the brain areas activated by conscious conflict, are also activated when the conflict remains unconscious. Although an overwhelming number of studies focused on the role of the ACC in conflict situations, in the area of unconscious conflict adaptation this research is very scarce. In one isolated study, Dehaene et al. (2003) replicated their previous study (Dehaene et al., 1998) and looked whether trials containing response conflict (i.e., incongruent trials) activate the ACC. As expected, when primes were visible, large congruency effects were observed and the ACC was strongly activated when comparing conflict to no-conflict trials. Interestingly, when primes were masked, no differential ACC activity was observed when comparing both trial types, despite the presence of a significant congruency effect. Thus, although the unconscious irrelevant information hampered performance, its conflict with the relevant information did not trigger the ACC. In contrast, a recent study observed activation of the caudal ACC when comparing unconscious conflict with no-conflict trials (Ursu et al., 2009). In this experiment subjects had to respond to the position of consecutively presented faces (primary task), while remembering which faces were presented (secondary task). Unknown to participants, the position of each face predicted the position of the next face with 70% accuracy. Subjects implicitly learned this rule, as evidenced by faster reaction times on predicted locations, but never became aware of this contingency because the distraction task was too demanding. On the 30% of trials where the position of the face was not predicted, the implicitly learned sequence was violated, and although subjects never consciously noticed this, the caudal ACC was nevertheless activated during this conflict.

These contradicting results seem to suggest that unconscious conflicting information can activate conflict sensitive brain regions (Ursu et al., 2009), but only when the information itself was experienced consciously (Dehaene et al., 2003). However, an alternative explanation can account for this dissociation. In the study of Dehaene et al. the congruency effect in the masked condition was, although significant, twice as small as in the visible condition. So it is possible that these authors observed ACC activation only for conscious conflict, because the conflict conveyed by the masked primes was not sufficiently strong (Mayr, 2004). Whenever

conflicting information has a larger impact in the conscious condition, as evidenced by larger congruency effects, this alternative cannot be ruled out.

Other studies have looked at the potential role of the pre-SMA in dealing with unconscious conflict. In a priming study, Wolbers et al. (2006) manipulated unconscious conflict frequency blockwise. They observed a tight coupling of the pre-SMA with the lateral occipital complex and the putamen, when comparing a block with 80% incongruent trials to a block with 80% congruent trials. Likewise, in another priming study, it was shown that the size of the congruency effect was negatively correlated with the pre-SMA gray-matter density, independent of the prime visibility (van Gaal et al., 2010d). Unfortunately, prime visibility of the masked primes in both studies was far above chance-level, so it is questionable whether these results tell us something about unconscious conflict.

In summary, although a few studies addressed the brain mechanisms responsible for resolving conflict which remains unconscious, there is an important gap in the literature on this topic. So in order to learn more about the mechanisms of unconscious conflict adaptation, more brain imaging research is necessary.

## **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

In this review we discussed studies looking at the (im)possibility of conflict which remains unconscious, to have an influence on behavior. Answering this question will help us to unravel the purpose of consciousness. Much research was stimulated by the work of Dehaene and Naccache (2001), who speculated that consciousness is a prerequisite for top-down cognitive control. Only one single study convincingly showed trial-by-trial adaptation to unconscious conflict. (van Gaal et al., 2010b). All other studies indicate that modification of behavior on a trial-by-trial basis. depending on the conflict of the previous trial, is only possible when this conflict was experienced consciously. Evidence for blockwise adaptation to conflict, is much more ambiguous. Although some studies presented qualitative differences between conscious and unconscious conditions (e.g., Merikle and Joordens, 1997), there is much evidence that subjects can adapt to unconscious statistical regularities. However, it is currently debated whether this truly reflects adaptation to unconscious conflict (e.g., Bodner and Masson, 2001, 2004) or whether it is actually an adaptation to information which somehow reached consciousness (e.g., Jaskowski et al., 2003; Van den Bussche and Reynvoet, 2008). To date, only one recent study presented evidence that unconscious stimuli can create an unconscious context, while excluding meta-cognitive explanations (Van Opstal et al., 2011). An alternative to circumvent problems of behavioral studies is to look at brain measures of unconscious conflict. Unfortunately, although a large body of research explored the brain mechanisms involved in conscious conflict (Botvinick et al., 2004), this type of research is virtually lacking in the field of unconscious conflict adaptation.

In the remainder of this review we will discuss the conclusiveness of existing studies regarding these questions. We will look at strengths and weaknesses of all studies and give some suggestions how future research can tackle questions which research hitherto failed to answer conclusively.

#### **ARE WE LOOKING AT COGNITIVE CONTROL?**

An important point in the research on unconscious conflict adaptation is that we should be cautious about the origin of an effect. We should not be satisfied showing that a result can also be obtained when the conflicting information is masked, but also take into account the uncertainties this area faces. Namely, we should be sure that the behavior under investigation is an expression of cognitive control at all. For both issues discussed here, trial-by-trial and blockwise adaptation to response conflict, alternative explanations in terms of low-level learning have been proposed (Logan, 1988; Hommel, 1998). Hommel (1998) claimed that trial-by-trial adaptations could be perfectly explained without assuming any control process. He argued that trials are responded to fastest when the stimulus and response features are exact repetitions or complete alternations from these features on the previous trial. If only some features, but not all, overlap with the previous trial, this will create interference and slow down responses. This low-level learning mechanism can completely explain sequential modulations, without assuming cognitive control processes (e.g., Mayr et al., 2003; Hommel et al., 2004; Nieuwenhuis et al., 2006; Mayr and Awh, 2009). Likewise, blockwise adaptation to response conflict can also be explained by low-level learning mechanisms. When 80% of the trials are congruent, we have also practiced these trial types more often. It is well known that we become faster with more practice (Logan, 1988), so the effect can be perfectly explained, without assuming any influence of top-down cognitive control. It can even be argued that blockwise adaptation to response conflict is actually an expression of trial-by-trial adaptation (e.g., Kinoshita et al., 2011). If a block consists of 80% incongruent trials, the previous trial will be by definition incongruent on 80% of the trials. The cognitive system will react to this by reducing the influence of the irrelevant information (Gratton et al., 1992), which will reduce the congruency effect on 80% of the current trials. On average this will cause small congruency effects, which can be misleadingly taken as evidence for blockwise adaptation to conflict. Although there is compelling evidence that trial-by-trial adaptations (e.g., Ullsperger et al., 2005; Kunde and Wühr, 2006; Notebaert and Verguts, 2007), and blockwise adaptation (Tzelgov et al., 1992) cannot entirely be explained by these accounts, studies who try to show that these effects can also occur when conflict remains unconscious, should take these explanations into consideration and try to rule them out. For example, when manipulating conflict frequency blockwise, with only a limited number of stimuli (e.g., Klapp, 2007) reaction times are always confounded with the frequency with which certain prime-target combinations (i.e., congruent or incongruent) are exposed. To rule out this low-level learning mechanism, the stimulus set can be enlarged, so that all primes and targets occur equally often (Bodner and Masson, 2001; Egner and Hirsch, 2005; Crump and Milliken, 2009). Likewise, as long as two consecutive trials with the same congruency are complete repetitions or complete alternations, and two consecutive trials with a different congruency always partial repetitions, a feature explanation can always explain trial-by-trial adaptations. To rule out this explanation, more than two response options (Kunde and Wühr, 2006; Lamers and Roelofs, 2011) or more than two stimulus dimensions (Kunde and Wühr, 2006) can be used, so that all consecutive trials are complete alternations.

# ARE WE COMPARING CONDITIONS BASED ON A DIFFERENCE IN CONSCIOUSNESS?

To provide conclusive evidence that adaptation to response conflict cannot be initiated by unconscious stimuli, we have to ascertain that the only difference between the conscious and the unconscious condition is solely consciousness. In the conscious condition subjects need to be aware of the conflict and in the unconscious condition they must not be aware of the conflict, not on any level (e.g., Jaskowski et al., 2003; Van den Bussche et al., 2008). Although this seems a trivial requirement, existing paradigms do not seem to be able to satisfy this criterion. For example, Kunde (2003) and van Gaal et al. (2010b) varied the SOA to create a conscious and an unconscious condition. Frings and Wentura (2008) matched the SOA between both conditions, but failed to keep the prime duration constant. Even when prime duration and SOA are perfectly matched between both conditions (e.g., Ansorge et al., 2011), the absence of unconscious sequential modulations can still be explained by other accounts. Primes are typically followed by a maskin the unconscious condition and by a blank in the conscious condition. Because this mask rapidly destroys the presented image, this also impedes prime processing in this condition. As a consequence, the signal strength of the prime is much stronger in the unmasked condition (Lau, 2009; Francken et al., 2011), and these primes had more possibility to activate conflict sensitive regions (Dehaene et al., 2003), and influence behavior on the subsequent trial. This difference in signal strength is typically expressed in significantly smaller (e.g., Greenwald et al., 1996; Dehaene et al., 2003; Kunde, 2003; van Gaal et al., 2010b), or at least numerically smaller (e.g., Frings and Wentura, 2008; Ansorge et al., 2011) congruency effects in the unconscious condition. To deal with this problem, Francken et al. (2011) proposed to match for these low-level differences in signal strength by masking all primes equally long. To create conscious and unconscious conditions they used effective (i.e., meta-contrast masking for low-visible trials) and ineffective (i.e., pseudomasking for high-visible trials) masks. They observed identical priming effects in both conditions. However, although the authors showed that the priming effect for high and low visible primes is identical when the signal strength is matched, the question remains whether this is also the case with a truly unconscious condition. Nevertheless, this is an important first step, because only if also the signal strength is matched between both conditions, more firm conclusions can be drawn about unconscious trial-by-trial adaptation.

#### ARE UNCONSCIOUS PRIMES UNQUESTIONABLY UNCONSCIOUS?

As a final remark we want to discuss measures of prime visibility. If we want to be sure a prime was truly unconscious, we

#### REFERENCES

- Aarts, E., and Roelofs, A. (2010). Attentional control in anterior cingulate cortex based on probabilistic cueing. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23, 716–727.
- Akçay, C., and Hazeltine, E. (2008). Conflict adaptation depends on task structure. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 34, 958–973.
- Ansorge, U., Fuchs, I., Khalid, S., and Kunde, W. (2011). No conflict control in the absence of awareness. *Psychol. Res.* 75, 351–365.
- Bodner, G. E., and Dypvik, A. T. (2005). Masked priming of number judgments depends on prime validity and task. *Mem. Cognit.* 33, 29–47.

have to provide strong evidence to support this. Again, although this seems a trivial requirement, many studies fail to satisfy this point. This ranges from no detection task at all (Merikle and Joordens, 1997; Bodner and Masson, 2001, 2004; Ortells et al., 2006), up to the absence of adequate follow-up analyzes when the detection task is above chance-level (Ortells et al., 2003; Bodner and Dypvik, 2005; Klapp, 2007). Additional analyses showing no correlation between our detection measure and our priming effect, a significant intercept showing priming at zero visibility, or the presence of the effect in a subgroup with zero visibility, can give us more confidence about the unconscious nature of the primes. Although the introduction of post detection tasks was a major progress in research on subliminal processing (Kouider and Dehaene, 2007), this measure does not suffice in research on unconscious conflict adaptation. This is because unconscious sequential modulations can be caused by trial-bytrial adaptations to the *difficulty* of the previous trial rather than to the conflict. Likewise, blockwise adaptation to unconscious conflict can be caused by adaptation to the conscious difficulty of a block. Therefore it is necessary to collect prime awareness data on every trial, to control for these possibilities. A disadvantage of this measure is that these long inter-trial interruptions possibly wipe out short-lived unconscious traces, which will impede trial-by-trial adaptation. Nevertheless, without this information we cannot dissociate between truly unconscious adaptation, and adaptation to information which somehow reached consciousness (Jaskowski et al., 2003; Van den Bussche et al., 2008).

#### CONCLUSION

In this review we gave a clear overview of research looking at the possibility of unconscious information to trigger adaptation behavior. Dehaene and Naccache (2001) speculated that top-down cognitive control is one class of behavior which can only be initiated consciously. Although there is some evidence that adaptation to unconscious conflict both on a trial-by-trial and blockwise basis is possible, almost all evidence suffers from serious methodological and theoretical problems, which hampers progression in this important field of research. In future research, it should be further clarified to which extent unconscious stimuli are able to trigger conflict adaptation, while avoiding the problems discussed in this review. This will help us to further elucidate the purpose of consciousness.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Tom Verguts for useful comments on an earlier draft of this article.

- Bodner, G. E., and Masson, M. E. J. (2001). Prime validity affects masked repetition priming: evidence for an episodic resource account of priming. J. Mem. Lang. 45, 616–647.
- Bodner, G. E., and Masson, M. E. J. (2004). Beyond binary judgments: prime validity modulates masked repetition priming in the naming task. *Mem. Cognit.* 32, 1–11.
- Bodner, G. E., Masson, M. E. J., and Richard, N. T. (2006). Repetition proportion biases masked priming of lexical decisions. *Mem. Cognit.* 34, 1298–1311.
- Bodner, G. E., and Mulji, R. (2010). Prime proportion affects masked priming of fixed and free-choice responses. *Exp. Psychol.* 57, 360–366.

- Botvinick, M. M. (2007). Conflict monitoring and decision making: reconciling two perspectives on anterior cingulate function. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 356–366.
- Botvinick, M. M., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carter, C. S., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 624–652.
- Botvinick, M. M., Cohen, J. D., and Carter, C. S. (2004). Conflict monitoring and anteriorcingulate cortex: an update. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 539–546.
- Clayson, P. E., and Larson, M. J. (2011). Conflict adaptation and sequential effects: support for the conflict monitoring theory. *Neuropsychologia* 49, 1953–1961.
- Cohen, M. X., van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2009). Unconscious errors enhance prefrontal-occipital oscillatory synchrony. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 3:54. doi:10.3389/neuro.09.054.2009
- Corallo, G., Sackur, J., Dehaene, S., and Sigman, M. (2008). Limits on introspection: distorted subjective time during the dual-task bottleneck. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 1110–1117.
- Correa, A., Rao, A., and Nobre, A. C. (2008). Anticipating conflict facilitates controlled stimulus-response selection. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 1461–1472.
- Crump, M. J. C., Gong, Z., and Milliken, B. (2006). The context-specific proportion congruent Stroop effect: location as a contextual cue. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 13, 316–321.
- Crump, M. J. C., and Milliken, B. (2009). The flexibility of context-specific control: evidence for context-driven generalization of item-specific control settings. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 62, 1523–1532.
- Damian, M. (2001). Congruity effects evoked by subliminally presented primes: automaticity rather than semantic processing. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 27, 154–165.
- Daza, M. T., Ortells, J. J., and Fox, E. (2002). Perception without awareness: further evidence from a Stroop priming task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 64, 1316–1324.
- Daza, M. T., Ortells, J. J., and Noguera, C. (2007). Negative semantic priming from consciously vs. unconsciously perceived single words. *Psicologica* 28, 105–127.
- De Pisapia, N., Turatto, M., Lin, P., Jovicich, J., and Caramazza, A. (in press). Unconscious priming instructions modulate activity in default and executive networks of

the human brain. *Cereb. Cortex.* doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr146

- Dehaene, S., Artiges, E., Naccache, L., Martelli, C., Viard, A., Schürhoff, F., Recasens, C., Martinot, M. L. P., Leboyer, M., and Martinot, J. L. (2003). Conscious and subliminal conflicts in normal subjects and patients with schizophrenia: the role of the anterior cingulate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 13722–13727
- Dehaene, S., and Naccache, L. (2001). Towards a cognitive neuroscience of consciousness: basic evidence and a workspace framework. *Cognition* 79, 1–37.
- Dehaene, S., Naccache, L., Le Clec'H, G., Koechlin, E., Mueller, M., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., van de Moortele, P. F., and Le Bihan, D. (1998). Imaging unconscious semantic priming. *Nature* 395, 597–600.
- Egner, T. (2008). Multiple conflictdriven control mechanisms in the human brain. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 12, 374–380.
- Egner, T., and Hirsch, J. (2005). Cognitive control mechanisms resolve conflict through cortical amplification of task-relevant information. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1784–1790.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (1998). Effects of masked stimuli on motor activation: behavioral and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 1737–1747.
- Eriksen, B. A., and Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 16, 143–149.
- Eriksen, C. W. (1960). Discrimination and learning without awareness: a methodological survey and evaluation. *Psychol. Rev.* 67, 279–300.
- Evett, L. J., and Humphreys, G. W. (1981). The use of abstract graphemic information in lexical access. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 33, 325–350.
- Forster, K. I., and Davis, C. (1984). Repetition priming and frequency attenuation in lexical access. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 10, 680–698.
- Francken, J. C., van Gaal, S., and de Lange, F. P. (2011). Immediate and long-term priming effects are independent of prime awareness. *Conscious. Cogn.* 20, 1793–1800.
- Frings, C., and Wentura, D. (2008). Trial-by-trial effects in the affective priming paradigm. *Acta Psychol.* 128, 318–323.
- Frühholz, S., Godde, B., Finke, M., and Herrmann, M. J. (2011). Spatio-temporal brain dynamics

in a combined stimulus–stimulus and stimulus–response conflict task. *Neuroimage* 54, 622–634.

- Gratton, G., Coles, M. G. H., and Donchin, E. (1992). Optimizing the use of information: strategic control of activation of responses. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 121, 480–506.
- Greenwald, A. G., Draine, S. C., and Abrams, R. L. (1996). Three cognitive markers of unconscious semantic activation. *Science* 273, 1699–1702.
- Heinemann, A., Kunde, W., and Kiesel, A. (2009). Context-specific primecongruency effects: on the role conscious stimulus representations for cognitive control. *Conscious. Cogn.* 18, 966–976.
- Hester, R., Foxe, J. J., Molholm, S., Shpaner, M., and Garavan, H. (2005). Neural mechanisms involved in error processing: a comparison of errors made with and without awareness. *Neuroimage* 27, 602–608.
- Holender, D. (1986). Semantic activation without conscious identification in dichotic listening, parafoveal vision, and visual masking: a survey and appraisal. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 9, 1–23.
- Hommel, B. (1998). Event files: evidence for automatic integration of stimulus-response episodes. *Vis. Cogn.* 5, 183–216.
- Hommel, B., Proctor, R. W., and Vu, K. P. (2004). A feature-integration account of sequential effects in the Simon task. *Psychol. Res.* 68, 1–17.
- Jaskowski, P. (2008). Conscious contributions to subliminal priming. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 72–83.
- Jaskowski, P., Skalska, B., and andVerleger, R. (2003). How the self controls its "automatic pilot" when processing subliminal information. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 15, 911–920.
- Kerns, J. G., Cohen, J. D., MacDonald, A. W. III, Cho, R. Y., Stenger, V. A., and Carter, C. S. (2004). Anterior cingulate conflict monitoring and adjustments in control. *Science* 303, 1023–1026.
- Kinoshita, S., Forster, K. I., and Mozer, M. I. (2008). Unconscious cognition is not that smart: modulation of masked repetition priming effect in the word naming task. *Cognition* 107, 623–649.
- Kinoshita, S., and Hunt, L. (2008). RT distribution analysis of category congruence effects with masked primes. *Mem. Cognit.* 36, 1324–1334.
- Kinoshita, S., Mozer, M. I., and Forster, K. I. (2011). Dynamic adaptation to history of trial difficulty explains

the effect of congruency proportion on masked priming. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 140, 622–636.

- Klapp, S. T. (2007). Nonconscious control mimics a purposeful strategy: strength of Stroop-like interference is automatically modulated by proportion of compatible trials. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 33, 1366–1376.
- Kopp, B., Rist, F., and Mattler, U. (1996). N200 in the flankers task as a neurobehavioral tool for investigating executive control. *Psychophysiology* 33, 282–294.
- Kouider, S., and Dehaene, S. (2007). Levels of processing during nonconscious perception: a critical review of visual masking. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 362, 857–875.
- Kunde, W. (2003). Sequential modulations of stimulus–response correspondence effects depend on awareness of response conflict. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 10, 198–205.
- Kunde, W., and Wühr, P. (2006). Sequential modulations of correspondence effects across spatial dimensions and tasks. *Mem. Cognit.* 34, 356–367.
- Kunde, W., Kiesel, A., and Hoffmann, J. (2003). Conscious control over the content of unconscious cognition. *Cognition* 88, 223–242.
- Lamers, M. J. M., and Roelofs, A. (2011). Attentional control adjustments in Eriksen and Stroop task performance can be independent of response conflict. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 64, 1056–1081.
- Lau, H. C. (2009). "Volition and the functions of consciousness," in *The Cognitive Neurosciences IV*, ed. M. Gazzaniga (Boston: MIT Press), 153–169.
- Lau, H. C., and Passingham, R. E. (2007). Unconscious activation of the cognitive control system in the human prefrontal cortex. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 5805–5811.
- Libet, B. (1985). Unconscious cerebral initiative and the role of conscious will in voluntary action. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 8, 529–539.
- Logan, G. D. (1988). Toward an instance theory of automatization. *Psychol. Rev.* 95, 492–527.
- Logan, G. D., and Zbrodoff, J. N. (1979). When it helps to be misled: facilitative effects of increasing the frequency of conflicting stimuli in a Stroop-like task. *Mem. Cognit.* 7, 166–174.
- MacLeod, C. M., and MacDonald, P. A. (2000). Interdimensional interference in the Stroop effect: uncovering the cognitive and neural anatomy

of attention. Trends Cogn. Sci. 4, 383–391.

- Martens, U., Ansorge, U., and Kiefer, M. (2011). Controlling the unconscious: attentional task sets modulate subliminal semantic and visuomotor processes differentially. *Psychol. Sci.* 22, 282–291.
- Marti, S., Sackur, J., Sigman, M., and Dehaene, S. (2010). Mapping introspection's blind spot: reconstruction of dual-task phenomenology using quantified introspection. *Cognition* 115, 303–313.
- Mayr, U. (2004). Conflict, consciousness, and control. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 145–148.
- Mayr, U., and Awh, E. (2009). The elusive link between conflict and conflict adaptation. *Psychol. Res.* 73, 794–802.
- Mayr, U., Awh, E., and Laurey, P. (2003). Conflict adaptation effects in the absence of executive control. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 450–452.
- Merikle, P. M., and Joordens, S. (1997). Parallels between perception without attention and perception without awareness. *Conscious. Cogn.* 6, 219–236.
- Naccache, L., Blandin, E., and Dehaene, S. (2002). Unconscious masked priming depends on temporal attention. *Psychol. Sci.* 13, 416–424.
- Nee, D. E., Wager, T. D., and Jonides, J. (2007). Interference resolution: insights from a meta-analysis of neuroimaging tasks. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 1–17.
- Nieuwenhuis, S., Stins, J. F., Posthuma, D., Polderman, T. J. C., Boomsma, D. I., and De Geus, E. J. (2006). Accounting for sequential trial effects in the flanker task: conflict adaptation or associative priming? *Mem. Cognit.* 34, 1260–1272.
- Norris, D., and Kinoshita, S. (2008). Perception as evidence accumulation and Bayesian inference: insights from masked priming. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 17, 434–455.
- Notebaert, W., Gevers, W., Verbruggen, F., and Liefooghe, B. (2006). Topdown and bottom-up sequential modulations of congruency effects. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 13, 112–117.
- Notebaert, W., and Verguts, T. (2007). Dissociating conflict adaptation from feature integration: a multiple regression approach. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 33, 1256–1260.
- Ortells, J. J., Daza, M. T., and Fox, E. (2003). Semantic activation in the absence of perceptual

awareness. Percept. Psychophys. 65, 1307–1317.

- Ortells, J. J., Vellido, C., Daza, M. T., and Noguera, C. (2006). Semantic priming effects from conscious and unconsciously perceived words. *Psicologica* 27, 225–242.
- Pratkanis, A. R. (1992). The cargo-cult science of subliminal persuasion. *Skeptical Inquirer* 16, 260–272.
- Purman, S., Badde, S., Luna-Rodriguez, A., and Wendt, M. (2011). Adaptation to frequent conflict in the Eriksen flanker task: an ERP study. J. Psychophysiol. 25, 50–59.
- Reuss, H., Kiesel, A., Kunde, W., and Hommel, B. (2011). Unconscious activation of task sets. *Conscious*. *Com* 20, 556–567.
- Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2002). Micro- and macro-adjustments of task set: activation and suppression in conflict tasks. *Psychol. Res.* 66, 312–323.
- Ridderinkhof, K. R., Ullsperger, M., Crone, E. A., and Nieuwenhuis, S. (2004). The role of the medial frontal cortex in cognitive control. *Science* 306, 443–447.
- Sohn, M. H., Albert, M. V., Jung, K., Carter, C. S., and Anderson, J. R. (2007). Anticipation of conlict monitoring in the anterior cingulate cortex and the prefrontal cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 10330–10334.
- Soon, C. S., Brass, M., Heinze, H. J., and Haynes, J. D. (2008). Unconscious determinants of free decisions in the human brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 543–545.
- Stürmer, B., Leuthold, H., Soetens, E., Schröter, H., and andSommer, W. (2002). Control over locationbased response activation in the Simon task: behavioral and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 28, 1345–1363.
- Tzelgov, J., Henik, A., and Berger, J. (1992). Controlling Stroop effects by manipulating expectations for color words. *Mem. Cognit.* 20, 727–735.
- Ullsperger, M., Bylsma, L. M., and Botvinick, M. M. (2005). The conflict adaptation effect: it's not just priming. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 5, 476–472.
- Ursu, S., Clark, K. A., Aizenstein, H. J, Stenger, V. A., and Carter, C. S. (2009). Conflict-related activity in the caudal anterior cingulate cortex in the absence of awareness. *Biol. Psychol.* 80, 279–286.

- Van den Bussche, E., Hughes, G., Van Humbeeck, N., and Reynvoet, B. (2010). The relation between consciousness and attention: an empirical study using the priming paradigm. *Conscious. Cogn.* 19, 86–97.
- Van den Bussche, E., Notebaert, K., and Reynvoet, B. (2009a). Masked primes can be genuinely semantically processed a picture prime study. *Exp. Psychol.* 56, 295–300.
- Van den Bussche, E., Van den Noortgate, W., and Reynvoet, B. (2009b). Mechanisms of masked priming: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 135, 458–477.
- Van den Bussche, E., and Reynvoet, B. (2008). The asymmetry between top-down effects and unconscious cognition: additional issues. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 1361–1363.
- Van den Bussche, E., Segers, G., and Reynvoet, B. (2008). Conscious and unconscious proportion effects in masked priming. *Conscious. Cogn.* 17, 1345–1358.
- Van Opstal, F., Calderon, C. B., Gevers, W., and Verguts, T. (2011). Setting the stage subliminally: unconscious context effects. *Conscious. Cogn.* 20, 1860–1864.
- Van Opstal, F., Gevers, W., Osman, M., and Verguts, T. (2010). Unconscious task application. *Conscious. Cogn.* 19, 999–1006.
- van Gaal, S., Lamme, V. A. F., Fahrenfort, J. J., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010a). Dissociable brain mechanisms underlying the conscious and unconscious control of behavior. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 23, 91–105.
- van Gaal, S., Lamme, V. A. F., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010b). Unconsciously triggered conflict adaptation. *PLoS ONE* 5, e11508. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011508
- van Gaal, S., Riddenrinkhof, K. R., Scholte, H. S., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2010c). Unconscious activation of the prefrontal no-go network. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 4143–4150.
- van Gaal, S., Scholte, S., Lamme, V. A. F., Fahrenfort, J. J., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010d). Pre-SMA gray-matter density predicts individual differences in action selection in the face of conscious and unconscious response conflict. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23, 382–390.
- Verguts, T., Notebaert, W., Kunde, W., and Wühr, P. (2011). Post-conflict slowing: cognitive adaptation after

conflict processing. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 18, 76–82.

- Vorberg, D., Mattler, U., Heinecke, A., Schmidt, T., and Schwarzbach, J. (2003). Different time courses for visual perception and action priming. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 6275–6280.
- Wegner, D. M. (2002). *The Illusion of Conscious Will.* Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Wendt, M., and Luna-Rodriguez, A. (2009). Conflict-frequency affects flanker interference: role of stimulus-ensemble specific practice and flanker-response contingencies. *Exp. Psychol.* 56, 206–217.
- Wenke, D., Fleming, S. M., and Haggard, P. (2010). Subliminal priming of actions influences sense of control over effects of action. *Cognition* 115, 26–38.
- Wolbers, T., Schoell, E. D., Verleger, R., Kraft, S., McNamara, A., Jaskowski, P., and Büchel, C. (2006). Changes in connectivity profiles as a mechanism for strategic control over interfering subliminal information. *Cereb. Cortex* 16, 857–864.
- Wühr, P., and Frings, C. (2008). A case for inhibition: visual attention suppresses the processing of irrelevant objects. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 137, 116–130.
- Yeung, N., and Cohen, J. D. (2006). The impact of cognitive deficits on conflict monitoring predictable dissociations between the error-related negativity and N2. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 164–171.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 December 2011; accepted: 16 January 2012; published online: 03 February 2012.

Citation: Desender K and Van den Bussche E (2012) Is consciousness necessary for conflict adaptation? A state of the art. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:3. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00003

Copyright © 2012 Desender and Van den Bussche. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# Executive control over unconscious cognition: attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing

# Markus Kiefer\*

Department of Psychiatry, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Bruno Breitmeyer, University of Houston, USA Heiko Reuss, Julius-Maximilians-University of Wuerzburg, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Markus Kiefer, Department of Psychiatry, Section for Cognitive Electrophysiology, University of Ulm, Leimgrubenweg 12, Ulm 89075, Germany. e-mail: markus.kiefer@uni-ulm.de

Unconscious priming is a prototypical example of an automatic process, which is initiated without deliberate intention. Classical theories of automaticity assume that such unconscious automatic processes occur in a purely bottom-up driven fashion independent of executive control mechanisms. In contrast to these classical theories, our attentional sensitization model of unconscious information processing proposes that unconscious processing is susceptible to executive control and is only elicited if the cognitive system is configured accordingly. It is assumed that unconscious processing depends on attentional amplification of task-congruent processing pathways as a function of task sets. This article provides an overview of the latest research on executive control influences on unconscious information processing. I introduce refined theories of automaticity with a particular focus on the attentional sensitization model of unconscious cognition which is specifically developed to account for various attentional influences on different types of unconscious information processing. In support of the attentional sensitization model, empirical evidence is reviewed demonstrating executive control influences on unconscious cognition in the domains of visuo-motor and semantic processing: subliminal priming depends on attentional resources, is susceptible to stimulus expectations and is influenced by action intentions and task sets. This suggests that even unconscious processing is flexible and context-dependent as a function of higher-level executive control settings. I discuss that the assumption of attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing can accommodate conflicting findings regarding the automaticity of processes in many areas of cognition and emotion. This theoretical view has the potential to stimulate future research on executive control of unconscious processing in healthy and clinical populations.

Keywords: unconscious information processing, automatic processes, attentional control, visuo-motor priming, semantic priming, emotional priming, subliminal perception

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Unconscious processes are prototypical examples of automatic processes, which are initiated without deliberate intention (Posner and Snyder, 1975). An important method to measure unconscious processes are subliminal priming (e.g., facilitatory) effects on subsequent decisions or actions on visible targets, which are elicited by masked visual stimuli that are not consciously perceived (Greenwald et al., 1996; Vorberg et al., 2003; Kiefer, 2007). Typically, a pattern or metacontrast mask is presented after-or in the case of pattern masking also before the prime-to prevent its conscious perception (Breitmeyer and Öğmen, 2006). Although these stimuli cannot be consciously perceived, there are meanwhile numerous demonstrations that they trigger cognitive processes at several levels of complexity and thus can influence decisions and actions (for reviews see, Dehaene et al., 2006; Kiefer et al., 2011; Schmidt et al., 2011; Ansorge et al., 2011b; Kunde et al., 2012).

According to classical theories of cognitive control and automaticity (Posner and Snyder, 1975; Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977), such unconscious processes are automatic in the sense that they occur in a purely bottom-up driven fashion independent

of attentional control mechanisms. Attentional executive control mechanisms that organize action and thought (Norman and Shallice, 1986; Posner and DiGirolamo, 1998) according to higher-level goals are assumed to be exclusive to the domain of conscious cognition. Classical theories of cognitive control, therefore, propose that only conscious processes depend on capacitylimited attentional resources and can be modulated by executive control. This alleged association of executive control and attention with the domain of conscious cognition has been recently challenged in two respects: (1) Unconscious stimuli influence executive control settings. Several experiments showed that subliminal stimuli can modulate shifts of spatial (Ansorge et al., 2002; Scharlau and Ansorge, 2003) and modality-specific attention (Mattler, 2003, 2005) as well as task-specific control operations (Mattler, 2003, 2005, 2006) and task sets (Reuss et al., 2011; Wokke et al., 2011). (2) Furthermore, the relation between executive control and unconscious processing is bidirectional because top-down factors such as attentional resources, stimulus expectations, action intensions, or task sets, all factors that are typically considered to involve executive control mechanisms (Norman and Shallice, 1986), modulate unconscious stimulus
processing (Jaśkowski et al., 2003; Ansorge and Neumann, 2005; Kiefer and Martens, 2010; Wokke et al., 2011). Hence, these two lines of research suggest that executive control mechanisms interact with unconscious information processing in several ways and are thus not exclusive to the domain of conscious cognition (Kiefer et al., 2011).

This article provides an overview of the latest research on executive control influences on unconscious information processing. I introduce refined theories of automaticity with a particular focus on the attentional sensitization model of unconscious cognition (Kiefer and Martens, 2010) which is specifically developed to account for various executive control influences on different types of unconscious information processing. In support of these refined theories of automaticity, empirical evidence is presented demonstrating attentional influences on unconscious cognition in the domains of visuo-motor and semantic processing. This suggests that even unconscious processing is flexible and context-dependent as a function of executive control settings.

# **CLASSICAL VERSUS REFINED THEORIES OF AUTOMATICITY**

The classical view of executive control and automaticity is still influential and pervades current theorizing about automaticity and cognitive control. The core assumption of this view that executive control is exclusive to the domain of conscious cognition while unconscious automatic processes are autonomous (Posner and Snyder, 1975; Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977) implies that a behavioral or neurophysiological effect has to be contextindependent in order to index a "truly automatic" process (Pessoa et al., 2003). Such operational definitions of automaticity, which are essentially influenced by the classical view, can be found in many areas of psychology and neuroscience such as object or face recognition (e.g., Pessoa et al., 2002; e.g., Wiese et al., 2008), action preparation (e.g., Bub and Masson, 2010), and emotional processing (e.g., Pessoa et al., 2002). However, it is difficult to identify processes that actually meet the classical criteria for automaticity because task demands frequently modulate behavioral and neurophysiological effects (see also, Moors and De Houwer, 2006). As almost all kind of cognitive activity has to be classified as "controlled" according to classical criteria, the distinction between strategic and automatic processing becomes practically superfluous. This renders the classical view of automaticity unsatisfactory. Furthermore, if unconscious automatic processing were contextindependent, this would result in a tremendous inflexibility of the cognitive system (Kiefer and Martens, 2010): conscious goal-directed information processing would be massively influenced by various unconscious processes. Demands on conscious executive control would be increased, because the intended action could only be ensured by inhibiting numerous interfering response tendencies induced by unconscious information processing (Botvinick et al., 2001).

Refined theories of automaticity and unconscious processing allow for more flexibility and adaptability of unconscious automatic processing (Neumann, 1990; Naccache et al., 2002; Moors and De Houwer, 2006; Kiefer, 2007; Kiefer and Martens, 2010). These theories posit that unconscious or automatic processing in general depends on a configuration of the cognitive system by attention and task sets. Neumann (1990) proposes in his theory of direct parameter specification (DPS) that unconscious information will only be processed and will influence the motor response to a target stimulus to the extent that it matches current intentions. Similarly, the global workspace model of consciousness by Dehaene and Naccache (2001) explicitly assumes that unconscious processes are susceptible to attentional amplification. Unlike classical theories, refined theories propose that executive control factors such as attention, intentions, and task sets orchestrate the unconscious processing streams toward greater optimization of task performance. Given this dependency on the precise configuration of the cognitive system, the term "conditional automaticity" has been coined (Bargh, 1989; Logan, 1989).

# THE ATTENTIONAL SENSITIZATION MODEL OF UNCONSCIOUS COGNITION

Although previous refined theories of automaticity agree that automatic processes are susceptible to top-down control, they do not account for a number of executive control factors and different forms of automatic processes. The attentional sensitization model of unconscious cognition (Kiefer and Martens, 2010) was developed within this line of research, but aims at explaining the various influences of executive control factors on different forms of unconscious automatic processing. It is proposed that attentional influences originating from task sets enhance taskrelevant unconscious processes while attenuating task-irrelevant unconscious processes. Task sets are defined as an adaptive configuration of the cognitive system which is necessary to efficiently perform a given task (Rogers and Monsell, 1995; Kiesel et al., 2010). The concept of "task set" refers to the immediate computational consequences of pursuing a current goal during task performance that are implemented by executive control mechanisms (Kiesel et al., 2010).

Much as conscious perception is influenced by attentional mechanisms, unconscious cognition is thought to be controlled by top-down signals from prefrontal cortex (Haynes et al., 2007) that increase or decrease the sensitivity of processing pathways for incoming sensory input (Hopfinger et al., 2000, 2001; Bode and Haynes, 2008). Processing in task-relevant pathways is enhanced by increasing the gain of the neurons in the corresponding areas, whereas processing in task-irrelevant pathways is attenuated by a decrease of the gain (Reynolds et al., 2000). Gain is a parameter in neural network modeling, which influences the probability that a neuron fires at a given activation level (Hamker, 2005). Single cell recordings in non-human primates have shown that the likelihood of a neuron firing, given a constant sensory input, is enhanced when the stimulus dimension that is preferentially processed by the neuron is attended to (e.g., Treue and Martínez Trujillo, 1999). Hence, the attentional sensitizing mechanism is thought to gradually enhance and attenuate stimulus processing irrespective of whether the stimulus is consciously perceived or not (Kiefer and Martens, 2010).

Two basic predictions can be derived from the attentional sensitization model: in a manner similar to conscious strategic processes, unconscious automatic processes (1) should depend on available attentional resources, and (2) should be susceptible to executive control by currently active task representations. Attentional sensitization of unconscious processing by task representations is achieved by enhancing the sensitivity of task-relevant pathways and by attenuating the sensitivity of task-irrelevant pathways.

Although executive control of both unconscious and conscious processing shares basic computational principles, control of conscious strategic processing is more flexible in several respects. Preemptive control, in which top-down influences are initiated in advance of stimulus presentation, can be exerted for both conscious and unconscious stimulus presentation, whereas only consciously perceived stimuli are susceptible to reactive control in response to ongoing or completed stimulus processing (Ansorge and Horstmann, 2007; Kiefer, 2007; Ansorge et al., 2009, 2011a; Kiefer and Martens, 2010). For that reason, subliminal information cannot be used for determining further strategic processing steps in a deliberate or intentional fashion (Merikle et al., 1995). Executive control of unconscious information processing cannot be exerted intentionally in anticipation or response to subliminal stimuli themselves because individuals are not aware of them by definition. Executive control in the unconscious domain must occur indirectly on the grounds of other representations, whether conscious or unconscious: executive control can be based on a currently active conscious action goal that is internally generated by the individual or externally induced by task instructions (Ansorge and Neumann, 2005). Executive control can also be based on the consciously perceived outcome of overt behavior, which leads to an adjustment of control settings (Jaśkowski et al., 2003). These conscious goal or outcome representations establish or modify task sets that in turn regulate the sensitivity of processing pathways for both conscious and unconscious information. As mentioned at the beginning of this article, control settings are not only intentionally created in a conscious mode, but can also be unconsciously triggered by subliminal stimuli such as attentional or task cues (e.g., Ansorge et al., 2002; Mattler, 2005; Reuss et al., 2011). However, as executive control in the unconscious domain is preemptive, subliminal stimuli that trigger or modify cognitive control settings must be presented before the unconscious process of interest is elicited (e.g., by a subliminal prime). According to the attentional sensitization model, intentional application of control and on-line modification is restricted to conscious strategic processes (see also Dehaene et al., 2006). Finally, executive control of unconscious processing is presumably based on facilitatory influences, that is, it depends on differential attentional sensitization, whereas active inhibition of task-irrelevant information appears to be confined to controlled processing of consciously perceived stimuli (Posner and Snyder, 1975; Neely, 1977; Merikle et al., 1995). Thus, according to the attentional sensitization model conscious stimulus processing, which is traditionally considered to be "strategic," allows for a greater adaptability and flexibility of executive control than unconscious automatic information processing (for a discussion see, Kiefer and Martens, 2010). One can, therefore, distinguish even within the light of refined theories of automaticity strategic and automatic processes although the defining criteria differ from classical theories in several aspects.

# EXECUTIVE CONTROL INFLUENCES ON UNCONSCIOUS INFORMATION PROCESSING

In the upcoming parts of this article, I will review latest evidence demonstrating executive control influences on unconscious visuo-motor and semantic information processing in support of the attentional sensitization model of unconscious cognition.

# UNCONSCIOUS VISUO-MOTOR PROCESSING

Unconscious visuo-motor processing is typically investigated with the masked visuo-motor response priming paradigm (subliminal visuo-motor priming): responses to visual targets are faster, when the masked prime (also a visual stimulus) indicates the same (congruent) rather than a different (incongruent) response (Neumann and Klotz, 1994; Dehaene et al., 1998; Vorberg et al., 2003; Ansorge and Neumann, 2005). In this paradigm, a visual shape is frequently arbitrarily assigned with a motor response (Schmidt et al., 2011). This form of priming depends on visuo-motor processes that give rise to response conflict in the incongruent condition. In line with this interpretation, visuo-motor response priming modulates ERPs over the occipito-parietal scalp in a time window between 200 and 400 ms (Jaśkowski et al., 2003; Martens et al., 2011). These ERPs most likely arise from the parietal visuo-motor system as identified in a previous functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study (Wolbers et al., 2006).

In line with the proposed notion of executive control over unconscious processing, subliminal visuo-motor priming effects were shown to be influenced by action intentions and stimulus expectations. The influence of action intentions has been intensively studies by Ansorge and colleagues (e.g., Ansorge et al., 2002, 2010; Ansorge and Neumann, 2005). They found that unconsciously perceived masked primes trigger responses only if they are congruent with the current intentions of a person. Visuomotor priming effects were abolished when task instructions were changed in such a way that primes ceased to be task-relevant. For instance, primes and targets with a similar shape elicited subliminal response priming effects only when the response decision was based on the target's shape (Ansorge and Neumann, 2005). However, when the instruction of the target task was changed such that the response decision was based on the target's color, response priming effects disappeared although primes and targets still exhibited similar or dissimilar shapes (Ansorge and Neumann, 2005). In a comparable experiment, shape or color congruency of masked primes and visible targets only primed target responses, when the corresponding prime feature (e.g., shape feature during shape decisions on the target) was relevant in the target task (Tapia et al., 2010). The task-irrelevant prime feature did not influence responses to targets (see also, Wokke et al., 2011). Similarly, spatial congruency of prime and target words indicating either an elevated (e.g., "above") or a lowered location (e.g., "below") produced priming effects only during a spatial target task, but not during a target task with numbers of high and low numerical magnitude (Ansorge et al., 2010). These findings suggest that action intentions sensitize congruent and desensitize incongruent unconscious processing pathways: it is proposed that an attentional top-down signal enhances unconscious processing of the stimulus dimension that matches the current intention

(Kiefer and Martens, 2010). Attentional sensitization results in subliminal priming effects on responses to visible targets only for stimulus dimensions that are congruent with the current action intention.

In addition to action intentions, unconscious visuo-motor processing has been shown to depend on stimulus expectations. Stimulus expectations establish an attentional set, which indicates what kind of stimuli are likely to occur within a given situation. Expected subliminal stimuli receive attentional amplification and are more efficiently processed whereas processing of unexpected stimuli is attenuated. It should be noted that expectations cannot be established by unconsciously presented stimuli themselves, but must be formed by consciously perceived stimuli presented within a given context, for instance by the visible target stimuli of a priming paradigm. It has been shown that the type of visible target stimuli included in an experiment strongly influences subliminal priming effects: masked stimuli prime responses only if they are expected and represent possible release conditions for prepared actions to the visible targets (Kunde et al., 2003; Eckstein and Perrig, 2007; Kiesel et al., 2009). Subliminal visuo-motor priming effects elicited by novel primes, which are not presented as targets, are only obtained when they belong to or are at least similar to the attentional set established by the visible targets: for instance, subliminally presented novel numbers prime numerical categorizations of visible numbers only when they are located within the magnitude space spanned by the visible targets (e.g., the prime numbers "2" and "3" are within the magnitude space spanned by the visible targets "1" and "4"), but not when they are outside the magnitude space spanned by the visible targets (e.g., the prime numbers "1" and "2" are outside the magnitude space spanned by the visible targets "3" and "4"). Expectancy effects on unconscious visuo-motor priming were also obtained for novel verbal stimuli within a semantic categorization task when the target set size was manipulated (Kiesel et al., 2006). When target set size was large (40 targets) so that a variety of words from different semantic categories was expected, novel word primes elicited visuo-motor priming effects. However, when target set size was small (four targets) so that attention could be focused on a narrow set of stimuli, novel word primes did not produce subliminal priming. These findings demonstrate that stimulus expectations establish an attentional set that sensitizes the corresponding visuo-motor processing pathways for unconscious stimuli. As a result, only expected subliminal stimuli elicit priming effects.

Unconscious visuo-motor processing does not only depend on specific stimulus expectations, but is also influenced by focusing attention in time: subliminal visuo-motor priming in a numerical judgment task was only obtained when the onset of the primetarget pairs was temporally predictable and therefore, attended to (Naccache et al., 2002). Hence, not only the content of the attentional set (specific stimulus expectations), but also the temporal dynamics of attention plays an important role in executive control of unconscious visuo-motor processes.

The mechanisms underlying attentional influences on unconscious visuo-motor processing were further specified in a study using the induction task paradigm (Martens et al., 2011). The induction task paradigm was recently developed (Kiefer and Martens, 2010) to specifically test the predictions of the attentional sensitization model (see **Figure 1A**). It allows directly investigating the influence of activated task sets on unconscious information processing, irrespective of action intentions to visible targets or global stimulus expectations. In this paradigm, two different tasks are performed in quick succession: the subliminal priming task is preceded by different classification tasks serving to activate specific task sets. As task sets are active for about 600 ms after task completion (Rogers and Monsell, 1995), they should influence processing of subsequently presented subliminal primes.

In our study (Martens et al., 2011), the subliminal visuomotor priming task required participants to perform right or left-hand responses to discriminate between geometrical target shapes (e.g., circle or square). The visible target was preceded by a masked prime that either indicated the same or a different motor response, but was never combined with the identical shape to avoid repetition effects. Prior to this subliminal visuo-motor priming task, participants were engaged in a perceptual classification (round vs. elongated object) or in a semantic classification task (living vs. non-living object) designed to induce a specific task set (e.g., a perceptual or semantic task set). These induction tasks were followed immediately by the priming task. According to the proposed attentional sensitization model, visuo-motor priming should benefit from a previous sensitization of visual pathways by the perceptual induction task compared with the semantic induction task. In line with these predictions, behavioral and electrophysiological effects showed a differential modulation of subliminal visuo-motor priming by the induction tasks: visuomotor priming, depending on access to visual shape information, was only observed after the perceptual but not after the semantic induction task (see Figure 1B).

In a continuation of this line of research, the induction task paradigm was used for a fine-grained analysis of task set influences on unconscious visuo-motor response priming. There is evidence that shape and color of visible objects can be attended to and processed independently of each other (Boucart et al., 1995). Based on these findings, the induction task was varied within the perceptual domain to further assess whether the proposed attentional sensitization mechanism not only distinguishes between broad cognitive domains such as visual vs. semantic stimulus attributes but also specifically sensitizes stimulus attributes within the perceptual domain (Zovko and Kiefer, submitted). The effects of a shape decision induction task similar to previous experiments (Kiefer and Martens, 2010) was contrasted with a novel color decision task, in which the hue of colored object picture had to be classified (red vs. blue). In the visuo-motor priming task, participants performed again right or left-hand responses to discriminate between geometrical target shapes (Martens et al., 2011). Occipito-parietal ERP priming effects were only found subsequent to the shape induction task. No such effects were found subsequently to the color induction task. These results show that attentional influences can also occur within perceptual subdomains, such as shape and color attributes. Attentional sensitization thus modulates unconscious visuo-motor processes fine-grained at the level of specific visual object features.



Semantic or Perceptual Induction Task



в



FIGURE 1 | (A) Induction task paradigm in combination with a masked visuo-motor priming task. The masked prime shape was presented either 200 ms or 800 ms following the response to the induction task (response prime interval, RPI) that is intended to elicit the corresponding task set. The RPI was varied in order to capture the temporal dynamics of task set activation. The semantic induction task required semantic classification (forced choice living/non-living decision) of the inducing picture, whereas the perceptual induction task required a forced choice perceptual classification decision of the pictured object (round/elongated shape). Subsequent to masked prime presentation, the target shape was presented, which required a right- or left-hand response. In the congruent priming condition, prime and

target shape afforded the same manual response whereas in the incongruent condition, prime and target were associated with different response hands. **(B)** Behavioral unconscious visuo-motor priming effects of Exp. 2 of the Martens et al. (2011) study. Mean correct response times and their standard error in the target shape discrimination task, as a function of response congruency, induction task, and RPI. The asterisks indicate significant masked priming effects (difference between incongruent and congruent prime-target responses) within each induction task/RPI combination. Significant unconscious visuo-motor priming effects were only obtained following the perceptual induction task, but not following the semantic induction task. Modified after Kiefer and Martens (2010) and after Martens et al. (2011).

### UNCONSCIOUS SEMANTIC PROCESSING

Semantic processing of conceptual information provides the basis for thought, problem solving and action planning (for recent overviews see, Kiefer and Pulvermüller, 2011; Kiefer and Barsalou, 2012) and is also crucial for language and communication because it constitutes word meaning (Levelt et al., 1999). Semantic processing is, therefore, typically characterized as a higher-level cognitive process compared with more lowerlevel perceptually based visuo-motor processes (Engelkamp and Zimmer, 1994; Anderson, 2000). Nevertheless, there are meanwhile numerous demonstrations that semantic meaning is also processed unconsciously (e.g., Marcel, 1983; Carr and Dagenbach, 1990; Draine and Greenwald, 1998; Dell' Acqua and Grainger, 1999; Kiefer and Spitzer, 2000; Rolke et al., 2001; Kiefer, 2002; e.g., Kiefer and Brendel, 2006). Unconscious semantic processing can be demonstrated with the masked semantic priming paradigm. Semantic priming generally refers to a facilitation of a response to a meaningful target (e.g., word or picture), when it is preceded by a semantically related masked prime (Neely, 1977, 1991). For instance, lexical (word/pseudoword) decisions on word targets are faster, when they are preceded by a semantically related prime word (e.g., "chair-table") compared with unrelated pairings (e.g., "car-hen"). In contrast to visuo-motor priming, primes in the semantically related and unrelated conditions always afford the same response in the target task (word response in the lexical decision task) thereby ruling out any response congruency effects. In masked semantic priming, a pattern mask prevents conscious identification of the prime word. Nevertheless, responses to targets that have been preceded by a semantically related prime are performed more quickly than responses to targets paired with unrelated primes demonstrating unconscious access to word meaning (Carr and Dagenbach, 1990; Kiefer and Spitzer, 2000; Kiefer, 2002; Kiefer and Brendel, 2006). Neuroimaging (Mummery et al., 1999) and electrophysiological studies (Nobre and McCarthy, 1995; Kiefer et al., 2007) show that semantic priming depends on anterior temporal areas (ventral pathways) supporting semantic integration (Kiefer and Pulvermüller, 2011). Semantic priming modulates the N400 ERP component, a negative deflection peaking at about 400 ms with centro-parietal topography (Kutas and Hillyard, 1980). The N400 semantic priming effect is reflected by an attenuated N400 amplitude (i.e., relatively less negative voltage) to a target when preceded by a semantically related as compared with an unrelated prime (Bentin et al., 1985; Kiefer et al., 1998). Intracranial ERP recordings (Nobre and McCarthy, 1995) and source analyses of scalp potentials (Kiefer et al., 2007) have implicated a region in the anterior-ventral temporal lobe in generating the N400 ERP component.

There is meanwhile accumulating evidence that similar to visuo-motor priming unconscious semantic priming is modulated by executive control factors (for a recent review, see Kiefer et al., 2012). In fact most of the empirical tests of the attentional sensitization model of unconscious cognition with the induction task paradigm described above have been conducted within the field of unconscious semantic processing.

Similar to conscious semantic priming (for a review see, Deacon and Shelley-Tremblay, 2000), unconscious semantic

priming has been shown to depend on attentional resources: in a masked semantic priming study within a lexical decision task (word/non-word decision) (Kiefer and Brendel, 2006), an attentional cue prompted participants to attend to the stimulation stream either during the time window of masked prime presentation or already one second earlier. In the latter long cue prime interval condition, subjects already had disengaged attention when the masked prime was finally presented. Kiefer and Brendel (2006) obtained a subliminal semantic priming effect on the N400 ERP component, but only when the masked prime was presented within the time window of attention. Hence, comparable to the findings in visuo-motor priming (Naccache et al., 2002), subliminal semantic priming depends on temporal attention. Furthermore, masked semantic priming was significantly reduced when the masked prime was preceded by a difficult primary task requiring greater attentional resources compared with an attentionally undemanding task (Martens and Kiefer, 2009). These influences of attentional capacity on unconscious semantic processing are in line with our proposal (Kiefer and Martens, 2010) that attention and conscious experience are functionally independent to some extent and should not be equated (see also, Koch and Tsuchiya, 2007; see also, Van Boxtel et al., 2010).

Using the induction task paradigm already described above, we systematically investigated the influence of activated task sets on subsequent masked semantic priming (Kiefer and Martens, 2010; Martens et al., 2011). It was assessed whether a semantic task set induced by a semantic decision task (e.g., living/non-living decision) immediately before masked prime presentation sensitizes semantic processing pathways and enhances subliminal semantic priming (see Figure 2A). In contrast, a perceptual task set induced by a task that requires attention to visual stimulus features (letter or object shape decision) should desensitize semantic pathways and therefore, attenuate subsequent subliminal semantic priming. The time interval between the response to the induction task and the onset of the prime (RPI) (either 200 or 800 ms) was varied in order to obtain information on how the influence of the induction task on masked priming unfolds over time. We expected that a semantic induction task sensitizes semantic processing pathways and thus enhances semantic priming only at the short RPI (200 ms) because the task switching literature suggests that a task representation is active for about 600 ms after task completion (Rogers and Monsell, 1995), but is actively inhibited thereafter (Mayr and Keele, 2000).

Across experiments, the difficulty of the semantic and perceptual induction tasks as well as their verbal or non-verbal nature was systematically varied. For instance, in one experiment (Kiefer and Martens, 2010), participants performed an easy semantic word classification task (living/non-living decision) and a difficult perceptual letter classification task with words (first or last letter of a word has a closed or open shape). In other experiments (Kiefer and Martens, 2010; Martens et al., 2011), non-verbal induction tasks, which exhibited the same level of difficulty, required semantic classification (living/non-living decision) vs. perceptual classification (round vs. elongated shape decision) of object pictures (see **Figure 2A**).

Comparable results were obtained regardless of the difficulty level and the verbal or non-verbal nature of the induction tasks







FIGURE 2 | (A) Induction task paradigm in combination with a masked semantic priming task. The masked prime word was presented either 200 ms or 800 ms following the response to the induction task (RPI). The semantic induction task required semantic classification (living/non-living decision) of the pictured object, whereas the perceptual induction task required a perceptual classification of the object (round/elongated shape). Subsequent to masked prime presentation, the target word was presented, which required a lexical decision (word/pseudoword). In the related priming condition, prime and target were semantically related ("table-chair") whereas in the unrelated condition, prime and target were semantically unrelated ("hen-car"). (B) Behavioral semantic priming effects of Exp. 1 of the Martens

в

et al. (2011) study. Mean correct response times and their standard error in the lexical decision task, as a function of semantic relatedness, induction task, and RPI. The asterisks indicate significant masked priming effects (difference between semantically unrelated and related conditions) within each induction task/RPI combination. At the short RPI when the task sets were active, significant unconscious semantic priming effects were only obtained following the semantic induction task, but not following the perceptual induction task. At the long RPI when the task sets were inhibited, the opposite pattern was observed: unconscious semantic priming effects were only obtained following the perceptual induction task Modified after Kiefer and Martens (2010) and after Martens et al. (2011).

(see Figure 2B for one example). At the short RPI, behavioral and electrophysiological semantic priming effects were obtained when a semantic task set was induced immediately before subliminal prime presentation, whereas a previously induced perceptual task set attenuated priming. In line with the attentional sensitization model, unconscious semantic processing is enhanced by a semantic and attenuated by a perceptual task set. At the long RPI, significant priming was found after the perceptual induction task, but not after the semantic task. This pattern of priming effects at the long RPI suggests that after 800 ms the task set of the induction task had been abandoned and a reconfiguration of the cognitive system in preparation for the upcoming lexical task had taken place (Kiefer and Martens, 2010): semantic pathways are sensitized when the perceptual induction task has been abandoned, but they are desensitized when the semantic induction task has been abandoned. This resulting pattern is compatible with the notion of a backward inhibition mechanism that suppresses irrelevant task sets in preparation of the next task (Mayr and Keele, 2000; Houghton et al., 2009). In line with this interpretation, the RPI did not modulate induction task influences on subliminal semantic priming when the task set of the induction task had to be maintained until the response to the lexical decision task was given (Kiefer, unpublished data). The differential modulatory effects of induction tasks on masked priming as a function of the RPI provide insight in the dynamic nature of cognitive reorganization during task set switching that in turn influences unconscious information processing.

A further recent study using the induction task paradigm examined the attentional boundary conditions for unconscious semantic priming to occur (Adams and Kiefer, submitted). It was assessed whether phonological task sets that are non-semantic in their nature, but do require some form of linguistic processing also reduce unconscious semantic priming. In particular, we were interested whether the effects of phonological induction tasks on subsequent semantic priming were comparable whether the focus was set on phonological processing of the entire word vs. single letters. Before the subliminally primed lexical decision task was presented, participants performed semantic and phonological induction tasks that should either activate a semantic or a phonological task set. Across two experiments, the nature of the phonological induction task (word phonology vs. letter phonology) was varied to assess whether the attentional focus on the entire word vs. single letters modulates subsequent masked semantic priming. In both experiments, subliminal semantic priming was only found subsequent to the semantic induction task, but was abolished following either phonological induction task. The results of this study indicate that attention to phonology attenuates subsequent semantic processing of unconsciously presented primes whether or not attention is directed to the entire word or to single letters. In line with the attentional sensitization model, these findings substantiate the notion that an attentional orientation toward semantics is necessary for unconscious semantic processing to be elicited.

This research on attentional influences on subliminal semantic priming helps to reconcile previous discrepant evidence regarding the automaticity of semantic processing. It has been argued that semantic processing is not automatic, but requires controlled access to conceptual meaning (Henik et al., 1994; Duscherer and Holender, 2002) because semantic priming with visible stimuli has been found to depend on the attentional orientation toward the prime word (for a review, see Maxfield, 1997; for a review, see Deacon and Shelley-Tremblay, 2000): earlier studies on the effects of prime tasks observed reduced or absent semantic priming when participants were required to attend to perceptual letter features of the prime (e.g., a letter search task) and not to its meaning (e.g., Chiappe et al., 1996; Mari-Beffa et al., 2005). These findings were taken as evidence that access to conceptual meaning is confined to a controlled processing mode. However, several other studies demonstrating that unconsciously perceived prime words can elicit semantic priming effects favor the view that semantic processing can also occur in an automatic fashion (Carr and Dagenbach, 1990; Draine and Greenwald, 1998; Kiefer and Spitzer, 2000; Rolke et al., 2001; Kiefer, 2002). This apparent contradiction can be easily resolved if one assumes that unconscious automatic processes depend on executive control through attentional sensitization (Kiefer and Martens, 2010). Our work using the induction task paradigm in combination with a subliminally primed lexical decision task (e.g., Kiefer and Martens, 2010; Martens et al., 2011) shows that even under purely automatic processing conditions, semantic priming is susceptible to executive control as predicted by our attentional sensitization model.

# **CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS**

Accumulating evidence demonstrates that various forms of unconscious processing are susceptible to executive control similar to conscious processing: subliminal visuo-motor, and semantic priming effects, prototypical examples of automatic processes, are modulated by executive control factors such as attentional resources, stimulus expectations, action intentions, and task sets. These top-down factors are typically considered to involve executive control mechanisms dedicated to organize action and thought (Norman and Shallice, 1986; Posner and DiGirolamo, 1998). Hence, in contrast to classical theories of automaticity and executive control (Posner and Snyder, 1975; Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977), automatic processes elicited by unconscious visual stimuli are under executive control to some extent. The findings reviewed here support refined theories of automaticity (Neumann, 1990; Naccache et al., 2002; Moors and De Houwer, 2006) in general and the attentional sensitization model of unconscious information processing in particular (Kiefer, 2007; Kiefer and Martens, 2010). According to the attentional sensitization model (Kiefer and Martens, 2010), processing can occur automatically in the sense that it does not depend on conscious awareness and that it is initiated without deliberate intention. However, unconscious automatic processing is modulated by executive control and depends on an appropriate configuration of the cognitive system. Thus, within the light of the attentional sensitization model and the data reviewed in this article, unconscious automatic processing and the notion of executive control are compatible. As shown above, the assumption of attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing can accommodate conflicting findings regarding the automaticity of processes in many areas of psychology and the neurosciences such as visuo-motor (Bub and Masson, 2010), and semantic processing

(Rees et al., 1999; Kiefer and Martens, 2010). The attentional sensitization mechanism may thus apply to many domains and has the explanatory power to account for seemingly contradictory empirical phenomena. Evidence for executive control over unconscious visuo-motor and semantic processing described in the previous sections concerned neuro-cognitive functions predominantly processed in cortical structures. However, if attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing is a general principle, it should also apply to emotional processes, which depend at least in part on subcortical structures (LeDoux, 1996; Rolls, 1999).

# IS UNCONSCIOUS EMOTIONAL PROCESSING MODULATED BY EXECUTIVE CONTROL?

Unconscious emotional processes can be investigated with the masked affective priming paradigm. In affective priming, which is assumed to depend on activation of emotional representations, primes and targets (words or pictures) share the same or different (positive, e.g., baby vs. negative, e.g., shark) emotional valence (Fazio et al., 1986; Fazio, 2001). For instance, in an evaluative judgment task (pleasant vs. unpleasant) on visible target stimuli, responses are typically faster when primes and targets exhibit the same emotional valence (for review, see Fazio, 2001). Affective priming activated emotional brain areas including the amygdala, insula, and orbitofrontal cortex (Liu et al., 2010). Although visuo-motor response conflict certainly plays a role for emotional priming during evaluative judgments (Klauer et al., 1997; Klinger et al., 2000), the use of tasks with response-categories that differ from prime-target relatedness demonstrated the involvement of emotional processes in addition to response-based processes (Spruyt et al., 2007; Wentura and Frings, 2008). It should be noted that in most of these experiments stimuli were presented visibly. Nevertheless, these findings are suggestive for executive control influences on unconscious emotional processing as it is shown below.

In the literature on affective priming, there has been a longstanding debate whether emotional information is automatically processed. This debate has been fueled by the observation that affective priming with visible (e.g., Klauer and Musch, 2001; Spruyt et al., 2004) or subliminal primes (Eckstein and Perrig, 2007) frequently disappeared when target tasks other than evaluative judgments (e.g., semantic categorization or word pronunciation) were used. For instance, affective congruency (positive vs. negative valence) of subliminally presented masked prime words elicited only priming effects on the subsequent target decision during an evaluative judgment task, but not during a non-emotional semantic (living/non-living) judgment (Eckstein and Perrig, 2007). Unconscious automatic emotional processing has, therefore, been considered to be a spurious phenomenon (for a discussion, Klinger et al., 2000; for a discussion, Klauer and Musch, 2003). This conclusion is premature, however, because within the light of the attentional sensitization model (Kiefer and Martens, 2010) even unconscious automatic emotional processing depends on an attentional amplification of corresponding processing pathways. When the target task requires attention to non-emotional semantic stimulus features (e.g., living/nonliving decision), emotional pathways are desensitized resulting

in decreased or absent emotional priming. Hence, for emotional priming to occur, attention must be directed to the emotional stimulus dimension in order to sensitize emotional processing pathways (Spruyt et al., 2009, 2012).

Spruyt and colleagues (Spruyt et al., 2009, 2012) tested the proposed attentional modulation of emotional processing in two studies. In all experiments, emotional priming was probed during a word pronunciation task, which did not explicitly require emotional processing. With such a pronunciation task most previous studies failed to find emotional priming effects (for a review see, Klauer and Musch, 2003). Most critically, in the experiments by Spruyt and colleagues attention was directed to emotional or non-emotional semantic word features in separate participant groups by interspersing different types of induction trials between the priming trials requiring word pronunciation: these induction trials required an emotional or a non-emotional semantic categorization of words and should differentially allocate attention to emotional vs. non-emotional semantic features. Based on the assumption that automatic emotional processing requires an attentional sensitization of emotional pathways, emotional priming during a pronunciation task should only be obtained within the context of emotional induction trials, but not within the context of non-emotional semantic induction trials. Results clearly confirmed these predictions: whether primes were presented unmasked and visibly (Spruyt et al., 2009) or masked and unconsciously (Spruyt et al., 2012), affective congruency between primes and targets facilitated target pronunciation only in the blocks with the emotional induction trials. These findings provide supporting evidence for an attentional modulation of unconscious emotional processing and help to reconcile discrepant findings regarding the automaticity of emotional priming: emotional priming whether elicited by conscious or unconscious stimuli, crucially requires a sensitization of emotional pathways. Thus, attentional sensitization of unconscious processing may apply to emotional brain circuits, which partially involve subcortical structures (LeDoux, 1996; Rolls, 1999), and is not restricted to predominant cortical processes such as visuo-motor or semantic processing. However, as data regarding attentional modulation of unconscious emotional processing are scarce, this research area certainly deserves further investigation.

# FLEXIBILITY OF UNCONSCIOUS PROCESSING IN HEALTHY AND CLINICAL POPULATIONS

Our general experimental approach that combines a first task for inducing task sets with a subsequent (subliminally) primed decision task is a useful tool for addressing many research questions regarding executive control of unconscious information processing. It can be used to test whether other forms of unconscious processes than presently investigated in detail (e.g., emotional, visuo-spatial, motor, phonological, orthographic) are similarly susceptible to executive control. It would also be interesting to investigate whether attentional sensitization applies to implicit memory (Schacter, 1995) or implicit learning (Curran, 1998). This would demonstrate that attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing is a general mechanism implemented in the human neuro-cognitive system. The notion of attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing

could also help to explain and to further empirically investigate cognitive impairments in clinical populations who occasionally show deficits in unconscious information processing (Kiefer et al., 2009). In particular, conscious control of unconscious emotional processing is clinically highly important because findings in this area might help to design more efficient therapeutic treatment techniques for mood and anxiety disorders. The present approach could also help to elucidate why putatively automatic cognitive processes are strongly modulated by hypnotic induction. For instance, the Stroop interference effect (Stroop, 1935) that depends on a conflict between task-irrelevant automatic processes of word reading and task-relevant processes of color naming (Cohen et al., 1990) is abolished when participants receive the hypnotic suggestion that (English) color words should be conceived as meaningless character strings written in an unknown alphabet (Raz et al., 2006, 2007). Hence, our framework could contribute to a better understanding of the attentional mechanisms underlying the effects of hypnosis in research and therapeutic settings.

Although much progress has been made to demonstrate executive control influences on unconscious information processing using behavioral or neurophysiological measures, its precise functional-anatomical architecture has to be better characterized: the attentional sensitization model assumes that control of

#### REFERENCES

- Anderson, J. R. (2000). Learning and Memory: An Integrated Approach. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons.
- Ansorge, U., Fuchs, I., Khalid, S., and Kunde, W. (2011a). No conflict control in the absence of awareness. *Psychol. Res.* 75, 351–365.
- Ansorge, U., Heumann, M., and Scharlau, I. (2002). Influences of visibility, intentions, and probability in a peripheral cuing task. *Conscious. Cogn.* 11, 528–545.
- Ansorge, U., and Horstmann, G. (2007). Preemptive control of attentional capture by colour: evidence from trial-by-trial analyses and orderings of onsets of capture effects in reaction time distributions. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 60, 952–975.
- Ansorge, U., Horstmann, G., and Scharlau, I. (2011b). Top-down contingent feature-specific orienting with and without awareness of the visual input. *Adv. Cogn. Psychol.* 7, 108–119.
- Ansorge, U., Kiefer, M., Khalid, S., Grassl, S., and König, P. (2010). Testing the theory of embodied cognition with subliminal words. *Cognition* 116, 303–320.
- Ansorge, U., Kiss, M., and Eimer, M. (2009). Goal-driven attentional capture by invisible colours. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 16, 648–653.
- Ansorge, U., and Neumann, O. (2005). Intentions determine the effect

of invisible metacontrast-masked primes: evidence for top-down contingencies in a peripheral cueing task. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 31, 762–777.

- Bargh, J. A. (1989). "Conditional automaticity: varieties of automatic influence in social perception and cognition," in *Unintended Thought*, eds J. S. Uleman and J. A. Bargh (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 3–51.
- Bentin, S., McCarthy, G., and Wood, C. C. (1985). Event-related potentials, lexical decision, and semantic priming. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 60, 343–355.
- Bode, S., and Haynes, J. D. (2008). Decoding sequential stages of task preparation in the human brain. *Neuroimage* 45, 606–613.
- Botvinick, M. M., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carter, C. S., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 624–652.
- Boucart, M., Humphreys, G. W., and Lorenceau, J. (1995). Automatic access to object identity: attention to global information, not to particular physical dimensions, is important. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 21, 584–601.
- Breitmeyer, B. G., and Öğmen, H. (2006). Visual Masking: Time Slices Through Conscious and Unconscious Vision. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

unconscious processes is exerted by a prefrontal top-down signal, which influences the sensitivity in brain circuits that process specific information such as stimulus dimensions or features. This assumption can be tested in more detail by means of fMRI and electrophysiological recording techniques.

In conclusion, the executive control influences of unconscious processing reviewed here demonstrates the adaptability of the cognitive system in optimizing ongoing processing toward the pursuit of an intended goal. This research suggests that preemptive executive control of unconscious processes as postulated by the attentional sensitization model coordinates even the unconscious processing streams in congruency with higherlevel task representations. This considerably reduces the effort of the cognitive control system to organize behavior because taskincongruent processes are dampened at relatively early stages. Hence, attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing contributes to an effective goal-related adaptation of our cognitive system.

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This research was supported by a grant of the German Research Foundation (DFG Ki 804/3-2) within the Research Network "Neuro-Cognitive Mechanisms of Conscious and Unconscious Visual Perception" (PAK 270/2) to Markus Kiefer.

- Bub, D. N., and Masson, M. E. J. (2010). Grasping beer mugs: on the dynamics of alignment effects induced by handled objects. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 36, 341–358.
- Carr, T. H., and Dagenbach, D. (1990). Semantic priming and repetition priming from masked words: evidence for a center-surround attentional mechanism in perceptual recognition. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 16, 341–350.
- Chiappe, P. R., Smith, M. C., and Besner, D. (1996). Semantic priming in visual word recognition: activation blocking and domains of processing. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 3, 249–253.
- Cohen, J. D., Dunbar, K., and McClelland, J. L. (1990). On the control of automatic processes: a parallel distributed processing account of the Stroop effect. *Psychol. Rev.* 97, 332–361.
- Curran, T. (1998). "Implicit sequence learning from a cognitive neuroscience perspective," in *Handbook of Implicit Learning*, eds M. A. Stadler and P. A. Frensch (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 365–400.
- Deacon, D., and Shelley-Tremblay, J. (2000). How automatically is meaning accessed: a review of the effects of attention on semantic processing. *Front. Biosci.* 5, E82–E94.
- Dehaene, S., Changeux, J. P., Naccache, L., Sackur, J., and Sergent, C. (2006). Conscious, preconscious,

and subliminal processing: a testable taxonomy. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 10, 204–211.

- Dehaene, S., and Naccache, L. (2001). Towards a cognitive neuroscience of consciousness: basic evidence and a workspace framework. *Cognition* 79, 1–37.
- Dehaene, S., Naccache, L., Leclec'h, G., Koechlin, E., Mueller, M., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Van De Moortele, P.-F., and Lebihan, D. (1998). Imaging unconscious priming. *Nature* 395, 597–600.
- Dell' Acqua, R., and Grainger, J. (1999). Unconscious semantic priming from pictures. *Cognition* 73, B1–B15.
- Draine, S. C., and Greenwald, A. G. (1998). Replicable unconscious semantic priming. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 127, 286–303.
- Duscherer, K., and Holender, D. (2002). No negative semantic priming from unconscious flanker words in sight. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 28, 839–853.
- Eckstein, D., and Perrig, W. J. (2007). The influence of intention on masked priming: a study with semantic classification of words. *Cognition* 104, 345–376.
- Engelkamp, J., and Zimmer, H. D. (1994). *The Human Memory. A Multi-Modal Approach*. Seattle, WA: Hogrefe and Huber.
- Fazio, R. H. (2001). On the automatic activation of associated evaluations:

an overview. *Cogn. Emot.* 15, 115–141.

- Fazio, R. H., Sanbonmatsu, D. M., Powell, M. C., and Kardes, F. R. (1986). On the automatic activation of attitudes. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 50, 229–238.
- Greenwald, A. G., Draine, S. C., and Abrams, R. L. (1996). Three cognitive markers of unconscious semantic activation. *Science* 273, 1699–1702.
- Hamker, F. H. (2005). The reentry hypothesis: the putative interaction of the frontal eye field, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, and areas V4, IT for attention and eye movement. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 431–447.
- Haynes, J. D., Sakai, K., Rees, G., Gilbert, S., Frith, C., and Passingham, R. E. (2007). Reading hidden intentions in the human brain. *Curr. Biol.* 17, 323–328.
- Henik, A., Friedrich, F. J., Tzelgov, J., and Tramer, S. (1994). Capacity demands of automatic processes in semantic priming. *Mem. Cognit.* 22, 157–168.
- Hopfinger, J. B., Buonocore, M. H., and Mangun, G. R. (2000). The neural mechanisms of top-down attentional control. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 284–291.
- Hopfinger, J. B., Woldorff, M. G., Fletcher, E. M., and Mangun, G. R. (2001). Dissociating topdown attentional control from selective perception and action. *Neuropsychologia* 39, 1277–1291.
- Houghton, G., Pritchard, R., and Grange, J. A. (2009). The role of cue-target translation in backward inhibition of attentional set. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 35, 466–476.
- Jaśkowski, P., Skalska, B., and Verleger, R. (2003). How the self-controls its "automatic pilot" when processing subliminal information. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 15, 911–920.
- Kiefer, M. (2002). The N400 is modulated by unconsciously perceived masked words: further evidence for an automatic spreading activation account of N400 priming effects. *Cogn. Brain Res.* 13, 27–39.
- Kiefer, M. (2007). Top-down modulation of unconscious 'automatic' processes: a gating framework. Adv. Cogn. Psychol. 3, 289–306.
- Kiefer, M., Adams, S. C., and Zovko, M. (2012). Attentional sensitization of unconscious visual processing: top-down influences on masked priming. *Adv. Cogn. Psychol.* 8, 50–61.
- Kiefer, M., Ansorge, U., Haynes, J. D., Hamker, F., Mattler, U., Verleger, R., and Niedeggen, M. (2011).

Neuro-cognitive mechanisms of conscious and unconscious visual perception: from a plethora of phenomena to general principles. *Adv. Cogn. Psychol.* 7, 55–67.

- Kiefer, M., and Barsalou, L. W. (2012). "Grounding the human conceptual system in perception, action, and internal states," in *Tutorials in Action Science*, eds W. Prinz, M. Beisert, and A. Herwig (Cambridge: MIT Press), (in press).
- Kiefer, M., and Brendel, D. (2006). Attentional modulation of unconscious 'automatic' processes: evidence from event-related potentials in a masked priming paradigm. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 18, 184–198.
- Kiefer, M., and Martens, U. (2010). Attentional sensitization of unconscious cognition: task sets modulate subsequent masked semantic priming. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 139, 464–489.
- Kiefer, M., Martens, U., Weisbrod, M., Hermle, L., and Spitzer, M. (2009). Increased unconscious semantic activation in schizophrenia patients with formal thought-disorder. *Schizophr. Res.* 114, 79–83.
- Kiefer, M., and Pulvermüller, F. (2011). Conceptual representations in mind and brain: theoretical developments, current evidence and future directions. *Cortex.* doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2011.04.006. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kiefer, M., Schuch, S., Schenck, W., and Fiedler, K. (2007). Mood states modulate activity in semantic brain areas during emotional word encoding. *Cereb. Cortex* 17, 1516–1530.
- Kiefer, M., and Spitzer, M. (2000). Time course of conscious and unconscious semantic brain activation. *Neuroreport* 11, 2401–2407.
- Kiefer, M., Weisbrod, M., Kern, I., Maier, S., and Spitzer, M. (1998). Right hemisphere activation during indirect semantic priming: evidence from event-related potentials. *Brain Lang.* 64, 377–408.
- Kiesel, A., Kunde, W., Pohl, C., Berner, M. P., and Hoffmann, J. (2009). Playing chess unconsciously. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 35, 292–298.
- Kiesel, A., Kunde, W., Pohl, C., and Hoffmann, J. (2006). Priming from novel masked stimuli depends on target set size. *Adv. Cogn. Psychol.* 2, 37–45.
- Kiesel, A., Steinhauser, M., Wendt, M., Falkenstein, M., Jost, K., Philipp, A. M., and Koch, I. (2010). Control and inference in task switching - A review. *Psychol. Bull.* 136, 849–874.
- Klauer, K. C., and Musch, J. (2001). Does sunshine prime loyal?

Affective priming in the naming task. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. A 54, 727–751.

- Klauer, K. C., and Musch, J. (2003). "Affective priming: findings and theories," in *The Psychology of Evaluation: Affective Processes in Cognition and Emotion*, eds J. Musch and K. C. Klauer (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.), 7–49.
- Klauer, K. C., Rossnagel, C., and Musch, J. (1997). List-context effects in evaluative priming. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 23, 246–255.
- Klinger, M. R., Burton, P. C., and Pitts, G. S. (2000). Mechanisms of unconscious priming: I. Response competition, not spreading activation. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 26, 441–455.
- Koch, C., and Tsuchiya, N. (2007). Attention and consciousness: two distinct brain processes. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 11, 16–22.
- Kunde, W., Kiesel, A., and Hoffmann, J. (2003). Conscious control over the content of unconscious cognition. *Cognition* 88, 223–242.
- Kunde, W., Reuss, H., and Kiesel, A. (2012). Consciousness and cognitive control. Adv. Cogn. Psychol. 8, 9–18.
- Kutas, M., and Hillyard, S. A. (1980). Reading senseless sentences: brain potentials reflect semantic incongruity. *Science* 207, 203–205.
- LeDoux, G. E. (1996). *The Emotional Brain*. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster.
- Levelt, W. J., Roelofs, A., and Meyer, A. S. (1999). A theory of lexical access in speech production. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 22, 1–38; discussion 38–75.
- Liu, H., Hu, Z., Peng, D., Yang, Y., and Li, K. (2010). Common and segregated neural substrates for automatic conceptual and affective priming as revealed by event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Brain Lang.* 112, 121–128.
- Logan, G. D. (1989). "Automaticity and cognitive control," in *Unintended Thought*, eds J. S. Uleman and J. A. Bargh (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 52–74.
- Marcel, A. J. (1983). Conscious and unconscious perception: experiments on visual masking and word recognition. *Cogn. Psychol.* 15, 197–237.
- Mari-Beffa, P., Valdes, B., Cullen, D. J., Catena, A., and Houghton, G. (2005). ERP analyses of task effects on semantic processing from words. *Cogn. Brain Res.* 23, 293–305.

- Martens, U., Ansorge, U., and Kiefer, M. (2011). Controlling the unconscious: attentional task sets modulate subliminal semantic and visuo-motor processes differentially. *Psychol. Sci.* 22, 282–291.
- Martens, U., and Kiefer, M. (2009). Specifying attentional top-down influences on subsequent unconscious semantic processing. Adv. Cogn. Psychol. 5, 56–68.
- Mattler, U. (2003). Priming of mental operations by masked stimuli. *Percept. Psychophys.* 65, 167–187.
- Mattler, U. (2005). Inhibition and decay of motor and non-motor priming. *Percept. Psychophys.* 67, 285–300.
- Mattler, U. (2006). On the locus of priming and inverse priming effects. *Percept. Psychophys.* 68, 975–991.
- Maxfield, L. (1997). Attention and semantic priming: a review of prime task effects. *Conscious. Cogn.* 6, 204–218.
- Mayr, U., and Keele, S. W. (2000). Changing internal constraints on action: the role of backward inhibition. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 129, 4–26.
- Merikle, P. M., Joordens, S., and Stolz, J. A. (1995). Measuring the relative magnitude of unconscious influences. *Conscious. Cogn.* 4, 422–439.
- Moors, A., and De Houwer, J. (2006). Automaticity: a theoretical and conceptual analysis. *Psychol. Bul.* 132, 297–326.
- Mummery, C. J., Shallice, T., and Price, C. J. (1999). Dual-process model in semantic priming: a functional imaging perspective. *Neuroimage* 9, 516–525.
- Naccache, L., Blandin, E., and Dehaene, S. (2002). Unconscious masked priming depends on temporal attention. *Psychol. Sci.* 13, 416–424.
- Neely, J. H. (1977). Semantic priming and retrieval from lexical memory: roles of inhibitionless spreading activation and limited-capacity attention. *J. Exp. Psychol.* 106, 226–254.
- Neely, J. H. (1991). "Semantic priming effects in visual word recognition: a selective review of current findings and theories," in *Basic Progresses in Reading - Visual Word Recognition*, eds D. Besner and G. W. Humphreys (Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 264–333.
- Neumann, O. (1990). Direct parameter specification and the concept of perception. *Psychol. Res.* 52, 207–215.
- Neumann, O., and Klotz, W. (1994). "Motor responses to nonreportable, masked stimuli: where is the limit of direct parameter specification?," in Attention and Performance 15: Conscious and Nonconscious

*Information Processing*, eds C. Umiltá and M. Moscovitch (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press), 123–150.

- Nobre, A. C., and McCarthy, G. (1995). Language-related field potentials in the anterior-medial temporal lobe: II. Effects of word type and semantic priming. *J. Neurosci.* 15, 1090–1098.
- Norman, D. A., and Shallice, T. (1986). "Attention to action: willed and automatic control of behavior," in *Consciousness and Self-regulation*, eds R. J. Davidson, G. E. Schwartz, and D. Shapiro (New York, NY: Plenum Press), 1–18.
- Pessoa, L., Kastner, S., and Ungerleider, L. G. (2003). Neuroimaging studies of attention: from modulation of sensory processing to topdown control. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 3990–3998.
- Pessoa, L., McKenna, M., Gutierrez, E., and Ungerleider, L. G. (2002). Neural processing of emotional faces requires attention. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 11458–11463.
- Posner, M. I., and DiGirolamo, G. J. (1998). "Executive attention: conflict, target detection and cognitive control," in *The Attentive Brain*, ed R. Parasuman (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 401–423.
- Posner, M. I., and Snyder, C. R. R. (1975). "Attention and cognitive control," in *Information Processing and Cognition: The Loyola Symposium*, ed R. L. Solso (Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 55–85.
- Raz, A., Kirsch, I., Pollard, J., and Nitkin-Kaner, Y. (2006). Suggestion reduces the Stroop effect. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 91–95.
- Raz, A., Moreno-Iniguez, M., Martin, L., and Zhu, H. (2007). Suggestion overrides the Stroop effect in highly

hypnotizable individuals. *Conscious. Cogn.* 16, 331–338.

- Rees, G., Russell, C., Frith, C. D., and Driver, J. (1999). Inattentional blindness versus inattentional amnesia for fixated but ignored words. *Science* 286, 2504–2507.
- Reuss, H., Kiesel, A., Kunde, W., and Hommel, B. (2011). Unconscious activation of task sets. *Conscious. Cogn.* 20, 556–567.
- Reynolds, J. H., Pasternak, T., and Desimone, R. (2000). Attention increases sensitivity of V4 neurons. *Neuron* 26, 703–714.
- Rogers, R. D., and Monsell, S. (1995). Costs of a predictible switch between simple cognitive tasks. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 124, 207–231.
- Rolke, B., Heil, M., Streb, J., and Henninghausen, E. (2001). Missed prime words within the attentional blink evoke an N400 semantic priming effect. *Psychophysiology* 38, 165–174.
- Rolls, E. T. (1999). *The Brain and Emotion*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Schacter, D. L. (1995). "Implicit memory: a new frontier for cognitive neuroscience," in *The Cognitive Neurosciences*, ed M. S. Gazzaniga (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press), 815–824.
- Scharlau, I., and Ansorge, U. (2003). Direct parameter specification of an attention shift: evidence from perceptual latency priming. *Vision Res.* 43, 1351–1363.
- Schmidt, F., Haberkamp, A., and Schmidt, T. (2011). Dos and don'ts in response priming research. Adv. Cogn. Psychol. 7, 120–131.
- Schneider, W., and Shiffrin, R. M. (1977). Controlled and automatic human information processing: 1. Detection, search, and attention. *Psychol. Rev.* 84, 1–66.

- Spruyt, A., De Houwer, J., Everaert, T., and Hermans, D. (2012). Unconscious semantic activation depends on feature-specific attention allocation. *Cognition* 122, 91–95.
- Spruyt, A., De Houwer, J., and Hermans, D. (2009). Modulation of automatic semantic priming by feature-specific attention allocation. *J. Mem. Lang.* 61, 37–54.
- Spruyt, A., De Houwer, J., Hermans, D., and Eelen, P. (2007). Affective priming of nonaffective semantic categorization responses. *Exp. Psychol.* 54, 44–53.
- Spruyt, A., Hermans, D., Pandelaere, M., De Houwer, J., and Eelen, P. (2004). On the replicability of the affective priming effect in the pronunciation task. *Exp. Psychol.* 51, 109–115.
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18, 643–662.
- Tapia, E., Breitmeyer, B. G., and Shooner, C. R. (2010). Role of task-directed attention in nonconscious and conscious response priming by form and color. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 36, 74–87.
- Treue, S., and Martínez Trujillo, J. C. (1999). Feature-based attention influences motion processing gain in macaque visual cortex. *Nature* 399, 575–579.
- Van Boxtel, J. J. A., Tsuchiya, N., and Koch, C. (2010). Consciousness and attention: on sufficiency and necessity. *Front. Psychol.* 1:217. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2010.00217
- Vorberg, D., Mattler, U., Heinecke, A., Schmidt, T., and Schwarzbach, J. (2003). Different time courses for visual perception and action priming. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 6275–6280.

- Wentura, D., and Frings, C. (2008). Response-bound primes diminish affective priming in the naming task. *Cogn. Emot.* 22, 374–384.
- Wiese, H., Schweinberger, S. R., and Neumann, M. F. (2008). Perceiving age and gender in unfamiliar faces: brain potential evidence for implicit and explicit person categorization. *Psychophysiology* 45, 957–969.
- Wokke, M. E., Van Gaal, S., Scholte, H. S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., and Lamme, V. A. (2011). The flexible nature of unconscious cognition. *PLoS One* 6:e25729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025729
- Wolbers, T., Schoell, E. D., Verleger, R., Kraft, S., McNamara, A., Jaśkowski, P., and Büchel, C. (2006). Changes in connectivity profiles as a mechanism for strategic control over interfering subliminal information. *Cereb. Cortex* 16, 857–864.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 06 February 2012; accepted: 09 March 2012; published online: 23 March 2012.

Citation: Kiefer M (2012) Executive control over unconscious cognition: attentional sensitization of unconscious information processing. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:61. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2012.00061

Copyright © 2012 Kiefer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# When planning results in loss of control: intention-based reflexivity and working-memory

# Nachshon Meiran<sup>1</sup>\*, Michael W. Cole<sup>2</sup> and Todd S. Braver<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychology and Zlotowski Center for Neuroscience, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychology, Washington University, St. Louis, MO, USA

#### Edited by:

Nicola de Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Juliana Yordanova, Institute of Neurobiology, Bulgaria Bernhard Hommel, Leiden University, Netherlands

#### \*Correspondence:

Nachshon Meiran, Department of Psychology and Zlotowski Center for Neuroscience, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva 84105, Israel. e-mail: nmeiran@bgu.ac.il In this review, the authors discuss the seemingly paradoxical loss of control associated with states of high readiness to execute a plan, termed "intention-based reflexivity." The review suggests that the neuro-cognitive systems involved in the preparation of novel plans are different than those involved in preparation of practiced plans (i.e., those that have been executed beforehand). When the plans are practiced, intention-based reflexivity depends on the prior availability of response codes in long-term memory (LTM). When the plans are novel, reflexivity is observed when the plan is pending and the goal has not yet been achieved. Intention-based reflexivity also depends on the availability of working-memory (WM) limited resources and the motivation to prepare. Reflexivity is probably related to the fact that, unlike reactive control (once a plan is prepared), proactive control tends to be relatively rigid.

Keywords: working-memory, intention, reflexivity, preparation, proactive control, prefrontal cortex

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Everyday experience suggests that planning may be useful. For example, when going on a trip abroad, it is usually recommended to book the flights, trains and hotels ahead of the trip. Nonetheless, planning is taxing and advance booking requires precious time and effort. Importantly in the present context, advance booking comes at the cost of reduced flexibility since one may not be able to change the hotel, when finding out upon arrival that a better and cheaper hotel is nearby. This conflict between costs and benefits is even more pronounced when planning takes place in parallel with other demanding activities. For example, toward the end of a talk in a conference, one may plan her or his question, yet this very attempt might prevent the person from truly listening to the end of the talk. These informal observations are supported by laboratory research on simple plans. This research suggests that planning (i.e., preparedness) improves action fluency and accuracy, resistance to interference (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012) and the ability to overcome perseverative tendencies (Meiran and Daichman, 2005; Koch and Allport, 2006). At the same time, planning and holding plans in mind have been shown to consume limited processing resources, and thus interfere with other ongoing activity (e.g., Fagot, 1994; Meiran, 2000; Braver et al., 2003; Smith, 2003). Moreover, the fact that planning improves resistance to interference may actually prevent us from processing highly relevant information (e.g., Goschke and Dreisbach, 2008).

In the present work, we discuss an additional drawback of planning, the seemingly paradoxical loss of flexible online action control when the action plan is still pending. We describe this loss of control as "intention-based reflexivity," or simply "reflexivity." By "reflexivity" we mean that a cognitive process is triggered even when it is *not* required or intended *at the given moment* (see also how Bargh and Gollwitzer, 1994; Tzelgov, 1997; Bargh et al., 2001, characterize "automaticity"). Although it may seem self contradictory to refer to the unintended aspects of intended acts, there is no contradiction here. This is because the unintended (possibly partial) execution of the plan may take place prematurely, i.e., before the intended execution, when the plan is still pending<sup>1</sup>. Intention-based reflexivity can potentially have quite dramatic real life consequences such as when a policeman is aiming a gun in anticipation for an attack and accidentally shoots at a civilian who innocently passes by. In the lab, intention-based reflexivity can be studied with simple plans in which a given stimulus or a stimulus-category is linked to a particular planned response. An example for such a plan is to press the right key if the letter is from the beginning of the alphabet and press the left key if the letter is from the end of the alphabet.

# NOVEL PLANS, PRACTICED PLANS, AND WORKING-MEMORY

Since plans must be stored and represented in memory, it is critical to consider the likely memory system that is involved. Based on considerations that are detailed below, we distinguish between novel plans and practiced plans. *Novel plans* are plans that have never been executed beforehand, such as the plan to write this paper or the plan to execute a reaction time task for the first time. *Practiced plans* are plans that have been executed beforehand, such as the plan to execute a familiar reaction time task, reach the office, or prepare an omelet. We argue that the kind of processes involved in representing and storing novel and practiced plans are different from one another in important respects. Consequently,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We use the term "reflexivity" instead of the term "automaticity," because the latter term usually refers to practiced skill and to conditions in which the process is not a part of a pending plan.

the conditions that produce reflexivity in novel plans are quite different from the conditions that produce reflexivity in familiar plans.

The tenet of this paper is that plans are stored in workingmemory (WM). However, it is widely appreciated that WM is not a unitary system and there are several different theories describing its subsystems (e.g., Miyake and Shah, 1999). We decided to adopt Oberauer's (2001, 2002, 2010) model [which may be viewed as an extension of Cowan's (1988), model] because of the natural link to reflexivity which this model affords. Following Oberauer, we consider WM as comprising: (1) novel bindings between familiar elements ("region of direct-access," RA) which is a severely limited resource; and (2) temporary heightened accessibility (activation) of familiar representations in long-term memory (LTM), termed "activated LTM" (ALTM), which is much less limited in its capacity (see Figure 1). Similar distinctions have been drawn in neuroscience by other theorists including Ruchkin et al. (2003); Postle (2006); Jonides et al. (2008), Bledowski et al., 2010, all suggesting that WM consists of an interaction between attentional systems subserved mostly by prefrontal cortex (PFC) regions and other brain regions involved in perception, semantic processing and action. The link to reflexivity which Oberauer's model affords is related to the fact that, according to Oberauer (2001), RA and ALTM differ not only in their capacity but also in their context sensitivity. While RA is highly sensitive to context, ALTM is not sensitive to context and operates even in inappropriate contexts, i.e., reflexively. To appreciate this link we describe here how Oberauer (2001) operationalized RA and ALTM. In the aforementioned work, Oberauer asked participants to memorize two lists of words and cued them in each trial which list is currently relevant. Following the cue and after a variable interval, a word was presented and the participants' task was to indicate if this probe was a member in the relevant list. Reaction times increased with increasing memory set size, indicating capacity limitations. Additionally, the size of the *irrelevant* list ceased to affect performance when sufficient time (1s or more) elapsed between the cue and the probe, providing an opportunity to focus

on the relevant list. This result is interpreted as evidence that once the participants knew which one of the two lists is relevant, they focused on this list and removed the irrelevant list from RA. As soon as the irrelevant list was removed from RA it ceased to consume its resources.

The most important finding for the present focus is the *intrusion effect* which, according to Oberauer (2001) indexes ALTM. This effect shows that despite focusing on the relevant list and removing the irrelevant list from RA, participants had difficulty rejecting items that belonged to the irrelevant list. This result indicates that this irrelevant list, while being outside RA, remained highly accessible. In detail, the intrusion effect was defined as the difference in the time taken to reject items from the irrelevant list as compared with completely new items. The intrusion effect was relatively insensitive to set size and the time to focus on the relevant list. Importantly, according to our definition, the intrusion effect indicates the *reflexive* processing of words that belonged to the irrelevant list and thus serves to link ALTM and reflexivity.

# THE REPRESENTATION OF PLANS IN WORKING-MEMORY

We now turn to use the distinction between RA and ALTM to describe our hypothesis regarding how plans are represented in WM. Before doing so, we further assume that, because RA resources are scarce (e.g., Cowan, 2001) (1) the use of this resource is avoided as much as possible, and (2) including purging its contents as soon as they become irrelevant or as soon as they can be represented in ALTM.

Based on these considerations, we argue that essential components of novel plans are represented within RA, at least when these plans are meant to be executed in the near future. In order to clarify what we mean by "essential components" let us consider for example the plan to hit the right key in response to a letter from the beginning of the alphabet (see **Figure 2**). This plan has two elements that can be represented in ALTM: the concept





"right key" and the concept "letter belonging to the beginning of the alphabet." The reason is that these are familiar concepts, hence concepts that are stored in LTM. Based on our assumptions regarding sparing of RA resources, we assume that the representation of these elements *is* taking place within ALTM. However the link between them is novel and must thus be stored in RA. Had this plan been executed beforehand, all the elements of the plan would have been familiar (represented in LTM) and thus the entire plan could be in ALTM. This would be especially true for plans that have been executed at least several times in the past. Thus, while the entire plan can be represented in ALTM when the plan is practiced and familiar, only parts of it can be represented in this system when the plan is new and some elements of the plan must consume the limited RA resources.

# **REFLEXIVITY OF PRACTICED PLANS**

Hommel (2000) provides an extensive review of the evidence for plan reflexivity, which at the time, was exclusively demonstrated using lengthy experiments. Because the experiments were lengthy and the plans remained the same throughout the experiment, one cannot rule out the possibility that the effects reflected practiced rather than novel plans. In the present review, we focus on evidence (1) linking reflexivity to intention and (2) showing that reflexivity of practiced plans depends on ALTM.

An important piece of evidence concerning reflexivity of practiced plans comes from the task-rule congruency effect found in task-switching experiments. This effect has been first demonstrated by Sudevan and Taylor (1987) who asked participants to switch between 2 numerical tasks performed on digits: size (larger/smaller that 5) and parity. Importantly (1) both tasks were executed on the same set of stimuli (the digits 1-9), and (2) the same right-left keys were used. Thus, there were trials in which the two task-rules were associated with the same response (compatible) or with competing responses (incompatible). Sudevan and Taylor found poorer performance in incompatible trials as compared to compatible trials (although this effect was restricted to the parity task). This result shows that, when the parity task was relevant, the currently irrelevant size rule operated reflexively and activated the response that would have been correct had this rule been relevant. Thus, the task-rule congruency effect provides evidence for the reflexivity of the currently irrelevant task and is quite analogous to Oberauer's (2001) intrusion effect. Specifically, in both cases, information that is currently irrelevant but may become relevant in the near future influences performance reflexively. Since this demonstration, there were numerous additional papers that reported this effect (e.g., see Meiran and Kessler, 2008, for a partial review). In this section, we focus on two main issues. One is the evidence linking the task-rule congruency effect (and similar effects) to the intention to execute a given task. The other provides evidence for the involvement of ALTM.

# LINKING THE REFLEXIVITY OF PRACTICED PLANS TO INTENTION

While the task-rule congruency effect shows that the irrelevant rule operated reflexively, its mere presence does not indicate that this reflexivity is related to the *intention* to execute this rule. An alternative explanation is that the initial execution of this rule (even during the practice phase of the experiment) leads to the formation of LTM traces, which are known to generate reflexivity (e.g., Logan, 1988). An important piece of evidence linking task-rule congruency effect to intention is the fact that this effect greatly diminishes as soon as participants are told that the task would no longer be required. This result has been demonstrated by several authors including Fagot (1994); Meiran (2000, 2005); Yehene and Meiran (2007); Yamaguchi and Proctor (2011).

Another important demonstration comes from Marble and Proctor (2000, see also Proctor et al., 2000) who compared performance in the Simon task (Lu and Proctor, 1995, for review) in three conditions. In one condition ("pure Simon") participants reacted to the color of stimuli by pressing right and left keys. They had to ignore the irrelevant location of the stimuli. In this condition, a usual Simon effect was found, showing quicker responses when the (irrelevant) location of the stimulus and the location of the responding hand were compatible rather than incompatible. In the critical conditions, the Simon task was intermixed with a location task, which required participants to respond to right-left locations of white stimuli. In one version of the paradigm, the location task was compatible (e.g., if the location is on the right, press the right key) and in the other version of the paradigm it was incompatible (if the location is on the right, press the left key). Marble and Proctor found that, relative to the pure Simon condition, the Simon effect increased (actually, roughly doubled) when the color task was intermixed with a compatible location task. We interpret this result as evidence that being prepared to execute the location task resulted in reflexive application of this plan even in the color task, when it was not required. Interestingly, the Simon effect (observed in the color task) was reversed when the location task was incompatible. This latter result has two important implications. One is that intention-based reflexivity may sometimes be more potent than automatic behaviors (indicated in the standard Simon effect). Specifically, when the Simon task was intermixed with the incompatible location task, the intention to execute the location task generated a tendency for reversed Simon effect while the automatic tendency was to generate a usual Simon effect. In this case, these two tendencies were opposite in direction and the fact that the intention-based tendency dominated suggests that it is more potent than the automatic tendency. The other implication of the reversed Simon effect is that mixing the color task and the location task did not only result in quicker processing of location information in general. If this were true, the Simon effect should have increased even when the location task was incompatible. The fact that the Simon effect had reversed indicates that the instructed link between locations and responses (rather than just location information) became reflexive. Memelink and Hommel (2006) ran a similar study but instead of using one location task, they embedded the Simon trials in blocks in which the other task involved switching between up-down and right-left classification of locations. They showed that the horizontal Simon effect increased when the Simon task immediately followed right-left judgments and that the vertical Simon effect increased when it immediately followed up-down judgments. These results further demonstrate the dependence of reflexivity on (prior) intention.

# **REFLEXIVITY OF PRACTICED PLANS DEPENDS ON ALTM**

As mentioned beforehand, we argue that the mere representation of a plan in ALTM provides a sufficient condition for its reflexivity. Thus, the boundary conditions for reflexivity in this case are the same boundary conditions for ALTM representation, namely the prior existence of LTM codes. Meiran and Kessler (2008) noted that the task-rule congruency effect is analogous in many respects to Oberauer's (2001) intrusion effect in the sense that information that is currently irrelevant (but may become relevant soon) is processed nonetheless. To substantiate this analogy, they compared two task-switching paradigms (see Figure 3). In one paradigm, participants made up-down and right-left judgments on the location of a target stimulus within a  $2 \times 2$  grid. The responses that were used were the upper-left key (used to indicate UP and LEFT) and the lower-right key (used to indicate DOWN and RIGHT). In this condition, the task-rules were presumably associated with the LTM-stored codes UP, DOWN, RIGHT, and LEFT. In the other version of the paradigm, the display was rotated by 45° as was the arrangement of the response keys. This rotation maintained the spatial relations of the stimuli, the responses, and the compatibility between responses and their corresponding locations. However, the regions within the  $2 \times 2$ grid were no longer associated with the familiar (LTM-based) UP, DOWN, RIGHT, and LEFT regions. They probably were quite novel. The results showed that performance in this condition was slightly impaired relative to the standard, upright condition. The critical findings refer to the task-rule congruency effect. This effect was robust in the standard condition (~90 ms), showing that being prepared to execute one task-rule results in a reflexive



application of that rule when the other task-rule is required. Most importantly, there was no task-rule congruency effect whatsoever (0 ms) in the rotated condition. This result shows that the reflexivity of the plan depends on the prior availability of task-related response codes (such as UP and LEFT) in LTM and is absent when these response codes are novel. In a further experiment, the authors showed that the task-rule congruency effect in the rotated condition was re-established after one session of practice and remained stable in the remaining sessions. Arguably, practice resulted in the storage of the formerly novel response codes in LTM. Thus, from Session 2 onward, this aspect of the plan was represented in ALTM.

There are two additional pieces of evidence that reflexivity of practiced plans depends on their representation in ALTM. The first line of evidence is insensitivity to preparation. Specifically, Oberauer (2001) showed that the intrusion effect (that operationalized ALTM) was insensitive to the amount of time provided to focus on the relevant word list (and ignore the irrelevant list). Likewise, the task-rule congruency effect has repeatedly been shown to be insensitive to the amount of time allowed to focus on the relevant task and ignore the irrelevant task (e.g., Sudevan and Taylor, 1987; see also Fagot, 1994; Meiran, 1996, 2000, 2005; Meiran et al., 2000; but see Sudevan and Taylor, 1987, regarding preparation-based reduction in task-rule congruency effect after extensive practice). Similarly, as described above, Marble and Proctor (2000) showed that the Simon effect increased in the context of a compatible location task and reversed in the context of an incompatible location task. Importantly, they also showed that the effects remained even when participants received cues indicating which task is currently in effect. This last result shows that participants were unable to remove the plan to execute the location task from ALTM just as Oberauer's (2001) participants were unable to remove the irrelevant list from ALTM.

The last piece of evidence is the lack of sensitivity of the task-rule congruency effect to WM load, a manipulation which presumably exhausts RA limited resources. The rationale here is that if the exhaustion of RA resources does not influence the taskrule congruency effect then this effect must be based on other forms of representation. In detail, Kiesel et al. (2007) studied the task-rule congruency effect in an experiment involving 2 numerical tasks (magnitude and parity). The trials were executed in the retention interval of 2 vs. 5 letters (the WM load manipulation). These authors found that this load manipulation, while being effective (seen in generally poorer performance) did not influence the task-rule congruency effect. Kessler and Meiran (2010) raised the possibility that the load task used by Kiesel et al. might have been ineffective because it may have involved a different WM compartment as that used to store the task plans (Oberauer, 2010, see below). Thus, they used additional tasks as their load manipulation instead of memorizing items. In their experiments, the task-rule congruency effect was measured in the shape and color tasks, performed on colored shapes. The load tasks were 1 or 3 numeric tasks, performed on digits (Experiments 1 and 2) or size, fill and line thickness tasks, performed on completely different shapes. In none of the experiments was there a modulation of the task-rule congruency effect under heavier load, thus substantiating Kiesel et al.'s (2007) conclusions.

# **REFLEXIVITY OF NOVEL PLANS**

According to prevalent theorizing (e.g., Schneider and Shiffrin, 1977; Logan, 1988), reflexivity/automaticity results from extensive and consistent practice. These theories do not postulate reflexivity for novel plans. Moreover, Oberauer's (2001) theory link reflexivity to ALTM but not to the RA. These considerations suggest that plans in RA might not be reflexive. However, there is a much older theory in psychology, Prepared-Reflex (PR) (Exner, 1879; Woodworth, 1938; see Logan, 1978; Hommel, 2000), suggesting that reflexivity of novel plans is not only possible, but may actually represent the typical scenario (see e.g., Folk et al., 1992, 1993, 1994; Remington and Folk, 2001; Pratt and Hommel, 2003, for related ideas concerning the direction of attention. See Bekkering and Neggers, 2002; Fagioli et al., 2007a,b; Wykowska et al., 2009, for evidence suggesting that reflexive attention orientation may actually represent reflexive action-intentions, as reviewed by Hommel, 2010). According to the PR theory, the representation of novel plans in RA in advance of task execution may be sufficient to cause these plans to become reflexive.

There have only been a few studies that have examined the reflexivity of truly novel plans. The few that did have provided evidence favoring the PR theory by showing that novel plans can be reflexive. These studies also suggest some important boundary conditions for novel plan reflexivity. We review them chronologically. As can be seen, the methodology improved gradually, allowing various alternative explanations to be more carefully ruled out.

de Houwer et al. (2005, Experiment 2) adopted an approach in which plan reflexivity was measured when the participants held the plan active in anticipation of its execution. Specifically, these authors instructed participants to be ready to react to the words "right" and "left" (as well as to equivalent arrows) with the utterances "bee" and "boo." They additionally asked the participants to use these same responses to indicate the color in which rectangles were presented. These rectangles appeared on the right or on the left despite of the fact that location was irrelevant. Importantly, during task performance there were actually no location words or arrows presented, meaning that the plan to react to location information was not practiced. Of interest was whether holding in mind the novel plan to react to locations with utterances would be reflexive. Reflexivity was measured in the color task by comparing compatible and incompatible trials, defined according to whether the reaction to (the irrelevant) location would have been the same as that for (the relevant) color. de Houwer et al. found a significant compatibility effect in their experiment (compatible RT < incompatible RT), indicating the reflexivity of the plan to react to locations. The major limitation of this study has to do with the fact that the plan might not have been truly novel and that reflexivity was built in the course of the experiment. This could have happened if the participants occasionally (and erroneously) reacted to the location of the colors instead of reacting to colors. A similar criticism (with respect to plan novelty) applies to studies that have examined subliminal response priming effects, which are not reviewed here (e.g., Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998; Kunde et al., 2003). Showing a compatibility effect immediately (i.e., in the very first-trials)

after the task was instructed would have ruled out this possibility. Below we review two series of studies in which this prerequisite was met.

Wenke et al. (2007) asked participants to be prepared to execute a new speeded letter classification task in each trial (Task 2). This task involved an arbitrary mapping of two letters to the rightleft key presses (e.g.,  $N \rightarrow$  left,  $K \rightarrow$  right). Of interest is that, while being prepared to execute this letter classification task, the participants were given another task (Task 1) in which a pair of letters in different sizes was presented (e.g., "NK"). This task was introduced in order to assess plan reflexivity with responses indicated by pressing the spacebar once or twice. In Experiment 1, the participants were required to indicate the location of the larger letter in the pair while in Experiment 2 they indicated the color in which the larger letter was presented. There were compatible (e.g., "NK"), incompatible (e.g., "KN") and neutral (e.g., "FB") trials. The results indicated slightly quicker reactions to compatible trials than incompatible trials, and were thus interpreted as evidence that the instructions were sufficient to bind letter identity and response location (e.g., bind the letter "N" with the left side). However, these results do not provide evidence that the instructions for the letter classification task (Task 1) operated reflexively. This is partly because the responses in Task 2 (right vs. left key press) were different than the responses in Task 1 (single vs. double press of the space bar), meaning that Task 1 did not enable the full application of Task 2 instructions.

Cohen-Kdoshay and Meiran (2007) study overcomes the aforementioned shortcoming. These authors used a variant of the flanker paradigm (Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974) in which a centrally presented target was flanked by response-(in)compatible noise characters that were always physically different from the target. For example, when classifying target letters as belonging to the beginning/end of the alphabet, the stimuli "WBW" and "EBE" are incompatible and compatible, respectively. While the required response ("beginning of the alphabet") is the same in both of them because the target letter is "B," this target is flanked by letters that are either associated with the same response as the target ("E") or with an opposite response ("W") (see Figure 4). The novel aspect about Cohen-Kdoshay and Meiran's design was that a new stimulus set (and stimulus-response binding) was introduced in every experimental block. The key finding was a large (~60 ms) flanker compatibility effect (called first-trials flanker compatibility effect, or "first-trials compatibility effect," for short) that was found in the first block of eight trials immediately following the instructions. By introducing additional procedural changes, Cohen-Kdoshay and Meiran (2009) further showed that the first-trial compatibility effect was found in the very first-trial following the instructions, and that it was numerically larger than the compatibility effect in subsequent trials in the first mini-block of trials. This first-trial(s) compatibility effect indicates reflexivity because the processing of the flankers led to response activation despite the explicit requirement to ignore them. It also overcomes the issue of plan novelty, since the effect was measured immediately after the instructions. Additionally, the methodology is improved over the Wenke et al.'s (2007) study, because in that study the compatible condition constituted a physical representation of the instructions in the sense that the letter associated



the region of direct-access (in green), as in Figure 2.

with the right key appeared on the right and the letter associated with the left key appeared on the left. This aspect makes it possible that the quicker (slower) responses reflected a (mis)match between the display and the instructions. No such criticism could apply to Cohen-Kdoshay and Meiran's experiments. Thus, there is greater confidence that the representation of the instructions in RA has reflexively generated a response tendency (or at least, the response identity, e.g., see Hommel, 1998) for the flankers even before those flankers had ever been practiced as a target response. Nonetheless, there still remains an alternative explanation according to which the flankers primed target identity processing (rather than have caused response generation). This alternative account holds because the flankers were semantically associated with the target (e.g., both belonged to the beginning of the alphabet). We do not think this alternative account is likely to be correct because the flanker compatibility effects quickly diminished in the course of the block, a trend that is not expected for semantic priming.

Finally, there is one study that tried but failed to show evidence for novel plan reflexivity. The findings of this study point to important boundary conditions for novel plan reflexivity as discussed below. Waszak et al. (2008) employed a task-switching design in which participants switched between color classification and shape classification. Importantly, some of the (irrelevant) colors used in the shape task and some of the (irrelevant) shapes that were used in the color task were only instructed and were never presented as targets. These authors found a reliable taskrule congruency effect. However, the task-rule congruency effect was only found for the irrelevant features that also were presented as targets (in other trials), but not for the irrelevant features that were merely instructed (and never responded to as targets). Thus, holding the plan to react to a given color/shape in a certain manner was insufficient for the reflexive application of this plan. The potential reasons for this null finding are discussed now.

# **BOUNDARY CONDITIONS**

The extant literature suggests three boundary conditions for the reflexivity of novel plans. The first is the availability of RA storage resources. The second boundary condition is that the planned task and the task in which reflexivity is measured must be considered to be part of the same processing event. The final condition is the motivation to maintain high preparedness to execute the planned task. We will discuss each one of these factors in turn.

# Availability of RA storage resources

The fact that RA storage resources must be available has been demonstrated by Cohen-Kdoshay and Meiran (2007, Experiment 4) who showed that the first-trial compatibility effect was eliminated when RA was loaded by secondary task instructions. Specifically, in addition to instructing participants to carry out a new classification task, each block also included a novel go-nogo to be performed on rare occasions. This task involved clearly distinguishable target stimuli (numbers or number words) and required a "go" response (pressing the spacebar with both thumbs) if the stimulus met a certain criterion (such as being divisible by 3). In these conditions, the first-trial compatibility effect was eliminated, suggesting that only when the novel plan is held in its entirety in RA, reflexivity is found. We have recently addressed an alternative account to this finding according to which the load task did not exhaust storage space, but instead merely introduced increased multitasking demands. In order to rule out this account, Meiran and Cohen-Kdoshay (2012) compared three groups of participants. In one group, there was no additional load. This group showed the usual first-trial compatibility effect. In another group, there was a load task that was changed between blocks, as in Cohen-Kdoshay and Meiran (2007) fourth experiment. The first-trial compatibility effect was eliminated (actually, slightly reversed) in this group, thus replicating our previous work. Of interest is the third group in which the go-nogo task remained the same throughout the experiment. In this group, the load task increased multitasking demands but did not load RA (because the load task could have been represented in ALTM). This group showed a first-trial compatibility effect that was equivalent to that found in the group without load. These results show that what is critical is the representation of the plan in RA.

Ellenbogen and Meiran (2008) studied the involvement of RA in the backward compatibility effect (Hommel, 1998). In their experiments, participants made speeded responses to the letters H and S presented in different colors. The primary task was color classification which was made using right and left key presses. The secondary task that was executed immediately afterwards was letter classification in which the (arbitrarily mapped) responses were the (Hebrew equivalents) of the utterances RED and GREEN. The logic was that executing Task 1 while being prepared to execute Task 2 would lead to compatibility effects such that if the color of the stimulus is the same as the utterance made to letter identity, reaction would be relatively quick. This compatibility effect was termed "backward compatibility" by Hommel. Of interest is the load manipulation used in this study, which was the number of possible colors (and thus, the number of color-key associations). When the load was low (two colors) or moderate (four colors) there was a robust backward compatibility effect (thus completely replicating Hommel and Eglau, 2002). However, when the load was extreme (six colors) the backward compatibility effect was eliminated. In a further experiment, the authors showed that the critical factor was not the number of colors, but the number of color-category—to—response rules. The fact that extreme load was needed to eliminate reflexivity already provides evidence that a few dozens of executions are sufficient to reduce the dependence on RA such that extreme load is needed in order to remove plan reflexivity.

#### Inclusion in an event

We suggest the principle that if a person has a plan in mind to execute a task, this forms an event which lasts from the point of planning to the point of plan execution. We will refer to it as the plan-to-execution event. We further suggest that the measurement of reflexivity of a plan must take place during the plan-to-execution event.

Although the term "event" is rather elusive, there is marked agreement between observers regarding event boundaries, and considerable objective support for the psychological reality of these boundaries (e.g., Zacks et al., 2007). Our notion regarding plan-to-execution events is supported by findings from this literature including those indicating that a goal change demarks event boundaries (Zacks and Swallow, 2007) and the evidence suggesting that the contents of RA are refreshed (i.e., updated) at these boundaries (e.g., Swallow et al., 2009) presumably in order to free these scarce resources as soon as possible.

Ellenbogen and Meiran (2011) showed evidence that plan reflexivity takes place only during the plan-to-execution event. These authors used the backward compatibility effect (described above) as an index of reflexivity. In this paradigm, the relevant plan-to-execution event (of Task 2) presumably starts before Task 1 is executed, when participants are ready to execute both tasks in close succession. However, subtle environmental cues may be sufficient to start planning for Task 2 only after Task 1 has already been performed. We specifically refer to cues indicating that a goal has been achieved. In one of Ellenbogen and Meiran's experiments (see Figure 5), participants were presented with a colored square and a digit. They then reacted to the color by a right/left key press and to the magnitude of the digit by saying "right" or "left." After responding to both of these stimuli (Tasks 1 and 2, respectively), a second digit was presented and Task 3 was performed. Like in Ellenbogen and Meiran (2008) study, described above, Task 1 was used to assess the reflexivity of the plan to execute Task 2 because Task 2 responses (saying "right" or "left") were either compatible or incompatible with the key press made in Task 1. Task 3 was added in order to manipulate the duration of the plan-to-execution event. In the experimental group ("grouped"), the color of the square indicated whether Task 3 would involve adding the two digits or subtracting the third digit from the second digit. Under these conditions, color



**FIGURE 5 | Ellenbogen and Meiran's (2011) fourth experiment. (A)** Stimuli 1 and 2 were first presented, then Responses 1 (key press) and 2 (vocal) were given, then Stimulus 3 was added, then Response 3 was given. The color in Stimulus 1 indicated if Task 3 was addition or subtraction (or the +/- sign in the ungrouped condition). **(B)** The representation of the instructions for Tasks 1 and 2 according to our framework were held as a blend of activated long-term memory (the concepts written in black as well as overlearned links between them) and region of direct-access (green).

processing (Task 1) belonged to the same plan-to-execution event as Task 2 because this event ended only when Task 3 has been executed. In the control group, the colored square did not serve as a task cue for the two digits and thus Task 1 belonged to one event while Task 2 and Task 3 belonged to different event. (In this group, the cue for Task 3 was a minus or a plus sign that appeared below the second digit.) Because the second digit (the stimulus for Task 3) was presented only after the response to Task 2 was made, the display and the tasks were identical for the two groups until Task 2 ended, which is when backward compatibility effects were assessed in order to measure plan reflexivity. The results indicated a backward compatibility effect (in Task 1, as usual) but only in the experimental group and not in the control group. This result shows that the plan to execute Task 2 (whose reflexivity was assessed) was retrieved into RA only when Task 1 (in which reflexivity was assessed) was a part of the same plan-to-execute event as Task 2.

### Motivation

The motivation to hold the plan in mind seems important as well because when motivation is lacking, the plan may not be represented in RA, for example. To our knowledge, the only motivation-relevant findings are by Wenke et al. (2009) using the same paradigm as Wenke et al. (2007), described above. Wenke et al. (2009) compared conditions that are associated with differential motivation levels to prepare an action in advance. For example, one such condition involved frequent omission of the requirement to execute the plan. Specifically, their paradigm involved preparing for a choice reaction time task (Task 2) and executing another task (Task 1) that was used to assess plan reflexivity. When Task 2 was frequently omitted, this presumably lowered participants' motivation to prepare toward this task. Accordingly, there was no evidence that the plan to execute Task 2 was reflexive in these conditions. These results suggest that being motivated to maintain high readiness to execute a task is a precondition for reflexivity. Nevertheless, this boundary condition awaits further testing in which motivation levels are manipulated directly (e.g., with incentives).

# Individual differences

An additional potential precondition is individual differences in RA capacity, a factor that has not yet been examined. Suggestive evidence comes from Wilhelm and Oberauer (2006) who, in an individual differences study, found a correlation between WM capacity and reaction time. Of interest is the key finding in this paper showing that the aforementioned correlation was significantly higher when the reaction time tasks involved an arbitrary stimulus-response mapping (which presumably would be held in RA, at least until sufficient practice had accrued) as compared with a non-arbitrary (and compatible) mapping in which response identity can be directly retrieved from LTM. Nonetheless, the authors did not examine performance on the tasks immediately following the instructions and therefore it is difficult to tell with certainty if these findings relate to novel task representation.

# Relevance of the boundary conditions to the null result of Waszak et al. (2008)

After listing the boundary conditions for plan reflexivity, it becomes clear why there was no evidence for reflexivity in Waszak et al.'s (2008) study. Specifically, in their study, there might not have been sufficient motivation to maintain readiness to react to stimulus values that never served as targets precisely because they never served as targets, a fact that could probably have been detected already at the beginning of the experiment, after a few dozen trials. Additionally, the limited RA storage capacity might have been exhausted because of rather high cognitive demand, involving many stimulus-response pairs and two tasks. Finally, the measurement of reflexivity was performed outside the plan-to-execution event. Specifically, when the task-rule congruency effect was assessed in the color task (for example), it reflected the readiness to execute the shape task, but the shape task was executed in other trials and thus belonged to different events.

# PROCEDURAL VS. DECLARATIVE WM

While we adopted Oberauer's (2001, 2002) model, more recently, Oberauer (2010) further suggested that WM has two distinct compartments with analogous structure, procedural WM and declarative WM. Our description of WM subcomponents accords well with Oberauer's (2010) characterization of

declarative WM. However, Oberauer's (2010) characterization of procedural WM indicates that PR behaviors are related to the procedural compartment and not the declarative compartment. We think that given the current knowledge, it is difficult to decide whether a separate procedural WM exists, although the available evidence seems to favor a domain-general view rather than a distinction between two WM systems. One line of evidence concerns individual differences in WM and reaction times (assuming that reaction times are related to procedural WM). Specifically, Schmiedek et al. (2007) tested participants with various declarative WM measures and also tested them on choice reaction time tasks, all involving arbitrary stimulus-response mapping. Using a structural equations modeling approach which permits estimation of correlations between latent variables (as opposed to observed measures), these authors found a strong correlation (r = 0.90) between an aspect of the reaction time distribution and WM. Wilhelm and Oberauer (2006) results, described beforehand, lead to a similar conclusion. Along a similar line, Hartstra et al. (2011) who examined the brain areas involved in the representation of novel instructions found that the very same brain region (left lateral PFC) subserved novel task instructions and the storage of novel object-color associations. These results support a domain-general view rather than a separation between procedural and declarative WM.

# **POSSIBLE NEURO-COGNITIVE MECHANISMS**

A theoretical framework that can potentially explain the difference between novel and practiced plans is the dual-mechanisms of control account developed by Braver et al. (2007, 2009; Braver, 2012). This framework distinguishes between two modes of cognitive control: proactive and reactive. The proactive control mode involves preparatory activation and sustained maintenance of goal-related information triggered by advance contextual cues (i.e., task instructions). It contrasts with *reactive control*, involving transient, stimulus-triggered retrieval of goal-related information that is based on conflict detection or bottom-up associative links. Importantly, prior work has demonstrated variability or flexibility in these control modes, linked to (sometimes subtle) features of the task or stimuli, as well as stable individual differences (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). This variability has been detected in terms of brain activity dynamics, using fMRI methods. Thus, under task conditions preferentially associated with proactive control, anticipatory and sustained intentionrelated activity has been observed in the lateral PFC. In contrast, under conditions involving reactive control, activity was transient, stimulus-triggered and involved not only the lateral PFC, but also brain regions associated with conflict detection (i.e., anterior cingulate cortex) and episodic/associative retrieval (i.e., lateral parietal cortex, anterior PFC, and medial temporal lobes). Additionally, other work has suggested that proactive control is preferentially engaged for the preparation of action-intentions, i.e. plans (vs. preparatory attention; Ruge et al., 2009, 2010). The dual-mechanisms of control framework, therefore, suggest that the critical difference between proactive and reactive control is not just which brain regions are engaged, but moreover the temporal dynamics of activation. Here, we further suggest that plan novelty might also be a potential key feature that promotes

proactive control, whereas practiced plans might rely more on reactive control. One reason why this may be so is that performing a novel task requires sustained binding of the task elements (see below) and thus RA. However, dealing with familiar tasks may be performed "on the fly" by retrieving the already stored binding of task elements. This view predicts that novel plans would be associated with increased anticipatory (i.e., prior to plan implementation) activation within lateral PFC, whereas practiced plans should be associated with greater transient post-stimulus activation (in these and other regions). This would be in line with the idea that novel plans are in a stronger PR type state than practiced plans.

Only very few studies have compared novel and practiced tasks directly. Cole et al. (2010) developed a paradigm that enabled comparison of novel and practiced tasks by permuting a set of rules into many novel rule combinations (i.e., tasks), creating a large space of possible tasks (64). The rules used fall into three categories: semantic (e.g., "is it green?"), decision (e.g., "is the answer to both words the same?"), and response (e.g., "if true, press your left index finger"). Thus, one of the 64 tasks could be, "If the answer to "is it green?" is the same for both words then press your left index finger." By utilizing 64 different tasks, it is possible to obtain reliable estimates of novel task learning, by examining first-trial performance on each of the tasks. Further, a subset of the 64 tasks is extensively practiced, such that novel and practiced tasks can be directly compared while controlling for the particular stimuli and rules used. Cole et al. found (using functional MRI; fMRI) that practiced task preparation activated the anterior PFC first, then the dorsolateral PFC. In contrast, they found a reversal of this pattern for novel tasks, suggesting that practiced tasks involve a top-down task set retrieval (from LTM) process, while novel tasks involve a bottom-up task set formation process. Thus, it was the pattern of relationship between the lateral PFC and other brain regions (anterior PFC, in this case) that distinguished between practiced and novel tasks, somewhat in line with Braver et al.'s distinction between proactive and reactive control. Using a variety of tasks with unique visual stimuli, Ruge and Wolfensteller (2010) also observed that PFC (among other regions) was involved in novel task learning.

Continuing this line of investigation, Cole et al. (2011) used multivariate pattern analysis of fMRI data to identify the presence of specific rules within PFC. They found that PFC activity patterns associated with specific rules during practice were also present during novel task preparation and execution. This suggests that the PFC gains much of its flexibility by *rigidly* applying old but highly practiced activity patterns to novel contexts. The present review suggests that rigidity may be a general feature of highly prepared states rather than being restricted to the application of familiar rules.

In a related study, Gilbert et al. (2012) used a similar analysis approach to examine the content of delayed intentions. They observed a sustained, intention-related increase in anterior PFC activity, and increased connectivity of this region with posterior cortex regions that showed content-specific representation. This suggests a potentially interactive model, in which sustained PFC input may be needed to shift posterior cortex representations from the ALTM to RA component of WM or alternatively, to bind the novel pattern of LTM representations in posterior cortex, in accordance with how we defined RA.

Our notion concerning reflexivity of novel plans may seem counterintuitive. Nonetheless, it accords with current theorizing concerning the nature of PFC representations. Specifically, these representations are described as being highly flexible in the sense of representing any novel combination of familiar elements (e.g., O'Reilly et al., 1999; Miller and Cohen, 2001). However, PFC representations are also believed to be highly resistant to interference. What we suggest is that this resistance to interference comes at the cost of losing online flexibility. In this regard, incorporating rapid contextual changes into the existing RA representation may require the formation of an entirely new representation (cf. Kessler and Meiran, 2006, 2008) This new activation-based RA representation is likely fragile (i.e., incoming activity can destroy it), and so it is "locked in" to reduce interference, making us somewhat less responsive to immediate contextual changes. Consistent with this idea, Duncan (2010) suggested that encoding in PFC (and other brain regions which form the Multiple Demand network) is based on the *pattern* of neuronal activation. He further argues that when the represented content changes, so does the *pattern* of neuronal activation. Similarly, O'Reilly et al. (2003) suggested a coarse and distributed coding system. Since the neurons in this coding scheme encode conjunctions of elements, a change in the context seems to again require a change in activation over many neurons. Singer and Gray (1995) and others suggest that novel representations consist of synchronous neuronal firing, which, for WM representations is presumably supported by the PFC (e.g., Ruchkin et al., 2003). Updating such a representation seems to require generating a new pattern of synchronous activity. Braver and Cohen (2000) suggest that PFC representations are updated only on specific occasions, determined by the dopamine-controlled gating system, again implying that there are periods in which representations cannot be updated. Regardless of the differences, all of the theories suggest that RA-based representations, while being extremely flexible in the sense that they can be entirely novel combinations of elements, are inflexible in their responsiveness to rapid contextual changes in the environment, which according to the present thesis is what characterizes intention-based reflexivity.

# **CONCLUSIONS**

In this brief review, we have presented evidence that the intention to carry out a simple plan in the near future may result in paradoxical loss of control, such that the intended plan may be (at least partly) executed prematurely and inappropriately. We distinguished between two types of plans based on the WM compartment that is probably used for their storage. Planning to execute a familiar task may be entirely based on ALTM, thus preserving the scarce RA capacity resources. However, when the plan is novel, aspects of it are probably represented in RA. We further showed that different boundary conditions apply to the reflexivity of novel and practiced plans and suggested the likely neuro-cognitive mechanisms that are being involved. We thus conclude that plan reflexivity provides clues as to the mechanism underlying the mind's tremendous flexibility during preparation. It seems that whatever mechanism gives us this gift of mental flexibility to allow for rapid novel planning also takes away flexibility as a new plan is prepared to be executed.

The hypotheses that we outlined in this paper lead to many future research directions that stem from currently unresolved questions, such as: is plan reflexivity a (perhaps unwanted) sideeffect of planning or is it (also) associated with benefits? In this regard, Gollwitzer (1999) suggested that reflexive plans are more likely to get successfully executed, in part because of reduced dependence on endogenous control inputs. (This hypothesis is still hotly debated, e.g., see Brandstätter et al., 2001; Smith, 2003 vs. e.g., McDaniel and Scullin, 2010.) Additionally, despite the relatively clear evidence that novel and practiced tasks are subserved by different patterns of brain activity, it is unclear at present whether these differential patterns are related to plan reflexivity. Finally, while we suggested that plan reflexivity is a feature of proactive control, this is merely a speculation at this point and further research is needed to provide direct support for it.

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This research was supported by a research grant from the Israel Science Foundation to the first author, and NIH grants R01 MH66078 and MH66078-06A1S1 to the second and third authors. We wish to thank Bernhard Hommel and Klaus Oberauer for helpful comments.

#### REFERENCES

- Bargh, J. A., and Gollwitzer, P. M. (1994). Environmental control of goal directed action: automatic and strategic contingencies between situations and behavior. *Nebr. Symp. Motiv.* 41, 71–124.
- Bargh, J. A., Gollwitzer, P. M., Lee-Chai, A., Barndollar, K., and Trötschel, R. (2001). The automated will: nonconscious activation and pursuit of behavioral goals. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 81, 1014–1027.
- Bekkering, H., and Neggers, S. F. W. (2002). Visual search is modulated by action intentions. *Psychol. Sci.* 13, 370–374.
- Bledowski, C., Kaiser, J., and Rahm, B. (2010). Basic operations in working memory: contributions from functional imaging studies. *Behav. Brain Res.* 214, 172–179.
- Brandstätter, V., Lengfelder, A., and Gollwitzer, P. M. (2001). Implementation intentions and efficient action initiation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 81, 946–960.
- Braver, T. S. (2012). The variable nature of cognitive control: a dual mechanisms framework. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 106–113.
- Braver, T. S., and Cohen, J. D. (2000). "On the control of control: the role of dopamine in regulating prefrontal function and working memory," in *Attention and Performance XVIII* eds S. Monsell and J. Driver (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 713–737.
- Braver, T. S., Gray, J. R., and Burgess, G. C. (2007). "Explaining the many varieties of working memory variation: dual mechanisms of cognitive control (Chapter 4)," in *Variation in Working Memory*, eds A. R. A. Conway, C. Jarrold, M. J. Kane, A. Miyake and J. N. Towse (New York, NY: Oxford Univerity Press), 76–106.

- Braver, T. S., Reynolds, J. R., and Donaldson, D. I. (2003). Neural mechanisms of transient and sustained cognitive control during task switching. *Neuron* 39, 713–726.
- Braver, T. S., Paxton, J. L., Locke, H. S., and Barch, D. M. (2009). Flexible neural mechanisms of cognitive control within human prefrontal cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 106, 7351–7356.
- Cohen-Kdoshay, O., and Meiran, N. (2007). The representation of instructions in working memory leads to autonomous response activation: evidence from the first trials in the flanker paradigm. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 60, 1140–1154.
- Cohen-Kdoshay, O., and Meiran, N. (2009). The representation of instructions operates like a prepared reflex: flanker compatibility effects found in first trial following S-R instructions. *Exp. Psychol.* 56, 128–133.
- Cole, M. W., Bagic, A., Kass, R., and Schneider, W. (2010). Prefrontal dynamics underlying rapid instructed task learning reverse with practice. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 14245–14241.
- Cole, M. W., Etzel, J. A., Zacks, J. M., Schneider, W., and Braver, T. S. (2011). Rapid transfer of abstract rules to novel contexts in human lateral prefrontal cortex. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2011.00142
- Cowan, N. (1988). Evolving conceptions of memory storage, selective attention, and their mutual constrains within the human information processing system. *Psychol. Bull.* 104, 163–191.
- Cowan, N. (2001). The magical number 4 in short-term memory: a reconsideration of mental storage capacity. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 24 1, 87–114.

- de Houwer, J., Beckers, T., Vandorp, S., and Custers, R. (2005). Further evidence for the role of mode-independent short-term associations in spatial Simon effects. *Percept. Psychophys.* 67, 659–666.
- Duncan, J. (2010). The multipledemand (MD) system of the primate brain: mental programs for intelligent behaviour. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 14, 172–179.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (1998). Effect of masked stimuli on motor activation: behavioral and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 1737–1747.
- Ellenbogen, R., and Meiran, N. (2008). Working memory involvement in dual task performance: evidence from the backward compatibility effect. *Mem. Cogn.* 36, 968–978.
- Ellenbogen, R., and Meiran, N. (2011). Objects and events as determinants of parallel processing in dual tasks: evidence from the backward compatibility effect. *J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform.* 37, 152–167.
- Eriksen, B., and Eriksen, C. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 16, 143–149.
- Exner, S. (1879). "Physiologie der Grosshirnrinde," in Handbuch Der Physiologie, Vol. 2, ed L. Hermann (Leipzig, Germany: Vogel), 189–350.
- Fagioli, S., Ferlazzo, F., and Hommel, B. (2007a). Controlling attention through action: observing actions primes action-related stimulus dimensions. *Neuropsychologia* 14, 3351–3355.
- Fagioli, S., Hommel, B., and Schubotz, R. I. (2007b). Intentional control

of attention: action planning primes action-related stimulus dimensions. *Psychol. Res.* 71, 22–29.

- Fagot, C. (1994). Chronometric Investigations of Task Switching. Ph.D. thesis, University of California, CA, San Diego.
- Folk, C. L., Remington, R. W., and Johnston, J. C. (1992). Involuntary covert orienting is contingent on attentional control settings. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 18, 1030–1044.
- Folk, C. L., Remington, R. W., and Johnston, J. C. (1993). Contingent attentional capture: a reply to Yantis (1993). J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 19, 682–685.
- Folk, C. L., Remington, R. W., and Wright, J. H. (1994). The structure of attentional control: contingent attentional capture by apparent motion, abrupt onset, and color. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 20, 317–329.
- Gilbert, S. J., Armbruster, D. J. N., and Panagiotidi, M. (2012). Similarity between brain activity at encoding and retrieval predicts successful realization of delayed intentions. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 24, 93–105.
- Gollwitzer, P. M. (1999). Implementation intentions: strong effects of simple plans. *Am. Psychol.* 54, 493–503.
- Goschke, T., and Dreisbach, G. (2008). Conflict-triggered goal shielding: response conflicts attenuate background-monitoring for concurrent prospective memory cues. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 25–32.
- Hartstra, E., Kuhn, S., Verguts, T., and Brass, M. (2011). The implementation of verbal instructions: an fMRI study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 1811–1824.
- Hommel, B. (1998). Automatic stimulus-response translation in dual-task performance. J. Exp.

Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 1368–1384.

- Hommel, B. (2000). "The prepared reflex: automaticity and control in stimulus response translation," in Attention and Performance 18: Control of Cognitive Processes, eds S. Monsell and J. Driver (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 247–273.
- Hommel, B. (2010). "Grounding attention in action control: the intentional control of selection," in *Effortless Attention: A New Perspective in the Cognitive Science* of Attention and Action, ed B. J. Bruya (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press), 121–140.
- Hommel, B., and Eglau, B. (2002). Control of stimulus-response translation in dual-task performance. *Psychol. Res.* 66, 260–273.
- Jonides, J., Lewis, R. L., Nee, D. E., Lustig, C. A., Berman, M. G., and Moore, K. S. (2008). The mind and brain of short-term memory. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 59, 193–224.
- Kessler, Y., and Meiran, N. (2006). All updateable objects in working memory are updated whenever any of them is modified: evidence from the memory updating paradigm. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 32, 570–585.
- Kessler, Y., and Meiran, N. (2008). Two dissociable updating processes in working memory. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 34, 1339–1348.
- Kessler, Y., and Meiran, N. (2010). The reaction-time task-rule congruency effect is not affected by working memory load: further support for the activated long-term memory hypothesis. *Psychol. Res.* 74, 388–399.
- Kiesel, A., Wendt, M., and Peters, A. (2007). Task switching: on the origins of response congruency effects. *Psychol. Res.* 71, 117–125.
- Koch, I., and Allport, A. (2006). Cuebased preparation and stimulusbased priming of tasks in task switching. *Mem. Cogn.* 34, 433–444.
- Kunde, W., Kiesel, A., and Hoffmann, J. (2003). Conscious control over the content of unconscious cognition. *Cognition* 88, 223–242.
- Logan, G. D. (1978). Attention in character classification: evidence for the automaticity of component stages. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 107, 32–63.
- Logan, G. D. (1988). Toward an instance theory of automatization. *Psychol. Rev.* 95, 492–527.
- Lu, C.-H., and Proctor, R. W. (1995). The influence of irrelevant location information on performance: a review of the Simon and spatial

Stroop effects. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 2, 174–207.

- Marble, J. G., and Proctor, R. W. (2000). Mixing location-relevant and location-irrelevant trials in choice-reaction tasks: influences of location mapping on the Simon effect. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 26, 1515–1533.
- McDaniel, M. A., and Scullin, M. K. (2010). Implementation intention encoding does not automatize prospective memory responding. *Mem. Cogn.* 38, 221–232.
- Meiran, N. (1996). Reconfiguration of processing mode prior to task performance. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 22, 1423–1442.
- Meiran, N. (2000). Modeling cognitive control in task-switching. *Psychol. Res.* 63, 234–249.
- Meiran, N. (2005). Task rule congruency and Simon-like effects in switching between spatial tasks. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. A 58, 1023–1041.
- Meiran, N., Chorev, Z., and Sapir, A. (2000). Component processes in task switching. *Cogn. Psychol.* 41, 211–253.
- Meiran, N., and Cohen-Kdoshay, O. (2012). Working memory load but not multitasking eliminates the prepared reflex: further evidence from the adapted flanker paradigm. *Acta Psychol.* 139, 309–313.
- Meiran, N., and Daichman, A. (2005). Advance task preparation reduces task error rate in the cueing taskswitching paradigm. *Mem. Cogn.* 33, 1272–1288.
- Meiran, N., and Kessler, Y. (2008). The task rule congruency effect in task switching reflects activated long term memory. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 34, 137–157.
- Memelink, J., and Hommel, B. (2006). Tailoring perception and action to the task at hand. *Eur. J. Cogn. Psychol.* 18, 579–592.
- Miller, E. K., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 24, 167–202.
- Miyake, A., and Shah, P. (Eds.) (1999). Models of Working Memory: Mechanisms of Active Maintenance and Executive Control. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Oberauer, K. (2001). Removing irrelevant information from working memory: a cognitive aging study with the modified Sternberg task. *J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn.* 27, 948–957.
- Oberauer, K. (2002). Access to information in working memory: exploring the focus of attention. J. Exp.

*Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn.* 28, 411–421.

- Oberauer, (2010). Design for a working memory. *Psychol. Learn. Motiv.* 51, 45–100.
- O'Reilly, R. C., Braver, T. S., and Cohen, J. D. (1999). "A biologicallybased computational model of working memory," in *Models of Working Memory: Mechanisms of Active Maintenance and Executive Control*, eds A. Miyake and P. Shah (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press), 102–134.
- O'Reilly, R. C., Busby, R. S. and Soto, R. (2003). "Three forms of binding and their neural substrates: alternatives to temporal synchrony," in *The Unity of Consciousness: Binding, Integration, and Dissociation,* ed A. Cleeremans (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 168–192.
- Postle, B. R. (2006). Working memory as an emergent property of the mind and brain. *Neuroscience* 139, 23–28.
- Pratt, J., and Hommel, B. (2003). Symbolic control of visual attention: the role of working memory and attentional control settings. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 5, 835–845.
- Proctor, R. W., Marble, J., and Vu, K.-P. (2000). Mixing incompatibly mapped location-relevant trials with location-irrelevant trials: effects of stimulus mode on performance. *Psychol. Res.* 64, 11–24.
- Remington, R. W., and Folk, C. L. (2001). Dissociation between attention and selection. *Psychol. Sci.* 12, 511–515.
- Ruchkin, D. S., Grafman, J., Cameron, K., and Berndt, R. S. (2003). Working memory retention systems: a state of activated long-term memory. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 26, 709–728.
- Ruge, H., Braver, T. S., and Meiran, N. (2009). Attention, intention, and strategy in preparatory control. *Neuropsychologia* 47, 1670–1685.
- Ruge, H., Müller, S. C., and Braver, T. S. (2010). Anticipating the consequences of action: an fMRI study of intention-based task preparation. *Psychophysiology* 47, 1019–1027.
- Ruge, H., and Wolfensteller, U. (2010). Rapid formation of pragmatic rule representations in the human brain during instructionbased learning. *Cereb. Cortex* 20, 1656–1667.
- Schmiedek, F., Oberauer, K., Wilhelm, O., Süß, H. M., and Wittmann,

W. W. (2007). Individual differences in components of reaction time distributions and their relations to working memory and intelligence. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 136, 414–429.

- Schneider, W., and Shiffrin, R. M. (1977). Controlled and automatic human information processing: 1. Detection, search, and attention. *Psychol. Rev.* 84, 1–66.
- Singer, W., and Gray, C. M. (1995). Visual feature integration and the temporal correlation hypothesis. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 555–586.
- Smith, R. E. (2003). The cost of remembering to remember in event-based prospective memory: investigating the capacity demands of delayed intention performance. *J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn.* 29, 347–361.
- Sudevan, P., and Taylor, D. A. (1987). The cueing and priming of cognitive operations. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 13, 89–103.
- Swallow, K. M., Zacks, J. M., and Abrams, R. A. (2009). Event boundaries in perception affect memory encoding and updating. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 138, 236–257.
- Tzelgov, J. (1997). "Automatic but conscious: that is how we act most of the time," in *Advances in Social Cognition*, Vol. X, eds R. Wyer (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum), 217–230.
- Waszak, F., Wenke, D., and Brass, M. (2008). Cross-talk of instructed and applied arbitrary visuomotor mappings. *Acta Psychol.* 127, 30–35.
- Wenke, D., Gaschler, R., and Nattkemper, D. (2007). Instructioninduced feature binding. *Psychol. Res.* 71, 92–106.
- Wenke, D., Gaschler, R., Nattkemper, D., and Frensch, P. A. (2009). Strategic influences on implementing instructions for future actions. *Psychol. Res.* 73, 587–601.
- Wilhelm, O., and Oberauer, K. (2006). Why are reasoning ability and working memory capacity related to mental speed? An investigation of stimulus-response compatibility in choice-reaction-time tasks. *Eur. J. Cogn. Psychol.* 18, 18–50.
- Woodworth, R. S. (1938). *Experimental Psychology*. New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Wykowska, A., Schubö, A., and Hommel, B. (2009). How you move is what you see: action planning biases selection in visual search. *J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform.* 35, 1755–1769.

- Yamaguchi, M., and Proctor, R. W. (2011). Automaticity without extensive training: the role of memory retrieval in automatic implementation of task-defined rules. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 18, 347–354.
- Yehene, E., and Meiran, N. (2007). Is there a general task switching ability? *Acta Psychol.* 120, 169–195.
- Zacks, J. M., Speer, N. K., Swallow, K. M., Braver, T. S., and Reynolds,
- J. R. (2007). Event perception: a mind/brain perspective. *Psychol. Bull.* 133, 273–293.
- Zacks, J. M., and Swallow, K. M. (2007). Event segmentation. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 16, 80–84.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 January 2012; paper pending published: 28 February 2012; accepted: 09 April 2012; published online: 08 May 2012.

Citation: Meiran N, Cole MW and Braver TS (2012) When planning results in loss of control: intention-based reflexivity and working-memory. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:104. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2012.00104

Copyright © 2012 Meiran, Cole and Braver. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



# Guillermo Horga<sup>1,2†</sup> and Tiago V. Maia<sup>1,2,3</sup>\*<sup>†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

<sup>2</sup> New York State Psychiatric Institute, New York, NY, USA

<sup>3</sup> Instituto de Medicina Molecular and Instituto de Fisiologia, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Chris Chambers, Cardiff University, UK Ezequiel Morsella, San Francisco

State University and University of California, San Francisco, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Tiago V. Maia, Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University, 1051 Riverside Drive, Unit 78, New York, NY 10032, USA. e-mail: tmaia@columbia.edu

<sup>†</sup> These authors contributed equally to this work.

Controlled processing is often referred to as "voluntary" or "willful" and therefore assumed to depend entirely on conscious processes. Recent studies using subliminal-priming paradigms, however, have started to question this assumption. Specifically, these studies have shown that subliminally presented stimuli can induce adjustments in control. Such findings are not immediately reconcilable with the view that conscious and unconscious processes are separate, with each having its own neural substrates and modus operandi. We propose a different theoretical perspective that suggests that conscious and unconscious processes might be implemented by the same neural substrates and largely perform the same neural computations, with the distinction between the two arising mostly from the quality of representations (although not all brain regions may be capable of supporting conscious representations). Thus, stronger and more durable neuronal firing would give rise to conscious processes; weaker or less durable neuronal firing would remain below the threshold of consciousness but still be causally efficacious in affecting behavior. We show that this perspective naturally explains the findings that subliminally presented primes induce adjustments in cognitive control. We also highlight an important gap in this literature: whereas subliminal-priming paradigms demonstrate that an unconsciously presented prime is sufficient to induce adjustments in cognitive control, they are uninformative about what occurs under standard task conditions. In standard tasks, the stimuli themselves are consciously perceived; however, the extent to which the processes that lead to adjustments in control are conscious or unconscious remains unexplored. We propose a new paradigm suitable to investigate these issues and to test important predictions of our hypothesis that conscious and unconscious processes both engage the same control machinery, differing mostly in the quality of the representations.

Keywords: cognitive control, conflict monitoring, conscious, medial prefrontal cortex, prefrontal cortex, subliminal priming, unconscious

Humans and other animals adjust their behavior flexibly in the pursuit of goals. Cognitive control mechanisms are the set of processes that allow for such flexible adjustments. For instance, cognitive control is necessary to override automatic or habitual responses when they conflict with current goals-a process that has been long studied through tasks such as the Stroop or Simon Spatial Incompatibility tasks. The common ground of these tasks is the experimental induction of *conflict* between a prepotent response and a weaker response that is correct according to the task goal. Often this conflict is induced by different features of the same stimulus (e.g., the location of an arrow relative to the midline and the direction in which the arrow is pointing), with one of the features stimulating a prepotent response tendency (e.g., a left response to an arrow presented to the left of the midline) and the other feature indicating the response that is correct according to the task goal (e.g., a right response to a right-pointing arrow, even if it is presented to the left of the midline). To resolve the conflict induced by

these *incongruent* stimuli, cognitive control mechanisms provide top-down biases that facilitate the goal-directed response over the more automatic one (Miller and Cohen, 2001; Maia and Cleeremans, 2005). Conscious will has been classically assumed to govern this type of controlled processing: i.e., voluntary, conscious processes would be required to select the goal-directed response.

The detection and resolution of conflict, importantly, are nonstatic processes that depend heavily on the task context. An effect common to all conflict tasks, the *conflict-adaptation* effect, illustrates this contextual dependency. Conflict adaptation is the improvement in the resolution of conflict following the experience of conflict. Such adaptation typically occurs on a trial-totrial basis (Gratton et al., 1992; Egner, 2007) but it also arises on a blockwise basis (Tzelgov et al., 1992; Carter et al., 2000). The description of the conflict-adaptation effect prompted the development of influential models of cognitive control that accounted for both conflict resolution and its contextual adaptability. The influential conflict-monitoring model (Botvinick et al., 2001), for example, proposed that a monitoring system, putatively located in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and activated by conflict, signaled to the prefrontal cortex (PFC) the need to further boost top-down biases that enhanced task-relevant informationprocessing pathways. As a result, task-relevant responses would be facilitated following conflict, and conflict resolution would, therefore, be more efficient, thereby explaining the conflictadaptation effect. Despite some findings that are at odds with this model and the existence of several competing theories (Holroyd and Coles, 2002; Brown and Braver, 2005; Critchley, 2005; Carter and van Veen, 2007), substantial evidence supports several aspects of this model (MacDonald et al., 2000; Botvinick et al., 2001; Kerns et al., 2004; Kerns, 2006; Carter and van Veen, 2007).

The conflict-monitoring model does not itself address the potential role of consciousness in controlled processing [despite the close relation between similar cognitive-control models and models of consciousness (Maia and Cleeremans, 2005)]. We suggest, however, that one can take advantage of the model's clearly delineated mechanisms to consider which cognitive control mechanisms might be dependent on conscious processing and which might potentially operate unconsciously. Such an approach allows us to move from simple descriptive questions about the conscious or unconscious correlates of behavior to more detailed questions about the potential implication and roles of conscious and unconscious processing in the mechanisms of cognitive control. For example, we can reformulate the question of whether conflict adaptation requires conscious knowledge to the more mechanistic question of whether the detection of conflict by the ACC and the subsequent strengthening of control by the PFC require conscious knowledge. Importantly, such a reformulation is not merely "cosmetic," as it raises multiple empirically testable questions about the dependence of the different components of the model on conscious versus unconscious processes. For example, does the detection of conflict by the ACC need to become conscious for conflict adaptation to occur? If so, what level of conscious knowledge is required: explicit knowledge about the preceding conflict or just a vague feeling that performance is not going well? And what is the relationship between ACC activation with conflict and explicit knowledge of conflict? Does the ACC form the core of such knowledge, does it instead receive information about that knowledge from other brain region(s) that modulate its activation, or are the two completely independent? Moving from the detection of conflict by the ACC to the strengthening of control by the PFC, does such strengthening reflect a willful, conscious cognitive act, or is perhaps the order of causality the opposite, with the engagement of PFC giving rise to the "illusion" (Wegner, 2002) of, say, deciding to pay more attention to a given stimulus feature?

Here we will use the term *consciousness* to refer exclusively to the content of conscious representations. As articulated in more detail elsewhere, we take consciousness to be the result of a global constraint satisfaction process in which the winning neuronal coalition determines both accessibility and phenomenal experience (Maia and Cleeremans, 2005). We will center our discussion on whether conscious representations of current events, goals, and contexts are needed for conflict resolution and its contextual adaptation. We will further assume that these conscious representations, in contrast with long-term knowledge that is embedded in synaptic weights, rely on more transient, active representations encoded in the firing patterns of neurons. These active representations, unlike weight-based knowledge, can be accessible to other systems and are thought to be necessary, though not sufficient, for conscious awareness (Maia and Cleeremans, 2005). Even when different active representations originate in the same neuronal ensemble, the quality of the representations-i.e., their strength, duration, stability, distinctiveness, etc.,-might render only some of these representations accessible to consciousness. Some brain regions may potentially contribute less or not at all to conscious experience (Godwin et al., in press), so in those regions, even high-quality representations might not lead to conscious awareness. For instance, converging evidence suggests that while perceptual information in the ventral visual stream can become conscious (Doesburg et al., 2009), perceptual representations in the dorsal stream for visuomotor action may not be accessible to consciousness (Goodale and Milner, 1992, 2005). The regions involved in conflict monitoring and cognitive control, however, seem particularly likely to be implicated in conscious awareness (Morsella, 2005).

The core of our hypothesis is that the same types of representations in the same brain regions may give rise to either conscious or unconscious knowledge, depending on the quality of the representation-an idea that is consistent with a variety of lines of evidence, old (Kinsbourne, 1988) and new (Maia and Cleeremans, 2005). Such an effect may be direct, with high-quality representations becoming conscious per se, or it may be due to the fact that high-quality representations will have a higher probability of entering the "global workspace" (Baars, 1988; Dehaene et al., 2003) or winning the global constraint-satisfaction competition (Maia and Cleeremans, 2005). Even weak (and therefore unconscious) representations, however, can be causally efficacious in changing neuronal processing downstream (Cleeremans, 2004). Thus, we should not be surprised if unconscious processing-elicited, for example, by the subliminal presentation of stimuli (which simply elicits weaker representations)-produces effects similar to, but weaker than, supraliminal presentation of the same stimuli. This overarching theoretical perspective about the nature of conscious versus unconscious processing also allows us to cast our original questions in even more mechanistic terms, by asking whether active representations of a special quality are required for controlled processes and, if so, which specific control mechanisms require these special representations.

# SUBLIMINAL-PRIMING STUDIES OF THE CAPABILITY OF UNCONSCIOUS PROCESSES TO INFLUENCE COGNITIVE CONTROL

Subliminal-priming studies (also known as masked-priming studies) have been used to assess whether unconscious processes affect a variety of cognitive, affective, and behavioral processes

(Eimer and Schlaghecken, 2003; van den Bussche et al., 2009). In these studies, stimuli are presented very briefly before being masked by another stimulus, so that the initial stimulus remains outside of awareness. Whether this manipulation does indeed render perception of the initial stimulus fully unconscious is not always uncontroversial-for example, at least some of these studies might be underpowered to detect above-chance discrimination of masked primes and thus wrongly assume unconscious perception of those primes (Szczepanowski and Pessoa, 2007). Nonetheless, the subliminal-priming approach is often assumed to indeed make perception of the initial stimulus (the prime) unconscious. For this reason, this approach has been used in conflict tasks to assess whether unconscious processes can affect cognitive control. Using masked and unmasked primes, an early study found that only consciously perceived conflict triggered conflict adaptation (Kunde, 2003). This result was interpreted as proof that only conscious information is used to adjust control. Later reports, however, seem directly at odds with this interpretation. Recent work has shown that both "unconscious errors"-defined as Go trials that followed a masked No-Go cue, but in which participants executed a response-and unconsciously primed conflict induce subsequent adjustments in behavior (Cohen et al., 2009; van Gaal et al., 2010). In particular, even conflict stimuli that are presented subliminally can induce conflict adaptation. These and other findings suggest instead that unconscious processing of information has many complex features that were once thought to be unique to its conscious counterpart (Wokke et al., 2011). Thus, unconscious processing of information seemingly can lead to adjustments in cognitive control. These findings, along with others similarly demonstrating that unconscious processes have many of the characteristics traditionally associated with conscious processes, are fully consistent with our view that the same brain regions can perform the same set of processes when stimulated subliminally and when stimulated supraliminally, with the main difference being the quality and strength of the resulting representations and processing. Further support for our view comes from the finding that the magnitude of the conflict-adaptation effect varies with the masking strength of the conflict-inducing prime: conflict adaptation following conscious primes is considerably greater than conflict adaptation following unconscious primes (van Gaal et al., 2010). In our view, this occurs simply because the subliminal presentation of stimuli does not have sufficient duration to elicit strong and durable neuronal firing, whereas the supraliminal presentation does.

Other studies have exploited both positive and negative effects in subliminal priming. While masked primes initially activate responses associated with the prime, thereby facilitating responses to targets that are compatible with it, at longer delays between prime and target this response facilitation turns into an inhibition (Eimer and Schlaghecken, 1998). A recent study used subliminal presentation of arrow primes (corresponding or noncorresponding with the target arrow) and measured the effect of long and short prime-target intervals on the response to a target arrow flanked by other arrows (congruent or incongruent flankers; Boy et al., 2010). The study showed that prime-induced inhibition at long intervals differentially affected responses to the current target depending on whether the target's flankers were congruent or incongruent with it. When the prime differed from the target, there was almost no additional cost for responses to incongruent as compared with congruent trials. Because subliminal priming interacted with current-trial congruence but not with conflict adaptation (i.e., the effect of unconscious inhibition was the same on incongruent trials preceded by an incongruent trial and on incongruent trials preceded by a congruent trial), the authors argued that unconscious inhibition might separate two types of control processes: a responsive (post-stimulus) control, related to conflict resolution, which might share motor mechanisms with unconscious processes, and a preparatory (prestimulus) control linked to conflict adaptation and which is impervious to unconscious inhibition. Although this distinction is appealing, an alternative account of these results is that unconscious inhibition does not affect either pre- or post-stimulus control. The putative effect on post-stimulus control-the abovementioned finding that unconscious inhibition nearly abolished the extra cost for incongruent as compared to congruent trialscan in fact be given a simple explanation: at long intervals, primes that differ from the target inhibit the response tendency to the non-target direction, and therefore flankers that signal that direction have a weaker effect. Thus, there is reduced conflict when an incongruent trial is presented after such primes, and the response to the target becomes easier. Conversely, at short intervals, primes aligned with the target may facilitate reaction times in a nonspecific manner without weakening the effect of flankers, and thus, without reducing conflict. Regardless of the interpretation, since primes in this study were always presented unconsciously and flankers were presented consciously, these results provide additional support for our view that both conscious and unconscious stimulation of response tendencies engage overlapping brain regions and therefore interact with each other.

In summary, putting aside potential sensitivity issues in establishing the chance-level discrimination of masked primes necessary to assume unconscious processing (Szczepanowski and Pessoa, 2007), the subliminal-priming studies reviewed here provide strongly suggestive evidence that information that is unconsciously processed can induce certain events (e.g., conflict or error) that in turn engage control mechanisms.

# ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES TO STUDY UNCONSCIOUS INFLUENCES ON COGNITIVE CONTROL

Under our suggestion that conscious and unconscious processes might share common mechanisms and differ mostly in terms of representation quality, unconscious processes would indeed be expected to influence control mechanisms, like their conscious counterparts do (Suhler and Churchland, 2009). Future studies should seek to elucidate whether the quality of representations and the conscious experiences associated with them have an influence on control, and if so, on which components of control. Our prediction is that their influence on control will not be qualitatively different but will be quantitatively stronger than that of unconscious processes, simply because stronger representations—potentially further amplified when they enter consciousness's "global workspace" (Baars, 1988; Dehaene et al., 2003) or become part of the attractor state that solves the global constraint-satisfaction problem (Maia and Cleeremans, 2005)— have greater causal efficacy. We suggest that a sensitive assessment of the conscious knowledge that participants are able to report during a standard conflict task, in parallel with behavioral and imaging measures, would help tackle these issues. Here, we delineate this multimodal approach.

# CONSCIOUSNESS AND THE SUBCOMPONENTS OF COGNITIVE CONTROL

As mentioned earlier, influential models of cognitive control have successfully accounted for behavioral effects in conflict tasks by incorporating several interacting neural components. In particular, the conflict-monitoring model accounts for conflict adaptation via a projection from a conflict-monitoring unit to a control unit, thereby allowing the occurrence of conflict on incongruent trials to trigger adjustments in control that improve performance on subsequent trials (Botvinick et al., 2001). The conflict-monitoring unit and the control unit are hypothesized to map onto the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC) and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), respectively. Thus, the model predicts that dACC conflict-related activity on the current trial predicts both greater DLPFC activity and greater adjustments in behavior on the subsequent trial-a prediction that has been confirmed empirically (Kerns et al., 2004). Research in nonhuman primates has added to this picture of how subcomponents of cognitive control interact. In particular, neuronal recordings in behaving monkeys have demonstrated that activity during inter-stimulus intervals in a population of neurons in the principal sulcus represents the previous trial's conflict (Mansouri et al., 2007). Furthermore, lesions to this region impair behavioral adjustments following conflict. These findings led to an extension of the conflict-monitoring model that posits that a mnemonic system encoding a representation of previous conflict (before the presentation of the following stimulus) is responsible for adjustments in behavior in the subsequent trial (Mansouri et al., 2009).

Using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), we recently identified a neural system, comprising the rostral dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (DMPFC) and portions of the DLPFC, that encodes the history of previously experienced conflict during inter-stimulus intervals in humans (Horga et al., 2011). We also demonstrated that this system reflects not only conflict in the immediately preceding trial but also the longer history of conflict in several preceding trials. This system interacted with a second system that was engaged by conflict in the current trial, an interaction that predicted trial-to-trial behavioral adjustments prompted by conflict (i.e., adjustments in the response to the current conflict trial relative to the response to the preceding conflict trial). In our study, inter-stimulus activation in the DMPFC-DLPFC had control-like features: it tracked conflict history and subsequently modulated other brain regions in a top-down manner. Unfortunately, this study was not designed to evaluate the degree to which conscious knowledge of previous conflict history was related to the activation of this control system or to the behavioral adjustments that ensued.

We interpreted the information encoded in the inter-stimulus DMPFC-DLPFC activation as either a memory trace of past conflict or a strategic expectancy. This distinction between a reactive memory process that is passively activated by conflict and a proactive process that anticipates the occurrence of a certain stimulus type and prepares an optimal action strategy accordingly, respectively, could potentially be important to understand the mechanisms of cognitive control. One way to parse out a purely mnemonic versus an expectancy account is to evaluate whether inter-stimulus activation in the DMPFC-DLPFC system can predict subsequent strategies, specifically certain oculomotor strategies that would only be beneficial if a stimulus of the expected type (e.g., incongruent) appears. Thus, monitoring a strategy such as the focusing of spatial attentionrelevant to the resolution of conflict in spatial conflict tasks (Botvinick et al., 2001)-could be a viable way to determine if conflict is expected (whether such expectation is conscious or unconscious). That is, if inter-stimulus activation in the DMPFC-DLPFC system-measured with hemodynamic or electrophysiological imaging-predicted the spatial focusing of attention on the following trial, then this activation would be consistent with an expectancy account. This finding would be particularly compelling if such activation influenced oculomotor strategy, as measured with eye tracking, before an individual has enough time to process the stimulus (and potentially re-adjust the strategy after stimulus presentation), and most importantly, if the oculomotor strategy were specifically beneficial for responding to conflict trials but impaired performance on non-conflict trials.

# CONSCIOUS KNOWLEDGE AND CONFLICT ADAPTATION

The potential role of consciousness in conflict adaptation could be examined by inquiring about participants' knowledge of their past conflict history and their use of strategy at specific time periods during a standard conflict task (Figure 1), and determining the extent to which such knowledge mediates behavioral adaptations. The inter-stimulus interval, for the reasons presented above, may be an appropriate time period for these inquiries. To avoid common failures in reporting conscious knowledge when open-ended questions are used, close-ended questions would be preferred (Maia and McClelland, 2004). The questionnaire should focus on the subcomponents of control that underlie conflict adaptation. At least two aspects of the control mechanism underlying conflict adaptation seem certain: it depends on prior conflict and its engagement benefits performance, i.e., once the control mechanism is engaged it contributes to improve subsequent conflict resolution. Consequently, the questionnaire should target participants' knowledge about the type of stimuli presented on preceding trials and their conscious expectations concerning the upcoming stimulus. Participants may possibly expect repetitions or alternations of certain stimulus types given the preceding sequence, even if stimuli are arranged in a random series (Huettel et al., 2002). The second goal of these inquiries would deal with specific cognitive or behavioral strategies that the individual might deploy in anticipation of the upcoming trial (e.g., focusing spatial attention on a specific region of the screen, preparing an "if-then" strategy, etc.). Lastly, subjective but



non-specific sensations such as arousal or attention should also be assessed, as participants might not explicitly know, for example, the history of conflict in the recent trials but nonetheless have a subjective sense that they need to pay, or are paying, more attention following conflict trials.

# **BRAIN-KNOWLEDGE-BEHAVIOR ANALYSES**

A multimodal approach that includes recordings of neural activity, assessment of conscious knowledge, and behavioral measurements should be used to permit the assessment of the relations between these three variables. Our perspective that conscious and unconscious knowledge may differ mostly in the intensity and duration of neuronal firing predicts that greater neuronal activation measured, for example, with fMRI, should correlate with knowledge that is more conscious. In addition, greater activation should also, naturally, have a greater effect on behavioral adjustments. Thus, to some extent, we expect neuronal activation, conscious knowledge, and behavioral adjustments to be substantially correlated. However, we suggest that even activation that remains below the threshold required to enter consciousness can still be causally efficacious; thus, we predict that behavioral adjustments can occur even in the absence of conscious knowledge. Using path analysis, we recently showed that greater activity in the aforementioned DMPFC-DLPFC system during inter-trial intervals predicted greater behavioral adjustment to conflict on a trial-by-trial basis (Horga et al., 2011). With the measure of conscious knowledge, we could also test whether the effects of activation strength on behavior are mediated by conscious knowledge (Figure 1). The addition of eye tracking to this design, if specific oculomotor behaviors were linked to conflict adaptation, could further unravel the relationships between neural activation, strategic expectancies (reflected in oculomotor behavior), adaptive improvements in performance, and potential conscious knowledge about the strategic expectancies and their influence on behavior. In summary, this multimodal approach would allow us to assess whether, for purposes of conflict adaptation, conscious experiences are epiphenomenal or whether instead they play a central role in mediating the relationship between activity in the regions that have previously been implicated in conflict adaptation and adaptive control of behavior.

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Subliminal-priming paradigms have thus far been the method of choice for studying the role of unconscious processing in cognitive control. Despite some early contradictory findings, overall these studies suggest that unconsciously triggered conflict can induce adjustments in control mechanisms. These findings add to others that similarly demonstrate that unconscious processes possess several advanced characteristics (e.g., flexibility) that have traditionally been associated with conscious processes (Wokke et al., 2011). The dichotomy between higher-order control mechanisms that are conscious versus less complex, reflective mechanisms that are unconscious—each of which with its own separate neural substrates and processes—therefore, now seems less appealing than it once did. As an alternative to this idea, we have suggested a more graded view, in which conscious and unconscious processes might rely on the same neural substrates and perform the same processing, differing mostly on the quality of the representation. We have shown that this perspective seamlessly explains the bulk of the literature on unconscious influences in cognitive control.

One limitation of the subliminal-priming approach is that it seeks only to determine whether processes initiated by a subliminally presented prime affect cognitive control. Such an approach

#### REFERENCES

- Baars, B. J. (1988). A Cognitive Theory of Consciousness. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Botvinick, M. M., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carter, C. S., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. *Psychol. Rev.* 108, 624–652.
- Boy, F., Husain, M., and Sumner, P. (2010). Unconscious inhibition separates two forms of cognitive control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 11134–11139.
- Brown, J. W., and Braver, T. S. (2005). Learned predictions of error likelihood in the anterior cingulate cortex. *Science* 307, 1118–1121.
- Carter, C. S., Macdonald, A. M., Botvinick, M., Ross, L. L., Stenger, V. A., Noll, D., and Cohen, J. D. (2000). Parsing executive processes: strategic vs. evaluative functions of the anterior cingulate cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 1944–1948.
- Carter, C. S., and van Veen, V. (2007). Anterior cingulate cortex and conflict detection: an update of theory and data. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 367–379.
- Cleeremans, A. (2004). Conscious and unconscious cognition: a graded dynamic perspective. *Int. J. Psychol.* 39, 65–65.
- Cohen, M. X., van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., and Lamme, V. A. (2009). Unconscious errors enhance prefrontal-occipital oscillatory synchrony. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 3:54. doi: 10.3389/neuro. 09.054.2009
- Critchley, H. D. (2005). Neural mechanisms of autonomic, affective,

and cognitive integration. J. Comp. Neurol. 493, 154–166.

- Dehaene, S., Sergent, C., and Changeux, J. P. (2003). A neuronal network model linking subjective reports and objective physiological data during conscious perception. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 8520–8525.
- Doesburg, S. M., Green, J. J., McDonald, J. J., and Ward, L. M. (2009). Rhythms of consciousness: binocular rivalry reveals large-scale oscillatory network dynamics mediating visual perception. *PLoS ONE* 4:e6142. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006142
- Egner, T. (2007). Congruency sequence effects and cognitive control. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 7, 380–390.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (1998). Effects of masked stimuli on motor activation: behavioral and electrophysiological evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 24, 1737–1747.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (2003). Response facilitation and inhibition in subliminal priming. *Biol. Psychol.* 64, 7–26.
- Godwin, C. A., Gazzaley, A. and Morsella, E. (in press). "Homing in on the brain mechanisms linked to consciousness: the buffer of the perception-and-action interface," in *The Unity of Mind, Brain and World: Current Perspectives on a Science of Consciousness*, eds A. Pereira and D. Lehmann (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press).
- Goodale, M. A., and Milner, A. D. (1992). Separate visual pathways for perception and action. *Trends Neurosci.* 15, 20–25.

- is, therefore, uninformative about the potential involvement of conscious versus unconscious processing under more standard task conditions (in which the stimuli themselves are presented supraliminally, but their effect on behavioral adjustments could be mediated by conscious or unconscious processing). We, therefore, proposed a complementary approach that uses standard task conditions but adds a questionnaire to assess participants' conscious knowledge. We indicated how a multi-modal approach could be used to understand the relation between activation in cognitive control areas, conscious knowledge, and behavioral adjustments-including assessing whether conscious knowledge mediates the effect of activation in cognitive control areas on behavioral adjustments. Overall, we hope that both the theoretical perspective that we articulated in this article and our suggestions about a complementary empirical approach to these issues could be of value in guiding future thinking and experimentation in this area.
- Goodale, M. A., and Milner, A. D. (2005). Sight Unseen: An Exploration of Conscious and Unconscious Vision. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gratton, G., Coles, M. G., and Donchin, E. (1992). Optimizing the use of information: strategic control of activation of responses. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 121, 480–506.
- Holroyd, C. B., and Coles, M. G. (2002). The neural basis of human error processing: reinforcement learning, dopamine, and the errorrelated negativity. *Psychol. Rev.* 109, 679–709.
- Horga, G., Maia, T. V., Wang, P., Wang, Z., Marsh, R., and Peterson, B. S. (2011). Adaptation to conflict via context-driven anticipatory signals in the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 31, 16208–16216.
- Huettel, S. A., Mack, P. B., and McCarthy, G. (2002). Perceiving patterns in random series: dynamic processing of sequence in prefrontal cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 485–490.
- Kerns, J. G. (2006). Anterior cingulate and prefrontal cortex activity in an fMRI study of trial-to-trial adjustments on the Simon task. *Neuroimage* 33, 399–405.
- Kerns, J. G., Cohen, J. D., Macdonald, A. W. 3rd., Cho, R. Y., Stenger, V. A., and Carter, C. S. (2004). Anterior cingulate conflict monitoring and adjustments in control. *Science* 303, 1023–1026.
- Kinsbourne, M. (1988). "Integrated field theory of consciousness," in *Consciousness in Contemporary Science*, eds A. J. Marcel and E. Bisiach (Oxford, New York: Clarendon Press; Oxford University Press), x, 405.

- Kunde, W. (2003). Sequential modulations of stimulus-response correspondence effects depend on awareness of response conflict. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 10, 198–205.
- MacDonald, A. W. 3rd., Cohen, J. D., Stenger, V. A., and Carter, C. S. (2000). Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. *Science* 288, 1835–1838.
- Maia, T. V., and Cleeremans, A. (2005). Consciousness: converging insights from connectionist modeling and neuroscience. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 9, 397–404.
- Maia, T. V., and McClelland, J. L. (2004). A reexamination of the evidence for the somatic marker hypothesis: what participants really know in the Iowa gambling task. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 16075–16080.
- Mansouri, F. A., Buckley, M. J., and Tanaka, K. (2007). Mnemonic function of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in conflict-induced behavioral adjustment. *Science* 318, 987–990.
- Mansouri, F. A., Tanaka, K., and Buckley, M. J. (2009). Conflictinduced behavioural adjustment: a clue to the executive functions of the prefrontal cortex. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 141–152.
- Miller, E. K., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 24, 167–202.
- Morsella, E. (2005). The function of phenomenal states: supramodular interaction theory. *Psychol. Rev.* 112, 1000–1021.

- Suhler, C. L., and Churchland, P. S. (2009). Control: conscious and otherwise. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 13, 341–347.
- Szczepanowski, R., and Pessoa, L. (2007). Fear perception: can objective and subjective awareness measures be dissociated? J. Vis. 7, 10.
- Tzelgov, J., Henik, A., and Berger, J. (1992). Controlling Stroop effects by manipulating expectations for color words. *Mem. Cognit.* 20, 727–735.
- van den Bussche, E., van den Noortgate, W., and Reynvoet, B. (2009).

Mechanisms of masked priming: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 135, 452–477.

- van Gaal, S., Lamme, V. A., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2010). Unconsciously triggered conflict adaptation. *PLoS ONE* 5:e11508. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011508
- Wegner, D. M. (2002). *The Illusion of Conscious Will.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Wokke, M. E., van Gaal, S., Scholte, H. S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., and Lamme, V. A. (2011). The flexible nature of unconscious cognition.

*PLoS ONE* 6:e25729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025729

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 February 2012; accepted: 18 June 2012; published online: 04 July 2012.

Citation: Horga G and Maia TV (2012) Conscious and unconscious processes in cognitive control: a theoretical perspective and a novel empirical approach. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:199. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00199

Copyright © 2012 Horga and Maia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# The pervasive nature of unconscious social information processing in executive control

# Ranjani Prabhakaran\* and Jeremy R. Gray

Department of Psychology, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

#### Edited by:

Nicola De Pisapia, University of Trento, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Luiz Pessoa, Brown University, USA Pamela K. Smith, University of California, San Diego, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Ranjani Prabhakaran, Department of Psychology, Yale University, Box 208205, New Haven, CT 06520-8205, USA. e-mail: ranjani.prabhakaran@ yale.edu Humans not only have impressive executive abilities, but we are also fundamentally social creatures. In the cognitive neuroscience literature, it has long been assumed that executive control mechanisms, which play a critical role in guiding goal-directed behavior, operate on consciously processed information. Although more recent evidence suggests that unconsciously processed information can also influence executive control, most of this literature has focused on visual masked priming paradigms. However, the social psychological literature has demonstrated that unconscious influences are pervasive, and social information can unintentionally influence a wide variety of behaviors, including some that are likely to require executive abilities. For example, social information can unconsciously influence attention processes, such that simply instructing participants to describe a previous situation in which they had power over someone or someone else had power over them has been shown to unconsciously influence their attentional focus abilities, a key aspect of executive control. In the current review, we consider behavioral and neural findings from a variety of paradigms, including priming of goals and social hierarchical roles, as well as interpersonal interactions, in order to highlight the pervasive nature of social influences on executive control. These findings suggest that social information can play a critical role in executive control, and that this influence often occurs in an unconscious fashion. We conclude by suggesting further avenues of research for investigation of the interplay between social factors and executive control.

Keywords: executive control, self-regulation, prefrontal cortex, visual masked priming paradigm, social priming, social power, behavioral mimicry, impression management

# **INTRODUCTION**

Our everyday lives require a tremendous amount of deliberate behavioral regulation, including planning actions, inhibiting response tendencies, and updating goals in light of new information. These processes, known collectively as executive control, are thought to rely on the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (see Miller and Cohen, 2001 for a review) and to typically operate on consciously processed information. The definition of "consciousness" continues to serve as the topic of debate. Nonetheless, many theories of executive control view consciously processed information as that information within participants' awareness that can trigger intentional and deliberate behavioral regulation (see Jack and Shallice, 2001; Hommel, 2007). Although several studies have shown that unconsciously processed information, or information processed outside of participants' awareness, can influence a wide variety of behaviors, including semantic (e.g., Markus and Spitzer, 2000) and emotional (e.g., Whalen et al., 1998) processing, many view executive control as a higher-order function that is triggered only under conditions involving conscious awareness of conflict (Atkinson and Shiffrin, 1968; Norman and Shallice, 1986; Umilta, 1988; Dehaene and Naccache, 2001; Jack and Shallice, 2001). Additionally, the PFC has been suggested to serve as a neural correlate of consciousness, further underscoring the tight link in the literature between this brain region, executive control, and consciousness (Dehaene and Naccache, 2001; Rees et al., 2002;

Crick and Koch, 2003; Eimer and Schlaghecken, 2003). Indeed, some have viewed the very idea of unconscious executive control as an unlikely phenomenon (e.g., Dehaene and Naccache, 2001; Jack and Shallice, 2001). However, more recent evidence suggests that not only is unconscious executive control a plausible concept, but it is also a commonly occurring phenomenon in our everyday lives (Hommel, 2007; Suhler and Churchland, 2009).

Similar to the debate surrounding the definition of "consciousness," there is much controversy regarding the meaning of the term "unconscious" (see Pessoa, 2005; Bargh and Morsella, 2008). Whereas the cognitive neuroscience literature has largely focused on unconscious information processing in terms of stimuli outside of awareness (i.e., subliminal stimuli), the social psychology literature has emphasized mental processes that function outside of awareness (Bargh and Morsella, 2008; see also Nisbett and Wilson, 1977). As noted by Bargh and Morsella (2008), subliminal stimuli are weak and unnatural, thus making it difficult to assess the true scope of unconscious processing using these types of stimuli. In contrast, the social psychology literature has studied unconscious processing through investigation of how stimuli within awareness (i.e., supraliminal stimuli) can result in unconscious influences on behavior through unintentional activation of mental processes that operate outside of awareness. The results from these studies suggest that unconscious processes have a surprisingly powerful influence on our behavior (Bargh and Morsella, 2008).

In the current review, we view unconscious executive control through the social psychological lens in order to highlight how social information can lead to unintentional triggering and engagement of executive control. First, we briefly review evidence from studies in the cognitive neuroscience literature that have used visual masked priming paradigms featuring subliminally presented visual stimuli to investigate unconscious visual information processing in executive control. We then highlight unconscious influences on executive control in the social domain, revealed via paradigms involving social priming and social interactions. It is important to note that there are both masked (i.e., subliminal) and unmasked (i.e., supraliminal) types of cognitive (e.g., visual) and social priming paradigms. For the purposes of the current review, we have focused on masked cognitive (visual) priming paradigms and unmasked social priming paradigms, as these methods have yielded several interesting findings regarding unconscious influences on executive control. Although several social psychology studies have demonstrated ways in which social factors can unconsciously have an impact on executive control, these findings have not received as much attention in the cognitive neuroscience literature. We review these findings with the aim of demonstrating the pervasive nature of unconscious social influences on executive control, as well as suggesting the need for further exploration of these influences at both behavioral and neural levels.

# VISUAL MASKED PRIMING PARADIGM

Several recent studies used a visual masked priming paradigm to show that unconsciously processed visual information can trigger executive control, reflected through behavioral interference effects as well as activation of PFC. This paradigm involves presentation of a prime (e.g., a small shape) followed by a stimulus (e.g., a large hollow shape) for which participants are asked to make a response of some sort (e.g., press a button). One method of masking the prime, known as metacontrast masking, involves using a prime that has overlapping contours with the stimulus and results in reduced visibility of the prime (see Lau and Passingham, 2007; van Gaal et al., 2008, 2010; for examples of this approach). The duration of the interval between the onsets of the prime and stimulus can be altered such that a long interval increases the visibility of the prime, whereas a short interval renders the prime consciously imperceptible to the participant. Typically, the prime is either congruent or incongruent with the consciously perceptible stimulus in order to assess whether the prime can induce conflict, even though it is below the level of conscious awareness. In order to ensure that participants cannot consciously detect the primes, participants typically perform a separate discrimination task, in which they are asked to report the identity of the masked prime, after the main experimental procedure.

Interestingly, studies employing visual masked priming paradigms have shown that unconsciously perceived information can trigger executive control in a variety of different ways. For example, Lau and Passingham (2007) had participants perform either a phonological or semantic task for a presented word depending on the identity of an instruction figure shown prior to the word. When presented with a square, participants had

to make a phonological judgment on the word, and when presented with a diamond, participants had to make a semantic judgment. A masked prime was presented prior to the instruction figure that was either congruent or incongruent in identity to the instruction figure. Lau and Passingham (2007) found that incongruent masked visual primes led to establishment of the incorrect task-set, reflected by impaired behavioral performance as well as activation in neural regions associated with the incorrect task and in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). These results suggest that unconsciously perceived information can influence executive control-related PFC activity, thereby suggesting that consciousness is not a prerequisite for the activation of this neural region. Furthermore, as Lau and Passingham (2007) note, the establishment of task-sets and goals is a critical component of executive control (see also Miller and Cohen, 2001), which indicates that unconsciously perceived information can have a significant impact on higher-order behavior.

In addition to establishment of task-sets, studies employing visual masked priming paradigms have demonstrated that unconsciously perceived visual information can trigger inhibitory control mechanisms and related PFC activity (van Gaal et al., 2008, 2010). For example, van Gaal et al. (2010) used a visual masked priming version of a Go/No-Go task, in which participants were instructed to press a button in response to a Go stimulus (a white annulus), but to inhibit that response if a No-Go prime (a white square) appeared before the Go stimulus. The authors found that consciously imperceptible masked No-Go primes were able to increase reaction times, suggesting triggering of inhibitory control mechanisms that resulted in a slow-down in responding, compared to masked Go primes (a white diamond). Furthermore, masked No-Go trials were associated with activity in brain regions associated with inhibitory control, namely inferior frontal cortex and the pre-supplementary motor area. Thus, unconsciously perceived information appears to be able to trigger different types of executive control mechanisms and their PFC neural substrate (see also Verbruggen and Logan, 2009; Wokke et al., 2011).

# SOCIAL INFLUENCES ON EXECUTIVE CONTROL

Although the studies discussed above provide compelling evidence for unconscious triggering of executive control, they have almost exclusively used visual masked priming paradigms to demonstrate these effects. In order to obtain a more comprehensive view of the relationship between unconscious processing and executive control, it is important to investigate other domains that can inform our understanding of this topic. The social psychological literature has reported unconscious influences of the social environment on a myriad of complex behaviors, including traitconsistent behaviors (e.g., walking more slowly after presentation of words related to the elderly stereotype; Bargh et al., 1996), goalpursuit (e.g., Aarts et al., 2004), and helping behavior (e.g., Garcia et al., 2002; see Ferguson and Bargh, 2004 for a review). However, the question remains as to whether social information can trigger executive control in an unconscious fashion. In the current review, we contend that not only is this a possible phenomenon, but that unconscious social influences on executive control occur in a pervasive manner in our everyday lives.

Before we turn to the evidence supporting this conclusion, it is useful to consider two questions. First, why might social information trigger executive control? And second, why might this influence occur in an unconscious fashion? Turning to the first question, the frontal lobes of the primate brain have been suggested to support two impressive domains of human cognition: executive control as well as social cognition. The frontal lobes are thought to serve as a key neural substrate for social cognition due to the need for behavioral regulation in a manner that is sensitive to the current social context (see Adolphs, 2001, 2010 for reviews). Furthermore, it has been suggested that the evolution of the primate brain, particularly the expansion of the frontal lobes, occurred in response to the social complexity of our environments (Humphrey, 1976; Dunbar, 2003; Dunbar and Shultz, 2007). In light of the tight link between executive control and social cognition, it is perhaps not too surprising that social information can serve as a trigger of executive control. However, can this influence occur without our awareness? Humans' conscious executive control resources, although impressive in the ability to support behavior in both a flexible and goal-directed fashion, are thought to be limited in nature. Thus, the ability for social information to trigger executive control without our awareness may allow us to automatically and efficiently suppress socially inappropriate response tendencies through practice over time, thereby greasing the cogs of social interaction (Suhler and Churchland, 2009; van Gaal et al., 2010).

Given the ubiquitous nature of social influences in our environment, there are several ways in which social information can trigger executive control without our awareness. In the current review, we consider behavioral and neural evidence from paradigms involving social priming of task-sets and hierarchical roles, as well as interpersonal interactions, and their unconscious influences on executive control. We focus on evidence from two types of techniques (see Bargh and Chartrand, 2000; Smith and Galinsky, 2010 for reviews of these methods). First, we focus on priming techniques involving the unconscious activation of participants' social knowledge and subsequent carry-over effects to executive control tasks. Next, we focus on the use of social interactions as a means of activating social knowledge and unconscious carry-over effects affecting executive control in new situations.

At which levels of processing do these unconscious social influences operate? In some cases discussed in this review, social knowledge is activated unconsciously and participants also remain unaware that this information influences executive control. In other cases, processing of social information and triggering of executive control in a social situation may be conscious, but participants are not aware that this experience has an impact on executive control in a seemingly unrelated situation. Thus, although the level at which unconscious influences operate can vary across studies, what the reviewed studies have in common is that they involve unconscious carry-over effects of social information processing on executive control.

# **SOCIAL PRIMING**

The social priming paradigm serves as a commonly used technique in the social psychology literature and involves the use of a manipulation that is designed to prime, or activates, social knowledge (e.g., a trait). The priming task can take one of many different forms, such as filling out a questionnaire in which participants are asked to provide their thoughts regarding a particular social concept, solving a scrambled sentences task where certain keywords are embedded within the sentence, or completing a lexical decision task where keywords serve as a subset of the word stimuli (see Bargh and Chartrand, 2000). Participants are then asked to complete an ostensibly unrelated task, which in actuality, serves as the dependent measure. The social priming technique assesses the impact of implicit activation of social knowledge on judgments and behaviors to the extent that participants are unaware of the influence of the priming task on the main dependent measure (Bargh, 1992; Bargh and Chartrand, 2000). The level of awareness can vary depending on the type of priming manipulation. For example, in the case of social conceptual priming, participants complete a task (e.g., scrambled sentences task) involving words (e.g., "lonely," "forgetful," "wrinkle") related to a particular social concept (e.g., the elderly stereotype; see Bargh et al., 1996). In this type of priming task, participants are aware of the words and sentences. However, they are typically unaware of the activation of social knowledge concepts as well as subsequent effects on a seemingly unrelated task. In the case of social mindset priming, participants complete a task (e.g., filling out a questionnaire asking them to reflect on a time when they had power over someone else) that explicitly asks them to think about a social concept (e.g., social power; Galinsky et al., 2003). In this type of priming task, participants are aware of the activation of social knowledge; however, they tend to remain unaware that this activation persists to influence performance on a seemingly unrelated task (see Bargh and Chartrand, 2000; Smith and Galinsky, 2010 for reviews).

Social priming techniques share much in common with visual masked priming paradigms in that both types of methods aim to uncover unconscious influences on cognitive processes. However, there are also important differences which should be noted. In the case of visual masked priming paradigms, participants are both unaware of having perceived the masked prime as well as its subsequent effects on performance. In contrast, conceptual and mindset forms of social priming often, although not necessarily, involve conscious perception of the prime; however, the influence of this knowledge on subsequent performance tends to operate in an unconscious fashion. In order to ensure the success of the experimenters' cover story that the social priming and dependent measure tasks were unrelated, participants are extensively debriefed to assess their level of awareness at the conclusion of the experiment. Although some have criticized this method of assessing unconscious processing of social information (Orne, 1962; see Ferguson and Bargh, 2004 for a review), the social priming technique has been widely accepted as a means of assessing the unconscious influences of social information on behavior.

# SOCIAL PRIMING OF TASK-SETS AND GOALS

Social priming techniques have been used to demonstrate how the activation of social knowledge can unconsciously affect executive control. In a recent study, Goldfarb et al. (2011) had participants first perform two blocks of the Stroop task (Stroop, 1935), a classic measure of executive control that assesses participants' abilities

to resolve conflict between competing incompatible responses. In this task, participants must name the ink color of a presented stimulus whose meaning is either congruent (e.g., "red" presented in red ink), incongruent ("red" presented in blue ink), or neutral (e.g., "xxxx" presented in red ink), with respect to the ink color. Participants then completed an ostensibly unrelated questionnaire, which served as the social priming manipulation. In this questionnaire, participants were asked to imagine a typical day for a severely dyslexic individual as a means of priming a "do not read" task-set. Following the priming manipulation, participants performed two additional blocks of the Stroop task. Interestingly, participants failed to show a significant Stroop effect (i.e., difference in reaction times for incongruent and congruent trials) only for the block immediately following the dyslexia priming manipulation. In a control social priming condition, participants were asked to imagine a typical day for an individual with severe mathematical difficulty, and no reduction in the Stroop effect was found for this condition. Furthermore, debriefing indicated that participants were not aware of the relationship between the social priming manipulation and the Stroop task. This study suggests that the dyslexia social priming manipulation temporarily activated a task-set and subsequent behavior in line with this task-set in the absence of participants' awareness. Thus, this study serves as a social analog to Lau and Passingham (2007) in demonstrating that social priming, similar to the visual masked priming paradigm, can establish a task-set in an unconscious fashion.

These results are in line with several previous studies demonstrating that similar to task-sets, goals can be activated in an automatic fashion, such that perceiving another individual pursuing a particular goal can lead to activation of the same goal within the perceiver (e.g., Aarts et al., 2004). This phenomenon of "goal contagion" suggests that the social environment can exert a powerful influence on our behavior, in ways that are often beyond our awareness. Goals often involve self-regulation of one's own thoughts, actions, and emotions. For example, self-regulatory abilities allow us to resist the temptation of a piece of cake when one's goal involves dieting, and enable us to study for an exam rather than attend a party when one's goal involves doing well in a course (Ackerman et al., 2009). Self-regulation is thought to rely on executive control resources, such as inhibitory control (see Baumeister, 1998; Barkley, 2001).

The examples of self-regulation provided above seem to involve difficult and deliberate choices that are conscious in nature. How might social information trigger self-regulation in an unconscious fashion? Although the bulk of research on self-regulation has focused on intra-personal self-regulatory processes, more recent studies suggest that inter-personal social factors can influence the success of self-regulation, and that this influence can occur in an unconscious fashion (see Fitzsimons and Finkel, 2010 for a review).

For example, recent work has demonstrated that social priming manipulations can influence self-regulation. Ackerman et al. (2009) had participants read either a story about a hungry waiter/waitress who had to exercise self-control by not eating the delicious food being served at the restaurant where he/she worked, or a story about a waiter/waitress who was not hungry and did not have to exercise self-control. Some participants were instructed to adopt the perspective of the waiter/waitress, whereas others were simply instructed to read the story. Participants then performed seemingly unrelated tasks requiring self-regulation in different domains, including indicating their willingness to spend money on luxury goods as well as persistence in a lexical generation task. Interestingly, the authors found that participants who adopted the perspective of the hungry waiter/waitress demonstrated less self-control (e.g., less words generated in the lexical generation task), suggesting depletion of self-regulatory resources, compared to participants who adopted the perspective of the waiter/waitress who did not have to exercise selfcontrol. In contrast, participants who merely read about the hungry waiter/waitress exercised greater self-control (e.g., more words generated in the lexical generation task), indicating a goalcontagion effect, compared to participants who read the story that did not involve self-control. These results suggest that the self-regulation of others can unconsciously influence our own self-regulatory abilities, and that the nature of this impact can depend on the extent to which we adopt the perspective of others. In sum, social information can unconsciously trigger executive control in the form of establishing task-sets and goals, as well as guiding behavior accordingly.

# PRIMING OF SOCIAL HIERARCHIES AND POWER DYNAMICS

In addition to task-sets and goals, social priming methods have also been used to investigate the unconscious influence of social roles on behavior. In our everyday lives, we tend to serve a variety of social roles (e.g., teacher, student, parent, child, boss, employee, etc.) depending on our relationships with other people in our environments (Fiske, 1992). How do these roles guide our behavior? And more specifically, can these roles trigger executive control in the absence of our awareness? Below, we focus on social hierarchical roles and their unconscious influence on executive control.

Social hierarchies play an important role in our everyday lives and have an impact on how we interact with other people (Cummins, 2000). Those who have higher positions in social hierarchies tend to wield more power, in that they exert greater control over the behaviors of other people. These power dynamics tend to influence where we direct our social attention, such that individuals with less power tend to direct their attention to those who control their fates (Fiske, 1993; cf. Overbeck and Park, 2006). However, social power roles also have broader consequences on the processing of information and guidance of behaviors that are not explicitly social in nature. Indeed, power can be conceived of as a psychological construct that upon activation, results in broad downstream effects influencing how we think, feel, and behave across a variety of social and non-social contexts (Galinsky et al., 2003; Keltner et al., 2003; Smith and Galinsky, 2010). The psychological construct of power can be activated in either a conscious or unconscious fashion with similar effects on behavior (Galinsky et al., 2003). Smith and Galinsky (2010) noted that not only can power influence behavior unconsciously, but these unconscious influences also have far-reaching consequences in our daily lives. For example, individuals primed with high power roles tend to engage in more abstract thinking on both conceptual and perceptual tasks (Smith and Trope, 2006) and are also more likely

to engage in action across a broad variety of contexts, including those unrelated to the possession of power (Galinsky et al., 2003).

A few recent studies have shown that social power roles can have an impact on executive control in the absence of participants' awareness. Guinote (2007) investigated the impact of social power roles on attentional control across a series of experiments. After completing a manipulation designed to prime either high-power or low-power social roles, such as describing a previous incident in which participants had power over others (high power) or others had power over them (low power), participants completed seemingly unrelated tasks targeting the ability to focus on taskrelevant information in the presence of distracting task-irrelevant information. For example, in one of these tasks, participants were asked to indicate the orientation (i.e., upright or inverted) of presented objects by pressing either a left or right key on a keyboard. The images of objects also contained salient task-irrelevant information in the form of a handle on either the right or left side of the object. On compatible trials, there was a match between the correct button to be pressed and the side of the object on which the handle appeared, whereas incompatible trials featured a mismatch between these dimensions. As more powerful individuals depend less upon situational constraints and have more control over their environment, Guinote (2007) hypothesized that these people may be better able to allocate their attention to taskrelevant information and ignore task-irrelevant information. In contrast, powerless individuals are more dependent upon externally defined constraints. Thus, they may need to simultaneously process multiple cues due to uncertainty regarding which cues are task-relevant or task-irrelevant. In support of these hypotheses, Guinote (2007) found that low power-primed individuals' reaction times were influenced by the compatibility of the handle position with the hand used to make the response, indicating that task-irrelevant information influenced their performance. In contrast, high power-primed individuals' reaction times did not differ between compatible and incompatible trials. These results suggest that high power-primed participants were better able to allocate attention to goal-relevant information compared to low power-primed participants.

Additional work has further explored the impact of social power roles on executive control by focusing on the effects of powerlessness on specific executive control mechanisms, including updating, inhibiting, and planning (Smith et al., 2008). Smith et al. (2008) primed social power roles through a variety of means, including assignment of participants to either superior or subordinate roles for a purported future interaction that never took place, a sentence-unscrambling task featuring words associated with either low or high power, and a writing task in which participants had to describe a situation in which they felt that they had high or low power. Across separate experiments, participants then completed executive control tasks targeting updating (n-back task), inhibition (Stroop task), or planning (Tower of Hanoi task). Smith et al. (2008) consistently found that low power-primed participants demonstrated poorer performance (i.e., higher error rates in the n-back task, higher error rates for incongruent trials in the Stroop task, greater number of moves for conflict trials in Tower of Hanoi task) compared to high

power-primed participants for each specific executive control mechanism that was targeted.

In order to further target the source of executive impairments associated with low power, Smith et al. (2008) conducted an additional experiment in which participants performed one of two variants of the Stroop task. In one of these variants, participants were presented with a high proportion of congruent trials, where goal maintenance demands are high due to the ability to successfully perform the task by reading the word, thereby neglecting the goal to focus on the ink color, on the majority of trials. In the other variant, participants were presented with a high proportion of incongruent trials, thereby keeping goal maintenance demands low from trial to trial, but increasing inhibition demands. The authors found a difference in performance between high and low power-primed participants only for the Stroop task variant with a high proportion of congruent trials, with low power-primed participants demonstrating higher error rates on incongruent trials compared to high power-primed participants. Thus, the authors contend that low power-primed participants' poorer performance stemmed from goal neglect, or difficulty in maintaining a goal for a given task. Although participants in this study were randomly assigned to high or low power priming conditions, the authors contend that these findings have implications for social hierarchies within organizations. As those with low power must often rely on others for instructions or directions, they may have fewer opportunities to pursue their own goals. Smith et al. (2008) speculate that low power roles may further contribute to this disparity through impairment of the very cognitive processes necessary for goal maintenance and pursuit. Similar to Guinote (2007) findings, these results suggest that social power roles unconsciously influence executive control.

# **NEURAL CORRELATES OF SOCIAL POWER PRIMING**

In addition to the behavioral evidence discussed above, neural evidence suggests that priming of social power roles can unconsciously trigger PFC activity that may reflect engagement of executive control mechanisms. For example, Boksem et al. (2009) demonstrated that during a priming task in which participants were asked to write about a previous situation where they had either high or low power, increased EEG activity in left (relative to right) PFC was associated with the high-power versus low-power priming task. Previous work has suggested that both high-power roles (e.g., Keltner et al., 2003) and increased left (relative to right) PFC activation (e.g., Sutton and Davidson, 1997) are associated with approach motivation. Thus, the authors speculate that high-power roles may engage PFC-mediated executive control mechanisms involved in goal-directed behavior and facilitation of approach tendencies. Although these findings indicate a link between social power roles and PFC activity, the extent to which this PFC activity reflects recruitment of executive control mechanisms remains speculative in nature. However, Boksem and colleagues have explored this issue further. Recent work by Boksem et al. (2011) suggests that low power social roles may not necessarily lead to a generalized deficit in executive control, but rather, may influence the types of executive control mechanisms that participants recruit. Boksem et al. (2011) found that participants who were assigned a lower status in an interactive time

estimation task demonstrated a stronger medial frontal negativity, an event-related potential that serves as a measure of participants' evaluation and monitoring of their performance, compared to high-status individuals. As noted by the authors, these findings suggest that lower status individuals are more likely to engage in monitoring and adjustment of their performance, which stands in contrast to the work of Guinote (2007) and Smith et al. (2008). However, Boksem et al. (2011) suggest that rather than having poorer executive control, low power individuals may rely on a different executive control system that is more adaptive to their more unpredictable environments. Specifically, the authors propose that low-status individuals may rely on a reactive control system, which operates in a transient fashion and is triggered in response to a stimulus. In contrast, high-status individuals may rely on a proactive control system, which involves the active, sustained maintenance of task-relevant information (see also Braver et al., 2008).

Evidence from neuroimaging studies suggests the sensitivity of PFC to cues associated with social power roles. Marsh et al. (2009) had participants perform a gender discrimination task for photographs of male and female actors depicting high-status (e.g., low brow position) and low-status (e.g., high brow position) cues. Marsh et al. (2009) found increased activity in right ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) and left DLPFC associated with implicit processing of high-status versus low-status cues. Marsh et al. (2009) suggest that this activation may reflect the role of PFC in guiding behavior in an appropriate fashion given the current social context. Additionally, neuroimaging evidence suggests the sensitivity of PFC to social power roles, even when they are irrelevant to task performance. Zink et al. (2008) created an explicit social hierarchy in the context of a game situation, in which participants simultaneously played a game with one of two other simulated players, one of whom was superior in status to the participant and the other who was inferior in status. The game was non-competitive in nature such that status was irrelevant to the outcome of the game. Interestingly, the authors found greater DLPFC activity when participants viewed the picture of a superior versus inferior-status player, and this difference in DLPFC activity was not observed in a nonsocial version of the task where participants played with non-human computer players. The authors suggest that DLPFC plays a role in the processing of social hierarchical information.

In sum, results from EEG, ERP, and fMRI studies demonstrate that social power roles can trigger activity in DLPFC, even when those roles are not task-relevant. In light of the abundant evidence suggesting the critical role of DLPFC in supporting executive control, the studies discussed above indicate the sensitivity of this executive control-related neural region to social hierarchies. Together with the behavioral results discussed above, these studies suggest that social power roles have far-reaching consequences for our behavior, and that these influences often occur outside of our awareness. It is important to note that the majority of these studies have speculated rather than explicitly tested that observed PFC activity reflects engagement of executive control mechanisms. However, given that the PFC's role in social cognition has been suggested to consist of the engagement of executive control to regulate social behaviors (see Adolphs, 2001), these speculations do not seem unwarranted. Nonetheless, further investigation is clearly necessary in order to elucidate the specific contributions of PFC to social power dynamics.

# **SOCIAL INTERACTIONS**

The studies reviewed thus far have demonstrated how the activation of social knowledge can have important downstream consequences for our abilities to use executive control in seemingly unrelated situations. These studies have tended to employ subtle priming manipulations, such as reading about other individuals or performing a simple scrambled sentences task. Although impressive in terms of their subtlety, one could argue that these types of manipulations do not truly capture the social nature of our environments.

As social creatures, we spend a great deal of time interacting with others. Can these social interactions affect executive control? And can this influence occur in an unconscious fashion? Below, we review evidence suggesting that social interactions can trigger executive control in surprising ways, and that this influence occurs without our awareness more often than we may think. The results of several studies indicate that not only the types of social interactions, but also the types of interaction partners, can unconsciously influence executive control. In particular, we consider how subtle aspects of our social interactions, such as interpersonal coordination and behavioral mimicry, as well as the gender and race of our interaction partners can trigger executive control in the absence of our awareness.

# **TYPES OF SOCIAL INTERACTIONS**

# High-maintenance social interactions

Our daily lives often involve working on tasks with other individuals. For example, we may work with others in order to design an experiment or write a paper at work, or cook a meal with friends at home. Although working with others can increase efficiency, sometimes social coordination is inefficient and taxing in nature. Recent work suggests that the nature of social interactions involving coordination can affect self-regulation, which as noted above, is thought to rely on executive control mechanisms. Due to the limited nature of self-regulatory resources, our deployment of these resources comes at a cost, such that executive control may be depleted for subsequent situations requiring the same resources (Muraven and Baumeister, 2000; Baumeister, 2002; cf. Job et al., 2010). Thus, the depletion of these resources due to an effortful social interaction can result in fewer resources available for subsequent situations, even those that are non-social in nature.

Under this hypothesis, recent work has investigated the impact of high-maintenance social interactions, which involve inefficient social coordination, on self-regulation. Finkel et al. (2006) had participants first engage in either a high- or low-maintenance interaction with a confederate in the context of a collaborative task. In high-maintenance interactions, confederates impeded social coordination (e.g., deliberately making errors when giving directions to the participant), whereas in low-maintenance interactions, confederates facilitated social coordination (e.g., making no errors when giving directions and remaining in sync with the participant). After the social interaction, participants performed ostensibly unrelated tasks designed to assess self-regulatory abilities, such as preference for easy versus challenging tasks, and performance on an anagram task and Graduate Record Examination questions. Across studies, the authors found that high-maintenance social interactions resulted in impaired self-regulation on subsequent unrelated tasks. Furthermore, this effect was not mediated by conscious awareness of the highmaintenance nature of the social interaction, which was assessed via participants' self-reports of subjectively experienced depletion, liking for their interaction partner, or mood. The authors suggest that this effect may stem from the depletion of selfregulatory resources during high-maintenance interactions, as individuals may need to resist the temptation to discontinue the interaction or respond in socially inappropriate ways. These results suggest that high-maintenance social interactions can deplete self-regulatory resources without our awareness, and that this impact extends to subsequent unrelated situations that also rely on self-regulatory abilities.

# **Behavioral mimicry**

Behavioral mimicry serves as another example of an unconscious influence of social interactions on executive control. We tend to mimic the behaviors of others, such as imitation of others' physical gestures and mannerisms, and this can facilitate social interactions (Chartrand and Bargh, 1999; Chartrand and Dalton, 2009). Behavioral mimicry is thought to operate via implicit schemas activated in an automatic and context-dependent fashion (Bavelas et al., 1986; Bernieri, 1988; Chartrand and Bargh, 1999; Lakin et al., 2003). However, situations in which mimicry violates social norms disables the use of schemas, and as a result, social interactions proceed in a more effortful fashion.

Dalton et al. (2009) examined the cognitive consequences of violation of mimicry norms in a series of experiments, with a focus on the impact of behavioral mimicry on the availability of executive and self-regulatory resources (see also Finkel et al., 2006, Experiment 5). In one experiment, Dalton et al. (2009) investigated the impact of social power roles, in the context of social interactions, on executive control. As noted above, priming of social power roles can trigger executive control. Power dynamics also provide a set of social norms that tend to guide behavior in ways appropriate to one's social role. For example, those people in social roles associated with less power, such as workers, tend to mimic the behavior of those people in social roles associated with more power, such as leaders (Cheng and Chartrand, 2003). The extent to which these norms are followed can have downstream effects on executive control, and strikingly, these effects can occur in an unconscious fashion. Thus, going beyond the priming of power roles, power dynamics can unconsciously affect executive control in the context of social interactions with others.

Dalton et al. (2009) manipulated social roles by assigning some participants to be leaders for a future interaction which did not take place and was only mentioned as a means of manipulating social roles. Other participants were assigned to be workers, where a confederate played the complementary social role (e.g., a worker, if the participant had been designated as a leader). Participants and confederates then completed a joint photo description task, where the confederate either did or did not behaviorally mimic the participant. For the condition featuring behavioral mimicry, the confederate mimicked the postures, gestures, and mannerisms of the participant, including crossing arms and legs, as well as touching one's own face and hair. For the no-mimicry condition, the confederate remained behaviorally out of sync with the participant, such that there was a constant mismatch in physical behaviors between the confederate and participant throughout the joint task. The authors found that when behavioral mimicry violated social norms (i.e., the leader confederate behaviorally mimicked the worker participant, or the worker confederate did not behaviorally mimic the leader participant), participants demonstrated greater interference (i.e., larger difference in reaction times between incongruent and neutral trials) on a subsequent Stroop task. Furthermore, none of the debriefed participants indicated awareness of being mimicked during the photo description task, suggesting that the impact of behavioral mimicry on executive control occurred in an unconscious fashion. These results expand on the findings of Finkel et al. (2006) to demonstrate the powerful impact of inefficient or counter-normative social interactions on executive control, even in situations where participants are not aware of the high-maintenance nature of the social interaction.

# IMPRESSION MANAGEMENT AND IDENTITY OF INTERACTION PARTNERS

Another important aspect of our everyday lives concerns how we present ourselves to others. Self-presentation (i.e., impression management) refers to the processes involved in managing the impression that one presents to others, and has important consequences for several aspects of our daily lives, including making friends, developing romantic relationships, getting a job, and acquiring other social and financial rewards or outcomes (Baumeister, 1982; Leary and Kowalski, 1990; Vohs et al., 2005). Importantly, impression management can differ depending on the social context and can also vary in terms of the level of awareness involved (see Baumeister, 1982; Schlenker and Weigold, 1992 for reviews). In familiar situations, such as talking with a good friend, we tend to rely on well-practiced behaviors that can proceed in an automatic, effortless fashion. However, in unfamiliar or novel situations, such talking to the president of the company where we work, we may have to rely on more effortful processing in order to effectively control our behaviors to be in line with the impression that we wish to convey.

Such effortful impression management has been suggested to rely on self-regulatory resources and to have important consequences for subsequent situations reliant on self-regulation (Vohs et al., 2005). In order to test this hypothesis, Vohs et al. (2005) conducted a series of experiments in which participants first engaged in effortful, counter-normative self-presentation situations, such as presenting oneself in a modest fashion to a stranger or in a self-enhancing fashion to a friend. Participants then completed a variety of seemingly unrelated measures designed to assess self-regulatory abilities, such as persistence on a set of math problems and suppression of emotional responses while watching an upsetting video. Across these experiments, the authors found that self-presentation in unfamiliar or counternormative situations resulted in less self-regulatory ability on a subsequent task. Furthermore, the authors tested whether this relationship held in the other direction. For example, participants first performed the Stroop task, followed by a seemingly unrelated task involving a social interaction. The authors found that taxing self-regulatory resources in this manner led to inappropriate self-presentation in a subsequent social interaction. In sum, these experiments provide evidence suggesting that impression management can affect executive control in an unconscious fashion.

#### Impression management: opposite-sex interactions

Several studies have elaborated on the work of Vohs et al. (2005) to show how impression management depending on the identity of interaction partners affects executive control in subsequent tasks. For example, for heterosexual individuals, interacting with a member of the opposite sex can often involve high levels of impression management concerns (Baumeister, 1982; Bruch et al., 1989). Karremans et al. (2009) recently investigated the impact of impression management associated with opposite-sex interactions on performance on executive control tasks assessing updating (n-back task) as well as task-switching and inhibition (modified Simon task). In two experiments, the authors found that heterosexual male participants who engaged in a brief interaction with an opposite-sex confederate demonstrated poorer performance on subsequent executive control tasks compared with male participants who interacted with a same-sex confederate. It is important to note that similar to the experiments conducted by Vohs et al. (2005), Karremans et al. (2009) led participants to believe that the social interaction and executive control task components of the experiment were unrelated, suggesting that the influence of the social interaction on executive control operated on an unconscious level.

Interestingly, recent work shows that even the presence of another individual within a specific socio-evaluative context can affect executive control. Dreisbach and Bottcher (2011) had female participants perform a flanker task (Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974), in which participants were asked to indicate the direction of a central left or right pointing arrow that was flanked by arrows pointing in either the same (compatible trials) or different (incompatible trials) direction. Each trial was preceded by a picture of either a landscape or an attractive woman. Concurrently, a fellow student or the romantic partner of the participant evaluated the attractiveness of either the landscapes or the pictures of women. The fellow student or romantic partner performed the evaluation task in the same room as the participant, and was given verbal instructions for the evaluation task such that the participant could hear the instructions. The authors found that participants demonstrated impaired performance on incompatible flanker trials (those trials that invoke executive control) only following pictures of attractive women, but not landscapes. Furthermore, this impairment was only observed in situations where a fellow student or the participant's romantic partner concurrently rated the attractiveness of the pictures of women, but not landscapes. The authors interpret the selectivity of these results as stemming from participants' affective reaction to concurrent evaluation of socially threatening stimuli. Thus, this study suggests the importance of the social context within which we exert executive control. As the authors note, humans typically tend to operate within a social context. Consequently, our social

environments are likely to have a pervasive influence on our abilities to exert executive control, even in tasks that are seemingly unrelated to the current social context.

### Impression management: interracial interactions

In addition to the sex of our interaction partners, the work of Richeson and colleagues demonstrates that the race of one's interaction partner can also trigger executive control. Richeson and Shelton (2003) found that participants with higher levels of implicit racial bias, assessed via the Implicit Association Test (IAT; Greenwald et al., 1998), demonstrated poorer executive control (i.e., greater Stroop interference) following an interracial interaction than after an interaction with someone of the same race. These results suggest that interracial interactions can have an impact on executive control in seemingly unrelated situations where race is no longer a part of the social context.

In a subsequent study, Richeson et al. (2003) investigated the neural mechanisms underlying the relationship between racial bias, interracial interactions, and executive control. Participants first took part in a behavioral testing session, in which they completed the IAT as well as the Stroop task, following either a same-race or inter-racial interaction with a confederate. At least two weeks later, participants were contacted by a different experimenter and asked to take place in an ostensibly unrelated fMRI study, in which they viewed unfamiliar black and white faces in the context of a spatial perception task. The authors found that neural activity in lateral PFC and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) in response to viewing pictures of unfamiliar black, but not white, faces predicted participants' Stroop interference effects following an interracial, but not a same-race, interaction. Importantly, the authors demonstrated that lateral PFC activity was a significant mediator of the relationship between racial bias scores and Stroop interference, suggesting that interracial interactions may temporarily tax executive control abilities supported by PFC, thus leading to impaired Stroop performance.

Although the results of the studies discussed above suggest that interracial interactions can impact executive control, the nature of this influence remains unclear. That is, why might interracial interactions lead to impaired executive control? In follow-up work, Richeson and Trawalter (2005) showed that this relationship appears to stem from the depletion of self-regulation. In one experiment, the authors increased the self-regulatory demand of interracial interactions, by providing participants with false negative feedback about the extent of prejudice revealed by their IAT scores, prior to having the participants engage in the interaction. This led to greater subsequent Stroop interference compared to a control condition in which participants were provided with false negative feedback about their IAT scores that was unrelated to prejudice. In a separate experiment, the authors found that reducing self-regulatory demand, accomplished by providing participants with a script for a discussion about a racially sensitive topic with a black confederate, resulted in less subsequent Stroop interference compared to a control condition in which participants were not provided with a script. Importantly, the manipulation of self-regulatory demands had an impact on Stroop performance only after interracial, but not same-race, interactions. This work suggests potential mechanisms through

which interracial interactions may trigger and deplete executive control, namely via anxiety or concern regarding the appearance of being prejudiced (see also Vorauer et al., 2000; Blascovich et al., 2001). Although the majority of the work of Richeson and colleagues has focused on racial bias in white participants, it is important to note that they have also found a depleting impact of implicit racial bias on executive control in black participants following interracial interactions (Richeson et al., 2005). In sum, the work of Richeson and colleagues suggests that interracial interactions can serve as an unconscious trigger of executive control mechanisms, leading to a temporary depletion of these resources.

Interestingly, interracial interactions can also trigger executive control through violation of social mimicry norms (Dalton et al., 2009). As same-race interactions are typically associated with a greater extent of behavioral mimicry compared to interracial interactions, those situations that feature a violation of these mimicry norms can trigger executive control. For example, Dalton et al. (2009) found that same-race interactions featuring a lack of behavioral mimicry and inter-racial interactions featuring higher levels of behavioral mimicry than normal were associated with greater subsequent Stroop interference. These results suggest that counter-normative behavioral mimicry triggered executive control depending on the correspondence between the level of behavioral mimicry and the race of one's interaction partner.

The results discussed thus far may lead one to think that interracial interactions inevitably lead to negative consequences for executive control. Thus, these findings may serve as cause for concern. However, it is important to note that not all interracial interactions necessarily lead to depletion of executive control. In particular, the context in which these interactions occur has the potential to influence their impact on executive control (Babbitt and Sommers, 2011; see also Trawalter et al., 2009). Babbitt and Sommers (2011) manipulated the interaction context for interracial and same-race (all white) dyads to either have a social focus or a task focus. Following the interaction, participants completed the Stroop task as a measure of executive control. The results of this study indicate that the task-focus condition led to a significant decrease in the extent of executive control depletion (i.e., smaller Stroop interference effects) compared to the social-focus condition for black participants in interracial dyads. Although a similar pattern was observed for whites, this effect did not reach significance. In follow-up experiments, Babbitt and Sommers (2011) found that manipulation of interaction context led to changes in self-reported concerns. In particular, white participants reported less concern about coming across as prejudiced, and black participants reported less concern about experiencing prejudice in the task-focus versus social-focus conditions. This study provides evidence suggesting that the framing or context of interracial interactions can have important downstream consequences for executive control. In particular, these results suggest an effective means of reducing the tendency of interracial interactions to deplete executive control.

# SOCIAL INTERACTIONS: POSITIVE IMPACT ON EXECUTIVE CONTROL?

Babbitt and Sommers (2011) suggest one possible method of reducing the depleting effects of interracial interactions on executive control. But do social interactions always result in the depletion of executive control resources? Using the metaphor of self-regulatory or executive control resources as a muscle (Muraven and Baumeister, 2000), are there situations in which exercising this muscle can lead to facilitation, rather than fatigue, in subsequent situations reliant on executive control? If so, what types of situations lead to boosts in executive control?

Given the reliance of perspective-taking abilities on executive control (see Decety and Jackson, 2004 for a review), recent work has investigated the hypothesis that social situations that encourage perspective-taking lead to boosts in executive control. Ybarra et al. (2011) primed participants with either cooperative or competitive social goals via description of a future social interaction in either cooperative or competitive terms. This future interaction, in fact, never took place and was used only to prime participants' tendency to engage in perspective-taking. Participants then engaged in a 10 min social interaction with a confederate, after which they completed a seemingly unrelated measure of executive control (Trail Making Test). Ybarra et al. (2011) showed that participants primed with a cooperative social goal demonstrated greater executive control performance compared to those participants in the competitive condition and a no-intervention control condition. Across two follow-up experiments, Ybarra et al. (2011) showed that competitive interactions can also lead to facilitated executive control, provided that participants are encouraged to engage in perspective-taking during these interactions. Based on these results, the authors suggest that situations that encourage perspective-taking can lead to boosts in executive control, perhaps by "warming up" this shared neural resource. However, the authors suggest that challenging social interactions (e.g., interracial interactions for those with higher racial bias) or those that result in withdrawal and a focus on the self rather than on the perspective of another, can lead to depletion of executive control resources.

#### **CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

As noted in the Introduction, much of the cognitive literature on unconscious information processing in executive control has focused on evidence from visual masked priming paradigms. In this review, we have discussed evidence from several social psychology studies demonstrating that in addition to *stimuli* outside of awareness, unconscious information processing can also refer to *mental processes* that operate without awareness (see Bargh and Morsella, 2008). In particular, we have considered converging evidence from the social domain and highlighted both the pervasive and unconscious influences of social factors on behavioral and neural correlates of executive control. These social factors represent common elements of our everyday lives, including social power roles as well as interactions involving social coordination, behavioral mimicry, and interactions with individuals of the opposite sex and other races.

In addition to recognizing that social factors can unintentionally influence executive control, it is important to consider how this may occur. The studies we have discussed in this review suggest some mechanisms. Social information can unintentionally trigger the establishment of task-sets (e.g., Goldfarb et al., 2011) and pursuit of goals, including those involving self-control (e.g., Ackerman et al., 2009). These task-sets and goals, established via social means such as reading about another individual or trying to adopt someone's perspective, can then guide behavior in a goal-consistent fashion. Information pertaining to social hierarchies and social power roles can also unconsciously influence executive control abilities, such as active maintenance of task- or goal-relevant information (e.g., Guinote, 2007; Smith et al., 2008) and related PFC activity (e.g., Boksem et al., 2009). As noted by Miller and Cohen (2001), the establishment and maintenance of goals and subsequent biasing of behavior in line with these goals serves as the principal function of PFC.

Another way in which social information can affect executive control involves the depletion of self-regulatory resources. As suggested by Vohs et al. (2005); Finkel et al. (2006); and Dalton et al. (2009) social interactions proceeding in an inefficient or counter-normative fashion may deplete self-regulatory resources. As a result, this depletion can have an impact on subsequent tasks dependent on these same self-regulatory resources, such as executive control tasks. Work by Richeson and colleagues (e.g., Richeson et al., 2005) has also shown that interracial interactions may deplete self-regulatory resources, perhaps due to concerns about appearing prejudiced, and lead to subsequent executive control impairments. Furthermore, activity in PFC appears to mediate this relationship (Richeson et al., 2003).

The studies discussed in this review have demonstrated several ways in which social factors can influence executive control in an unconscious fashion. However, they also suggest additional questions and avenues for further research. We offer two such avenues here. First, which factors determine whether a social interaction impairs or boosts executive control? Preliminary evidence suggests that interactions involving perspective-taking can lead to facilitation of executive control (Ybarra et al., 2011). This finding suggests the potential for using perspective-taking manipulations to offset the self-regulatory depletion caused by effortful interactions, such as during a high-maintenance interaction, or when interacting with someone of a different race. Further research is necessary to determine other social factors that can boost executive control. Dalton et al. (2009) have suggested that behavioral mimicry in the context of close relationships may serve to replenish executive control resources. The extent to which perspective-taking and behavioral mimicry can boost or replenish executive control should be tested across a variety of different social contexts, as this could have important consequences for the successful utilization of executive control and self-regulation in our daily lives. Additionally, further research is needed on the neural correlates of how social interactions affect executive control. Previous neuroimaging studies have largely been unable to investigate the effects of naturalistic social interactions on neural activity due to the constraints of functional neuroimaging methods. However, recent work has introduced novel methods for implementing online, face-to-face social interactions during fMRI scanning (Redcay et al., 2010), and these methods holds great promise for future work investigating the impact of social interactions on executive control.

Second, what is the duration of the impact of social priming and social interactions on executive control? In the case of the social priming technique, Goldfarb et al. (2011) found an impact on Stroop performance only in the block immediately following the dyslexia priming manipulation. This suggests that social priming effects are of short duration and may not have as farreaching consequences as a taxing social interaction. In further support of this idea, evidence from the power priming literature suggests that priming of power constructs yields similar, but less impactful, behavioral consequences compared with the actual possession of power (see Smith and Galinsky, 2010 for a review). The majority of studies employing social interactions have tended to investigate their impact on executive control for tasks immediately following the social interaction. Thus, the duration of these effects requires further study in order to determine the extent of their influence.

Additionally, it is important to note that although social information can unconsciously trigger executive control, this does not mean that all of our behavior is beyond our conscious control (see Suhler and Churchland, 2009). Rather, it is likely that both consciously and unconsciously processed information can trigger executive control depending on the situation, and that both consciously and unconsciously triggered control work in concert to efficiently guide behavior. Further research is clearly necessary to elucidate the similarities and differences between conscious and unconscious control mechanisms. In addition, further specification of the types of factors that can influence executive control will allow for identification of ways to combat these influences, particularly when they lead to undesirable behavioral consequences (e.g., depletion of self-regulatory resources).

Consideration of the unconscious influence of social factors on executive control holds a great deal of promise for future research. Indeed, based on the findings discussed in this review, it is critical to ask not only whether social information can unconsciously influence executive control, but also how these effects occur. In his seminal article on the social function of intellect, Humphrey (1976) described studying the recovery of vision in a rhesus monkey that had been kept in a cage in the laboratory. Although the monkey's recovery was somewhat limited within the laboratory, she showed a great improvement in spatial vision when she was allowed to spend time outdoors. Humphrey thus notes that "The limits on her recovery had been imposed directly by the limited environment in which she had been living" (1976, p. 308). In a similar fashion, a great deal of experimental psychological research involves testing participants' executive control abilities in isolation within the "cage" of the laboratory. However, in our daily lives, we are nearly always engaged in a social context. In order to better understand executive control processes, we must move beyond only studying participants in the limited social environment of the laboratory, and also consider the influence of social factors present in our everyday lives. Thus, greater consideration of the interplay between social factors and executive control may allow us to gain a deeper understanding of the mechanisms underlying regulation of human behavior.

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by NSF DRL 0644131. We thank Marcia Johnson and members of the Johnson lab for their helpful comments and suggestions.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Aarts, H., Gollwitzer, P. M., and Hassin, R. R. (2004). Goal contagion: perceiving is for pursuing. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 87, 23–37.
- Ackerman, J. M., Goldstein, N. J., Shapiro, J. R., and Bargh, J. A. (2009). You wear me out: the vicarious depletion of self-control. *Psychol. Sci.* 20, 326–332.
- Adolphs, R. (2001). The neurobiology of social cognition. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 11, 231–239.
- Adolphs, R. (2010). Conceptual challenges and directions for social neuroscience. *Neuron* 65, 752–767.
- Atkinson, R. C., and Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). "Human memory: a proposed system and its control Processes," in *The Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, Vol 2, eds K. W. Spence and J. T. Spence (New York, NY: Academic Press), 89–195.
- Babbitt, L. G., and Sommers, S. R. (2011). Framing matters: contextual influences on interracial interaction outcomes. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 37, 1233–1244.
- Bargh, J. A. (1992). "Being unaware of the stimulus versus unaware of its interpretation: Why subliminality per se does not matter to social psychology," in *Perception Without Awareness*, eds. R. Bornstein and T. Pittman (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 236–255.
- Bargh, J. A., and Chartrand, T. L. (2000). "The mind in the middle: a practical guide to priming and automaticity research," in *Handbook* of Research Methods in Social and Personality Psychology, eds. H. T. Reis and C. M. Judd (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 253–285.
- Bargh, J. A., Chen, M., and Burrows, L. (1996). Automaticity of social behavior: direct effects of trait construct and stereotype activation on action. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 71, 230–244.
- Bargh, J. A., and Morsella, E. (2008). The unconscious mind. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 3, 73–79.
- Barkley, R. A. (2001). The executive functions and self-regulation: an evolutionary neuropsychological perspective. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 11, 1–29.
- Baumeister, R. F. (1982). A selfpresentational view of social phenomena. *Psychol. Bull.* 91, 326.
- Baumeister, R. F. (1998). "The self," in Handbook of Social Psychology, 4th Edn. Vol. 2, eds D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, and G. Lindzey (New York, NY: McGraw-Hill), 680–740.

- Baumeister, R. F. (2002). Ego depletion and self-control failure: an energy model of the self's executive function. *Self Identity* 1, 129–136.
- Bavelas, J. B., Black, A., Lemery, C. R., Macinnis, S., and Mullett, J. (1986). Experimental methods for studying "Elementary motor mimicry". *J. Nonverbal Behav.* 10, 102–119.
- Bernieri, F. J. (1988). Coordinated movement and rapport in teacherstudent interactions. J. Nonverbal Behav. 12, 120–138.
- Blascovich, J., Mendes, W. B., Hunter, S. B., Lickel, B., and Kowai-Bell, N. (2001). Perceiver threat in social interactions with stigmatized others. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 80, 253–267.
- Boksem, M. A. S., Kostermans, E., Milivojevic, B., and de Cremer, D. (2011). Social status determines how we monitor and evaluate our performance. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 7, 304–313.
- Boksem, M. A. S., Smolders, R., and de Cremer, D. (2009). Social power and approach-related neural activity. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* doi: 10.1093/scan/nsp006. [Epub ahead of print].
- Braver, T. S., Gray, J. R., and Burgess, G. C. (2008). "Explaining the many varieties of working memory variation: dual mechanisms of cognitive control," in *Variation in Working Memory*, eds A. Conway, C. Jarrold, M. Kane, A. Miyake, and J. Towse (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 76–106.
- Bruch, M. A., Gorsky, J. M., Collins, T. M., and Berger, P. A. (1989). Shyness and sociability reexamined: a multicomponent analysis. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 57, 904–915.
- Chartrand, T. L., and Bargh, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: the perception-behavior link and social interaction. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 76, 893–910.
- Chartrand, T. L., and Dalton, A. N. (2009). "Mimicry: its ubiquity, importance, and functionality," in Oxford Handbook of Human Action, eds. E. Morsella, J. A. Bargh, and P. M. Gollwitzer (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 458–483.
- Cheng, C. M., and Chartrand, T. L. (2003). Self-monitoring without awareness: using mimicry as a nonconscious affiliation strategy. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 85, 1170–1179.
- Crick, F., and Koch, C. (2003). A framework for consciousness. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 119–126.
- Cummins, D. D. (2000). How the social environment shaped the evolution of mind. *Synthese* 122, 3–28.

- Dalton, A. N., Chartrand, T. L., and Finkel, E. J. (2009). The schemadriven chameleon: how mimicry affects executive and self-regulatory resources. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 98, 605–617.
- Decety, J., and Jackson, P. L. (2004). The functional architecture of human empathy. *Behav. Cogn. Neurosci. Rev.* 3, 71–100.
- Dehaene, S., and Naccache, L. (2001). Towards a cognitive neuroscience of consciousness: basic evidence and a workspace framework. *Cognition* 79, 1–37.
- Dreisbach, G., and Bottcher, S. (2011). How the social-evaluative context modulates processes of cognitive control. *Psychol. Res.* 75, 143–151.
- Dunbar, R. I. M. (2003). The social brain: mind, language, and society in evolutionary perspective. *Annu. Rev. Anthropol.* 32, 163–181.
- Dunbar, R. I. M., and Shultz, S. (2007). Evolution in the social brain. *Science* 317, 1344–1347.
- Eimer, M., and Schlaghecken, F. (2003). Response facilitation and inhibition in subliminal priming. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 7–26.
- Eriksen, B. A., and Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 16, 143–149.
- Ferguson, M. J., and Bargh, J. A. (2004). How social perception can automatically influence behavior. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 8, 33–39.
- Finkel, E. J., Campbell, W. K., Brunell, A. B., Scarbeck, S. J., and Chartrand, T. L. (2006). High-maintenance interaction: inefficient social coordination impairs self-regulation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 91, 456–475.
- Fiske, A. P. (1992). The four elementary forms of sociality: framework for a unified theory of social relations. *Psychol. Rev.* 99, 689–723.
- Fiske, S. T. (1993). Controlling other people: the impact of power on stereotyping. *Am. Psychol.* 48, 621–628.
- Fitzsimons, G. M., and Finkel, E. J. (2010). Interpersonal influences on self-regulation. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 19, 101–105.
- Galinsky, A. D., Gruenfeld, D. H., and Magee, J. C. (2003). From power to action. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 85, 453–466.
- Garcia, S. M., Weaver, K., Moskowitz, G. B., and Darley, J. M. (2002). Crowded minds: the implicit bystander effect. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 83, 843–853.
- Goldfarb, L., Aisenberg, D., and Henik, A. (2011). Think the thought, walk

the walk – social priming reduces the Stroop effect. *Cognition* 118, 193–200.

- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., and Schwartz, J. L. K. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association task. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 74, 1464–1480.
- Guinote, A. (2007). Power affects basic cognition: increased attentional inhibition and flexibility. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 43, 685–697.
- Hommel, B. (2007). Consciousness and control: not identical twins. *J. Conscious. Stud.* 14, 155–176.
- Humphrey, N. K. (1976). "The social function of intellect," in *Growing Points in Ethology*, eds P. P. G. Bateson and R. A. Hinde (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press), 303–317.
- Jack, A. I., and Shallice, T. (2001). Introspective physicalism as an approach to the science of consciousness. *Cognition* 79, 161–196.
- Job, V., Dweck, C. S., and Walton, G. M. (2010). Ego depletion – is it all in your head? implicit theories about willpower affect self-regulation. *Psychol. Sci.* 21, 1686–1693.
- Karremans, J. C., Verwijmeren, T., Pronk, T. M., and Reitsma, M. (2009). Interacting with women can impair men's cognitive functioning. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 45, 1041–1044.
- Keltner, D., Gruenfeld, D. H., and Anderson, C. (2003). Power, approach, and inhibition. *Psychol. Rev.* 110, 265–284.
- Lakin, J. L., Jefferis, V. E., Cheng, C. M., and Chartrand, T. L. (2003). The chameleon effect as social glue: evidence for the evolutionary significance of nonconscious mimicry. J. Nonverbal Behav. 27, 145–162.
- Lau, H. C., and Passingham, R. E. (2007). Unconscious activation of the cognitive control system in the human prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 27, 5805–5811.
- Leary, M. R., and Kowalski, R. M. (1990). Impression management: a literature review and twocomponent model. *Psychol. Bull.* 107, 34–47.
- Markus, K., and Spitzer, M. (2000). Time course of conscious and unconscious semantic brain activation. *Neuroreport* 11, 2401–2407.
- Marsh, A. A., Blair, K. S., Jones, M. R., Soliman, N., and Blair, R. J. R. (2009). Dominance and submission: the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and responses to status cues. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 21, 713–724.

- Miller, E. K., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. Annu. Rev. Neurosci, 24, 167–202.
- Muraven, M., and Baumeister, R. F. (2000). Self–regulation and depletion of limited resources. Does selfcontrol resemble a muscle? *Psychol. Bull.* 126, 247–259.
- Nisbett, R. E., and Wilson, T. D. (1977). Telling more than we can know: verbal reports on mental processes. *Psychol. Rev.* 84, 231–259.
- Norman, D. A., and Shallice, T. (1986). "Attention to action: willed and automatic control of Behavior," in *Consciousness and Self-Regulation*, Vol. 4, eds R. J. Davidson, G. E. Schwartz, and D. Shapiro (New York, NY: Plenum Press), 1–18.
- Orne, M. T. (1962). On the social psychology of the psychological experiment: with particular reference to demand characteristics and their implications. *Am. Psychol.* 17, 776–783.
- Overbeck, J. R., and Park, B. (2006). Powerful perceivers, powerless objects: flexibility of powerholders' social attention. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 99, 227–243.
- Pessoa, L. (2005). To what extent are emotional visual stimuli processed without attention and awareness? *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 15, 188–196.
- Redcay, E., Dodell-Feder, D., Pearrow, M. J., Mavros, P. L., Kleiner, M., Gabrieli, J. D. E., and Saxe, R. (2010). Live face-to-face interaction during fMRI: a new tool for social cognitive neuroscience. *Neuroimage* 50, 1639–1647.
- Rees, G., Kreiman, G., and Koch, C. (2002). Neural correlates of consciousness in humans. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3, 261–270.
- Richeson, J. A., Baird, A. A., Gordon, H. L., Heatherton, T. F., Wyland, C. L., Trawalter, S., and Shelton, J. N. (2003). An fMRI investigation of

the impact of interracial contact on executive function. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 1323–1328.

- Richeson, J. A., and Shelton, J. N. (2003). When prejudice does not pay: effects of interracial contact on executive function. *Psychol. Sci.* 14, 287–290.
- Richeson, J. A., and Trawalter, S. (2005). Why do interracial interactions impair executive function? A resource depletion account. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 88, 934–947.
- Richeson, J. A., Trawalter, S., and Shelton, J. N. (2005). African Americans' implicit racial attitudes and the depletion of executive function after interracial interactions. *Soc. Cogn.* 23, 336–352.
- Schlenker, B. R., and Weigold, M. F. (1992). Interpersonal processes involving impression regulation and management. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 43, 133–168.
- Smith, P. K., and Galinsky, A. D. (2010). The nonconscious nature of power: cued and consequences. *Soc. Personal. Psychol. Compass* 4/10, 918–938.
- Smith, P. K., Jostmann, N. B., Galinsky, A. D., and van Dijk, W. W. (2008). Lacking power impairs executive functions. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 441–447.
- Smith, P. K., and Trope, Y. (2006). You focus on the forest when you're in charge of the trees: power priming and abstract information processing. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 90, 578–596.
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies in interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18, 643–661.
- Suhler, C. L., and Churchland, P. S. (2009). Control: conscious and otherwise. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 13, 341–347.
- Sutton, S. K., and Davidson, R. J. (1997). Prefrontal brain asymmetry:

a biological substrate of the behavioral approach and inhibition systems. *Psychol. Sci.* 8, 204–210.

- Trawalter, S., Richeson, J. A., and Shelton, J. N. (2009). Predicting behavior during interracial interactions: a stress and coping approach. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 13, 243–268.
- Umilta, C. (1988). "The control operations of consciousness," in *Consciousness in Contemporary Science*, eds A. J. Marcel and E. Bisiach (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 334–356.
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Fahrenfort, J. J., Scholte, H. S., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2008). Frontal cortex mediates unconsciously triggered inhibitory control. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 8053–8062.
- van Gaal, S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Scholte, H. S., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2010). Unconscious activation of the prefrontal no-go network. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 4143–4150.
- Verbruggen, F., and Logan, G. D. (2009). Automaticity of cognitive control: goal priming in responseinhibition paradigms. *J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn.* 35, 1381–1388.
- Vohs, K. D., Baumeister, R. F., and Ciarocco, N. J. (2005). Selfregulation and self-presentation: regulatory resource depletion impairs impression management and effortful self-presentation depletes regulatory resources. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 88, 632–657.
- Vorauer, J. D., Hunter, A. J., Main, K. J., and Roy, S. A. (2000). Metastereotype activation: evidence from indirect measures for specific evaluative concerns experienced by members of dominant groups in intergroup interaction. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 78, 690–707.
- Whalen, P. J., Rauch, S. L., Etcoff, N. L., McInerney, S. C., Lee, M. B.,

and Jenike, M. A. (1998). Masked presentations of emotional facial expressions modulate amygdala activity without explicit knowledge. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 411–418.

- Wokke, M. E., van Gaal, S., Scholte, H. S., Ridderinkhof, K. R., and Lamme, V. A. F. (2011). The flexible nature of unconscious cognition. *PLoS One* 6:e25729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025729
- Ybarra, O., Winkielman, P., Yeh, I., Burnstein, E., and Kavanagh, L. (2011). Friends (and sometimes enemies) with cognitive benefits: what types of social interactions benefit executive functioning? Soc. Psychol. Personal. Sci. 2, 253–261.
- Zink, C. F., Tong, Y., Chen, Q., Bassett, D. S., Stein, J. L., and Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2008). Know your place: neural processing of social hierarchy in humans. *Neuron* 58, 273–283.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 February 2012; accepted: 10 April 2012; published online: 26 April 2012.

Citation: Prabhakaran R and Gray JR (2012) The pervasive nature of unconscious social information processing in executive control. Front. Hum. Neurosci, 6:105. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00105 Copyright © 2012 Prabhakaran and Gray. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.